ISSN 1309-6915



MJGARON

Megaron is indexed in Web of Science, Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Avery Index to Architectural Periodicals (AIAP), TUBITAK TR Index, EBSCO Host Art & Architecture Complete, Arts Premium Collection, ProQuest, SciTech Premium, ERIH Plus, DOAJ, Gale/Cengage Learning and Ulrich's.

Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023



www.megaronjournal.com

MTGARON

Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023 - September



MANAGING DIRECTOR

Gülay ZORER GEDİK

Yildiz Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye EDITORS

Ayşen CİRAVOĞLU

Yildız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Arc hitecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Esin Özlem AKTUĞLU AKTAN

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye **CO-EDITORS**

Polat DARÇIN

Yildiz Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Mehmet Doruk ÖZÜGÜL Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Aslı ALTANLAR

Amasya University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, Amasya, Türkiye

Bora YERLİYURT

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Deniz Erdem OKUMUŞ

Yildız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Derya YORGANCIOĞLU

Özyeğin University, Faculty of Architecture and Design, İstanbul, Türkiye

Dilek DARBY

İstanbul University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of City and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Emine KÖSEOĞLU

Fatih Sultan Mehmet Vakif University, Faculty of Architecture and Design, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Eren KÜRKÇÜOĞLU

İstanbul Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Işıl ÇOKUĞRAŞ BAĞDATLIOĞLU

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, Istanbul, Türkiye

İrem GENÇER

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Kunter MANİSA Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Mehmet UĞURYOL Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Conservation and Restoration of Cultural Property, İstanbul, Türkiye

Naime Esra AKIN Aarhus School of Architecture, Denmark

Pelin Pınar GİRİTLİOĞLU İstanbul University, Faculty of Political Sciences, Department of Urbanization Environmental Studies, İstanbul, Türkiye

Senem KOZAMAN AYGÜN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Sensin AYDIN YAĞMUR Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Tuğçe ŞİMŞEKALP ERCAN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Senem ZEYBEKOĞLU SADRİ

Birmingham City University, College of Architecture, Birmingham, United Kingdom

MIGARON

Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023 - September

ADVISORY BOARD

Ali MADANIPOUR

Newcastle University, School of Architecture, Planning and Landscape, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom Ana Rita PEREIRA RODERS TU Delft, Faculty of Architecture

and the Built Environment, Department of Architectural Engineering and Technology, Delft. Netherlands Anna GEPPERT

Sorbonne University, Department Urban and

Regional Planning, Paris, France

Antonella VIOLANO

Università degli Studi della Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Department of Architecture and Industrial Design, Caserta, Italy Ashraf SALAMA

Northumbria University, Department of Architecture and the Built Environment, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom

Asuman TÜRKÜN

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Ayda ERAYDIN

Middle East Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of City and Regional Planning, Ankara, Türkiye

Ayfer AYTUĞ Fatih Sultan Mehmet Vakıf

University, Architecture and Design Faculty, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Ayşe Nur ÖKTEN

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Birgül ÇOLAKOĞLU İstanbul Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Can BINAN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Cengiz CAN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Çiğdem POLATOĞLU Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Fani VAVILI-TSINIKA Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Faculty of Engineering, School of Architecture, Thessaloniki, Greece Fatma ÜNSAL Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye Görün ARUN Hasan Kalyoncu University, Fine Arts and Architecture Faculty, İstanbul, Türkiye Gül KOÇLAR ORAL İstanbul Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Gülay ZORER GEDIK Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Henri HUBERTUS ACHTEN Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty of Architecture, Dejvice, Prague, Czech Republic Hüsnü YEĞENOĞLU Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, Netherlands Iman O. GAWAD Helwan University, Fine Arts Faculty, Cairo, Egypt **İclal DINÇER** Yıldız Technical University, Faculty

of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

İlhan TEKELI

Middle East Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of City and Regional Planning, Ankara, Türkiye Jorge M. GONÇALVES University of Lisbon, Instituto Superior Técnico, Portugal Mandana Sarey KHANIE Technical University of Denmark, Department of Environmental and Resource Engineering, Denmark Mariya Petrova BIVOLAROVA Technical University of Denmark, Department of Environmental and Resource Engineering, Denmark Müjgan ŞEREFHANOĞLU SÖZEN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture,

Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Natalie MOSSIN Royal Danish Academy, Institute of Architecture and Technology, Copenhagen, Denmark Neslihan DOSTOĞLU İstanbul Kültür University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Nevra ERTÜRK Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Conservation and Restoration of Cultural Heritage, İstanbul, Türkiye Nur URFALIOĞLU

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Nuran KARA PILEHVARIAN

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Nuri SERTESER

İstanbul Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture. İstanbul, Türkiye



Rachelle ALTERMAN

Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israels Sheeba CHANDER School of Architecture. Hindustan Institute of Technology and Science, Chennai, India Simin DAVOUDI Newcastle University, School of Architecture, Planning and Landscape, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom Tülin GÖRGÜLÜ Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye Tuna TAŞAN KOK University of Amsterdam, Faculty of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands Willem SALET University of Amsterdam, Faculty of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Amsterdam, Netherlands Zehra Canan GIRGIN Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye **Zekiye YENEN** Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Zeynep AHUNBAY

İstanbul Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

Zeynep ENLIL

Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Department of Urban and Regional Planning, İstanbul, Türkiye

Zhang LI

Tsinghua University, School of Architecture, Beijing, China

M「GARON

Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023 - September



Abstracting and Indexing: Megaron is indexed by Web of Science, Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), Avery Index to Architectural Periodicals (AIAP), as "national peer reviewed journal" in ULAKBIM Social Sciences Databases by TUBITAK-TR Index, EBSCO Host Art & Architecture Complete, Arts Premium Collection, ProQuest, ProQuest Central Essentials, ProQuest One Academic, SciTech Premium, ERIH PLUS, DOAJ, Gale/Cengage Learning and Ulrich's.

Journal Description: The journal is supported by Yildiz Technical University officially, and is a blind peer-reviewed free open-access journal, published bimontly (March-June-September-December).

Publisher: Yildiz Technical University Publisher House: Kare Media Owner: Gülay Zorer Gedik Managing Director: Gülay Zorer Gedik Editors: Ayşen Ciravoğlu, Esin Özlem Aktuğlu Aktan Co-Editors: Polat Darçın, Mehmet Doruk Özügül Language of Publication: English Frequency: 4 Issues Publication Type: Online e-version Correnspondence Address: Yıldız Teknik Üniversitesi, Mimarlık Fakültesi, Merkez Yerleşim, Beşiktaş, 34349 İstanbul, Türkiye Tel: +90 (0)212 383 25 85 Fax: +90 (0)212 383 26 50 E-mail: megaron@yildiz.edu.tr Web: www.megaronjournal.com 2023 Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture Free full-text articles in Turkish and English are available at www.megaronjournal.com.









Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023 - September



CONTENTS

ARTICLES

Architecture

275 Rethinking the third place: Could the book cafe be the social interaction catalyst for today's people?

Hasan TAŞTAN, Çiğdem POLATOĞLU

- 287 19th Century (1839-1923) non-Muslim educational buildings in Çatalca province and their current conservation conditions Melis BİLGİÇ ELMAS, Can Şakir BİNAN
- **312** Simplified structural analysis method for traditional timber buildings with cross frame *Rüya KILIÇ DEMİRCAN*
- 328 Evaluation of thermal performance of an elementary school building with the experimental method: Double-skin façade system Özlem ZEYBEK, Gülten MANİOĞLU, Gül KOÇLAR ORAL
- **344** An evaluation for "spirit of place" focused preservation approaches in historic environments Remziye GÜNER, Elvan Ebru OMAY POLAT
- **366 "Context" knowledge in architecture: A systematic literature review** *Rüya KURU YÜCEL, Feride Pınar ARABACIOĞLU*
- 387 An analysis of comparative studies on embodied carbon and embodied energy assessment of tall building structures Beste FAKIOĞLU GEDİK, Bekir Özer AY, Aysem Berrin ÇAKMAKLI



Volume 18 Number 3 Year 2023 - September



CONTENTS

- 401 Planning Rethinking national parks as a key to regional development: Beyşehir Lake National Park Özer KARAKAYACI, Zuhal KARAKAYACI, Ahmet Tuğrul POLAT, Kübra KARKIN
- **414** Untapped potentials of governmentality perspective for urban planning studies that focus on the dynamics of health care in contemporary Türkiye *Mahfuz AKTAŞ, Asuman TÜRKÜN*

Other

425 Urban transformation in the context of the right to the city and citizens' rights: The case of Trabzon Beşikdüzü Nisa ERDEM, Suna ERSAVAŞ KAVANOZ



Article

Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.80588

MMGARON

Rethinking the third place: Could the book cafe be the social interaction catalyst for today's people?

Hasan TAŞTAN[®], Çiğdem POLATOĞLU®

Department of Architecture, Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Istanbul, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 25 February 2023 Revised: 29 May 2023 Accepted: 04 July 2023

Key words: Book cafe; hybrid third place; social role; socializing; third place.

ABSTRACT

Third places are gathering places where people spend time in their daily lives between home (first place) and work (second place) and have social interaction with people in the community. As a result of socioeconomic change and technological development over time, third places have changed spatially and socially. This study addresses the types of third places in the literature, focusing on the so-called book cafes, which exhibit both social and functional diversity. The study argues that these places can be called "hybrid third place" based on the concept of hybrid, which is a biological concept. The study is based on the literature review on third places and the observations made in book cafes, which are places where different functions such as café, library, and exhibition space coexist. According to the results of the study, nowadays, new types of third places as well as in-between spaces have emerged. The hybrid third place, designed according to changing needs and socialization practices, is one of them. Considering that today's people's only expectation from the third place is not to have active social interaction with other people, the hybrid third place provides the necessary space for an experience that resembles public space and meets this need. In this context, the characteristics of the hybrid third place as a catalyst for social interaction that brings together people with different social roles were identified. Functional diversity, physical and social accessibility, flexible space design, and historical value of the building are some of them.

Cite this article as: Taştan H, Polatoğlu Ç. Rethinking the third place: Could the book cafe be the social interaction catalyst for today's people? Megaron 2023;18(3):275–286.

INTRODUCTION

Third places are informal gathering places such as cafes, restaurants, stores, shops, and post offices where people gather and have the opportunity to interact with other members of the society in which they live (Oldenburg, 1989). Third places are important for community life. This

is because socialization and the formation of a sense of community take place in these places where conversation, information exchange, and social interactions are encouraged at various levels in daily life (Habermas, 1989, Oldenburg, 1989, Putnam, 2000). Third places provide social connections with opportunities for social interaction, community building, and social support. These social

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: hasantastan88@hotmail.com

This article is derived from the ongoing doctoral thesis conducted by the first author under the supervision of the second author.

 \odot 0 \odot

Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

spaces are places where people can go regularly and meet with friends, neighbors, colleagues, and even strangers they do not know (Mehta and Bosson, 2010). As living conditions have changed, so have people's expectations of the third place and the activities they engage in in these places over time. Although the need for socialization and social interaction has remained the same, the practices of daily life and the physical characteristics of the third place where these actions are performed have changed. With the Industrial Revolution, the separation of home and workplace, natural disasters and epidemics, the advent of the modern work order, and finally the development of communication technologies through the Internet, the elimination of the need for third places to be temporallyspatially bounded, the spatial characteristics of third places and their places in daily life have also changed. While the coronavirus epidemic we have recently experienced shows how important third places are in our social lives, remote work practices have increased in the process and have become even more common after the epidemic. This situation has increased the need for third places where people can both socialize and do the work they need to do. As a result, the relationship of third places to places such as home, workplace, private and public spaces have changed, and new types of third places have emerged. To shape the areas where today's people will spend time, it is necessary to create a conceptual infrastructure and rethink the literature on third places. This study aims to look at the types of third places mentioned in the literature from a holistic perspective and compare the characteristics of the existing types of third places with the characteristics of the newly emerged third places so that the "hybrid third place" is defined and its characteristics are determined based on the actions taken there. The study is based on a literature review of third places and focused observations in newgeneration book cafes and survey data applied to cafe users. As a result of the analysis of the data obtained through the literature review, a definition of hybrid third place was made and the characteristics of these places were determined. Then, the "book café" chosen as a hybrid third place was read based on this definition. Observations focused on the relationship between user behavior and social roles and the physical characteristics of the space. As a result of the observations, the characteristics of the hybrid third place were determined. In the study, a questionnaire with open-ended questions was sent to 32 coffee shop users over the age of 18 years. To understand their social role in the café, participants were asked questions about the purpose of their café visit, the frequency of their visits, the spatial characteristics such as location and management that determine their choice of café, and the people with whom they go to the café. The characteristics of the hybrid third place were updated based on the data obtained. The scope of the study is limited to the book cafes in Üsküdar. In this

context, observations were made in Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı Book Café, which is operated by Üsküdar Municipality.

LITERATURE REVIEW

The concept of third place was first defined by Oldenburg (1989) as "public places that host regular, voluntary, informal, and joyful gatherings of individuals outside the home (first place) and workplace (second place)." This definition refers to a range of spaces with different characteristics. Outdoor markets, taverns, bookstores, community gardens, and gyms are some of them. The popularity of the concept has gradually increased from its inception to the present day, and the existing literature has been produced with contributions from researchers in different fields. There is a general belief that third places are important for individual lives and the sustainability of community life. In recent years, researchers from various academic disciplines have questioned whether Oldenburg's (1989) findings apply to typical "third places" such as cafés or bookstores.

On the other hand, some researchers have critically examined the concept to understand new third places, where they might be and what the characteristics of contemporary third places are, and to identify new types of third places. In this way, the literature on the third place has become of interest to a variety of disciplines. The concept of third place has been the subject of research by researchers in fields such as marketing, accommodation, health, leisure studies, architecture, and urban planning (Camp, 2015). Studies on third places have been divided into three categories based on their scope (Table 1). Researchers studied third places from different aspects (Table 2).

THIRD PLACE TYPES AND CHARACTERISTICS

Oldenburg (1989) noted that various physical locations, particularly cafes, coffee shops, barbershops, and pubs, are meeting places that form the heart of the community, and defined these as third places. There are several characteristics that contribute to a place being a third place and to people gathering and come together in that place. Oldenburg (1989) identified these characteristics based on his personal observations. The characteristics of third places are listed below. (Crick, 2011, Oldenburg, 1989) (Table 3).

Few of these features noted by Oldenburg (1989), which indicate the conditions for the act of coming together that takes place in third places, are directly related to the physical features of space. For this reason, Oldenburg (1989) stated that it is the users that give the third place its main character. Crick (2011) defines the third place that Oldenburg (1989) refers to in his study as "traditional third places" He noted that chain coffee shops that capitalize on people's needs for

Table 1. Chassification of studies on third places	Table 1.	Classification	of studies on	third places
---	----------	----------------	---------------	--------------

Type of study	Scope of the studies
Those who explore new types of third place.	Studies that advocate the existence of new types of third places by arguing that emerging social spaces are third places but have different characteristics than the existing definition of third place (Crick [2011], Mikunda, [2007], Besson [2022], Memarovic et al. [2013])
Those who question the characteristics of the third place	Studies of third places that assume that the characteristics of third places have changed over time, defining new characteristics of places such as cafes and restaurants. Çakı and Kızıltepe (2017), Catherine (2016), Anlı and Yaman (2019), Rosenbaum et al. (2009), Oldenburg (2013), Kutlay (2019), Dibazar et al. (2020), Lukito and Xenia (2017), Broadway et al. (2018), Bookman (2014)
Those who research different places that can be a third place	Studies that examine various spaces that can be third places, such as libraries, museums and community gardens in terms of their characteristics Tieman (2008), Mair (2009), Dolley (2020), Houghton et al. (2013), Hawkins and Ryan (2013), Purnell and Breede (2018), Tate (2012) Pajouh (2014), Purnell (2015), Soukup (2006), Markoç (2019), Mcarthur and White (2016), Steinkuehler and Williams (2006), Ducheneut et al. (2004)

Table 2. Studies on third places

Place	Researcher	Scope of the study
Farmers markets	Tieman (2008)	It focuses on the characteristics of farmer's markets that make them the third place for farmers and customers.
Book cafes	Laing and Rolye (2013)	They investigated the effect of having a cafe integrated into the chain bookstore on the sociality of the place.
Sports Clubs	Mair (2009)	She examined curling clubs in rural areas as third places.
Community Gardens	Dolley (2020)	She studied community gardens as third places.
Libraries	Houghton et al. (2013)	They examined libraries as third places.
Festivals	Hawkins and Ryan (2013)	They have studied festivals as emerging third places.
Conferences	Purnell and Breede (2018)	They have studied the conferences as third places.
Museums	Tate (2012)	They examined the museums in the context of the characteristics of the third place.
Retirement homes	Campbell (2014,2015)	She examined the designs of third places in nursing homes.
Social Spaces	Pajouh (2014)	She stated that social spaces such as libraries, student dormitories, computer laboratories, and study rooms could be the third place.
Homes	Purnell (2015)	He stated that the houses can be third places according to the way they are used.
Virtual Third Places	Soukup (2006)	He examined virtual third places and computer-mediated social interaction in the third-place context.
	Markoç (2019)	She discussed Twitter in the context of the third place
	Mcarthur and White (2016)	They explored social interactions on Twitter in a third-place context.
	Steinkuehler and Williams (2006)	They examined online computer games as virtual third places.
	Ducheneut, et al. (2004)	They examined online computer games as virtual third places.
Cafes	Çakı and Kızıltepe (2017)	They examined cafes as third places.
	Catherine (2016)	She discussed cafe culture in the context of the third place.
	Anlı and Yaman (2019)	They examined chain coffee shops in the context of creating a third-place experience.
	Rosenbaum et al. (2009)	They examined activity-based cafes as third places.
	Oldenburg (2013)	He took the cafe as the third place.
	Kutlay (2019)	They researched different wave coffee shops as a third place.
	Dibazar, et al. (2020)	They investigated cafes in the context of third place characteristics.
	Lukito and Xenia (2017)	They examined the cafes on the university campus as third places.
	Broadway et al. (2018)	They investigated the relationship between technology and sociability in cafes in the context of the third place.
	Bookman (2014)	She discussed the relationship of sociability and third-place experience with chain coffee shop brands.

Characteristic	Definition
Neutral ground	It is a neutral place where everyone is accepted. No one plays the host role.
Leveler	There are no official criteria for participation. They are places where social inequalities disappear.
Conversation is the main activity	Conversation is the main activity.
Accessible	They are physically and socially accessible places.
Regulars	There are people who regularly visit these places. The regulars shape the social texture of the space.
Low profile	They are places with a simple and low-profile design.
Cheerful mood	Conversation and games create a fun environment. They are places with a cheerful mood.
Homes Away from Home	People experience a feeling of comfort and warmth. They feel cozy and comfortable just like at home.

Table 3. Characteristics of third places

third places are also "commercial third places." Commercial third places modify space according to the needs of people today and their own commercial interests with different design arrangements. Commercial third places can satisfy people's need for solitude and isolation while giving their customers the opportunity to connect with others.

Mikunda (2007) developed a concept of third place that is very different from the shabby and low-profile place described by Oldenburg (1989). Third places, which Mikunda (2007) refers to as "spectacular third places," are dramatic and impressive places that encourage people to spend time there. Spectacular third places are not only places of interaction but also places where people go to see and perhaps be seen. Museums, concept stores, and trade shows are the spectacular third places where the new generation can engage in leisure activities that meet their needs. In the years when Oldenburg (1989) introduced the concept of the third place, communication technologies were not as advanced as they are today. Technological developments over the years, the widespread use of the Internet, and social networks have allowed people to come together virtually, and the concept of the virtual third place has emerged. Internet communication is a potential for social interaction between people around the world (Soukup, 2006). Media such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter allow people to be in constant communication with each other through the Internet in a virtual third place. This eliminates the need for the third place to be a physical place. Other types of

Table 4. Types of third place

third places in the literature are cultural third places and thematic third places. The cultural third place is defined as the realm of cultural participation where the user (visitor, reader, student, and spectator), cultures, and knowledge are central to the processes of learning, production, and dissemination. Libraries, defined as places of socialization and encounter rather than reading and learning spaces, are cultural third places. These places provide utilities, workspaces, and even recreational activities-additional uses not directly related to knowledge, such as knitting, yoga, and cooking (Besson, 2022). Cultural third places include multiple spaces with different social and functional dimensions, such as interactive exhibition spaces, information cafes, and workshops. And finally, thematic third places provide entertainment and services specific to a particular community. The decoration and spatial features of these places are designed according to a specific theme (Memarovic et al., 2013). Thematic third places are places where people interested in a particular theme gather, such as bicycle cafes and cat cafes (Table 4).

HYBRIDITY AND HYBRID THIRD PLACE

Most socialization areas of daily life are described in the literature on third-place types (Table 4). However, book cafés, where various functions are combined with the cafeteria function, are different places from these, although they share several common characteristics with

Researcher	Third place type	Spatial example
Oldenburg (1989)	Third Place (Traditional)	Tea houses, coffee shops, pubs
Crick (2011)	Commercial Third Place	Starbucks, Kahve dünyası (Chain coffee houses)
Mikunda (2007)	Spectacular Third Place	Museums, Concept stores, and fairs
Crick (2011)	Virtual Third Place	Social Media, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram
Besson (2022)	Cultural Third Place	Third place libraries
Memarovic et al., (2013)	Thematic Third Place	Cat Cafe, Bike Cafe

existing third-place types. The prominent characteristics of book cafes are that they have a hybrid atmosphere that includes a variety of functions and social roles. This study argues that third places should be considered not only as physical spaces but also as social spaces. In this context, social spaces that are not only functional but also hybrid in terms of social roles, relationships, and levels of social interaction are defined as "hybrid third places." The biological term hybrid refers to a new species resulting from the union of two different plant or animal species. The hybrid species has characteristics of both species but also differs from both species. In this study, defining the hybrid third place, the concept of hybridity used in biology is conceptualized. The different functions (library, exhibition hall, café) of the hybrid third place and the different levels of social interactions of the users of the space come together, as in biology, and a new space is created that is similar to them and at the same time unique in different aspects. The social atmosphere of the hybrid third place is the result of this spatial, functional, and behavioral diversity. Among the studies in the third place, the number of studies on the concept of hybridity is quite limited. Crick (2011) defined the concept of hybridity through physical space and referred to the combination of physical and virtual third place as hybrid third place. Crick (2011) stated that with the use of Internet technologies in traditional, commercial, or spectacular third places, overlaps with virtual third places occur, making these places hybrid third places. However, today, it is almost impossible to imagine a moment when virtual space is separated from physical space. Rosenbaum et al. (2009), on the other hand, stated that places, where customers have the opportunity to participate in various social activities in addition to food and beverage offerings, are hybrid third places because they include both cafeteria functions and activities. Rosenbaum et al.'s (2009) definition of a hybrid third place is based on functional diversity and the coexistence of different functions (Table 5).

ÜSKÜDAR'S BOOK CAFES AS A HYBRID THIRD PLACE: AN EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

The transformation of daily life in recent years has led to an increased need for third places with different opportunities. In Istanbul, where many college students live, there has been an increased demand for places where students can

both pursue their academic studies and socialize, as an alternative to the sterile library environment. Book cafes and coffee house chains in the city meet this need for those seeking a place to socialize and work away from the sterile library environment. New-generation book cafés, defined as versions of coffeehouses adapted to modern urban life that combine cafeteria, event, and exhibition spaces with library functions, are hybrid third places with their functional diversity and other characteristics. In this study, observations were made in the book café called NevMekan Bağlarbaşı in Üsküdar (Figure 1). Üsküdar, one of the oldest settlements in Istanbul, is a neighborhood where people from different socio-cultural backgrounds live together and which is visited by local and foreign tourists. The cultural and economic diversity of the neighborhood is also reflected in its third squares. In one and the same street there are traditional cafes, chain cafe shops, various local tea houses, second and third-wave coffee shops, and modern book cafes. Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı was opened by Üsküdar municipality in 2015 with the aim of creating a new, exceptional meeting place. The word "Nev," which means "new" in Persian, was chosen to draw attention to this special feature of the space, which offers inclusive, social content and a different concept. In the following years, Nevmekan Sahil and Nevmekan Selimive were put into operation with a similar concept in different parts of the district. These places where socialization through consumption takes place are different from other third places in the city.

The fact that they are run by local authorities, have larger spaces, offer different cultural events, have seating for different needs, and serve different social classes makes these book cafes a hybrid third place. Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı, the hybrid third place, obtains this characteristic through its functional diversity and its social atmosphere, where social interactions take place at different levels. The historical building, whose original function was a streetcar depot and an electricity factory, was transformed into a book café. The building is located in the same courtyard as the Bağlarbaşı Cultural Center (Figure 2). The building consists of the first floor, the second floor, and the basement, where the exhibition space is located. During the adaptive reuse process, the streetcar car, the electric motor, and the crane on the ceiling, which reminds us of the first function of the building, were preserved (Figure 3).

Table 5. Researchers' definitions of hybrid third place and hybridity

Researcher	Hybrid third place and hybrid definition
Crick (2011)	The intersection of the physical third place and the virtual third place creates the hybrid third place.
Rosenbaum et al. (2009)	The hybrid cafe, which has become a place where various activities are organized as well as the cafeteria function, is called the third place.



Figure 1. Locations of Nevmekan Book Cafes in Üsküdar (Adapted from snazzy maps).

The venue, which combines the functions of a cafeteria, an exhibition hall (art gallery), and a stage where special events are held, is a place with various seating options and many books, which are also used as decorative objects (Figure 3).

Based on the observations made in the space, five different social roles were defined: the regulars, those who use the space as a productive area, the loners, the social guests, and the explorers. While the regulars refer to those who visit the space regularly, those who use the space as a productivity area are freelancers who want to do their own work and students who are there to study. The loner's group was used for those who use the space alone, and the social guest's group for those who use the space to socialize with their acquaintances. Finally, the group of explorers refers to the group of users who are looking for something new, and who are there to see and be seen. The social atmosphere of the hybrid third place is formed by the gathering of people with



Figure 2. Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı close surroundings, the entrance to the café, and view from inside.



Figure 3. Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı Book Cafe Ground Floor and First Floor Plans and interior views.

these different social roles (Table 6). Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı, as a hybrid third place, provides the opportunity for people with different social roles and needs to come together, and the social atmosphere is created by its spatial features. While the flexible seating arrangement, reading materials, electrical outlets, and internet access that allow the place to be used alone or in large groups allow the place to be used in different ways, the art gallery, organized events, and historical value of the building allow people who are looking for innovation to visit the place.

Table 6. The social roles of Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı users and their effects on the space's sociality

Social role	Social interaction/effect on sociality of space
Regulars	The regulars help the newcomers socialize (Oldenburg, 1989). They act as "familiar strangers" and may actively participate in social interaction by chatting, or they may avoid social interaction by creating their own private space.
Those who use the space as a productivity area:	This group consists of freelancers or students who are isolated from their environment and do their work in the space with their "protective shields." They can be individual or in groups. It is believed that this group, staying in one place for a long period, affects the sociality of the place. However, groups that produce together interact socially with each other.
Loners:	Loners may create their own private spaces and use the café as a productivity area, or they may be an expression of the group of users who maintain passive social interaction by observing the street or other café residents. They prefer to spend their time alone in the space.
Social Guests:	It refers to groups that meet to talk. They engage in active social interaction. They are usually people who know each other beforehand or who come to the place for a pre-planned meeting.
Explorers:	It refers to the group that is looking for something new and comes to the place to see and be seen. They can inter act on different levels and be in the space alone or groups

Characteristic	The effect on the sociality of the space
Governance	The operation of the building by the local government increases its inclusivity and accessibility. Individuals can use the space at will without paying a fee. In addition, the fact that the place is open for long periods increases its sociability.
Location	The building is located in a central place where people can participate in their daily routines.
Historical value	The fact that the site is located in a historical structure ensures that it represents a common value for the community and is visited more often.
Spatial diversity	The presence of an atrium, open, semi-open, and closed areas make it a social space that responds to different needs.
Flexible seating units	The presence of flexible seating that allows for different uses increases the sociality of the space.
Amenities	The presence of amenities such as exhibits, piano, books, electrical outlets, and wireless internet enhances the sociability of the space by creating opportunities for social interaction.
Activities	Organized events such as workshops, exhibitions and talks increase the sociability of the space by bringing more people together.

Table 7. The effects of Nevmekan Bağlarbaşı's characteristics on the sociality of the space

Serving users with different social roles, NevMekan Bağlarbaşı encourages social interaction with some of its features and functions as an inclusive social space (Table 7). The social atmosphere of the space is formed by the interaction of the users and the physical features of the space in harmony. This is because the presence of the user occupying a social role in the space is related to the physical features and capabilities of the space.

EVALUATION: DEFINITION AND CHARACTERISTICS OF HYBRID THIRD PLACES

This study discusses the third-place types in the literature. Following human behavior and social interactions in third places, a new type of third place is defined as a "hybrid third place." Most of the assumptions made by Oldenburg (1989) in defining the third place have lost their validity for the places used by contemporary people as third places. For example, with technologies making it easier to work when and where one wants, the distinction between workplace and home has disappeared. Today, the boundaries between home, school, work, and third place are blurred. As living conditions have changed, new social spheres such as co-living and co-working have emerged. In this context, Morisson (2019) notes that there are various intersections and the fourth place between home, workplace, and third place (Figure 4).

According to Morisson (2019), coliving, which consists of combining the first and second places, includes common living and working areas. Combining second place and third place creates co-working spaces. Comingling, which is a combination of first and third place, consists of shared living and social spaces. Fourth place is a combination of first, second, and third places. Morisson (2019) cites the



Figure 4. The third place in today's urban life and its relationship with other places (created by the Author).



Figure 5. The relationship of the hybrid third place with other places.

"Station F" innovation center as an example of fourth place. The center consists of apartments, offices, restaurants, and social spaces. The hybrid third place identified in this study represents an intersection between the third place defined by Oldenburg (1989) and the places defined by Morisson (2019) (fourth place, co-working, commingling). The hybrid third place has characteristics of all of these places but also differs from them (Figure 5).

The transformation of social spaces is evident in the relationships between private spaces, public spaces, and all living environments with each other, as well as third places. The boundaries between third places and public spaces are not very clear. The simplest example of this is the existence of tables and chairs that extend to the sidewalks of cafes in cities (Memarovic et al., 2013) (Figure 6). The hybrid third place contains some degree of hybridity. This hybridity refers to human behavior, social interactions, activities, and blurring boundaries in third places. In this study, book cafes that combine activities such as eating and drinking (café) - reading (library) - working - leisure activities cultural activities (exhibition - workshop) are discussed as a typical examples of a hybrid third place. Technology and the virtual third place are part of the hybrid third place, the modern third place that meets the needs of people today. Hybrid third places are more similar to public spaces than traditional third places because of their diversity, but their features such as ensuring privacy and offering various options in an enclosed space make them superior to public spaces. The hybrid third place in contemporary urban life is the socialization in space, the encounter with the stranger,



Figure 6. The relationship between the third place and the public space.

the socialization with the known, and the areas where social capital is created.

The characteristic features of the hybrid third place can be listed as follows;

- The hybrid third place is located at the interface between public and private spaces. It allows the creation of private spaces in the public space.
- The hybrid third place can be a home away from home, an office away from home, or a place where recreational activities take place. In addition to home comforts, they can be used for socializing as well as productivity.
- Conversation is not the main activity in a hybrid third place. Other activities are carried out in addition to the conversation. The hybrid third place consists of a mix of activities, with the physical characteristics of the space and its users determining which activity dominates.
- The hybrid third place includes various levels of social interaction and contact with the community. This conversation provides a social atmosphere in which the interactions seen in all other types of public spaces, private spaces, and third places, such as seeing, being seen, being alone, receiving social support, being in the position of a spectator, creating their own private space, can be observed together.
- Hybrid third places may not be as plain and unpretentious as traditional third places. They may have a certain appeal, interior design, or special amenities to attract the attention of different segments of society.
- Hybrid third places are places that are flexible, that make different users want to revisit them, that can be reconfigured as needed, that offer something new, that arouse curiosity, and that attracts attention.
- Hybrid third places are designed around the function of the café, where people socialize while consuming. The café, which is a place of consumption, acts as a catalyst that attracts new users and creates a social environment.

CONCLUSION

Social spaces, such as third places where the individuals who make up the community gather, play an important role in the construction of the community. To speak of a socially sustainable society, spaces are needed that support the formation of positive emotions such as a sense of belonging and security in the individual. In this context, third places that promote social interaction need to be defined and designed. This study examined the existing types of third places, defined a new type of third place, the "hybrid third place," and analyzed the characteristics that make it a catalyst for social interaction. The "hybrid third place" is a multifunctional social place that responds to different needs, resembles a public space but is more controlled, brings different people together, and includes differences in terms of both functionality and sociability (Table 8). The hybrid third place acquires these characteristics not only through the behavior of the people who use it but also through its physical features, which shape the social atmosphere of the place. In this context, it is important to develop spatial proposals that promote social interactions in the space. As a result of the observations in NevMekan Bağlarbaşı Book Café, it was found that this place, which is a hybrid third place, is located in a historical structure, is operated by the local government, and people can spend time without paying a fee or ordering anything, which increases the inclusivity and accessibility of the place.

Some of the characteristics of the hybrid third place that

Table 8. Third place types and descriptive characteristics

Third place type	Descriptive characteristics
Traditional Third Place (Oldenburg, 1989)	They are neutral, leveler, accessible, low profile, fun, homes away from home where conversation is the main activity. They are places where people interact socially with acquaintances or strangers.
Commercial Third Place (Crick, 2011)	In addition to connecting with others, it also gives people the opportunity to create their own private space and be alone.
Spectacular Third Place (Mikunda, 2007)	It is not social interaction oriented. It is a place where one goes to see and perhaps be seen. They are attractive, designed to get people to shop and spend as much time as possible.
Virtual Third Place (Crick, 2011)	It is independent of physical space and time. It is exclusionary because people can be selected to interact with. Unlike other third places, it provides the opportunity to remain anonymous.
Cultural Third Place (Besson, 2022)	They are areas where culture and knowledge are experienced, staged, and produced together. Workshops, interactive exhibitions, co-working spaces, and leisure activities that help create collaborations between users offer opportunities that are not directly related to knowledge.
Thematic Third Place (Memarovic et al., 2013)	They are third places that are differentiated by their designs that appeal to a particular community. They enable people with common interests to come together and socialize
Hybrid Third Place (created by author, 2023)	It includes hybridity functionally and socially. It responds to different social and cultural needs such as seeing, being seen, co-producing, socializing, or being alone. They are inclusive and flexible spaces.

Table 9. Features of the	nybrid third place that ma	tke it a catalyst for social interact	ion

Concept	Features of the hybrid third place that make it a catalyst for social interaction
Functional diversity	Functional diversity makes it possible to engage in different activities at the same time, such as eating, drinking, working, conversing, observing others, spending time alone, participating in activities, reading a book, and experiencing a historical site or exhibit. Functional diversity makes it easy to create a place where extensive and intense social interaction takes place.
Spatial diversity	The space divided into different sections and units creates a micro-public space for the user to experience. The combination of subsections with different levels of privacy and spaces with different decorations such as exhibitions, readings, or piano playing/listening around the café function increases social interaction by making the hybrid third place an interesting and lively space.
Social diversity	Functional and spatial diversity creates social diversity. This allows people with different views to come together in the community. The fact that the hybrid third place is an inclusive and neutral host and the historical and cultural value of the building increase social diversity and create opportunities for social interaction.

promote social interaction are that they are socially and physically accessible, are inclusive places, and provide opportunities for the coexistence of different social roles. These opportunities can be summarized as various seating options, availability of internet access and reading materials, and flexible spaces where group work and regular activities can be conducted (Table 9).

Third places must be designed to be inclusive and promote social interaction. This shows that it is necessary to implement a process of place design in collaboration with disciplines such as sociology and psychology to respond to social needs as well as the physical needs of users with architectural and urban planning disciplines such as functionality, accessibility, and spatial design. Consequently, hybrid third places are the socialization spaces of people today, and determining the physical design of these places and the social activities that should take place in these places requires an interdisciplinary study.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Anlı, C. & Yavan, N. (2019). Deneyim Yaratmada Mekânın Rolü: Starbucks ve Kahve Dünyası'nın Deneyim Ekonomisi ve Üçüncü Yer Bakımından Analizi. Gaziantep University Journal of Social Sciences, 18 (1), 100-132. DOI: 10.21547/jss.494355.
- Besson (2022). The hypothesis of cultural third places. Retrieved 13 June 2022, from https://theconversation. com/the-hypothesis-of-cultural-third-places-93509
- Bookman, S. (2014) Brands and urban life: Specialty coffee, consumers, and the co-creation of urban café sociality. Space Cult., 17, 85–99.
- Broadway, M., Legg, R., & Broadway, J. (2018). Coffeehouses and the art of social engagement: An analysis of Portland coffeehouses. The Geographical Review, 108(3), 433–456.
- Camp. B. H. (2015) A Study Of Third Place: Benefits Of Shared Leisure Practices In Public Gathering Places. Yayımlanmamış doktora tezi, Murfreesboro, Tn
- Campbell, Nichole. (2014). Designing Retirement Community Third Places: Attributes Impacting How Well Social Spaces Are Liked and Used. Journal of Interior Design. 39. 10.1111/joid.12035.

Campbell, Nichole. (2015). Third Place Characteristics in

Planned Retirement Community Social Spaces. Journal of architectural and planning research. 32. 55-67.

- Catherine, T. (2016) "Community: Café Culture and the Relevance of a Traditional Third Place in the Social Media Era." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2016. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/art_design_theses/2016
- Crick, A.P. (2011), "New Third Places: Opportunities and Challenges", Woodside, A.G. (Ed.) Tourism Sensemaking: Strategies to Give Meaning to Experience (Advances in Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research, Vol. 5), Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp. 63-77. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1871-3173(2011)0000005006
- Çakı, F., & Kızıltepe, B. (2017). Üçüncü Yerler Olarak Kafeler ve Gençlik: Balıkesir Örnek. Akademik İncelemeler Dergisi, 173-202.
- Dibazar, F., Toofan, S., Jamali, J., Valizadeh, N. (2020) The effect of general characteristics of third places on social interactions (Case Study: Cafes of Tabriz), Motaleate Shahri, 10(39), 29–40. doi: 10.34785/ J011.2021.806/Jms.2021.124.
- Dolley, J. (2020) Community gardens as third places. Geographical Research, 58: 141–153. https://doi. org/10.1111/1745-5871.12395.
- Ducheneut, N., Moore, R., and Nickell, E. (2004) Designing for Sociability in Massively Multyplayer Games: an Examination of the Third Places of SWG, Working Paper, Centre for Computer Games Research.
- Habermas, J. (1989) The Structural Transformation of the Public Society. An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society. Oxford: Polity Press.
- Hawkins, J., Ryan, L. (2013). Festival spaces as third places. Journal of Place Management and Development, 6 (3), 192-202.
- Houghton, K., Foth, M. and Miller, E., 2013. The continuing relevance of the library as a third place for users and non-users of IT: the case of Canada Bay. Australian Library Journal, 62(1), pp. 27–39.
- Kutlay,E. (2019),Dıfferent Waves Of Coffee Houses As Third Places And The Use Of Information And Communication Technology Devices In These Settings: A Cross- Case Study In Ankara, (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi) Orta Doğu Teknik Üniversitesi, Ankara.
- Laing, A., & Royle, J. (2013). Examining Chain Bookshops in Context of Third Place. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 41(1), 27-44.
- Laing, A., & Royle, J. (2013). Examining Chain Bookshops in Context of Third Place. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 41(1), 27-44.
- Lukito, Y. N., & Xenia, A. P. (2017). Café as third place and the creation of a unique space of interaction in UI

campus. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 99, 12028.

- Mair, H. (2009). Club life: Third place and shared leisure in Rural Canada. Leisure Sciences, 31, 450-465.
- Markoç, İ. (2019). Twitter in the context of Oldenburg's Third Place Theory. IBAD Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, October 2019 Special Issue, 79-89. DOI: 10.21733/ ibad.610335
- Mcarthur, J. A., & White, A. F. (2016). Twitter chats as third Places: Conceptualizing a Digital Gathering Site. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305116665857.
- Mehta, V., and Bosson, J. K. (2010). Third Places and the Social Life of Streets. Environment and Behavior, 42(6), 779–805. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916509344677
- Memarovic, N., Fels, S., Anacleto, J., Calderon, R., Gobbo, F. ve Carroll, J. M. (2013). Rethinking third places: Contemporary design with technology. The Journal of Community Informatics, 10(3), 1-16.
- Mikunda, C. (2007). Brand lands, hot spots & cool spaces: Welcome to the third place and the total marketing experience. London: Kogan Page.
- Morisson, A. (2019). A Typology of Places in the Knowledge Economy: Towards the Fourth Place. In: Calabrò, F., Della Spina, L., Bevilacqua, C. (eds) New Metropolitan Perspectives. ISHT 2018. Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies, vol 100. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92099-3_50
- Oldenburg, R. (1989) The Great Good Place: Cafes, Coffee Shops, Community Centers, Beauty Parlors, General Stores, Bars, Hangouts, and How They Get You Through the Day . New York: Paragon House.

Oldenburg, R. (2013). The café as a third place. In A. Tjora

& G. Scambler (Eds.), Café society (pp. 7-22). New York, NY: Palgrave.

- Pajouh, H.,D. (2014). Evaluation of Third place Theory in The context of Local Social Places.
- Purnell,D., (2015). Expanding Oldenburg: homes as third places. Journal of Place Management and Development, 8(1):51-62. doi: 10.1108/JPMD-03-2014-0006
- Purnell, D., & Breede, D. C. (2018). Traveling the Third Place: Conferences as Third Places. Space and Culture, 21(4), 512–523. https://doi. org/10.1177/1206331217741078
- Putnam, R. D. (2000) Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Rosenbaum, Mark & Sweeney, J. & Windhorst, C.. (2009). The restorative qualities of an activity-based, third place café for seniors: Restoration, social support, and place attachment at Mather's - More-Than-a-Café. Seniors Housing & Care Journal. 17. 39-54.
- Soukup, C. (2006) Computer-mediated communication as a virtual third place: building Oldenburg's great good places on the World Wide Web. New Media and Society, 8 (3), pp. 421-440.
- Steinkuehler, C. and Williams, D. (2006) Where Everybody Knows Your (Screen) Name: Online Games as "Third Places". Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 11 (4).
- Tate N.B. (2012) Museums as Third Places or What? Accessing the Social Without Reservations, Museums & Social Issues, 7:2, 269-283, DOI: 10.1179/ msi.2012.7.2.26
- Tieman, T. (2008). Grower-only farmers' markets: Public spaces and third places. The Journal of Popular Culture, 3, 467-487.



Article

Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.26037

MMGARON

19th Century (1839-1923) non-Muslim educational buildings in Çatalca province and their current conservation conditions

Melis BİLGİÇ ELMAS*[®], Can Şakir BİNAN[®]

Department of Architecture, Yildiz Technical University İstanbul, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 24 February 2023 Revised: 18 June 2023 Accepted: 04 July2023

Key words: 19th century; archival documents; Çatalca province; non-Muslim educational buildings, Ottoman educational heritage.

ABSTRACT

In the 19th century, significant developments took place in the Ottoman State education system as a part of the modernization process. One aspect of the modernization of education can be found in non-Muslim communities, which were already modernizing education due to the various ideological influences. The number of non-Muslim schools increased rapidly and educational buildings became more visible, especially in Çatalca, Edirne, and Istanbul provinces. As a result of wars, migrations, and population exchanges that occurred in the region during early 20th century, these schools generally lost their original functions as the communities using them were no longer present. The article focuses on the development process, statistical information, and architectural features of 19th and early 20th century non-Muslim school buildings in Çatalca Province, where non-Muslims were densely populated. The study revealed that there were roughly 70 Greek Schools, one Armenian School, and one Bulgarian School in Çatalca Province in the 19th century, and only nine of them still exist. This article aims to shed light on the historical memory of the non-Muslim educational buildings in Çatalca Province, both extant and lost, with the aim of better understanding the shared heritage of the area. The conservation status and transformation process of these nine extant structures have been analyzed according to the holistic evaluation of the international charters. In conclusion, this article presents an evaluation and potential for the conservation of the extant school buildings with respect to their original architectural identities and cultural significance.

Cite this article as: Bilgiç Elmas M, Binan CŞ. 19th Century (1839-1923) non-Muslim educational buildings in Çatalca province and their current conservation conditions. Megaron 2023;18(3):287–311.

INTRODUCTION

The Ottoman Empire began efforts to modernize education during the 19th century, which were initiated by key reforms such as the Tanzimat Edict (1839) and the Reform (*Islahat*) Edict (1856). These reforms marked major turning points

in Ottoman political and social history. During this modernization process, non-Muslim communities in the empire, including Greeks, Armenians, Bulgarians, and Jews, established new schools at various levels to develop and maintain their own educational systems, particularly in Çatalca, Edirne, and Istanbul provinces. Non-Muslim

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: melis.7.bilgic@gmail.com

This article is based on the PhD Dissertation entitled as A Research on Traces of the Common Past of the 19th Century and its Forgotten Heritage in Turkish Thrace by Melis Bilgiç Elmas and completed under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Can Şakir Binan at YTU, Department of Architecture in 2023.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

educational institutions served as reflections of the Ottoman political and social spheres in the 19th century. Following the establishment of the Republic of Turkey in 1923, numerous interventions transformed these educational buildings in response to social changes, such as population exchanges and migrations.

This study examines the establishment and transformation of non-Muslim Christian educational buildings in Catalca Province during the 19th century when it was predominantly populated by Christian¹ communities. By recalling the shared past of the Ottoman State, this research aims to contribute to future studies on the significant non-Muslim architectural heritage of the Ottoman Empire, which has received little attention so far. Specifically, this study seeks to analyze and document architectural features and current conservation conditions of 19th century non-Muslim educational buildings in Catalca Province. The originality of this study is based on the use of Greek literature and Ottoman archival documents, many of which are referenced for the 1st time², to reveal the architectural development process of non-Muslim educational buildings. In addition, in-depth archival research was conducted in Catalca, Silivri, and Büyükçekmece municipalities and Conservation Councils, which has not been carried out in the region before, provides valuable original information and documents about the surviving non-Muslim educational buildings. Furthermore, field trips made significant contributions to the literature by determining and evaluating the current conditions of the surviving educational structures.

A total of 56 documents related to non-Muslim educational buildings located within the borders of Çatalca Province were examined in the Presidential State Archives (Table 1). The archive contained documents related to two educational complexes and 16 single-school structures built between 1839 and 1923 in the province. Based on the visual documents found in the archives, educational buildings were analyzed according to their year of construction, layout and spatial organization, dimensions, facade characteristics, architectural styles, structural systems, construction materials, and their architect/foreman.

Publications in the Fener Greek Patriarchate Library providing information about the educational system and the Greek schools in 19th century Çatalca Province were reviewed. 71 Greek schools, one Armenian school, and one Bulgarian school providing education at different levels to the province have been examined. Only nine of the identified non-Muslim educational buildings survive at the time of writing. The archives of Regional Conservation Councils contain documentation for these nine structures that were evaluated to gather information about their alterations and conservation processes. The evaluation has been made based on international charters and represented through six key concepts, which were selected as a result of a holistic approach; compatible re-use, distinguishability, reversibility, addition/annex, integrity, and authenticity.

NASCENCY AND CONSTRUCTION OF NON-MUSLIM EDUCATIONAL BUILDINGS IN ÇATALCA PROVINCE IN THE 19TH CENTURY (1839-1923)

Nascency of the Non-Muslim School System in the 19th Century

The Ottoman State regulated the religious and administrative organizations of non-Muslims under the framework of the *millet* system following the conquest of Istanbul in 1453. This system divided subjects into millets (communities) based on their beliefs (Braude, 1982). Non-Muslim community schools originally followed a religion-centric education approach as they were managed by religious councils and churches (Somel, 2010). The modernization processes of Greek educational institutions in the 18th century and Armenian institutions in the 19th century began with the influence of ideological factors that became widespread in non-Muslim communities. Secular and Hellenic notions were the main fundamentals of the modernization process of the Greek education system (Somel, 2010; Tekeli, 1993).³ The Ottoman administration also played a crucial role in the process through the regulations that introduced the Ottomanist ideology of the Tanzimat period (1839-1876), which were meant to regulate the nationalist movements that threatened the unity of the state (Fortna, 2002). The Tanzimat Edict (1839) was the first attempt to strengthen the social integrity and central authority of the Ottoman state by providing equal rights to all citizens regardless of their ethnicity or religion (Ortaylı, 2005; Kasaba, 2011). Nonetheless, the Ottoman State could not fully realize the extent of the Edict's promise of equality for all non-Muslim Communities (Shaw, 1985). Therefore, the Reform Edict (1856) followed by the Paris Treaty was promulgated under the influence of foreign states following the Ottoman Defeat in the Russo-Ottoman War (1853-1856) (Davison, 1963). The edict specifically let non-Muslim subject rights be re-considered and reshaped in a modernizing, secularizing, and nationalizing process (Ozil, 2021). It specified that all non-Muslim communities were allowed to establish and (re)construct their own educational institutions for the 1st time, under the supervision of the State (Ergin, 1977). The Greek Society of Literature (*Elinikos Filolopikos Sillogos*) was founded in 1861 and recognized as one of the first organizations which pioneered the expansion of the schools (Somel, 2005). Greek Patriarchate Regulation (1862) and Armenian Patriarchate Regulation (1863) separated education and religion administrations with the secular and modern notions of this period (Clogg, 1982).

The first comprehensive law on education, the Regulation on Public Education (Maarif-i Umumiye Nizamnamesi, 1869), published by the Ottomans included the legal framework for the establishment of non-Muslim and foreign schools as private institutions. Article 18 specified the Ottoman State to open schools at the elementary level of Sibyan and Rüşdiye for both Muslim and non-Muslim communities separately; however, it maintained both communities to receive mixed education at Idadi and Sultani levels (Koçak, 1985). The Ottoman Constitution (Kanun-i Esasi, 1876) made primary education mandatory for all girls and boys. Additionally, Articles 15 and 16 guaranteed the right to an education for non-Muslim communities, as long as it was monitored by the State (Akyüz, 2016). Whether these regulations on non-Muslims rights demonstrated the ideology of Ottomanism, it was affected by the Berlin Treaty signed after the Ottoman-Russian War (1877-78) which led to an increase of Islamism during the Hamidian Period (1876-1908) (Fortna, 2002; Somel, 2010). The Second Constitutional revolution (1908), which was begun by the Committee of Union and Progress (*İttihat ve Terakki*) administration, provided a more liberal education policy against non-Muslim communities similar to the 1839 and 1856 regulations that mainly aimed at bringing social equality to the society (Bozkurt, 1989). The noticeable increase in the number of reconstruction permits of the non-Muslim schools after 1908 can be considered as a reflection of this revolution (Table 1).

With the expansion of non-Muslim and foreign schools, particularly in Istanbul and Rumelia, notable regulations were issued since these schools were considered to spread nationalist ideas to non-Muslim communities (Sakaoğlu, 2003; Somel, 2005). Eventually, non-Muslim schools were placed under the authority of the Ministry of Public Education authorization according to the regulation of *Mekatib-Hususiye Talimatnamesi* (1915); however, it could not be implemented due to the emerged World War I (1914) (Kodaman, 1991; Somel, 2010). The Balkan Wars, World War I, the Turkish Independence War, compulsory population exchange, and migrations led to the non-Muslim educational buildings losing their original users and functions.

Establishment of the non-Muslim Schools in Çatalca Province

Çatalca Province was selected as the study area for three major reasons. First, it was dominantly populated by the Christian non-Muslim communities⁴, especially the Greeks, but also a small number of Armenians and Bulgarians, and surrounded by their religious and educational buildings until the population exchange and migrations (Figures 1 and 2). Second, Çatalca was an independent sanjak that the town included Çatalca,

Çatalca Province	1850	1860-1880			189	0				190	0				51-0161	23
	1856 1857	1861 1866 1869 1876	885 1	893 1	894	1895	896	1061	1905	906	1907	1908 19	99 19	161 11	<u>8</u> 1915	1917 192
Repair/Expansion Permits	Ι	Ι											Ι			I
Requests for Construction	Ι						Ι		I			Π				
Reconstruction Permits				I	I					Ι	II	Π	III I	п		
Construction Permits			I				Ι	Ι	I	Ι	III	Ι		III		
Construction Implementati	ons			I			I	I	I	I	II		Ι	Ι		



Figure 1. Greek religious and educational buildings in Catalca Province in 1908 (Anonymous, 1908).

Büyükçekmece, Silivri, and Terkos in the western hinterland of Istanbul from 1888 to 1920 (Sezen, 2006), but was part of Istanbul from 1920 to 1923. Then it was purposely separated from Istanbul Province between 1923 and 1926 again to include Çatalca's Greek community in the scope of population exchange of the Treaty of Lausanne (1923). Third, Çatalca was one of the settlements where the Greek community left Eastern Thrace at a late stage of the population exchange period (Valsamidis, 2022).

The non-Muslim education system in Catalca⁵ was based on religious principles until the 1830s, except for a Greek School (1796) in Selimpaşa, two schools (1799) in Silivri, and another Greek School (1817) in Çatalca. After the 1830s, five schools were built in central Çatalca; (1) Greek Boys' School, (2) a Primary School, (3) Greek Girls' Primary School, (4) Fotakios School, and (5) a nursery school. The number of schools in Catalca and its villages was documented in the reports of Trakya Eğitim Sevdalıları Derneği (Thrakika Filologikos Syllogos/1872) in 1872/1873, 1892, 1902, and 1910 (Valsamidis, 2007). The educational infrastructure in all of the villages of Büyükçekmece was significantly expanded with the establishment of modern school buildings, such as nursery schools, girls' and boys' primary schools, and mixed schools (Table 2).

The 1872-1873 report documents four Greek schools located in central Silivri; the exact year of construction is unknown for (1) the oldest building, while (2) a mixed school was built in 1838, (3) boys' school in 1858, and (4) girls' school in 1863 (Drakou, 1892). Ottoman archival documents also state that reconstruction permits were granted for a Mixed Armenian School (1909) and a Greek Secondary School (1912) in central Silivri (BOA, DH.MKT. 2811/53, 1327; İ.MF. 20/19, 1327). Selimpaşa (Epivati/Bigados) was one of the most important villages



Figure 2. Locations of educational buildings that have survived to date (Google Earth, 2023).

of Silivri and even Eastern Thrace in terms of education infrastructure. The Archigeneion Girls' School Complex of Selimpaşa was established in 1857 with the efforts of Sarandis Archigeneion (BOA, A.AMD. 80/28, 1273). Another school in Selimpaşa was the Greek Boys' Primary School, which was reconstructed in 1866 in the same place (BOA, C.ADL. 93/5536, 1283). The village of Celaliye in Silivri (Eksastron/Şastroz) had two school buildings in the 19th century (Cokona, 2016). In addition, a reconstruction permit was granted for a new Greek Mixed School in 1905 (BOA, I.AZN. 60/37, 1323). A mixed school was in the village of Kamiloba (Yaloz, Eviali), while another school was constructed in 1872-1873 by Sarandis Archigeneion in Kumburgaz (Ikonomion) village (Drougka, 2011). One mixed school was in Ortaköy (Sürgünköy, Delliones) village and three were in the village of Fener (Fanari) in 1892. One of the schools in Fener was perhaps established in conjunction with the Church of St. Mary (BOA, I.AZN. 22/29). There was one school in each village of Terkos in the district of Çatalca (Celepköy, Yazlık (Lazarköy), Çanakça, Dayakadın, Boyalık, and Yeniköy) as well as a mixed school in Örencik (Tarfa) (Çokona, 2016). Permits were given for the construction of a Greek School (1896) in Oklalı and the reconstructions of Greek Schools in Çiftlik (1893), Karacaköy (1907), and Arnavutköy (1909) (BOA, I.AZN. 20/15, 1314; I.AZN. 5/30, 1311; MF.MKT. 1008/48, 1325; DH. MUİ. 49/7, 1325).

The Architectural Characteristics of non-Muslim Schools in Çatalca Province

The construction of school buildings increasingly took place apart from the churches as a sign of the separation between secular and religious spheres throughout the 19th century (Colonas, 2005; Ozil, 2021). The Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute (1857) was one of the earliest

Settlement	1872/1873	1892	1902	1910
Büyükçekmece (Athyra)	Mixed-school (1) Girls' school (1)	Mixed-school (1)	Nursery school (1) Primary school (1)	Boys' primary school (1) (4 classrooms) Girls' school (1) (3 classrooms)
Gürpınar (Aresu/Anarşa)	School (1)	School (1)	School (1) (literacy education) Nursery school (1) Girls' school (1)	Mixed-school (1)
Kavaklı (Gardes)	Mixed-school (1)	School (1)	School (1) (literacy education) (γραμματοδιδασκαλειο)	Mixed-school (1) (3 classrooms)
Güzelce (Çöplüce/ Demokran	ia) School (1) (literacy education) (γραμματοδιδασκαλειο)	School (1)	School (1) (literacy education) (γραμματοδιδασκαλειο)	Boys' primary school (1) (3 classrooms) Girls' school (1) (2 classrooms)
Elbasan (İlbasan)	-	School (1)	School (1)	(2 classrooms) Primary school (1) (4 classrooms) Girls' school (1) (3 classrooms)
Mimarsinan (Kalikratya)	Mixed-school (1)	Nursery school (1) Mixed school (1) Girls' school (1)	Nursery school (1) Girls' school (1) Primary school (1)	Boys' school (1) (7 classrooms) Girls' school (1) (5 classrooms)
Türkoba (Lagothira)	Literacy education in the church	School (1)	School (1)	Primary school (1) (3 classrooms)
Ovayenice (Neohori)	Primary school (1)	School (1)	Nursery school (2) School (1) (literacy education)	Boys' primary school (1) (4 classrooms) Girls' state primary school (1)
Tepecik (Playa)	Mixed-school (1)	School (1)	(γραμματοοισασκαλειο) Nursery school (1) School (1) (literacy education)	Primary school (2)
Çakıl	Literacy education in the church	School (1)	Nursery school (1) School (1) (literacy education) (γραμματοδιδασκαλειο)	Mixed-school (1) (4 classrooms)

 Table 2. Statistical information on the schools established in Büyükçekmece and its villages (Valsamidis, 2007)

planned educational complexes (*külliye*) built in the Tanzimat Period in Eastern Thrace (Palazi, 2017). The education system became more organized through the diversification of education levels. The original girls' primary, secondary, and teacher training school blocks were built in 1857 and the Church of the Forty Martyrs' and the Chapel of Saints Constantine and Helena were added in 1863. Elenion Boys' High School and OrphanageBoarding School (1863), Archigeneion Family Residence (Teacher's Residence), Girls' Orphanage-Boarding School (1872), and the Girls' and Boys' Nursery School (1873) were also added to the complex during the period (Figures 3 and 4). The author Aka Gündüz (1886-1958) praised the educational methods provided to the female students and the impressiveness of the complex's architecture in his article penned for the Tanin Newspaper (Gündüz, 1913).

Celaliye Greek Mixed School (1905) (Figure 5a), Çatalca Greek Boys' School (1906), Fotakios Greek School (1910) (Figure 6), and Mimarsinan Greek School (1911) (Figure 7)⁶ had similar plans and can be considered as examples of the most elaborate plan layout-a central-sofa type with a rectangular plan. Their spatial organization differed from other schools due to being larger in scale and having multipurpose hall additions. The reason that these villages had such large-scale schools is related to their central locations, along with the population density and wealth of their Greek communities. The most common type of plan consisted of a square plan with an inner sofa. Examples of this type were Selimpaşa Greek Boys' Primary School (1866), Çiftlik Greek School (1893) (Figure 5b), Karacaköy Greek Boys' School (1907), Arnavutköy Greek School (1909), and Güzelce Greek Mixed School (1909). Çiftlik Greek School, Karacaköy Greek Boys' School, and Güzelce Greek Mixed School in particular were quite similar, each having two-



Figure 3. Digital reconstruction of Archigeneion Girls' School and Elenion Boys' School Complex (Palazi et al., 2015).



Figure 4. (a) Archigeneion Institute Girls' School blocks 1 and 2 (1909); (b) Church of the Forty Martyrs (1909) (Palazi, 2017).



Figure 5. (a) Celaliye Greek Primary School (Demirkan, 1941) (b) Çiftlikköy Greek School, before it was demolished (Kazautzakis, 1998).



Figure 7. Mimarsinan Greek School in the 1980s, which functioned as Mimar Secondary School in the Republican period (Vasiliu and Çelyos, 2000).



Figure 6. Çatalca Fotakios Greek School on postcards and map of Çatalca Province (Kayacan, 1925).

rooms, two-classrooms, and a plan centered on the entrance hall. They lacked interior stairs connecting the lower and upper levels, and access to the lower level was only possible from the exterior. This organization suggests that the lower level was likely used for storage rather than educational purposes. There were schools which had a rectangular plan with an inner sofa, examples of which were Elbasan Greek School (1901), Silivri Armenian Mixed School (1909), and Silivri Secondary Greek School (1912). Oklalı Greek School (1896) also had a rectangular plan, but unlike the others, it did not have a sofa. Silivri Armenian Mixed School and Silivri Secondary Greek School had more elaborate plans when compared with Oklalı and Elbasan Greek Schools, which were located in rural areas and had modest planar organizations (Table 3, Figure 8).

The facades of the non-Muslim school buildings in Çatalca Province typically featured triangular pediments, monumental stairs, moldings, jambs, plasters, cornices, and inscriptions in the neoclassical style, which gradually became more elaborate in the late 19th century. Thus, as the Greek community developed a strong sense of a distinct Hellenic identity through the modern education process, the architecture of the school buildings of the Greek community also became Hellenized through the adoption of the neoclassical style (Colonas, 2022). Outstanding

examples of neo-classical architecture include the Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute Girls' School and Çatalca Fotakios Greek School with a clock tower and cut-stone facades, Celaliye Greek School with stone and brick facades, and Selimpaşa Greek Boys' Primary School with rubble facades (Table 3, Figure 8).

The architect of Selimpaşa Girls' School and the Church, Nikolakis Tzelepis (*Nikolokis Kalfa*), also took part in the repair of many palaces including Yıldız Palace, state buildings in Istanbul and was the designer of the Hamidiye Mosque (Şenyurt, 2002; Ersoy, 2011). The architects of the Fotakios Greek School, Kotopoulos Georgios and Mr. Theoklis Anastasios Kalfas, actively worked in Istanbul (Şenyurt, 2002). Periklis D. Fotiadis, who is thought to be the architect of the *Çiftlikköy* Greek School according to a construction permit document that has his signature, also designed significant Greek community schools, such as Beyoğlu Zografeion High School and Heybeliada Theological School (Şenyurt, 2002).



Figure 8. Historic milestones related to the development of non-Muslim communities' educational system in conjunction with their effects on the non-Muslim institutions in Çatalca Province.

	General Attributes		(Colored denic	Ard + huildings that do not s	hitectural Featu	ures way hatch on the drawing	e indicatae enfa)	
			(colored ucp					
	Buildings (Original Status)- Const. Date	Spatial Organizations	Structural Dimensions (m)	Facade Characteristic	Arch. Styles	Structural Systems and Construction Materials	Architect/ Foreman	Planar Organization
Selimpaşa Silivri	Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (2 Blocks) (1857)	2 Independent structures, 6 rooms on each floor	width: 11.60 length: 41.20 height: 8.45 width:9 length: 26.30 height: 6.85	Eave and band molding, cut-stone covered, with elevated clock tower	Neoclassical	Rubble masonry construction, masonry ground floor slab, wooden first floor slab (1st block), Jack-arched first floor slab (2nd block), troditional barred	Nikolakis Tzelepis	Side sofa (rectangular)
						traditional barrel tile roof covering		
	Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (3rd Block)	2 Rooms on each floor	width: 10.50 length: ~ 24.50 height: 7.90	Eave and band molding, cut-stone covered	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, masonry ground floor slab, wooden first	Unknown	
	(1872)					floor slab, traditional barrel tile roof covering		Inner sofa (rectangular)
	Archigeneion Institute Nursery School-(1873)	Unknown	Unknown	Eave and band molding, cut-stone covered	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, traditional barrel tile roof covering	Unknown	Rectangular
Ele	ni Boys' High School (1868)) Unknown	Unknown	Eave and band molding, cut-stone covered	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, traditional barrel tile roof covering	Unknown	Rectangular
F	eachers' Residence (1863)	Unknown	Unknown	Eave and band molding, cut-stone covered	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, traditional barrel tile roof covering	Unknown	Rectangular
	Greek Boy's 4 Primary School (1866) 2	4 Classrooms on each floor, 2 teacher rooms, 2 rooms	width: 16 length: 16 height: 11.50	Profiled-eave molding, band molding, facade without plaster, staggered quoins, balcony on the middle axis of the facade	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, masonry ground floor slab, wooden first floor slab, traditional barrel tile roof covering	Unknown	Inner sofa (square)

	General Attributes			Arc	hitectural Featu	ures		
			(Colored depic	t buildings that do not s	survive to date, §	gray hatch on the drawing:	s indicates sofa)	
	Buildings (Original Status)- Const. Date	Spatial Organizations	Structural Dimensions (m)	Facade Characteristic	Arch. Styles	Structural Systems and Construction Materials	Architect/ Foreman	Planar Organization
Fener Silivri	Greek School (affiliated with Fener Church) (unknown)	Unknown	Unknown	Band molding, staggered quoins	Neoclassical	Rubble and brick masonry construction	Unknown	Rectangular
Çatalca	Fotakios Greek Rove' School (1910)	6 Rooms	width: 19 Ienoth: 30	Triangular main	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, meconry ground floor	Georgios Kotomoidos	
	(0121) DOIDC slog	on cach nooi, hall	height: 10.95	enu ance peutitents, elevated clock tower, profiled eave and		slab, wooden first floor slab, traditional barrel	Theoklis Anastasios	
				band molding, staggered quoins, stone ornaments		tile roof covering	Kalfas	Central sofa (U- shaped)
Karacaköy Taultos	Greek Boy's School	7 Rooms	width: 13 Ionoth: 15	Profiled eave and	Neoclassical	Masonry construction,	Unknown	
TURNS	(1907)		height: 6.25	staggered quoins, double entrance stairs		slab, wooden first floor slab, slab		Central sofa (Square)
Silivri	Greek High School in the courtyard of Metropolitan See (1912)	Unknown	width: 14,75 length: 27 height: 10.5	Main entrance linear stairs, eave and band molding	Neoclassical	Masonry construction, traditional barrel tile roof covering	(martine	
Silivri	Armenian School for Girls and Boys (reconstruction) (1909)	2 Classrooms2 teacher's rooms,2 meeting rooms,2 dining halls	width: 10,60 length: 19,70 height: 9	Profiled eave and band molding, cut-stone- covered slab on grade, Plastered-corners	Neoclassical	Mixed construction (masonry & timber)	Unknown	Inner sola (rectanguar)
Çöplüce B.Çekmece	Greek School for Girls and Boys in the church courtyard (reconstruction) (1909)	2 Classrooms (<i>dershane</i>) 2 teacher's rooms	width: 14,70 length: 17 height: 6	Main entrance linear stairs, profiled eave and band moldings, cut-stone-covered slab on grade, metal ornaments	Art-nouveau	Timber construction, marseilles tile roof covering	Çatalcalı Dimitri Yani Kalfapulos	Sofa (ent. hall) (rect.)

Table 3. COI	NT.							
	General Attributes			Arci	hitectural Featu	res		
			(Colored depic	t buildings that do not s	survive to date, <u></u>	ray hatch on the drawing	s indicates sofa)	
	Buildings (Original Status)- Const. Date	Spatial Organizations	Structural Dimensions (m)	Facade Characteristic	Arch. Styles	Structural Systems and Construction Materials	Architect/ Foreman	Planar Organization
Celaliye B.Çekmece	Greek Mixed Primary School and Nursery School (reconstruction (1904)	9 Classrooms(dershane),2 Break rooms,2 Restrooms	width: 21 length: 28.75 height: 8.25	Entrances with triangular pediments, rubble stone covering, profiled eave and band moldings, plastered-corners	Neoclassical	Masonry construction	o by give	Central sofa (U-shaped)
Mimarsinan B.Çekmece	Greek School (reconstruction) (1911)	11 classrooms,2 Restrooms,2 Management rooms	width: 27.75 length: 37.5 height: 6.75	Profiled eave and band molding, cascaded blocks	Neoclassical	Masonry construction	And the second	Central sofa
Çatalca	Greek Boy's School (reconstruction) (1906)	8 Rooms, 2 Restrooms, hall	width: 22 length: 41 height: 7	Linear main entrance stairs, profiled- eave molding and band molding, cascaded blocks	Neoclassical	Masonry construction	Unknown	(courtyard) (U-snaped) Central sofa (courtyard) (U-shaned)
Arnavudköy Terkos	Greek School for Girls and Boys (new construction) 1st proposal (1909)	2 Classrooms (dershane) 2 Teacher's rooms	width: 9.75 length: 12 height: 7.5	Profiled eave molding and band molding, plastered entrance and corners	Neoclassical	Mixed construction (masonry & timber) traditional barrel tile roof covering	Unknown	Inner sofa (square)
	Greek School for Girls and Boys (new construction) 2nd proposal (1909)	4 Classrooms, (dershane) restroom	width: 9.75 length: 12 height: 7.5	Profiled-eave molding and band molding, cut-stone-covered slab on grade, plastered-entrance and corners, wooden ornaments	Neoclassical	Mixed construction (Masonry + Timber)	Unknown	Inner sofa (square)

Table 3. CON	TT.							
	General Attributes			Arc	chitectural Featur	SS		
			(Colored depi	ct buildings that do not	survive to date, gi	ay hatch on the drawing	s indicates sofa)	
	Buildings (Original Status)- Const. Date	Spatial Organizations	Structural Dimensions (m)	Facade Characteristic	Arch. Styles	Structural Systems and Construction Materials	Architect/ Foreman	Planar Organization
Çiftlikköy Terkos	Greek School (reconstruction) (1893)	Classroom, Teacher's room, dining hall (taamhane), restroom	width: 11.25 length:15 height: 9	Linear entrance staircase main entrance with triangular pedimen on the level of parapet, profiled eave molding, plastered-entrance	Neoclassical t	Masonry construction	P.D. Photiades (Fotiyadis kalfa)	Without sofa
				and corners				(inverted T-shaped)
Oklalı Terkos	Greek School (reconstruction) (1896)	Dershane (classroom) teacher's room	width:7,5 length:12 height: 7.5	Eave and band molding	Without any concept of an architectural style	Masonry foundation, Mixed Buildings (Masonry + Timber)	Unknown	Without sofa (rectangular)
Elbasan B.Çekmece	Greek School (reconstruction) (1901)	Dershane (classroom) 5 rooms, Restroom	width: 7 length:12 height: 6	Eave and band molding	Without any concept of an architectural style	Masonry foundation, mixed construction, (masonry + timber) tile roof covering	Unknown	Inner sofa (rectangular)
Akören Terkos	Greek School (reconstruction) (1885)	Unknown	width: 13.5 length:18.75 height: 6	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown

THE ARCHITECTURAL USES AND TRANSFORMATIONS OF EXTANT NON-MUSLIM EDUCATIONAL BUILDINGS (AFTER 1923)

The population exchange agreement of the Lausanne Treaty (1923), which was signed by Turkey and Greece, was one of the largest "compulsory" population exchange movements of the 20th century (Arı, 2000). The Lausanne Treaty defined non-Muslims as "minority," while non-Muslim schools were defined as "minority schools." The right to education was given only to the minorities concentrated in regions such as Istanbul, Gökçeada (Imroz), and Bozcaada (Tenedos), which were outside of the scope of exchange (Somel, 2010). On the other hand, regions included in the scope of exchange lost their non-Muslim communities and they had to abandon their educational buildings. Especially in small and medium-size regions, non-Muslim school buildings were demolished, reallocated, handed over to the State Treasury, reused, and or underwent various interventions without central regulation (Ozil, 2019). Conversely, some cases were handled and managed according to local needs.⁷

The compulsory population exchange had a dramatic effect on the Greek population of Çatalca Province and this can be associated with the decision of excluding Çatalca Province from Istanbul before the agreement (Tevfik, 2023). The Bulgarian and Armenian populations, which were considerably less than Greeks, had to leave the region during the Balkan Wars as well as World War I. 50,611 non-Muslim (Greeks: 43,925, Armenians: 993, Bulgarians: 5,693) lived in Çatalca Province according to the state census of 1915 and it was reported as only 940 as per the 1927 census (Tevfik, 2023). The number of non-Muslim

1942

schools in Çatalca drastically decreased at the same time and out of nearly 70 known schools, only nine of them survived to date. These nine extant school buildings consist of four educational complexes, one partial complex affiliated with the church, and four separate schools. According to the title-deed registry records that date back to the 1970s, the Archigeneion Institute Complex, Fener Greek School, and Karacaköy Greek Boys' School are owned by local administrations, Selimpaşa Greek Primary School, Çatalca Fotakios Greek School, and Celaliye Greek School are owned by the State Treasury and currently allocated to other state institutions. All of these buildings have been registered by the Regional Conservation Councils and are protected by the state under law no.2863 (Table 4).

Archigeneion Institute Complex

The complex maintained its function as a whole until 1922, after which different sections of the building underwent changes, in terms of function and condition. Aerial photographs from 1942 indicate that the teachers' residence was destroyed and the Elenion Boys' School lost its spatial integrity due to reductions from the west and south before World War II (Figure 9). Today, the structure is in ruins while it is disconnected from its historical context due to the transformation of its surroundings (Figure 10).

The Girls' School (Block 1–2) was used as barracks during World War II when the first structural alterations occurred (Conservation Council Archive, 04.07.2002-6407). In the 1980s, the Girls' School was used for commercial purposes and the blocks were extensively altered and damaged, as its walls were demolished to create larger interiors and sizeable exterior openings. (Conservation Council Archive, Survey



Figure 9. Alterations of the Archigeneion Institute Complex between 1942 and 2004 (Archive of the General Directorate of Mapping).

Table 4. Comparison of gene	ral attributes, fun	ctions, owne	ship, and registration s	status of the extant non-Musl	im educational buildings	(Authors, 2023)
Buildings/Original Functions	Location, Block/Parcel	Construction Date/Period	Former/Previous Functions	Current Functions	Property Owners	Registration Number/Date
Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (1 st block) Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (2 nd block) Archigeneion Institute Girls'	Selimpaşa -/6286– 6287	1857 1857 1872	Dâru'l-eytâm Military barracks, Machine shop, Carpenter 's shop, Boathouse,	Nişantaşı University and Silivri Municipality Fine Arts Academy	Silivri Municipality	Istanbul No.2 Regional Council for the Conservation of Cultural Properties decision no.2773 dated 10.12.1991
School (3 rd block)			Silivri Municipality Supplementary Service Building			
Elenion Boys' High School	Silivri/Selimpaşa 6963/1	1868	Storage	empty		
Fener Greek School (Affiliated with Fener Church)	Silivri/Fener 3430/1	unknown	Primary school	empty	Silivri Municipality	Istanbul No.1 Regional Council for the Conservation of Cultural Properties Greek Boys' decision no.6310 dated 21.03.2002
Primary School	Silivri/Selimpaşa 322/3	1866-1870	Primary school	Selimpaşa Nursery School	State Treasury (allocated to Ministry of Education)	Istanbul No.2 Regional Council for the Conservation of Cultural Properties decision no.2773 dated 10.12.1991
Fotakios Greek Boys' School	Çatalca 306/12 (66/133)	1910	Government Building, İmam Hatip School, Prison (on the basement floor)	Çatalca District Gendarmerie Headquarters G	State Treasury (allocated to endarmerie Headquarters)	Supreme Council for Immovable Antiquities and Monuments (GEEAYK) decision no.13723 dated 09.04.1982
Greek Boys' School	Çatalca/Karacakö -/1636	y 1907 Mi	Primary school Police station Government Building unicipality Supplementar Service Building	Karacaköy Municipality Supplementary Service Building Y	Karacaköy Municipality	Istanbul No.2 Regional Council for the Conservation of Cultural Properties decision no.4243 dated 05.09.1996
Greek Mixed Primary School/ Nursery School	B.çekmece/Celaliy -/118	e 1904	Primary school	İsmail Çile Special Education and Application Center	State Treasury (allocated to the Ministry of Education)	Istanbul No.2 Regional Council for the Conservation of Cultural Properties decision no.1557 dated 05.09.1989



Figure 10. Surviving northwestern section of the Elenion Boys' School; kitchen and library.

Report). In 1997, Silivri Municipality decided to utilize Block 2 as the Municipal Supplementary Service Building. The restoration of Block 2 involved reconstructing the roof by using a steel structure, repairing the jack-arched flooring system with reinforced concrete supports and steel beams, and reinforcing the original brick walls (Figures 11 and 12). The restoration process of Blocks 1 and 3 began in 2005 and involved the reconstruction of the destroyed clock tower and roof by using steel construction and the replacement of the wooden flooring with reinforced concrete. Sidewalks neighboring Block 3 were raised during the adjustment of the ground level of the complex and the original staircase was converted into a balcony (Figure 13 and Table 5). Once the Municipal Services left, private universities applied to include the blocks as part of their campuses (Conservation Council Archive, report dated November 20, 2017). The blocks remained empty until 2021, and have been used by Nişantaşı University and Silivri Municipality since then.

Selimpaşa Greek Boys' Primary School

The other extant school in Selimpaşa is the Greek Boys' Primary School has continued to function as a school since the population exchange. Its northern facade was



Figure 11. The original south facade of Blocks 1 and 2 of the Girls' School, before and after the restoration (Sakkidu, 1938; Silivri Municipality Archive).



Figure 12. Reconstruction of the roof and floor systems during the repair of Block 2, consolidation of the brick walls, and the present state of the conserved marble inscription (Hanart Architecture Archive).



Figure 13. Block 3 entrance facade: the original and after restoration conditions, conserved marble inscription (Sakkidu, 1938).

completely blocked by a two-story, reinforced concrete building that was built after 1970 adjacent to it. The structure underwent a restoration process between 2003 and 2007 and serves as Selimpaşa Elementary School and Nursery School since then. The building's original features, such as a load-bearing system made of masonry walls and wooden slabs, still exist. Its original interior layout, featuring classrooms that open to an inner *sofa*, and the wooden interior staircase were mostly preserved (Figure 15). The most distinctive exterior alteration was the replacement of the original balcony with a reinforced concrete staircase providing access to the upper floor, while the door on the ground floor was walled up. This staircase was replaced with a monumental double staircase during the recent restoration process (Figure 14 and Table 5). Furthermore, the inscription above the upper-floor entrance has been covered, and the Greek text on the interior wall above the entrance was plastered over during the restoration process (Figure 16).



Figure 14. South facade of the building before and after the restoration (Hanart Architecture Archive, 2003).



Figure 15. Upper-floor plan survey drawing, interior sofa before and after the restoration (Hanart Architecture Archive, 2003).

023
ý, 2
hor
Aut]
2
Ires
cta
stru
nt
exta
he
ont
ns
Itio
ver
lter
Ϊï
iõ
per
nt
.ece
q
/ ar
arly
ie e
Ę.
fo
ysis
Jal
Ar
5
ole
a

 \sim

Settlement	Extant Structures	Early Interventions (After 1923)				Recent Int	erventions (20	03-2018)			
		ð	onsolidation	Steel Reinforcement	Integration	Reinforced Concrete Additions	Removal of Improper Additions	Repair & Maintenance & Replacement of Building Elements	Additions/ Annexes	Renovation	Restoration Date/Period
Silivri	Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (1st block)	alterations to the original plan layout	>	>	>	~	I	1	I	>	2005-2011
	Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (2 nd block)	additional concrete interior stairs	>	>	>	>	I	I	I	>	2003-2005
	Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute Girls' School (3 rd block)	alterations to the original plan layout	>	I	>	>	I	I	I	>	2005-2011
	Selimpaşa Elenion Boys' High School	unknown					in ruins				No recent restoration
	Selimpaşa Greek Boys' Primary School	unknown	>	I	I	I	>	>	>	I	2003-2007
	Fener Greek School (Affiliated with Fener Church)	unknown					in ruins				No recent restoration
Çatalca	Fotakios Greek Boys' School	alterations to the original plan layout additional spaces additional concrete interior stairs						>	I	1	2018 (simple repair)
	Karacaköy Greek Boys' School	alterations to the original plan layout additional concrete interior stairs alterations to the roof structure	>	>	>	I	>	>	>	>	2018-ongoing
B.Çekmece	Celaliye Greek Mixed Primary School and Nursery School	additional interior concrete walls and stairs, alterations to the roof structure	>	I	I	I	I	>	I	I	2009-2012



Figure 16. Greek text on the wall, presently plastered (Hanart Architecture Archive, 2003).

Çatalca Fotakios Greek Boys' School

Çatalca Fotakios Greek Boys' School is the only example of an extant school structure in central Çatalca. It sustained damage during the Balkan Wars and underwent repair in 1914, then became the Town Hall until 1940 (BOA, ML.EEM. 1204/17). It appears that it was also used as an Imam Hatip (religious vocational) high school and a prison until 1982 (Conservation Council Archive, 26.03.1982-905). Reports dated 1985 mention the demolition of the building's interior to transform it into gendarmerie housing and barracks (Conservation Council Archive, 27.09.1985-1383). Despite this process was halted by the Town Council, the original interior walls and floor slabs were demolished according to the document of 11.10.1985-7622. The issue was brought to the attention of the High Council, which determined the building's registration status as Grade II and required the preparation of an architectural survey and restoration project (Conservation Council Archive, 18.10.1985-1523). The restoration project prepared between 1985 and 1988 determined that only the external facades would be

conserved and separation walls and flooring should be reconstructed with reinforced concrete, and the building was opened as the Gendarmerie Headquarters in 1988 accordingly (Table 5). Another restoration project was prepared between 2012 and 2018 in response to the need for repairs but was never implemented. A comparison between the two projects revealed several conditions: (1) the original masonry east and west facade walls and cut-stone cladded north facade wall have mostly been preserved (Figure 17). (2) The addition to the south facade altered the original design. (3) The reconstruction of the new interior walls to create small office spaces destroyed the original plan organization (Figure 18). (4) All woodenjoisted flooring was replaced with reinforced concrete (Figure 19), with the exception of the jack-arched flooring at the north of the clock tower.

Karacaköy Greek Boys' School

Karacaköy Greek Boys' School is an extant school structure in Karacaköy village, and it has been undergoing restoration since 2018 at the time of writing and will serve as the Karacaköy Municipality Supplementary Service Building after its completion. The building was previously used as an elementary school as well as a town hall after the population exchange. The registration document mentions that the building was being used as the Town Hall at the time of writing, and it was repaired during its transformation from a school building (Registration slip, 1996, Conservation Council Archive). Reports included in the restoration projects indicate that two fires destroyed the building's wooden flooring and roof, which were replaced by reinforced-concrete roofing and flooring in addition to the interior being rebuilt (Restitution Report, Conservation Council Archive).

One of the Ottoman reconstruction permit documents contains a drawing of the school, which features a receded double staircase in the middle of the main facade that leads to the entrance to the upper floor (Figure 20a). Therefore, it is assumed that the present double stairs and the soffit



Figure 17. South facade in the survey drawing dated 1985, Architect: Hamdi Göytan (Conservation Council Archive), South facade.


Figure 18. (a) Ground floor plan survey, 1985; Architect: Hamdi Göytan; (b) Ground floor plan restitution drawing, 2013, Detay Architecture (Conservation Council Archive).



Figure 19. Dismantled wooden slab of the upper floor (Conservation Council Archive), Interior was reconstructed using reinforced concrete.



Figure 20. (a) Karacaköy Greek School facade drawing (BOA, I.AZN. 71/43), (b) Facade before the restoration; Detay Architecture, 2013 (Conservation Council Archive).

above them are later additions (Figure 20b and Table 5). The original planar organization was also considerably affected by the additional interior walls (Figures 21a and 21b). The ongoing restoration project involved the removal of all reinforced concrete slabs, stairs, and separation walls, which have structural issues with the remaining original building components.

Celaliye Greek Mixed Primary School and Nursery School

It is the only extant school structure in Büyükçekmece, which was able to remain as a school after the population exchange (Demirkıran, 1994). It was abandoned from the 1990s to 2008, reopened as the Special Education and Application Center following the restoration implementation (2009-2012) (Conservation Council Archive, May 03, 2012/23463). It is noteworthy that Ottoman archival documents and the present plan have similarities (Figures 22a and 22b). The layout of the central sofa was slightly altered following the expansion of the southeastern room and the addition of an internal staircase, which was covered by a skylight right after the population exchange (Figure 23a). Simultaneously, the roofing system was also repaired. The load-bearing system, original masonry exterior and interior walls, and wooden flooring have been consolidated and preserved. The northern and western exterior staircases were previously altered, which are the only observed interventions to the well-preserved original building facades (Figure 23b and Table 5).



Figure 21. (a) Karacaköy Greek School original plan drawing (I.AZN. 71/43); (b) Floor plans before and after the restoration (Detay Architecture, 2013, Conservation Council Archive).

EVALUATION

The conservation status and transformation process of these nine remaining non-Muslim educational structures have been evaluated based on the international charters and presented through six key concepts: The concept of **"compatible re-use"** emphasizes the impact of the re-use on the building's original architectural identity (ICOMOS Charter-Principles for the Analysis, Conservation and Structural Restoration of Architectural Heritage, 2003, Article 1.4, The Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance, 2013, Articles 1.10, 1.11, 7.1, 23). It is noticeable that the schools that maintained their educational function could retain their architectural identities, unlike those that were repurposed and lost their original identities.

The concept of "**distinguishability**" (explicitness of alterations) underlines that any new intervention should be identifiable and should not harm the originality of the building (ICOMOS The Venice Charter, 1964, Article 9-12, ICOMOS Charter-Principles for the Analysis, Conservation and Structural Restoration of Architectural Heritage, 2003, Article 3.11). For example, the Archigeneion Institute Girls' School buildings were extensively restored due to their dilapidated condition. The replacement of missing parts of the original plan layout and facade were re-integrated based on earlier documents. Since the applications were not supported by the contemporary design approaches or the information panels, the interventions made were not clearly distinguishable from the original features (Figure 24).

The concept of "**reversibility**" emphasizes that any intervention should be reversible, allowing for future developments, and that it can be removed and replaced (ICOMOS Charter- Principles for the Analysis, Conservation and Structural Restoration of Architectural Heritage, 2003, Article 3.9; The Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance, 2013, Article 15.2). It is observed that due to the use of non-reversible intervention techniques and materials, such as the use of reinforced concrete, the original structural systems were severely affected in all of the extant structures.

The concept of "addition/annex" states that any new intervention should respect the cultural significance, authenticity, and architectural identity of the structure (ICOMOS The Venice Charter, 1964, Article 13; ICOMOS The Washington Charter, 1987, Article 8). The original entrance stairs, which can be considered a typological facade element, were demolished and replaced with additional larger-scale stairs in all of the extant structures, resulting in significant negative effects on the originality of the facades (Figure 25).



Figure 22. (a) Celaliye Greek School plan and front elevation archival drawing (BOA, I.AZN. 60/37); (b) Floor plan and elevation survey drawing, Anfora Architecture, 2009 (Conservation Council Archive).

The concept of "**integrity**" defines architectural heritage as a complete entity and considers the continuity of buildings in terms of their architecture, structure, and relationship with their surroundings (ICOMOS The Venice Charter, 1964, Article 6; ICOMOS Charter- Principles for the Analysis, Conservation and Structural Restoration of Architectural Heritage, 2003; UNESCO World Heritage Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, 2021). For instance, the Selimpaşa Elenion Boys' High School and Fener Greek School lost their structural integrity since they were partially destroyed and disconnected from their historical context (Figure 26).

In addition to all of these concepts, "authenticity" is defined as a characteristic that an architectural property

must truthfully represent and embody cultural heritage values as a whole (Rössler, 2008). It considers the attributes of "form and design," "material and substance," "use and function," "traditions and techniques," "location and setting," "spirit and feeling," and other internal and external factors (UNESCO World Heritage Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, 2021, ICOMOS The Nara Document on Authenticity, 1994). It can be clearly stated that functional changes have a significant impact on buildings' planar organizations, structural systems, and facade characteristics, as well as their intangible features. The Selimpaşa Archigeneion Institute Girls' School Complex, Çatalca Fotakios Greek School and Karacaköy Greek Boys' School buildings lost their original plan layouts and inner structures, and could



Figure 23. (a) Views from the east; (b) Timber structure of the *Sofa*, Additional staircase covered with skylight, wooden ceiling at basement floor.



Figure 24. The clock tower of the Archigeneion Institute Girls' School buildings before and after the restoration.

only sustain their facade. On the other hand, the Selimpaşa Greek Mixed State School and Celaliye Greek Mixed School could remain their inner sofa/centered sofa plan layouts and facades. Today, none of the extant buildings can represent the attributes of "spirit and feeling" or recall their original users as well as the potential of a place to witness past human activity, therefore, the past and the present are not connected to each other.

CONCLUSION

This article is predominantly based on archival documents, literature review, and field studies conducted in Çatalca Province. The study revealed that there were nearly 70 Greek Schools, one Armenian School, and one Bulgarian School in Çatalca Province in the 19th century. As a result of the wars and migrations that occurred in the region at the beginning of the 20th century, these school buildings have mostly lost their users and original functions. Though, the conservation issue of these non-Muslim educational buildings is crucial for preserving the cultural heritage and architectural legacy of the region. These buildings not only provide insights into the educational and social history of the area but also serve as a tangible reminder of the multicultural past of the province.

Since the end of the 20th century, there have been debates about how society interacts with the past and how this/it

can shape future issues. Within the current conservation paradigm, it is widely acknowledged that preservation efforts are fundamentally concerned with the human experience and that any conservation endeavor constitutes an integral component of our collective history (Loulanski, 2006). In this manner, cultural heritage serves as a repository of the collective memory, preserving the legacies of the past generations and transmitting them to the future ones. Whether it is about demolition or destruction, these structures should still be considered objects of conservation, even if they have lost their integrity or originality. These buildings can transfer memories to the new users by being repurposed and transformed (Holtorf, 2014).

This article aims to shed light on the historical memory of the Christian non-Muslim educational buildings, both extant and lost, with the aim of better understanding the shared heritage of the area. Ottoman non-Muslim community educational buildings are to be considered a part of modern Turkey's cultural wealth and significant historical assets. It is important to take into consideration the key factors mentioned in the international charters for heritage conservation, such as reversibility, integrity, and authenticity when developing conservation strategies. Adherence to these principles ensures that any intervention made to these buildings should be done in a way that respects their historical and cultural significance and that their essential qualities should be preserved for future generations. One of the key challenges facing heritage conservation professionals is balancing the need to preserve the past with the demands of the present and the future. In this case, it may be solved by finding sustainable and creative ways to adapt these structures for new purposes, while still retaining their architectural and cultural identities. By integrating these key principles into a holistic approach to heritage conservation, the non-Muslim school buildings in Çatalca Province can be protected and sustained for future use and appreciation.

The surviving late-Ottoman period educational structures may become symbols of international tolerance and peace. At the same time, they can also be considered as



Figure 25. Additional exterior stair examples; Karacaköy Greek School, Celaliye Greek School, and Selimpaşa Greek School.



Figure 26. Abandoned school buildings; Fener Greek School, Selimpaşa Elenion Greek School.

"Transboundary Serial Heritage" under the "Building Types" category since they reflect continuity beyond today's political borders (UNESCO World Heritage Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, 2005)8. Even if they are not defined as a World Heritage Property, they can still promote collaborative preservation practices between the neighboring countries due to their Transboundary Serial Heritage potential. To have a comprehensive understanding of shared heritage, it is also essential to continue such studies in Thrace and the Balkans beyond Çatalca that they were once part of the Ottoman Empire, even though they now belong to different nations today. This article also emphasizes the necessity of utilizing archival documents from the Late Ottoman period as a crucial resource in preparation of any architectural survey, restitution, or restoration project. By presenting innovative methods in conserving the authentic values of the region, this study will undoubtedly serve as a valuable resource for future academic research and restoration projects.

NOTES

¹Ottoman Jewish community education buildings are not included in this study as they did not experience a modernization process similar to the Ottoman Christian community during the late Ottoman period (Somel, 2010).

²Arama (2019) conducted a classification of a portion of the archival documents in a master's thesis.

³Regarding the Armenians, American missionaries who appeared throughout the Ottoman Empire began to influence the modernization process of the Anatolian Armenian education system at the beginning of the 19th century (Somel, 2010). Bulgarian schools received a legal and institutional framework by the official foundation of the Bulgarian Exarchate in 1870 (Somel, 2005).

⁴According to the census of 1881/1882, the Muslim population in Çatalca Province was 15,091, the non-Muslim population (Greek: 35,848, Armenian: 889, Bulgarian: 5,586) was 43,299 and in the 1906/1907 census, the total population was 97,072 including 59,304 Greeks, 17.028 Muslims, 8,058 Bulgarians, and 929 Armenians (Karpat, 2003).

⁵It is noted that the Muslim education system in Çatalca was carried out in mosques until 1878; however an Idadi Mektebi, a Girls' Rüştiye Mektebi and a Mekteb-i Iptidai were built during the modernization process of the Hamidian Period (Gökçen, 1994).

⁶In the 1980s, the building could not meet the educational demands of the local community and was demolished accordingly (Vasiliu and Çelyos, 2000).

⁷The decision to allocate the Archigeneion Institute Complex to the immigrants who arrived at Çatalca during the population exchange or reuse the Çatalca Fotakios Greek Boys' School as the Government Building after the Balkan Wars (1913) are the two cases made to meet the local needs (BCA, 272-0-0-11, 17-75-10, 1924; BOA, DH. MB.HPS. 28/69, 1333).

⁸In this context, there is a wide variety of cultural assets between Turkey and neighboring countries, such as caravanserais along historic routes, clock towers, churches, and monasteries that also have the potential to be transboundary serial heritage (Akçabozan Taşkıran and Binan, 2020).

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Akçabozan Taşkıran, A. & Binan, C. (2020). UNESCO World Heritage List and Transboundary Serial Heritage Concept: The Potential of Turkey. Megaron, 15(1), 67–83.
- Anonymous. (1908). Carte des écoles et églises du vilayet d'Andrinople du sandjak de Tchataldja et de la partie européenne du vilayet de Constantinople. Accessed February 20, 2022, from Online Archive of France: https://www.oldmapsonline.org/map/geoportost/ BV042751176.
- Arı, K. (2000). Büyük Mübadele Türkiye'ye Zorunlu Göç (1923-1925). Tarih Vakfı Yurt Yayınları.
- Akyüz, Y. (2016). Türk Eğitim Tarihi M.Ö.1000-M.S.2016. Pegem Akademi.

- Arama, F. (2019). Çatalca Rum Okulu Restorasyon Projesi [Unpublished master's thesis]. Fatih Sultan Mehmet Vakıf Üniversitesi], İstanbul.
- Braude, B. (1982). Foundation Myths of the Millet System. Christians and Jews in the Ottoman Empire (pp.69-89). Holmes&Meier Publishing.
- BCA. (1924, Nisan 03). 272-0-0-11/17-75-10. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Republican Archives.
- BOA. (1273, Zilhicce 29). A.AMD. 80/28. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1283, Safer 13). C.ADL. 93/5536. İstanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1311, Safer 03). I.AZN. 5/30. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1314, Cemaleziyahir 21). I.AZN. 22/29. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1314, Muharrem 17). I.AZN. 20/15. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1319, Safer 29). I.AZN. 42/50. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1323, Safer 22). I.AZN. 60/37. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1324, Safer 02). I.AZN. 65/32. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1325, Rabiulahir 04). ML.EEM. 749/58. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1325, Cemaleziyahir 11). MF.MKT. 1008/48. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1327, 28 Safer 02). ŞD. 1943/46. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1327, Rabiulevvel 13). I.AZN. 84/22. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1327, Rabiulahir 22). DH.MKT. 2811/53. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1327, Şevval 19). I.AZN. 90/17. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1327, Zilhicce 16). DH. MUI. 49/7. İstanbul: Istanbul Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1329, Şevval 16). I.MF. 18/32. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1329, Şevval 23). ŞD. 1950/20. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1329, Zilkade 03). DH.İD. 30/52. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1329, Zilkade 03). I.MF. 18/38. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.

- BOA. (1329, Zilkade 10). BEO. 3958/296776. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1330, Şevval 10). I.MF. 20/19. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1330, Şevval 17). BEO. 4090/306680. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1330, Şevval 21). DH.ID. 30/12. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- BOA. (1333, Rabiulevvel 18). DH.MB.HPS. 28/69. Istanbul: Turkish Republic Presidency State Archives, Ottoman Archives.
- Bozkurt, G. (1989). Alman İngiliz Belgelerinin ve Siyasi Gelişmelerin Işığı Altında Gayrimüslim Osmanlı Vatandaşlarının Hukuki Durumu (1839–1914). Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları.
- Clogg, R. (1982). The Greek Millet in Ottoman Empire. Christians and Jews in the Ottoman Empire (pp. 69-89). Holmes&Meier Publishing.
- Colonas, V. (2005). Greek Architects in the Ottoman Empire, 19th–20th centuries. Olkos.
- Colonas, V. (2022). Salonica-Smyrna 1880-1912 Regional Centers Global Port Cities. Kanyılmaz Matbaacılık.
- Davison, R. (1963). Reform in the Ottoman Empire 1856-1876. Princeton University Press.
- Demirkan, S. (1941). İstanbul'un Köyleri: Celaliye Köyü, (2). Bürhaneddin Matbaası.
- Drougka, K. A. (2011). Greek Education in Eastern Thrace during the Ottoman Rule (1352-1922): The Ideological of The Education Process, Stamuli Publications.
- Drakou, E.I. (1892). The Thracian-lectures on the ecclesiastical provinces of Silivria, Ganos and Chora, Metra and Athira, Myriophytos and Peristases, Kallipoleos and Madytos, Atina.
- Ersoy, A. (2011). Aykırı Binanın Saklı Kalfası: Hamidiye Camisi ve Nikolaos Tzelepis (Cepepis). In H. Kuruyazıcı & E.Şarlak (Eds.), Batılılaşan İstanbul'un Rum Mimarları (pp. 104-118).
- Ergin, O. N. (1977). Türk Maarif Tarihi (1-2). Eser Matbaası.
- Fortna, B. C. (2002). Imperial Classroom: Islam, the State, and Education in the Late Ottoman Empire. Oxford University Press.
- Gökçen, M. T. (1994). Çatalca. Dünden Bugüne İstanbul Ansiklopedisi (pp. 477-478). Türk Tarih Vakfı Yayınları.
- Gündüz A. (1238, Safer 16) (1913, Mart 11). Tanin Gazetesi.
- Han, B. (2000). Silivri-Selimpaşa Tarihsel Sit Alanı ve Arhigenya Kız Öğretmen Okulları Araştırma Ve Değerlendirme Projesi [Unpublished master's thesis]. Yıldız Teknik Üniversitesi.
- Holtorf, C. (2014). Averting loss aversion in cultural heritage. International Journal of Heritage Studies, 21(4), 405-421. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527258.2

014.938766.

- ICOMOS The Venice Charter (International Charter for the Conservation and Restoration of Monuments and Sites), (1964). http://www.icomos.org.tr/Dosyalar/ICOMOSTR_en0243704001536681730.pdf
- ICOMOS The Washington Charter (Charter for The Conservation of Historic Towns and Urban Areas, (1987). http://www.icomos.org.tr/Dosyalar/ICO-MOSTR_en0627717001536681570.pdf
- ICOMOS The Nara Document on Authenticity, (1994). www.icomos.org.tr/Dosyalar/ICOMOSTR_ tr0756646001536913861.pdf.
- ICOMOS Charter- Principles for the Analysis, Conservation and Structural Restoration of Architectural Heritage, (2003). http://www.icomos.org.tr/Dosyalar/ICOMOSTR_en0033912001536913477.pdf
- Karpat, K. (2003). Osmanlı Nüfusu (1830-1914). Tarih Vakfı Yurt Yayınları.
- Kasaba, R. (2011). Türkiye Tarihi 1839-2014. Kitap Yayınevi.
- Kayacan, M.A. (1925). Çatalca Vilayeti. Çatalca Belediyesi Yayınları.
- Kazautzakis, N. (1998). 74 XPONIA Κοινοτητα Νεας Πελλας. Publication of the Educational Cultural Association of Nea Pellas.
- Koçak, C. (1985). Tanzimat'tan Sonra Özel ve Yabancı Okullar. Tanzimat'tan Cumhuriyet'e Türkiye Ansiklopedisi (pp. 485-494). İletişim Yayınları.
- Kodaman, B. (1991). Abdülhamid Devri Eğitim Sistemi. Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları.
- Küçük, C. (1985). Osmanlılarda 'Millet Sistemi ve Tanzimat. Tanzimat'tan Cumhuriyet'e Türkiye Ansiklopedisi (pp. 1007-1024). İletişim Yayınları.
- Loulanski, T. (2006). Revising the Concept for Cultural Heritage: The Argument for a Functional Approach. International Journal of Cultural Property, 13, 207-233.
- Ortaylı, İ. (2005). İmparatorluğun En Uzun Yılı, İletişim Yayınları.
- Ozil, A. (2019). Whose Property Is It? The State, Non-Muslim Communities, and the Question of Property Ownership from the Late Ottoman Empire through the Turkish Nation State. Journal of the Ottoman and Turkish Studies Association, 6(1), 211-235.
- Ozil, A. (2021). Ottoman Reform, Non-Muslim Subjects, and Constitutive Legislation: The Reform Edict of 1856 and the Greek General Regulations of 1862. In Johanna Chovanec & Olof Heilo (Eds.), Narrated Empires Perceptions of Late Habsburg and Ottoman Multinationalism (169-191). Springer Nature Switzerland AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55199-5
- Palazi, M. F. (2017). Archigeneion Institute and Women Teacher Mobility and Sociability: Contribution to the Modernization and Nation-building Process

Under Ottoman and Greek rule (1857-1922) [unpublished doctoral thesis], University of Crete Department of Philosophy and Social Studies.

- Palazi, M., Koçoğlu, S. & Dalakoura, K. (2015). Dijital Rekonstrüksiyon-Temsili Arhigenya Enstitüsü Trakya Epivates'de [Selimpaşa]. http://ww2.fks.uoc.gr/_/ pw/research/palazi_kocoglu_dalakoura/
- Rössler, M. (2008). Applying Authenticity to Cultural Landscapes." APT Bulletin, 39 (2-3), 47–54.
- Sakaoğlu, N. (2003). Osmanlı'dan Günümüze Eğitim Tarihi, Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Sakkidu Z. (1938). Sarandi Arhiyani and Osia Paraskevi, I. Vartsos Printing House.
- Sezen, T. (2006). Osmanlı Yer Adları. T.C. Başbakanlık Devlet Arşivleri Genel Müdürlüğü Yayınları.
- Shaw, S. (1985). Osmanlı İmparatorluğu'nda Azınlıklar Sorunu. Tanzimat'tan Cumhuriyet'e Türkiye Ansiklopedisi (pp. 1002-1006). İletişim Yayınları.
- Somel, S. A. (2005). Christian Community Schools During the Ottoman Reform Period. In Elisabeth Özdalga (Eds.), Late Ottoman Society: The Intellectual Legacy (pp.257-277). Routledge.
- Somel, S. A. (2010). Gayrimüslim Okulları Nasıl Azınlık Okullarına Dönüştü (1), Türk Tarih Vakfı Yayınları.
- Şenyurt, O. (2002). 1800-1950 Yılları Arasında İstanbul'da Faaliyet Gösteren Rum Mimarlar [Unpublished master's thesis]. Yildiz Technical University.
- The Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance, (2013). http:// www.icomos.org.tr/Dosyalar/ICOMOSTR_ en0795934001587381516.pdf.
- Tekeli, İ. & İlkin, S. (1993). Osmanlı İmparatorluğu'nda Eğitim ve Bilgi Üretim Sisteminin Oluşumu ve Dönüşümü, Türk Tarih Kurumu Yayınları.
- Tevfik, İ. (2023). In Mehmet Söylemez (ed.), Istanbul'un Batı Kanadı Çatalca Sancağı'nda, Büyükçekmece ve Silivri'de Mübadele. 100. Yılında Mübadele (pp.177-227). İstanbul Büyükşehir Belediyesi Yayınları.
- UNESCO World Heritage Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, (2005). https://whc.unesco.org/archive/opguide05-en.pdf)
- UNESCO World Heritage Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention, (2021). Accessed from: https://whc.unesco.org/en/ guidelines/
- Valsamidis, P. (2007). Çatalca ve Büyükçekmece Metropolitliği. Stamuli Yayınevi.
- Valsamidis, P. (2022). Doğu Trakya Rumlarının Göç Kronolojisi. Toplumsal Tarih, (346), 12-20.
- Vasiliu, Z. & Çelyos, P. (Eds.). (2000). Photo Album of Kalikratya. Kalikratya Municipality Publications.



Article

Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.52284

MMGARON

Simplified structural analysis method for traditional timber buildings with cross frame

Rüya KILIÇ DEMİRCAN^{*}

Department of Costruction, Sinop University, Boyabat Vocational School, Sinop, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 11 January 2023 Revised: 20 July 2023 Accepted: 21 July 2023

Key words: Analytical modeling; conservations; structural analysis; T/C friction isolator; traditional timber houses

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this article is to develop a simplified structural analysis method for determining the load-bearing capacity of traditional buildings with timber frames and infill adobe walls, which have a very important architectural value in our cultural heritage, against various loads and environmental effects. Numerical models of the existing building are prepared and structural analyzes are performed before the repair and strengthening works of historical buildings. The structural analysis of traditional timber buildings differs from the analysis approaches of today's modern structures. In the structural analysis of such a building, criteria such as member sizes of structural frames, connection details, and material properties of unit elements may not be analyzed with a simple approach as the methods used in modern structures. For that reason, it is necessary to develop a simplified structural analysis method to reach the closest results in the conservation and strengthening studies of traditional timber buildings. The simplified structural analysis method developed in this article is applied in Boyabat Mehmet Kaya's House. The building is analyzed in three different scenarios with the proposed structural analysis method. The compression stiffness of the T/C (Tension/ Compression) friction isolator element is estimated in a different way, in the first scenario, there are no windows and door openings or deterioration in the adobe walls of the building. In the second scenario, there are door and window openings in the infill adobe walls. In the third analysis case, there are infill adobe walls where material deterioration is effective and damage is observed in certain parts of the building. In the calculations attained, the displacements at the specified points of the building indicate significant findings about the structural behavior of the building according to the compressive stiffness.

Cite this article as: Kiliç Demircan R. Simplified structural analysis method for traditional timber buildings with cross frame. Megaron 2023;18(3):312–327.

INTRODUCTION

All the necessary actions for the conservation of historical buildings bring together many interdisciplinary sciences such as architecture, engineering, archeology, art, and history. The engineering calculations of a historical building that requires repair and strengthening are quite complex. Due to its uncommon material characteristics and geometry, it is difficult to comment on its structural behavior without performing certain structural analyses.

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: ruyakilic86@gmail.com



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/). For this reason, structural analyses should be carried out by considering the specific material properties and geometry. However, deformations and displacements that may occur in the structure can be estimated within the framework of the basic principles of engineering and general physics rules by simplifying the load-bearing structure during the planning phase. Today, many engineering software have been developed that can perform these analyzes in line with the needs. Modeling and structural analysis have been developed and accelerated. It is of great importance to interpret these results of analysis of software packages, which provide a great convenience for the user. In this study, it is aimed that the analytical evaluation of a historical structure with a timber frame through a simplified model that can be easily evaluated by all related disciplines.

The increasing level of income and welfare in societies increases the awareness of the importance of preserving structures with historical and cultural value and passing them to future generations. The conservation of buildings with historical and cultural value is a process that requires the cooperation of different disciplines and requires a comprehensive evaluation of many parameters. However, the general condition of the structural system is slightly more prominent among these parameters for the structure to survive robustly. While the conservation of monumental structures representing the history and culture of countries requires institutional interventions, there are individual interventions for traditional buildings (Dutu et al., 2018; Li, 2022). It is almost impossible to implement a common structural analysis method for traditional timber buildings, each with different materials and structural members. In the planning phase of the strengthening and conservation process, the current structural performance of the building must first be determined. A simplified calculation method that accurately reflects the structural condition of the building facilitates an orderly start to conservation planning.

Timber-framed and adobe-filled traditional buildings are found in many parts of the world, many of which were built in earthquake-prone areas. They are widely preferred according to geographical location and flora since they can be built at low costs thanks to the use of easily available materials such as wood, stone, and soil. Most of the masonry and timber buildings made using these materials have survived to the present day and continue to be used. It is known that traditional timber-framed buildings are earthquake-resistant structures and suffer very little damage during seismic movements. For this reason, their survival has increased the reliability of the building system (Güçhan, 2018; Kalkan Okur et al., 2021).

In recent years, there has been an increasing momentum in scientific research on structural analysis and numerical modeling of traditional timber buildings. Experimental and analytical calculations have gained importance by supporting timber frame systems with intermediate elements such as natural masonry stone, brick, and adobe. Frame wall units formed in different materials, frame systems, and binding types were manufactured and subjected to structural analysis under various loadings. Analysis results such as displacements, forces, and failure mechanisms of the system shed light on how the structure will behave (Aktaş, 2017; Vieux-Champagne et al., 2014; Sandak et al., 2019; Chand et al., 2020; Yazgan and Unay, 2020; Lukic et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2018; Liang et al. 2022). However, the lack of experimental data on the structural systems and joint details of traditional buildings with timber frames and infill adobe walls makes it difficult to prepare and measure numerical models for structural analysis of existing buildings (Fritsch et al., 2019). Since each structure has its significant properties regarding materials, structural system, details, the laboratory experiments or the numerical modelling techniques do not provide a general structural analysis method. Although the assumptions made for the estimation of material properties and joint details of the adobe, which require a non-linear analysis method due to its characteristics, show mathematical results compatible with the experimental sets prepared for the selected unit elements. Many different results can be obtained from the numerical models to be prepared for the entire building. This increases the importance of a simplified numerical modeling and structural analysis method, especially during the protection and strengthening planning phase (Bağbancı, 2013; Günaydın et al., 2023).

With the diversification of numerical modeling methods, the analysis of masonry structures has become prominent. Aguilar et al. (2019) performed modal analysis, experimental modal analysis, seismic capacity assessment and pushover analysis, and limit analysis by applying accurate geometric modeling and simplified analytical methodology to a historic adobe structure using a laser scanner and photogrammetry. The application of this methodology allowed us to determine the performance levels of an adobe church against different seismic scenarios. The results showed that the church can remain intact until occasional earthquakes with a return period of 72 years. However, the results emphasized that rare earthquakes (return period of 475 years) can create an unsafe structural condition with partial collapse of structural elements. Sandak et al. (2019) used LVDTs to investigate a timber-framed stone infill wall structure within the ductile elastic limit and to determine its behavior under static-seismic loads. In his study, Dutu (2021) focused on timber framed infill walls in three different contries in detail. He emphasized the importance of this type of structure and conducted experimental studies to explain its structural behavior. As a result, he explained the resisting mechanisms of structures that have survived against seismic effects for many years. He experimentally demonstrated that timber frames with infill

walls and diagonal members resist earthquake effects to a significant degree (REF Conclusion). Referring to Dutu's (2021) study, Gülkan and Langenbach (2021) emphasized the importance of himiş structures, which are frequently encountered in rural areas in Türkiye.

In Meybodian et al.'s (2020) study, various walls were designed and analyzed using adobe which is known as a sustainable material. Locally available, sustainable reinforcing materials such as palm fibers and reeds were preferred as natural reinforcing materials and one wall panel was reinforced with a special type of plastic mesh for comparison. The results are described in terms of lateral load displacement, ultimate strength, displacement capacity, ductility factor, energy dissipation, and equivalent viscous damping. The experimental findings revealed that the structural response of adobe walls can be significantly improved using natural reinforcing materials. Jiménez et al. (2021) classified the Damage Vulnerability Index Method for the seismic evaluation of hybrid timber-masonry buildings. Their method is based on the execution of a detailed numerical study of this specific structural typology to calibrate the scores assigned to the irregularities of the structural system, the type of storey, and the state of preservation of the building. A sensitivity analysis of the seismic capacity was developed by performing pushover analyses with several models corresponding to realistic variations of each structural or material parameter Jiménez et al. (2021) and Vieux-Champagne et al. (2014) analyzed the seismic performance of timber-framed structures filled with natural stone and earth mortar using threescale experiments in which both cyclic and monotonic loading were considered. The first scale was to determine the local effect of the number of nails under two loading directions, the second scale was based on the foundation cell detail and the third scale was based on the shear wall size analysis. The specimens were analyzed as a whole wall without any openings (doors or windows). The effect of infill on stiffness, maximum load, or equivalent viscous damping was analyzed. This study was then compared with three other experimental studies on the same type of traditional structures to obtain answers regarding the seismic-resistance behavior of these structures.

Literature review shows that there are few studies in which timber-framed natural adobe walls are applied together as a hybrid system, the existing studies have contributions to primarily experimental approaches, while numerical studies require intensive engineering knowledge. For this reason, this study aims to simplify the prediction of the behavior of timber frame system filled with adobe walls numerically.

Especially in Türkiye, there is no structural studies on timber framed adobe infill walls. For this purpose, it is necessary to develop a structural calculation method that can be easily interpreted (displacements, internal forces, and stresses in the structural system elements) by all related professionals working in various stages of conservation and restoration field to protect the historical architectural heritage in earthquake prone zones. In this study, the displacements of timber framed adobe fill walls under structural loads are presented with different scenarios to be more easily understood. Timber-framed adobe fill walls, which are experimentally specified in the literature studies, are defined as T/C isolators (tensile/compression isolators) at the connection points in numerical modeling. The scenarios (TFwAF-01, TFwAF-02, TFwAF-03, and TFwAF-04) were explained, TFwAF-02 and TFwAF-03 were applied by modeling the structure selected as a case study with the finite element method. With the use of simplified calculation method, the analyses performed on the numerical model, which has been prepared with the information obtained from the building survey, give results that help to determine the behavior of the structure, especially in terms of displacements.

CHARACTERISTICS OF STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS OF CONVENTIONAL TIMBER BUILDINGS

Timber is one of the oldest building materials used in construction in many parts of the world. The construction of timber structures dates back to the 15th century and is known to have continued until the 1960s (Doğangün et al., 2006).

Although timber is widely used in the world, its use in Türkiye has remained at a very low level compared to other construction systems. The use of wood as the main structural frame of buildings in Türkiye has decreased significantly since the 1940s with the use of reinforced concrete, stone, and steel in the construction industry. Wood is used much more in buildings, especially in the northern countries of Sweden, Norway, Finland, Canada, and the USA, as well as in Japan, New Zealand, and Australia, than in Turkey (Özdemir et al., 2008).

It is known that, wooden structures have been replaced with other materials such as stone, brick and reinforced concrete due to the damages of various natural disasters. In recent years, timber materials have become prominent one more time with the popularized sustainability paradigm and this has led to a renewed focus on traditional timber construction systems. The use of new types of building materials as hybrids with timber building systems in contemporary construction is becoming more widespread.

As in many regions of the world, it is possible to encounter various timber construction systems in Türkiye which are used to be preffered extensively in the past. Due to the high seismic risk, the availability of materials, and the climatic conditions, traditional timber construction techniques have been applied, especially in Western Anatolia.

Timber Building Construction Systems Used in Türkiye Timber structures can be considered among the cultural heritage of people living in this region. Traditional architecture in Turkey has many unique styles (Doğangün et al., 2006; Özdemir et al., 2008; Aras, 2013). Turkish-Ottoman Houses, which have been shaped by the cultural, social and climatic factors, are the most important examples of timber buildings recognized worldwide (Özdemir et al., 2008; Saatçi, 2020).

In timber buildings, the loads are encountered by posts, beams, purlins, bases, and diagonal elements and they transferred to the building foundation. In addition, in these structural systems, there are there can be other components which do not present any bearing properties such as flooring and cladding elements. Walls, made out of adobe or other infill materials and placed between timber members, are among the common examples (Saatçi, 2020).

Traditional timber buildings in Turkey can be classified as houses consisting of logs or planks, unfilled frame systems (bağdadi/wood veneer), and infilled frame systems (himiş/ dizeme/muska dolma).

Log Houses

It is called "canti" (log house), where lightly processed logs or planks are superimposed and fixed in both ends. The walls, formed with logs or planks, function as both carriers and dividers (Figure 1a and b). In traditional Turkish log houses, members lying horizontally transfer vertical loads from top to bottom to the foundation. Even if such a structural system is sufficient for vertical loads, it may not be able to withstand the lateral loads due to loosened ends by the effects of shear forces during a destructive earthquakes (Doğangün et al., 2006; Yağcı Ergun et al., 2021).

Unfilled Frame Systems (Bağdadi/Wooden Coating)

Bağdadi is a type of plaster which is often applied with slats over the frame. When plastering the front and back parts

of the walls, the spaces in between are ventilated with inletoutlet holes. This provides insulation. Bağdadi is made with thick or thin slats. Wood coating, on the other hand, is a type of wall formed by hitting wooden coating boards on the structural system elements. These cladding boards can be overlapped or flat. (Yağcı Ergun et al., 2021; Aktaş Erdem et al, 2011; Silveira et al., 2012). In Turkey, timber houses are generally one, two, or three storey buildings. The ground floor of these buildings was usually built with stone or adobe walls. Himiş and bağdadi construction techniques can usually be used together for different levels. Figure 2a shows the plaster of bağdadi, while Figure 2b shows an example of the ground floor bağdadi, a construction using hımış.

Infilled Frame Systems (Hımış/Dizeme/Muska Dolma)

The walls formed by filling he gaps between the frame elements with masonry (brick, adobe, briquette etc.) materials are called Himiş, which is one of the most common systems used in Anatolia. The masonry infill materials differ according to the climate and characteristics of the region. The mortared or unmortared stone infill placed in the triangular gaps created with diagonal elements is called Muska Dolma. The meshing consists of timber elements placed horizontally or vertically between the roof systems. There are examples of applications between timber elements with or without mortar. In Figure 3a, adobe filled himiş structures, in Figure 3b, a 3 storey adobe filled structure with a stone foundation from the west part of the Black Sea Region are shown.

A SIMPLIFIED STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS METHOD FOR TRADITIONAL TIMBER BUILDINGS

material properties according to their sizes and connection

Figure 1. (a, b) Examples of timber structural systems created by sequential alignment of planks and logs Artvin/Türkiye.

Structural analysis of historical and traditional timber structures is different from the analysis of contemporary structures. Each of the elements that make up the structural system of a traditional timber building has unique details and



Figure 2. (a) Bağdadi system technique (Sinop) (b) Bağdadi and half-timbered system technique (Sinop).



Figure 3. (a) Example of Himiş and partial bağdadi structure, (b) Basic stone filling himiş system structure.

types. Due to these features, it is not always possible to apply the general engineering analysis practice directly, as in the engineering calculations of reinforced concrete and steel structures. Defining the material properties of wood and adobe together, requires laboratory experiments and highly complex numerical modeling techniques (Aktaş Erdem et al., 2011).

It is necessary to develop a simplified analysis method to reach the most accurate results in the planning phase of the conservation and strengthening works of traditional timber buildings. First of all, a plane frame analysis model is prepared for this approach. As shown in Figure 4, to examine the structural interaction of timber frames with adobe blocks, a numerical model of a 3 m high plane frame with a 4 m span, including timber beams and posts as well as adobe blocks is prepared. The cross-sectional dimensions of the timber beams and posts are 200 mm × 200 mm and the thickness of the adobe wall is 200 mm. As summarized



Figure 4. Numerical model for the first analysis (TF-wAF-01), Timber frame with infill adobe wall.

in Table 1, the modulus of elasticity for wood is assumed as E=10000 MPa and for adobe as E=225 MPa. These data were taken from the "Guide to Managing Earthquake Risks for Historical Buildings" prepared by the General Directorate of Foundations (Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü, 2017; Ahşap Yapıların Hesap ve Yapım Kuralları, 1979; Duman and Ökten, 1988). Since adobe is not produced according to a certain mixing procedure and specification, it can present varying material properties even within the same building. Because of experimental studies conducted to determine the mechanical properties of adobe material used in traditional buildings, approximate values based on observations for the modulus of elasticity of adobe have been adopted. Silveira et al. (2012) estimated the modulus of elasticity for adobe from the stress-unit deformation curve obtained by simple compression experiments. On the other hand, Vicente and Torrealva (2014) proposed the adobe's modulus of elasticity as 300 times the compressive strength in their experimental study of a typical infilled adobe timber building. In the current earthquake specification in Türkiye and some scientific publications about masonry structures for brick masonry walls, the modulus of elasticity is recommended as 300 times the compressive strength of masonry materials (Türkiye Bina Deprem Yönetmeliği, 2018; Bayülke, 2011; Bayülke, 2018). In this study, the modulus of elasticity of the adobe wall is accepted as E=225 MPa, assuming that the compressive strength of a typical adobe masonry wall is 0.75 MPa (Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü, 2017).

In the numerical models, four consecutive analyzes were carried out with the SAP2000 finite element analysis software. The most appropriate way to examine the behavior of the timber frame with infill adobe walls is to calculate the displacements in the frame. Therefore, in parametric analysis, the weight of the timber frame and infill adobe walls is not taken into account. To observe the change in the displacements, a point force of 500 kN is applied as a first loading case at the upper left corner of the frame along the positive x-axis (in the horizontal direction) and 500 kN in the negative x-axis direction at the same point as a second loading case. As shown in Figure 4, in the first analysis (TFwAF-01), the timber frame defined by FRAME elements and the infill adobe walls defined by SHELL elements are modeled as a whole. Although it is known that there can never be a perfect combination between the beams and posts forming the timber frame and the infill adobe walls as in the (TFwAF-01) numerical model. This numerical model has been prepared to observe the alteration in the next modeling options. It is fixed with a simple support from the point at the two corners of the base assuming that the examined frame is on any floor of the building, on any surface, or the partition wall.

In the second analysis model (TFwAF-02) as shown in Figure 5, in order to consider a more realistic behavior on the joint surface of the timber frame and the infill adobe, T/C friction isolator elements that do not transmit the tensile forces in a way that corresponds to each SHELL element, but only transmit the compressive forces are applied. There will be no physical bond between the infill adobe and the timber frame in the regions where tensile stresses are applied as a result of the forces in the positive x and positive y directions considering that the tensile strength of the adobe is very small and there is no bond based on tensile stress between the timber frame and the infill adobe wall, (Jiménez & Pelà, et al., 2022). In the numerical model of the analyzes performed with the non-linear static calculation method, the compressive rigidity of the T/C friction isolator element is approximately determined

Table 1. Timber and adobe material properties used in finite element analysis

Materials	Compressive strength MPa	Modulus of Elasticity MPa (kN/m²)	Unit weight (kN(m ³)
Timber	*	10000 (10000000)	10
Adobe	0.75	225 (225000)	15

*The tensile and compressive strengths of timber in the direction of the fibers (parallel) and perpendicular to the fibers are different. The safety stresses are 10.5–11.0 MPa in tension parallel to the fibers, 11.0–12.0 MPa in compression parallel to the fibers and 2.0–3.0 MPa in compression perpendicular to the fibers for Class I pine-oak and beech, provided that they are reduced in case of oblique force. Timber is not to be worked perpendicular to the fibers, the safety stress is assumed to be zero.



Figure 5. Numerical model for the second analysis (TF-wAF-02).

due to the accepted compressive strength for the adobe. Although the software can be runned with a single point between the timber frame and the adobe, to better control the behavior of the structure during the structural analysis, T/C friction isolator elements are modeled with two-point LINK elements by leaving a 5 mm gap between the timber frame and the infill adobe wall.

The aim of these two analyzes is to monitor the interaction between the timber frame and the infill adobe wall with non-linear elastic static calculations more realistically with a numerical model using tension-compression controlled T/C friction isolator elements. In the first analysis performed with the (TFwAF-01) model, the largest displacement is calculated as $\Delta x=22.15$ mm, in the second analysis carried out with the (TFwAF-02) model, the largest displacement is calculated as $\Delta x = 63.01$ mm. According to these results, 3 times larger displacement is calculated with the numerical model, which is thought to reflect the realistic behavior between the timber frame and the adobe filling and uses only link elements that transmit compressive stresses. As can be seen in Figure 6, the diagonal compression block is seen from the upper left corner to the lower right corner of the frame according to the loading direction. According to these results, it can be said that the regions with tensile stress in the infill adobe walls do not contribute to the horizontal stiffness of the timber frame.

Modeling an entire traditional timber building with T/C friction isolator elements in a way that can give necessary accurate results can create some difficulties and problems. These can be listed as errors that may occur during numerical modeling, non-linear elastic static analyzes will not give adequate results due to the use of a large number of connection elements, a discontinuity that cannot be determined in the numerical model, or an error that will affect the analysis results. It can also be added that such



Figure 6. Distribution of compressive stress in adobe by (TFwAF-02) analysis.

analysis takes a very long time depending on the hardware of the computer to be used.

With a simplified structural analysis method and numerical modeling technique to be developed by considering the ratio of the displacements obtained, the results that can give overall information about the structural capacity of the building can be reached while starting the conservationstrengthening planning. Instead of using many non-linear elastic LINK elements to define the infill adobe walls interaction with the timber frame, two T/C friction isolator elements to be diagonally connected from the corners of the frame are prepared (TFwAF-04). However, to define the compressive stiffness of the diagonal T/C friction isolator used in this new model, two separate numerical models have been created.

As shown in Figures 7a and b, as a result of the second analysis, a third analysis is carried out with a new numerical model prepared by taking into account the approximate limits of the compression zone in the infill adobe walls, where only the infill elements are located in the diagonal region (TFwAF-03). In this analysis, the displacements obtained as a result of the second analysis (TFwAF-02) are applied instead of the forces applied to the corner point of the frame. In this way, the stiffness of the two diagonal T/C friction isolator elements to be used in the numerical model with the larger compressive stresses (TFwAF-04) in the infill elements at the diagonal region is approximately determined. Numerical models are shown in Figure 7a (TFwAF-03) and Figure 7b (TFwAF-04).

As summarized in Table 2, the displacements obtained as a result of parametric analyzes, which describe the behavior of the structure in the simplest manner in general, confirm the availability of the proposed simplified structural analysis method. At the connections of the wooden frames, the displacements obtained with the second and



Figure 7. (a) (TFwAF-03) numerical model (b) (TFwAF-04) numerical model.

third analysis model, which are considered to show more realistic behavior than the applied force, and the fourth analysis model, which is proposed as the simplified analysis method, are quite close to each other. On the other hand, almost 3 times less displacement is calculated in the first analysis model, which is known not to exhibit a true behavior for infill adobe elements. Although it will not fully determine the actual structural behavior of such structures, the moments obtained in the corners where the beam, posts, and infill adobe walls are defined by tensile stress according to the loading direction also provide an idea about the convenience of the simplified analysis method proposed to some extent. As shown in Table 2, the moments found as a result of the second and third analysis and the simplified method, which are thought to be more realistic, are consistent.

APPLICATION OF THE SIMPLIFIED STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS METHOD IN A CASE BUILDING

The simplified structural analysis method is applied to Mehmet Kaya House which is one of the civil architecture examples in the Boyabat district of Sinop province in the Western Black Sea Region. The district has timberframed masonry houses that are compitable with geographical location, climate, and physical development. The buildings are generally constructed as timber infill adobe or timber bracing frame structures over a masonry stone foundation. Many examples of civil architecture in Boyabat have been inherited from the Ottoman Empire, and some of them were destroyed in the earthquake that occurred in 1943. Today, it is dangerous and forbidden to enter the building. For this reason, floor plans and images could not be taken. The survey of the building was made by Architect Hasan, Gömeç in 2005. In Figure 8, all floor plans of the building are given. Figure 9, 10 and 11 shows the west, north and south facades respectively, nevertheless the east facade cannot be documented due to cuurent condition. It is known that Mehmet Kava House was built as a timber infill adobe framed structure and is located in the Camikebir neighborhood in Telgrafçı Street (block no: 131, plot no: 2). The building is one of the traditional architectural examples that have survived to the present day.

Since the main purpose of these analyses is to apply the simplified structural analysis method on a traditional timber building, the material, construction, and structural system of the sample building is not taken into account in all details. In the numerical model prepared for simplified analysis, timber

Table 2. Displacements and moments calculated in consecutive analyses

Numerical model used for calculations		Horizontal di position in fr	splacements an cames, Δx (mm	ıd)	Moments at corner points of the frame (kN·m)
	1	2	3	4	
TFwAF-01	22.15	19.82	10.35	10.10	13.15
TFwAF-02	63.01	62.76	20.48	32.02	23.71
TFwAF-03	66.10	65.35	35.23	30.21	23.46
TFwAF-04	60.80	60.65	30.22	30.14	22.17



Figure 8. Surveying plans of the ground floor, first floor, second floor, and second iwan floor, respectively.

beams and posts, which constitute the main structural frame of the building, are created. Although the cross-sectional dimensions of the timber posts and timber beams in the existing building are different, in the numerical model, members with an average 200 mm \times 200 mm square cross

section, are used. As shown in Figure 12, the frame openings between the beams and the posts (infill adobe walls in the existing building) are connected diagonally from the corner joints by T/C friction isolator elements. As explained in the previous section, it is assumed that T/C friction isolator



Figure 9. West facade of Mehmet Kaya House.



Figure 10. North facade of Mehmet Kaya House.



Figure 11. South facade of Mehmet Kaya House.

elements transmit compressive stresses, similar to adobe infill walls, by simply assigning only compression stiffness in their material properties definition. Since the main purpose of the proposed simplified structural analysis method is to obtain a general idea about the structural behavior of the structure, it should be noted



Figure 12. Analytical model of simplified analysis with T/C friction isolator elements.

that the analysis results (displacements, internal forces, and stresses in the structural members) will not serve as an example for the actual structural performance of the building. However, within the scope of the case study, selected support reactions internal forces and bending moments are given in Table 5. Therefore, the compressive rigidity of the T/C isolator elements can be approximately defined according to the position, geometric dimensions, and shape of the infill adobe walls in the numerical model. As in Half Timbered or Bağdadi structures, the effect of cross and horizontal timber members on increasing the strength of infill adobe walls or the effect of window or door openings on reducing the strength of infill adobe walls are some of the factors to be considered when defining the rigidity of T/C isolator elements.

In the previous section, it was stated that the stiffness of T/C friction isolator elements can be approximately determined in the numerical models (TFwAF-03) and (TFwAF-04), which are proposed as simplified structural analysis methods. In the (TFwAF-03) analysis, the stiffness of the diagonal adobe compression block was approximately calculated, and the stiffness of the T/C friction isolator element defined in the (TFwAF-04) analysis is determined. When using the simplified structural analysis method in traditional timber buildings, the dimensions of the infill adobe walls and the stiffness of the T/C friction isolator elements can be expected according to the estimated modulus of elasticity of the infill adobe material. It can be accepted that the compressive rigidity of the T/C friction isolator element is between 10000 kN/m and 15000 kN/m considering the examples based on field observations. As explained earlier, since the purpose of the simplified analysis method is to determine the structural behavior of the building according to the relative displacements under the applied loads, the rigidity of the T/C friction isolator elements can be defined according to the trial and error method.

Traditional timber buildings exhibit stable structural behavior for many years under their weight and other permanent vertical loads. The original structural system of the building is already designed according to the effect of these vertical loads. However, changes in soil conditions due to excavation or drainage works carried out in the vicinity of the building for any reason, deterioration in the main structural elements or infill adobe walls, earthquake, and excessive wind forces are factors that will adversely affect the general structural conditions of the building. In the simplified structural analysis method proposed in this study, instead of defining these loads in detail according to the location and general conditions of the structure, three separate load cases are applied that would determine the overall structural behavior of the building with acceptable accuracy. The first load case is the vertical loads that include the own weight of all the stationary components of the building. The second and third load cases are the gravity loads that consist of 40% of the total weight of the building in the global X and global Y axes, respectively, as the horizontal loads. This is a loading practice generally used in approximate earthquake analysis.

In Boyabat Mehmet Kaya House analysis, according to the window openings, wall thickness and location of the diagonal timber elements of the infill adobe walls, compressive stiffness of T/C friction isolator elements are selected in three different categories, $k_{comp1} = 10000 \text{ kN/m}$, $k_{comp2} = 12500 \text{ kN/m}$, $k_{comp3} = 15000 \text{ kN/m}$, respectively (Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü, 2017; Ahşap Yapıların Hesap ve Yapım Kuralları, 1979; Duman and Ökten, 1988). Three successive analyzes are carried out according to a scenario based on the location of the walls and the damage situation.

The numerical models are prepared with the information obtained from the building survey. The simplified structural analysis method, especially the results that help determine the behavior of the building in terms of displacements were obtained. The displacements obtained at different locations of the building according to the different compressive stiffness values of the T/C friction isolator elements assigned at a certain point of the infill adobe walls are shown in Figure 13, Tables 3 and 4.

As a result of the analyses, since the highest forces are observed in the support reactions at the corners of the building, the selected support reactions are shown in Figure 14. As shown in Figure 14, R1 represents the location of the support reaction numbered 1, and red circle number 1 represents the member numbered 1. Support reactions and members are shown, respectively. The support reactions in X and Y directions, shear force, and bending moments



Figure 13. The locations of the points for the measured displacements along X-axis and Y-axis.

Joint location	Load case	Anal	ysis 1	Anal	ysis 2	Anal	ysis 3
		Δx (mm)	Δy (mm)	Δx (mm)	Δy (mm)	$\Delta x (mm)$	Δy (mm)
1	Case 2 (X)	15.86	-1.18	17.86	-1.22	21.31	-0.87
	Case 3 (Y)	-3.12	15.60	-3.32	15.58	-4.50	20.02
2	Case 2 (X)	12.81	-6.09	17.94	-9.81	21.42	-10.01
	Case 3 (Y)	-4.43	79.06	-4.68	79.16	-4.38	83.41
3	Case 2 (X)	9.69	0.41	10.87	0.47	14.48	0.30
	Case 3 (Y)	4.98	15.29	4.83	15.28	6.46	18.50
4	Case 2 (X)	35.00	-1.32	44.12	-113	45.59	-0.78
	Case 3 (Y)	-5.75	15.35	-3.09	19.67	-3.37	19.96
5	Case 2 (X)	35.62	-9.41	37.88	-9.85	40.40	-970
	Case 3 (Y)	-17.35	66.47	-17.59	66.56	-18.64	73.12
6	Case 2 (X)	35.61	0.36	37.87	0.41	40.38	0.24
	Case 3 (Y)	-17.35	15.17	-17.59	15.16	-15.05	14.57
7	Case 2 (X)	14.50	1.10	16.84	1.08	16.99	1.18
	Case 3 (Y)	5.08	17.39	5.48	23.23	5.48	17.68
8	Case 2 (X)	17.43	-0.94	19.85	-9.80	20.00	-9.66
	Case 3 (Y)	-4.91	54.35	-4.99	54.40	-5.41	73.25
9	Case 2 (X)	17.51	0.26	19.92	0.31	20.07	0.14
	Case 3 (Y)	-4.97	15.06	-5.08	15.05	-5.26	14.10

Table 3. Displacements at selected locations due to successive analyses

Table 4. Displacements along the first to third floor levels due to successive analyses

	Displ	acements along in 2	X-axis	Displacements along in Y-axis		
Floor Level	Analysis 1 Δx (mm)	Analysis 2 Δx (mm)	Analysis 3 Δx (mm)	Analysis 1 Δy (mm)	Analysis 2 Δy (mm)	Analysis 3 Δy (mm)
3	41.87	44.08	45.55	-9.42	-9.81	-10.01
2	35.01	36.76	37.84	-6.08	-6.08	-6.59
1	25.12	25.26	26.85	-3.45	-3.45	-3.83

lable 5. Suppor	t reaction, shear force	e, and bending i	moments a	it selected t	nembers o	n the third	floor due to) successive	analyses					
Joint location	Selected Member	Load Case		Analy	sis 1			Analy	sis 2			Analy	/sis 3	
			Rx (kN)	Ry (kN)	V (kN) A	M (kN·m)	Rx (kN)	Ry (kN)	V (kN)	M (kN·m)	Rx (kN)	Ry (kN)	V (kN)	M (kN·m)
R1	1	LC2 X	-0.47	0.03	0.36	0.18	-0.55	0.04	0.45	0.33	-0.69	0.03	0.54	0.47
		LC3 Y	12.46	-84.9	0.67	1.11	11.25	-84.9	0.68	1.13	8.7	-86.3	0.71	1.18
R2	2	LC2 X	-66.9	0.22	0.76	0.86	-65.5	0.23	0.83	1.0	-65.4	0.25	0.95	1.26
		LC3 Y	0.52	-4.39	0.11	0.21	1.15	-4.39	0.12	0.22	1.68	-4.65	0.13	0.24
R3	3	LC2 X	-32.1	-1.46	0.42	0.28	-36.1	-1.95	0.43	0.29	-35.3	-1.05	0.5	0.44
		LC3 Y	-25.4	-18.1	0.15	0.29	-24.9	-18.1	0.14	0.29	-22.6	-15.5	0.16	0.34
R4	4	LC2 X	-2.57	0.04	0.79	0.92	-2.66	0.04	0.82	0.95	-2.69	0.03	0.85	1.01
		LC3 Y	1.43	-57.7	0.71	1.24	1.44	-57.7	0.71	1.23	1.49	-58.7	0.72	1.26
R5	5	LC2 X	-2.33	0.38	1.42	2.09	-2.41	0.4	1.5	2.24	-2.45	0.42	1.56	2.36
		LC3 Y	0.91	-5.53	0.51	1.01	0.91	-5.53	0.58	1.0	0.95	-5.85	0.51	1.01
R6	6	LC2 X	-2.17	-6.49	0.87	1.15	-2.27	-6.79	0.92	1.26	-2.38	-6.77	0.97	1.37
		LC3 Y	0.69	-59.4	0.59	1.13	0.7	-59.4	9.0	1.14	0.8	-74.1	0.6	1.16
R7	7	LC2 X	-0.33	2.22	0.44	0.34	-0.41	2.55	0.47	0.42	-0.4	1.76	0.47	0.41
		LC3 Y	3.45	-0.22	0.01	0.01	3.39	-0.22	0.01	0.01	3.36	-0.22	0.01	0.01
R8	8	LC2 X	-61.2	0.05	0.47	0.39	-61.5	0.06	0.5	0.49	-62.4	0.08	0.51	0.49
		LC3 Y	3.6	-5.31	0.01	0.02	3.37	-5.31	0.02	0.04	3.34	-5.62	0.02	0.04
R9	6	LC2 X	-72.5	-0.35	0.06	0.39	-71.3	-0.36	0.5	0.48	-71.2	-0.37	0.5	0.48
		LC3 Y	0.03	-0.27	0.05	0.08	0.03	-0.28	0.05	0.1	0.03	-0.35	0.05	0.09



Figure 14. The locations of selected support reactions and selected members on the third floor.

at selected members on the third floor due to successive analyses are given in Table 5.

In the first analysis, the compressive stiffness of the T/C friction isolator element is selected as $k_{comp3} = 15000$ kN/m, assuming that all the infill adobe walls were in very good condition and the window and door openings were ignored. In the second analysis, the compressive rigidity is selected as $k_{comp2} = 12500 \text{ kN/m}$ of the T/C friction isolator element in the places where there are doors and windows. In the third analysis, the compressive stiffness of the T/C friction isolator element in the places where the material deterioration is effective and the infill adobe walls are observed in places are selected as $k_{comp1} = 10000$ kN/m (Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü, 2017; Ahşap Yapıların Hesap ve Yapım Kuralları 1979; Duman and Ökten, 1988). Displacements at various selected points of the building show significant results about the structural behavior of the building according to the compressive stiffness of the T/C friction isolators, as can be seen in the tables where the results are summarized and Figure 12. At the same time, significant changes in internal forces, which are calculated in proportion to displacements in the beams and posts of the building, also enable the monitoring and evaluation of the structural behavior of the building.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

First, a plane frame numerical model is prepared for these analyses. It has been assumed that the adobe intermediate element behaves wholly with the first model TFwAF-01 timber frame system prepared for easier understanding of displacements. TFwAF-02 T/C friction isolator element that transmits compressive forces that do not transmit tensile forces is defined on adobe and timber frame interface. According to the results of these analyzes, the displacement of the numerical model TFwAF-02 ($\Delta x = 63.01$ mm), which is thought to reflect the realistic behavior between the timber frame and the infill adobe walls which uses only link elements that transmit compressive stresses, is 3 times larger than the displacement of the TFwAF-01 ($\Delta x = 22.15$ mm) model.

Numerical models TFwAF-03 and TFwAF-04 have been prepared to be diagonally connected T/C friction isolator elements from the corners of the timber frame. In the TFwAF-03 model, the displacements obtained as a result of the second analysis (TFwAF-02) were applied instead of the forces applied to the corner point of the frame. Thus, the stiffness of the two diagonal T/C friction isolators to be used in the TFwAF-04 numerical model was approximately determined with the larger compressive stress in the infill adobe walls in the diagonal region. At the junctions of the modeled frame, the displacements obtained in the TFwAF-04 analysis model, which is accepted to show more realistic behavior than the applied force, and the TFwAF-03 analysis model, which is proposed as a simplified analysis method, are quite close to each other. Although it will not fully determine the actual structural behavior of such structures, the moments obtained in the corners where the beam, posts, and infill adobe walls are defined by tensile stress according to the loading direction also indicate an idea about the convenience of the simplified structural analysis method proposed to some extent.

The results of simplified calculation method and the experimental studies were similar. T/C isolators used at the connection points have verified the displacementcompression stiffness of timber frames with adobe fill walls within the framework of engineering principles. The structural behavior of timber frames with adobe or stone fill walls in experimental and numerical studies is consistent with the simplified calculation scenarios. In the seismic capacity assessment of the adobe structure, Aguilar et al. (2019) showed that the compressive-tensile stresses at the connection points were weak against the earthquake loads of the case studies. Sandak et al. (2019) showed that the first local displacement was 7 mm and the displacement was 60-80 mm in the subsequent cyclic loadings in the experimental studies with timber-framed stone infill walls. In the simplified calculation model, which has similar characteristics with these studies, the displacement of the TFwAF-02 ($\Delta x = 63.01 \text{ mm}$) model was found to be within the limits of agreement with TfwAF-01 ($\Delta x=22.15$ mm) (stone-brick infill difference). Dutu (2021), on the other hand, has shown that timber diagonal frame members are significantly effective in preventing lateral displacements Similar results were obtained by defining adobe infill walls with different stiffness coefficients in numerical modeling. With the simplified calculation method, the structural behavior can be easily interpreted by every professional. For this reason, the simplified calculation method can be considered as feasible in terms of time, cost, and labor savings.

CONCLUSION

Interdisciplinary approaches are needed for the conservation and restoration of historical buildings. Ensuring the stability of the structure can be managed primarily by interpreting the building correctly. The structural analysis of traditional timber buildings differs from the analysis approaches of today's modern structures. In the analysis of a traditional timber building, criteria such as member sizes of frame systems, connection details, and material properties of unit elements may not be analyzed with a simple approach as the systems used in modern structures. Therefore, it is necessary to develop a simplified calculation method to reach the closest results in the conservation and strengthening works of traditional timber buildings.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Aguilar, R., Noel, M. F. & Ramos, L. F. (2019). Integration of reverse engineering and non-linear numerical analysis for the seismic assessment of historical adobe buildings. Automation in Construction. 98, 1–15.
- Aktas Erdem, Y. D., Turer, A., Akyuz, U., Erdil, B., & Guchan, N. S. (2011). Evaluation of Seismic Resistance of Traditional Ottoman Timber Frame 'Hımış' Houses 2nd WTA - International PhD Symposium. Retrieved From (http://etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12613716/index.pdf).
- Aktaş, Y. D. (2017). Seismic resistance of traditional timber-frame himiş structures in Turkey: a brief overview. International Wood Products Journal. 8, 21–28
- Aras, F. (2013).Timber-framed buildings and structural restoration of a historic timber pavilion in Turkey. International Journal of Architectural Heritage. 7, 403–415.
- Bağbanci, M. B. (2013). Examination of the failures and determination of intervention methods for historical Ottoman traditional timber houses in the Cumalikizik Village, Bursa-Turkey. Engineering Failure Analysis. 35, 470–479.
- Bayülke, N. (2011). Yığma Binaların Deprem Davranışı ve Güvenliği. Türkiye Deprem Mühendisliği ve Sismoloji Konf. 11–14.
- Bayülke, N. (2018). Yığma yapılar. TMMOB İnşaat Mühendisleri Odası Ankara Şubesi.
- Ahşap Yapıların Hesap ve Yapım Kuralları (TS 647), 1979.
- Chand, B., Kaushik, H. B. & Das, S. (2020). Lateral load behavior of connections in Assam-type wooden houses in the Himalayan region of India. Construction and Building Material 261, 119904.
- Doğangün, A., Tuluk, Ö. I., Livaoğlu, R. & Acar, R. (2006). Traditional wooden buildings and their damages during earthquakes in Turkey. Engineering Failure Analysis.13, 981–996.
- Duman, N., Ökten, S., (1988) "Ahşap Yapı Dersleri" Yapı

327

Endüstri Merkezi/Teknik Yayınları.

- Dutu, A. (2021). An engineering view on the traditional timber frames with infills in Romania. Masonry Construction in Active Seismic Regions. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-821087-1.00005-3.
- Dutu, A., Niste, M., Spatarelu, I., Dima, D. I. & Kishiki, S. (2018). Seismic evaluation of Romanian traditional buildings with timber frame and mud masonry infills by in-plane static cyclic tests. Engineering Structure. 167, 655–670.
- Fritsch, E., Sieffert, Y., Algusab, H., Grange, S. Garnier, P. & Daudeville, L. (2019). Numerical analysis on seismic resistance of a two-story timber-framed structure with stone and earth infill. International Journal of Architectural Heritage. 13, 820–840.
- Güçhan, N. Ş. (2018). History and Characteristics of Construction Techniques Used in Traditional Timber Ottoman Houses. Retrieved From (file///C/Users/ asus/Desktop/simplified Struct. Anal. Tradit. timber house/10.1016@j.buildenv.2006.05.008.pdf 12, 1–20).
- Gülkan, P. & Langenbach, R. (2021). Traditional timber-laced masonry construction in Turkey known as himiş. Masonry Construction in Active Seismic Regions. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-821087-1.00015-6.
- Günaydin M., Demirkir C., Altunişik A. C., Gezer E. D., Genç A. F., Okur F. Y. (2023). Diagnosis and Monitoring of Historical Timber Velipaşa Han Building Prior to Restoration International Journal of Architectural Heritage. 17, 285–309.
- Huang, H., Wu, Y., Li, Z., Sun, Z. & Chen, Z. (2018). Seismic behavior of Chuan-Dou type timber frames. Engineering Structure. 167, 725–739.
- Jiménez, B. and Pelà, L. (2022). Numerical Modelling of Traditional Buildings Composed of Timber Frames and Masonry Walls under Seismic Loading. International Journal of Architectural Heritage, DOI: 10.1080/15583058.2022.2033885.
- Jiménez, B., Saloustros, S. & Pelà, L. (2021). Seismic vulnerability index method for hybrid timber–masonry structures. Numerical calibration and application to the city of Valparaíso, Chile. Journal of Building Engineering. 44, 103185.
- Kalkan Okur, E., Altunışık A., Okur, F.Y., Meral, M., Yılmaz, Z., Günaydın, M., Genç, A.F. (2021). Dynamic response of a traditional hımış mansion using updated FE model with operational modal testing. Journal of Building Engineering. 43, 103060.
- Li, Z. et al. (2022). Analytical model for the capacities of traditional Japanese timber frames with deep beams. Engineering Structure 253, 113764.
- Liang, W. Wenheng, Z., Fangfang W., Shaoying, S., Jianjun,

C., Junxiao, W., Rong, H. (2022). Seismic behavior of Chuan-dou timber frames with different infilled walls. Construction and Building Material. 327, 126906.

- Lukic, R., Poletti, E., Rodrigues, H. & Vasconcelos, G. (2018). Numerical modelling of the cyclic behavior of timber-framed structures. Engineering Structure. 165, 210–221.
- Meybodian, H., Eslami, A. & Morshed, R. (2020). Sustainable lateral strengthening of traditional adobe walls using natural reinforcements. Construction and Building Material. 260, 119892.
- Özdemir, I. M., Tavşan, C., Özgen, S., Sağsöz, A. & Kars, F. B. (2008). The elements of forming traditional Turkish cities: Examination of houses and streets in historical city of Erzurum. Building Enviroment. 43, 963–982.
- Saatçi, M. (2020). Geleneksel Ahşap Taşiyici Sistemlerin Karşilaştirmali İncelenmesi. (Karabük University, Institute of science and technology, Master Thesis 2020).
- Sandak, J., Riggio, M., Ruggieri, N. & Sandak, A. (2019). Damage progression analysis in a historical timber framed wall under cyclic loads through an image-based tracking method. Construction and Building Material. 199, 483–491.
- Silveira, D., Varum, H., Costa, A., Martins, T., Pereira, H., & Almeida, J. (2012). Mechanical properties of adobe bricks in ancient constructions. Construction and Building Material. 28, 36–44.
- Türkiye Bina Deprem Yönetmeliği-2018. 30364, (2018).
- Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü. (2017). Tarihi yapılar için deprem risklerinin yönetimi klavuzu. Ankara; Sözcü Yayıncılık, 61-72.
- Vicente, E. F. & Torrealva, D. E. (2014). Mechanical Properties of Adobe Masonry of Historical Buildings in Peru. SAHC2014 – 9 th Int. Conf. Struct. Anal. Hist. Constr. 12.
- Vieux-Champagne, F. Y. Sieffert, S. Grange, A. Polastri, A. Ceccotti, L. Daudeville. (2014). Experimental analysis of seismic resistance of timber-framed structures with stones and earth infill. Engineering Structure 69, 102–115.
- Yağcı Ergun, S. F. and Schuller, M. (2021). Timber frame system after the Western influence on the houses of Istanbul. Eighth Annual CHS Conference. Cambridge, England.
- Yazgan, I. O. & Unay, A. I. (2020). Planning a Relocation Method to Preserve Structural Integrity During the Holistic Relocation of Historical Buildings. Journal of Architectural Engineering. 26, 1–10.



Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.38073

MMGARON

Article

Evaluation of thermal performance of an elementary school building with the experimental method: Double-skin façade system

Özlem ZEYBEK^{*}, Gülten MANİOĞLU[®], Gül KOÇLAR ORAL[®]

Department of Architecture, İstanbul Tecnical University Faculty of Architecture, İstanbul, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 02 May 2023 Revised: 28 August 2023 Accepted: 09 September 2023

Key words: Double-skin façade; education buildings; energy efficient building design; passive solar systems; thermal performance.

ABSTRACT

A double-skin façade is one of the generally preferred energy-efficient design strategies to reduce energy consumption in buildings. In this study, one of the two similar, south-oriented classrooms in a one-story elementary school building in Ereğli, Konya, Türkiye, was turned into a Test Classroom by installing double-skin façade and the other classroom was designated as the Basic Classroom, and hourly ambient temperatures were measured in both classrooms. Hourly ambient temperature values were measured in the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom on 6 consecutive days between January 26 and January 31 during the heating period. The working principle of double-skin façade systems is based on heating the adjacent space by transferring warmed air from the cavity to the adjacent space in the heating period, cooling the adjacent space by transferring warmed air from cavity to outside environment in the cooling period using the openings such as windows and vents on the façade of cavity and glass façade. Openings (windows and vents) in the Test Classroom and glass facade were kept open or closed for periods of 24 h depending on whether it was the heating period to create different experiment set-ups. Ambient temperatures that were obtained with the measurements done in different experiment set-ups with different conditions were analyzed and values of the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom were compared. According to the measurements, 0.3°C and 3.0°C higher temperatures were recorded in the Test Classroom compared to the Basic Classroom between January 26 and January 31 (heating period).

Cite this article as: Zeybek Ö, Manioğlu G, Koçlar Oral G. Evaluation of thermal performance of an elementary school building with the experimental method: Double-skin façade system. Megaron 2023;18(3):328–343.

INTRODUCTION

Limited fossil energy sources, higher cost of extracting energy from these sources, and the environmental damage caused by these fossil fuels make energy conservation a must and increase the importance of renewable energy sources and sustainable environment concepts. The majority of energy is used to meet climatic and visual comfort requirements in buildings and mostly fossil energy sources which are generally limited and cause environmental problems are preferred (Yılmaz et al., 2006.)

Sustainability can be described as "meeting the needs of today without damaging the sources that future

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: zeybekozlm@yahoo.com

Ambient temperature measurement devices used in this study were provided by the ITU Scientific Research Project titled "Use of Solar Energy in Single-Storey Elementary School Buildings with Passive Systems"; hotwire anemometer that measures air movement was provided by the Association of Building Physics and aluminum profile elements and glass materials were provided, transferred and glass façade was built by Çuhadaroğlu Alüminyum Sanayi ve Ticaret A. Ş.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

generations will need," "transferring today's sources to future generations," and "principles of social, economic, and environmental priorities of the harmony that need to be established between humankind and ecosystems at local and global levels today and in the coming centuries" (Utkutuğ, 2011). The most important step of sustainable architecture which is defined as the design and construction of buildings that meet occupants' needs using local and natural sources without damaging the environment and depleting the sources of future generations is to use renewable sources instead of fossil sources to meet their energy requirements and design and build energy-efficient buildings and settlements.

Based on this perspective, the goal today is to design buildings that can promote occupant comfort with minimum energy consumption. Energy requirements can be reduced by designing buildings according to the climate and environmental conditions they are in and using renewable energy sources where possible. Furthermore, as an effective solution to ever-growing construction industry with the addition of new buildings, which accounts for 39% of CO₂ emission, 36% of energy consumption, 50% of raw material production, and 1/3 of drinking water consumption and therefore increases energy consumption and contributes to global warming, envelopes of existing buildings can be improved using advanced technological products (Ascione et al., 2021). A study in Spain on existing single-family and block housing typologies which were constructed between 1980 and 2007 in 13 different climate zones investigated and simulated according to the improvements in envelope and observed that the retrofitting of existing building walls with 10 cm and roofs with 5 cm of insulation and substitution of single glazing by double glazing resulted in a reduction in consumption values from 37.7% to 58% depending on the climate zone and housing typology (Sanchez et al., 2022).

Renewable energy sources should be preferred instead of fossil fuels because, in addition to being sustainable, they reduce export dependency on fuel, do not cause high import costs, their impact on the environment is low and they can be found everywhere in the world.

When we look at the distribution of the energy consumed in Türkiye among the industries, according to the "2020 General Energy Balance Table" of the Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources the amount of energy used in buildings comes third in the total energy consumption with 24% consumption rate after industrial goods (33%) and transportation (25%). In the same table, fossil fuels come first with 68% of all energy sources and solar energy is used only at a rate of 1% as an energy source (Republic of Türkiye, Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources, n.d). A higher rate of use of fossil fuel shows that our country is export-dependent on energy. Effective use of such sources in Türkiye which has a wealth of renewable energy sources will reduce dependency on export energy products and contribute to alleviating environmental problems caused by consumption of fossil fuel energy. Solar energy which is the primary source among renewable energy sources has become increasingly important since it is easily available and does not have any harmful effect on the environment.

An energy-efficient building is a building designed to achieve minimum energy consumption by minimizing the role of active systems that consume energy from the settlement scale to the material scale without compromising comfort conditions using passive design strategies. A passive solar system which is one of the most important passive design strategies includes the design and operational process of solar energy for heating and cooling purposes. In these systems which are designed to heat or cool buildings by providing optimum values to the building's design parameters without using any mechanical system, the building itself acts as a solar power collector and collects, stores solar radiation, and transforms it into heat and allows the use of this heat in other parts of the building during the heating period (Yilmaz et al., 2006). In the cooling period, the building is cooled by integrating systems that remove the heating effect of solar radiation into the building and with the correct design of building elements. Although passive solar systems have some disadvantages which one is that their activity lasts only for 16-18 h/day and other sources should be used for heating/cooling in the remaining period, these systems used for heating/cooling save a significant amount (Aktas and Kırçiçek, 2021).

Passive heating systems are classified into three main groups: Direct gain systems, indirect gain systems, and combined systems. Solar radiation gain through southoriented windows (for the northern hemisphere) in direct gain systems is absorbed by building components such as floor, ceiling, and wall, and when the temperature drops at night, this stored energy is reintroduced into the environment through thermal radiation and convection. There is a thermal mass to store heat between south-oriented windows and interior space in indirect gain systems; solar radiation is absorbed and stored by the thermal mass and heat is reintroduced into the interior environment depending on the time. Combined gain systems are like a combination of direct and indirect systems; a greenhouse is created between south-oriented windows and thermal mass to transfer/exchange air between the greenhouse and adjacent unit through ventilation windows or openings on the lower and upper parts of the greenhouse (Yilmaz et al., 2006).

Double-skin façades as one of the mixed systems are often used as a passive system since it can easily be integrated into existing buildings. A double-skin façade consists of an external transparent component, an intermediate cavity,

and interior transparent or opaque-transparent surface and is widely used for energy gain. In winter, windows looking into the interior environment are kept open to let the air heat in the cavity into the interior environment and windows facing the exterior environment are kept closed in order not to lose the heat in the cavity. In summer, windows looking into the interior space are kept closed and windows facing exterior environment are kept open to reduce the temperature in the cavity (Figure 1). When choosing a double-skin façade system; it is possible to determine the combinations of options such as selection of glass material, whether to use double or multi-glazed glasses, the position of louvers and if there are panels, the angle of these panels, sizes, locations, and number of openings which allow air movement such as vents and windows, and whether to use fans as active system components to accelerate or increase air movement with experimental studies or simulations.

Double-skin façades which are based on the principle of removing air heated in the cavity from the building during the cooling period and taking in the heated air in the cavity into the interior space have been investigated by many scientific studies to achieve good visual quality, acoustic quality, effective air movement, and thermal performance (Chen et al., 2019). A range of experiment set-ups can be developed to achieve and calculate air movement between the interior space and external environment by opening and closing four openings at the lower and upper levels at the internal and external envelope (or at structural element or building envelope) at different times as shown in Figure 2 (Jankovic and Goia, 2021).

Evaluations of the performance of double-skin façades made in different climatic regions worldwide help to nationalize the use of double-skin façades (Ghaffarianhoseini et al., 2016). A study conducted in China different sunspace departments which is one of the critical influence factors for attached sunspace is investigated and observed that 0.6 m depth is ideal in comparison with the 0.9 m, 1.2 m, and 1.5 m depths without considering the occupants' activity (Liu et al., 2022). A study in Japan on a two-story building with doubleskin façades examined 5 different double-skin façade models which were developed by defining a range of openings and air movement systems and observed that with these models 20-30% energy gain was achieved during the heating period with the use of greenhouse effects and 10-15% energy gain during the cooling period with the use of chimney effect (Xu and Ojima, 2007). A study conducted in South Korea investigated



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of double-skin façade for winter (a) and summer (b) period daytime.



Figure 2. Double-skin façade air movement models [6] (Jankovic and Goia, 2021).

the basic condition where a double-skin façade was used as a buffer zone (Condition-1), a condition where there was a window to allow air transfer between the intermediate cavity and interior environment (Condition-2), and a condition where the air heated in the cavity was transferred to the HVAC system (Condition-3) and Condition-2 achieved 1% energy gain and Condition-3 achieved 41% energy gain compared to Condition-1 (Choi et al., 2012.). In another study on a multi-story building with a double-skin façade in South Korea 34 types of glass and intermediate cavity depths ranging from 8 to 148 cm were investigated and when optimization was done for all configurations a reduction of 5.62% in total energy consumption was observed (Jaewan et al., 2014). In a study conducted in China, the effect of a range of window openings on the temperature in the intermediate cavity and thus interior environment was assessed and compared to a single-skin façade, double-skin façade allowed 27.7-49.2% energy gain in the cooling period and 25.6-46% in the heating period (Kong et al., 2021). In another study done in China, optimizations of parameters such as interior wall window-wall ratio on the building, building orientation, wall structural elements, exterior façade glass type, and cavity shading element were assessed and double-skin façade was found to provide 17.2-28.7% energy gain compared to single-skin façade (Hancheng et al., 2021.) A study done in Holland on a high-rise building with double-skin façade reported that the building achieved 42% reduction in total energy consumption with its glass type, window-wall ratio, shading component, and high-performing envelope design that includes roof isolation (Raji et al., 2016.). When we look at energy consumption in Türkiye, we see that high volumes of fossil fuels are used and the total share of renewable energy sources in the total energy consumption is very low. In Türkiye, which has a high solar energy potential, the use of solar energy in passive systems in buildings will result in significant reduction in energy consumption and contribute to the country's economy.

Türkiye has a young population and school buildings constitute a major part of public buildings and energy consumption of these buildings is high. Fossil fuels are also the primary choice for school buildings. Since the number of education buildings is high and thus accounts for a significant part of a country's energy consumption, studying alternative methods that will reduce the energy consumption of education buildings is an important approach to develop sustainable energy use in the country (Mytafides et al., 2017). Especially in the regions where heating requirements are high heating energy costs can be reduced using indirect heat gain systems. In this study, a school building is chosen from the options of buildings that are not used for a whole year and do not require energy consumption mostly during the cooling period, and aimed to reduce energy consumption by installing a passive solar gain system in this building.

The efficiency that can be obtained with retrofitting buildings depends on multiple factors including the climate the building is in, the heating-cooling system in the building, materials used in the design and construction, and occupant profile. Therefore, measurement simulation and evaluation results of the same type of studies conducted in different climates and in different geographies in the world can be different.

Studies conducted by performing measurements in a range of climates allow us to understand and compare and classify retrofitting in a better fashion. At the same time, data obtained in measurements and experiments are required to find optimal solutions that can be implemented to improve ambient conditions in buildings with different functions. Estimating double-skin façade performance in buildings with different functions is quite difficult since it depends on the mutual effect of many variables. Although experimental data are the primary source, there are a limited number of studies in literature. Several simulation programs are used to understand the complicated behavior of double-skin façades (Hancheng et al., 2021). Therefore, studies that both use experimental studies and simulation programs are important since they allow comparison of measurements and calculations. Furthermore, although experimental studies are time-consuming and costly, it is the best way to reliably evaluate thermophysical conditions on advanced façade systems such as double-skin façade (Jankovic et al., 2022). Thus data obtained with experimental studies can be compared with the calculations made by simulation programs and this allows testing of new strategies that would be proposed to retrofit buildings. Therefore in this study, an elementary school building in Central Anatolia was evaluated by making measurements. Measurements were done for 6 days to analyze ambient temperature in two classrooms with the same volume and with south orientation in the elementary school building during the heating period (26/01-31/01). One of the classrooms was called the Test Classroom after installing a glass façade system and no change was done in the other classroom which was then called the Basic Classroom. Different experiment set-ups were developed by keeping windows and vents closed or open and ambient temperature was measured on the days when these experiment set-ups were analyzed.

METHOD

In this study, a glass façade was used in one of the classrooms with south orientation in an existing elementary school building to achieve double-skin façade and conditions were measured and evaluated for 6 days separately for the cooling and heating periods. The steps of the study are explained below.

Determining the Variables of the Building

In this study, measurements were done in a one-story

elementary school building in Ereğli, Konya in the Central Anatolia region of Türkiye (37° 36' north latitude and 34° 31' east longitude), which has a temperate dry climate where the winter period is more dominant compared to summer period (Figure 3).

The building has four classrooms facing south, a school counselor's office facing west, a teachers' room, a classroom, and bathrooms facing north, and a classroom facing north and east. The Test Classroom in which a glass façade is installed and the Basic Classroom which acts as the control have only south-oriented external walls and have the same area and volume (Figure 4).

This is a one-story masonry building built with 3.5 m floor height and 40 cm sub-basement level. The thickness of the external walls of the existing classroom is 60 cm and the wall components consist of external plaster, stone masonry wall, and internal plaster. The thickness of the internal walls of existing classrooms is 55 cm and the wall components consist of external plaster, stone masonry wall, and internal plaster. The thickness of cavity external walls is 23 cm and the wall components consist of external plaster, brick wall,



Figure 3. Climate conditions for Ereğli (WeatherOnline, n.d.).



Figure 4. Plan of the test classroom in which glass façade is installed and basic classroom.

and internal plaster. No thermal insulation material is used in the walls. The structural members of the elementary school building and the glass façade integrated into the south façade are shown in Table 1.

The second glass façade was applied on the south façade of one of the selected classrooms and no change was done in the other classroom and temperature measurements were done simultaneously in both classrooms.

The installed applied on the external façade of the Test Classroom is 720 cm in length, 352 cm in height including 40 cm sub-basement, and 60 cm in width. There are 6 windows in the 60*60 cm modular system built on the glass façade and 3 of these windows are in the upper section and 3 at the lower section of the façade. There are 3 ea 20*40 cm vents on the lower section of the wall facing the cavity and 6 ea 20*20 vents on the windows on the upper section of the wall (Figure 5). The second glass façade applied on the south façade of the school building is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 5. Cross-section.



Figure 6. Applied second glass façade.

Structural Elements	Material	Thickness (m)
Glass Façade Floor	Reinforced Concrete	0.40
Glass Façade Window (Aluminium joinery)	Tempered double glazed glass	0.006+0.012+0.006
External wall	Cement plaster	0.02
	Brick wall	0.19
	Cement plaster	0.02
Cavity	Cavity Air	0.54
Glass Façade Ceiling	Tile roof covering	0.03
	Water insulation Roof board	0.003
	Weatherboard	0.025
	Rafter	0.10
	Aluminium composite panel	0.007
Existing Classroom floor	Blockage	0.30
	Lean concrete	0.10
	Floating screed	0.05
	Adhesive mortar	0.02
	Tile	0.007
Existing Classroom Window (PVC joinery)	Double glazed glass	0.003+0.012+0.003
Existing Classroom External Wall (facing the cavity)	Cement plaster	0.02
	Stone wall	0.56
	Cement plaster	0.02
Existing Classroom interior wall	Cement plaster	0.02
	Stone wall	0.51
	Cement plaster	0.02
Existing Classroom Ceiling	Tile roof cover	0.03
	Water insulation	0.003
	Weatherboard	0.025
	Rafter	0.10
	Reinforced Concrete Floor	0.10
	Cement plaster	0.02

Table 1. Structural Materials of the School Building

Determining Measurement Variables

Measurement devices were placed in mesh boxes that do not obstruct air movement to prevent elementary school students from accessing the devices and ensure uninterrupted and correct measurement (Figure 7a). Wood mesh boxes were built so that the measurement device in the external environment is not affected by solar radiation and wind and the measurement device in the cavity is not affected by solar radiation (Figure 7b). The systems in the Konya–Ereğli meteorology office were examined to build mesh boxes to make measurements in the external environment and their heights compared to road elevation and sizes were determined according to expert opinion and then mesh boxes were built. One ambient temperature device was placed in the external environment, one in the Test Classroom and one in the Basic Classroom and one was installed in the cavity. The ambient temperature device in the cavity was located right in the middle of the cavity height. Devices were installed 2 m above the ground hanging right in the middle of the classroom for the safety of the students (Figure 7a). The temperature measurement device was fixed right in the middle of the 30*30 box at a height of 2 m from the road in the external environment. When deciding about the location of the temperature measurement device, it was important to find a location that was as far away from trees and high buildings as possible in an open field.



Figure 7. Ambient temperature measurement device locations (**a**) Test classroom (**b**) Cavity.

The ambient temperature measurement device used in the field is the Extech RHT10 Humidity and Temperature USB Datalogger. The device measures temperatures between (-40) and 70°C and the error margin is \pm 1°C between (-10) and 40°C; \pm 2°C between (-40) and (-10) \pm 2°C between 40 and 70°C. Measurement frequency was between 2 and 24 s (Teledyne Flir, n.d). The device used to measure air movement speed was DELTA Ohm HD 2103.2 datalogger and AP741S1 hot-wire. The devices measured air movement speed in the range of 0.1–40 m/s and the error margin is \pm 0.02 m/s for air movement speeds in (0.0– 0.99) m/s range and \pm 0.04 m/s for (1.0–9.99) m/s range and \pm 0.04 m/s for (10.0–40) m/s range (Delta OHM, 2017).

Determining Experiment Set-ups

Experiment set-ups included keeping vents and windows open or closed during the day and at night depending on the requirements of the heating period.

Six experiment set-ups were created for the period of 26/01-31/01 (heating period.) Since the school was closed due to winter break, all radiators in the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom were turned off. Radiators in the adjacent classrooms and corridors were turned on and doors opening to the corridor of the classrooms not included in the experiment were always open. Windows and classroom doors of the Basic Classroom were kept closed all day. The door to the Test Classroom was closed and experiment set-ups were developed according to open or close status of windows, vents, and curtains. Windows and vents were kept open to let the heated air in the cavity into the Test Classroom during the day and closed to prevent heat loss at night. Glass façade windows were always closed. Under certain conditions, curtains were used on the external surface of the glass façade to prevent heat loss from the glass façade during nighttime. Experiment set-ups and conditions are shown in Figure 8.

It was not possible to change the condition at 00:00 h when determining measurement conditions in all experiment set-ups. Therefore experiment set-ups were changed at the hours shown in Figure 8 every day.

FINDINGS

Measurements in the study were done for 6 consecutive days during the heating period. This 6-day period was between January 26 and January 31.

26–31 January (Heating Period) Ambient Temperature Measurement Results

Based on the measurements done between 26/01 and 31/01, changes in the interior space and external environment temperatures and solar radiation values are shown in Figure 9. Since solar radiation was not measured in the field, the values were obtained from the Ulukişla meteorology office which measures solar radiation and is at the closest location to the experiment building. Ambient temperature measurement values in the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom are shown in Table 2.

As seen in Figure 9, the Test Classroom ambient temperature was measured higher than the Basic Classroom ambient temperature on ESU-1, ESU-2, ESU-3, ESU-4, ESU-5, and ESU-6. Solar radiation values are 550-600 kWh/m² in ESU-1 and ESU-4 measurements and 250-300 kWh/m² in ESU-3, ESU-5, and ESU-6 measurements. Since solar radiation values were low as shown in Figure 9, cavity temperatures were measured around 10°C lower during daytime in ESU-3 and ESU-6 measurements compared to other experiment set-ups. It is possible to evaluate experiment set-ups by classifying them into two groups: ESU-1, ESU-2, ESU-4, and ESU-5 in which solar radiation values were higher and ESU-3 and ESU-6 in which solar radiation values were lower. In all experiment set-ups, warm air in the cavity rises and moves to the interior space through the upper opening on the classroom façade and cooler air enters in through the opening at the lowest level on the classroom façade. Accordingly, it is possible to comment that the temperature in the interior space is a function of the warm airspeed and rate of moving in the room, the area of entry and exit openings, and the difference in the height of these openings. Based on these principles, the performance of different experiment set-ups is evaluated as shown below.

- It was observed that since the temperature in the cavity was quite higher than the temperature in the Test Classroom in ESU-1 measurements and air entry and exit openings were at the same height, it was not enough for the warm air in the cavity to move to the interior space increasing the temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom. The highest and the lowest temperature differences in the alternative ESU-1 was 2.2°C and 0.3°C respectively.
- In ESU-2 measurements, although the middle window with the biggest surface area was closed, the effect of having lower and upper vents open, in other words having the distance between the intermediate cavity and air movement vents at the maximum (110 cm) on the interior space can



Figure 8. Experiment set-ups and conditions used on 26-31 January (heating period).

be seen. As this distance increases, warm air movement in the intermediate cavity increases and accelerates, and therefore the best results in the temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom were in ESU-2 after ESU-4 and ESU-5. In the alternative ESU-2, the temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom was 2.5°C.

• The height difference between air entry exit vents in the alternatives ESU-4 and ESU-5 were 110 cm and 90 cm, respectively. Since the height difference between air



Figure 9. Ambient temperature and solar radiation measurement values on 26/01-31/01.

entry and exit openings was bigger and solar radiation values were higher, the temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom was maintained 1 h longer in ESU-4 (2 h) compared to ESU-5.

- At the same time in the alternative ESU-4, since the warm air in the cavity entered into the interior space through the middle window which was the biggest opening, this shows that this alternative has a high performance because the interior space temperature was high and interior air temperature value (20°C) which is used in the calculations for education buildings according to the TSE 825 could be maintained for 2 h although no active heating system was used. With this, the speed and volume of the transfer of warm air in the cavity to the interior space increased and the temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom also increased. When we look at the ESU-4 and ESU-5 measurements, the Test Classroom temperature was 3°C higher than the Basic Classroom temperature in the measurements done at 15:00 and 16:00 in ESU-4 and at 15:00 in ESU-5. This 3°C temperature difference is the highest temperature difference measured in 6 experiment set-ups (Table 2).
- In the experiment set-ups ESU-3 and ESU-6, entry and exhaust vents had similar areas and were at similar heights. However, upper vent in ESU-3 and upper window in ESU-6 which has a bigger area were used as upper opening. Having approximately the same temperature values in the Test Classroom and cavity in ESU-3 and ESU-6 resulted in less air movement between these two spaces. However, since solar radiation values in the external environment were low in both experiment set-ups, cavity temperature was very

close to the values measured in the Test Classroom and at the same time lower than other experiment set-ups. As shown in Table 2, at 15:00 h when the temperature in the cavity was less than the Test Classroom temperature, since the upper vent in ESU-3 has a smaller area than the upper window in ESU-6, air movement from the Test Classroom which was warmer to the cavity was less and temperature difference between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom in ESU-3 (2.3°C) was higher compared to ESU-6 (2.0°C.)

- Furthermore, the temperature in the Test Classroom was higher than that in the Basic room even in the ESU-6 measurements in which the exterior environment temperature dropped below zero during the day, which can be explained by the fact that the Test Classroom is adjacent to the cavity instead of the exterior environment. Although less air movement was present since the Test Classroom and cavity temperatures were very close with the use of the openings mentioned in the experiment set-ups, the cavity acted as a buffer zone so the temperature in the Test Classroom was higher than that the temperature in the Basic room.
- When ESU-3 and ESU-6 measurements in which solar radiation values were lower were examined, the highest temperature difference was 2.3°C at 15:00 (28/01) and 08:00, 09:00, and 10:00 (29/01) in ESU-3 where measurement results were higher in the Test Classroom than those in the Basic Classroom (Table 2). Table 2 shows 24 h interior air temperature values and temperature differences between the Test Classroom and Basic Classroom with different experiment set-ups.

	Ambient Temperatures	Measured in Basic Classroo	om and Test Classroom F	or Different Experiment Set-Ups (°C)
			ESU-1	
Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
10:00	26th of January			
11:00		13.6	13.9	0.3
12:00		14.7	15.2	0.5
13:00		15.7	16.7	1.0
14:00		16.6	18.0	1.4
15:00		15.8	17.6	1.8
16:00		16.2	17.9	1.7
17:00		14.9	16.4	1.5
18:00		13.8	15.1	1.3
19:00		13.5	14.8	1.3
20:00		13.3	14.6	1.3
21:00		13.2	14.5	1.3
22:00		13.1	14.4	1.3
23:00		13.0	14.3	1.3
00:00	27th of January	12.9	14.3	1.4
01:00		12.9	14.2	1.3
02:00		12.8	14.1	1.3
03:00		12.7	14.0	1.3
04:00		12.7	13.9	1.2
05:00		12.8	14.6	1.8
06:00		12.9	14.9	2.0
07:00		12.9	15.0	2.1
08:00		12.9	15.1	2.2
09:00		13.0	15.2	2.2
10:00		13.2	15.2	2.0
11:00				

 Table 2. 26 January-31 January (heating period) Test Classroom and Basic Classroom Ambient Temperature Measurement Values

Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
27th of January			
	14.1	15.7	1.6
	15.0	16.5	1.5
	16.1	17.8	1.7
	14.7	17.2	2.5
	15.3	17.5	2.2
	14.9	17.3	2.4
	14.7	16.3	1.6
	13.9	15.8	1.9
	Date 27th of January	Date Basic Classroom 27th of January 14.1 15.0 16.1 14.7 15.3 14.9 14.7 13.9 13.9	Date Basic Classroom Test Classroom 27th of January 14.1 15.7 15.0 16.5 16.5 16.1 17.8 14.7 14.7 17.2 15.3 14.9 17.3 14.7 14.9 17.3 14.7 13.9 15.8 15.8

ESU-2

			ESU-2	
Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
19:00		13.7	15.5	1.8
20:00		13.5	15.3	1.8
21:00		13.4	15.2	1.8
22:00		13.3	15.1	1.8
23:00		13.2	15.0	1.8
00:00	28th of January	13.2	15.0	1.8
01:00		13.2	14.9	1.7
02:00		13.1	14.8	1.7
03:00		13.0	14.7	1.7
04:00		13.0	14.6	1.6
05:00		12.9	14.5	1.6
06:00		12.9	14.5	1.6
07:00		13.1	15.3	2.2
08:00		13.2	15.5	2.3
09:00		13.4	15.7	2.3
10:00		13.6	15.8	2.2
11:00		13.8	15.8	2.0
			ESU-3	

Table 2. 26 January-31 January (heating period) Test Classroom and Basic Classroom Ambient Temperature Measure	ent Values (Cont.)
--	--------------------

Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
10:00	28th of January			
11:00				
12:00		13.8	15.8	2.0
13:00		13.8	15.9	2.1
14:00		13.8	16.0	2.2
15:00		13.7	16.0	2.3
16:00		13.7	15.9	2.2
17:00		13.5	15.6	2.1
18:00		13.4	15.4	2.0
19:00		13.4	15.2	1.8
20:00		13.3	15.1	1.8
21:00		13.2	15.0	1.8
22:00		13.2	14.9	1.7
23:00		13.1	14.8	1.7
00:00	29th of January	13.1	14.7	1.6
01:00		13.0	14.6	1.6
02:00		13.0	14.6	1.6
03:00		13.0	14.6	1.6
04:00		13.0	14.6	1.6
05:00		12.9	14.5	1.6

			ESU-3	
Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
06:00		13.0	14.5	1.5
07:00		13.2	15.2	2.0
08:00		13.2	15.5	2.3
09:00		13.3	15.6	2.3
10:00		13.5	15.8	2.3
11:00		14.1	16.1	2.0
			ESU-4	
Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)
10:00	29th of January			
11:00				
12:00		15.6	17.1	1.5
13:00		16.3	18.5	2.2
14:00		17.5	19.8	2.3
15:00		17.9	20.9	3.0
16:00		17.9	20.9	3.0
17:00		16.8	19.6	2.8
18:00		15.2	17.5	2.3
19:00		14.7	16.9	2.2
20:00		14.5	16.6	2.1
21:00		14.3	16.4	2.1
22:00		14.2	16.2	2.0
23:00		14.1	16.1	2.0
00:00	30th of January	14.0	16.0	2.0
01:00		14.0	15.8	1.8
02:00		14.0	15.7	1.7
03:00		13.9	15.7	1.8
04:00		13.8	15.6	1.8
05:00		13.8	15.6	1.8
06:00		13.8	15.5	1.7
07:00		13.9	16.3	2.4
08:00		14.0	16.5	2.5
09:00		14.1	16.6	2.5
10:00		14.3	16.7	2.4
11:00				

Table 2. 26 January-31 January (heating period) Test Classroom and Basic Classroom Ambient Temperature Measurement Values (Co	ont.)
---	-------

Hour	ESU-5				
	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)	
10:00	30th of January				
11:00		14.4	16.7	2.3	
12:00		14.9	16.8	1.9	
13:00		16.3	18.3	2.0	

Hour	ESU-5				
	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)	
14:00		17.2	19.6	2.4	
15:00		15.8	18.8	3.0	
16:00		15.4	18.1	2.7	
17:00		15.0	17.5	2.5	
18:00		14.7	17.0	2.3	
19:00		14.5	16.6	2.1	
20:00		14.4	16.4	2.0	
21:00		14.3	16.3	2.0	
22:00		14.3	16.2	1.9	
23:00		14.2	16.1	1.9	
00:00	31st of January	14.1	16.0	1.9	
01:00		14.1	15.9	1.8	
02:00		14.0	15.9	1.9	
03:00		13.9	15.7	1.8	
04:00		13.9	15.6	1.7	
05:00		13.9	15.6	1.7	
06:00		13.9	15.7	1.8	
07:00		14.0	16.4	2.4	
08:00		14.1	16.5	2.4	
09:00		14.1	16.7	2.6	
10:00					

Table 2. 26 January-31 January (heating period	Test Classroom and Basic Classroom Ambie	nt Temperature Measurement Values (Cont.)
--	--	---

10:00	
11:00	

Hour	ESU-6				
	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)	
10:00	31st of January	14.4	16.5	2.1	
11:00		15.0	16.9	1.9	
12:00		14.9	17.0	2.1	
13:00		14.9	17.0	2.1	
14:00		14.8	16.9	2.1	
15:00		15.2	17.2	2.0	
16:00		16.1	17.6	1.5	
17:00		15.3	16.9	1.6	
18:00		14.8	16.5	1.7	
19:00		14.4	16.2	1.8	
20:00		14.2	16.0	1.8	
21:00		14.1	15.8	1.7	
22:00		14.0	15.6	1.6	
23:00		13.9	15.5	1.6	
			ESU-6		
-------	-----------------	-----------------	----------------	--------------------------------	
Hour	Date	Basic Classroom	Test Classroom	Temperature Difference (TC-BC)	
00:00	1st of February	13.8	15.5	1.7	
01:00		13.7	15.4	1.7	
02:00		13.6	15.2	1.6	
03:00		13.5	15.1	1.6	
04:00		13.5	15.0	1.5	
05:00		13.4	15.0	1.6	
06:00		13.4	14.9	1.5	
07:00		13.3	14.9	1.6	
08:00		13.3	14.8	1.5	
09:00		13.3	14.8	1.5	
10:00		13.4	14.7	1.3	
11:00					

Table 2. 26 January-31 January (heating period) Test Classroom and Basic Classroom Ambient Temperature Measurement Values (Cont.)

CONCLUSION

The purpose of this study is to examine the performance of a double-skin façade system installed on a one story elementary school building in the temperate-dry climatic region by comparing ambient temperatures measured in different experiment set-ups in the heating period. The classroom where no change was made was called the Basic Classroom and the classroom where the glass façade was installed on the south façade was called the Test Classroom and the space between the glass façade and the Test Classroom was called the cavity. In the measurements done for 6 experiment set-ups between 26/01 and 31/01 in the heating period;

- Test Classroom ambient temperature values were minimum 0.3 and maximum 3.0°C higher than Basic Classroom ambient temperature values.
- Depending also on the solar radiation, when the experiment set-ups ESU-1, ESU-2, ESU-4, and ESU-5 in which intermediate cavity temperature was higher and the experiment set-ups ESU-3 and ESU-6 in which solar radiation values were lower were compared, the best result was achieved in the alternative ESU-4. As a result of having high cavity air temperature as well as 110 cm height difference between air entry and exit openings in the cavity and Test Classroom (the highest difference among the alternatives that have one large opening [middle window-lower vent, middle window upper vent/upper window]), higher temperatures were achieved in the Test Classroom compared to the other alternatives.
- In the alternatives ESU-3 and ESU-6 with almost similar opening properties in which solar radiation was lower,

air movement was reduced because cavity and Test Classroom temperatures were very similar.

- When we look at the cavity and Test Classroom temperatures, temperatures were 15.7°C-16.0°C, respectively at 15:00 in ESU-3 and 16.5°C-16.9°C, respectively, at 14:00 in ESU-6 and since cavity temperature was lower than the temperature in the Test Classroom, there was a heat transfer from the Test Classroom to the cavity.
- Less upper vent area in the alternative ESU-3 resulted in less heat loss in the Test Classroom. Although there was less air movement since the Test Classroom and cavity temperatures were the same, intermediate cavity acted as a buffer zone so the temperature in the Test Classroom was higher than that in the Basic Room even in the ESU-6 measurements in which exterior environment temperature dropped below zero during the day.
- In this study, no equipment that allows air transfer such as fans that consumes energy was used in the set-ups used as passive systems and warm air in the cavity was planned to be transferred to the Test Classroom to increase the temperature thereby natural convection. As shown in Figure 9, the difference between cavity and Test Classroom temperatures measured in ESU-1, ESU-2, and ESU-4 was 8.9–12.9°C. In these experiment set-ups where the temperature difference between the intermediate cavity and Test Classroom is high, if a fan powered by solar energy which will increase transfer of warm air in the intermediate cavity to the Test Classroom is used, it will be possible to increase the temperature difference between and Basic Classroom.

Following this study in which only measurement results were evaluated, the goal is to focus work on improving system performances by comparing measurement results with simulation calculation values and developing improvement suggestions for the size and location of vents and windows. In addition, with the help of the data obtained from this study, future studies can be carried out to improve the thermal performance of the building envelope and the results can be extended.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Aktas, A., & Kircicek, Y. (2021). Solar Hybrid Systems: Design and Application. (1st ed.). Academic Press.
- Ascione, F., Bianco, N., Iovane, T., Mastellone, M., & Mauro, M. G. (2021). The evolution of building energy retrofit via double-skin and responsive façades: A review. Solar Energy, 224(1), 703–717. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.solener.2021.06.035
- Berardi, U., Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Kariminia, S., Li, D. H. W., & Tookey, J. (2016). Exploring the advantages and challenges of double-skin façades (DSFs). Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 60(1), 1052– 1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.01.130
- Chen, Y., Cong, L., & Wang, Y. (2019). Airflow modeling based on zonal method for natural ven-tilated double skin facade with Venetian blinds. Energy and Buildings, 191(1) 211-223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enbuild.2019.03.025
- Choi, W., Huh, J., Joe, J., & Kwak, Y. (2012). Operation and control strategies for multi-storey double skin facades during the heating season. Energy and Buildings, 49(1), 454–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2012.02.047
- Delta O. H. M. (2017). HD2103.2 Anemometer- Thermometer Datalogger Instruction Manual [Brochure].
- Dimoudi, A., Mytafides, C. K., & Zoras, S. (2017). Transformation of a university building into a zero energy building in Mediterranean climate. Energy and Buildings, 155(1), 98–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enbuild.2017.07.083

Dobbelsteen, A., Raji, B., & Tenpierik, M. J. Y. (2016). An

assessment of energy-saving solutions for the envelope design of high-rise buildings in temperate climates: A case study in the Neth-erlands. Energy and Buildings, 124(1), 210–221. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.10.049

- Duan, S., Guo, C., Kong, X., Ren, J., & Ren, Y. (2021). Energy-saving performance of respiration-type double-layer glass curtain wall system in different climate zones of China: Experiment and simulation. Energy and Buildings, 252(1), 111464. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2021.111464
- Fernandez, A. M., Fernandez, J. C. R., Sanchez, J. M. G. C., & Trashorras G. A. J. (2023). Charac-terization of housing stock for energy retrofitting purposes in Spain. Building Simulation, 16(1), 947–962. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12273-022-0964-2
- Goia, F., & Jankovic, A. (2021). Impact of double skin façade constructional features on heat transfer and fluid dynamic behavior. Building and Environment, 196(1), 107796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2021.107796
- Goia, F., Jankovic, A., & Siddiqui, M. S. (2022). Laboratory test bed and methods for flexible characterization of thermal and fluid dynamic behavior of double skin facades. Building and Environment, 210(1), 108700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2021.108700
- Hancheng, Y., Hou, J., Wang, M., Wei, H., & Zhonting, H. (2021). Optimisation of double skin facade in hot and humid climates through altering the design parameters combinations. Build-ing Simulation, 14(1), 511-521. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12273-020-0682-6.
- Jaewan J., Jung-Ho H., Wonjun C., & Younghoon K. (2014). Optimal design of a multi-story dou-ble skin facade. Energy and Buildings, 76(1), 143–150. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2014.03.002
- Lewis, O., Ok, V., Yener, A., & Yılmaz, Z. (2006). Türkiye ve İrlanda'daki Binaların Enerji Etkin Tasarım ve Yapımı için Sürdürülebilirlik Stratejileri Cilt 2. İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi.
- Liu, Y., Song, C., Wang, D., & Yu, Z. (2022). Heating load reduction characteristics of passive solar buildings in Tibet, China. Building Simulation, 15(1), 975–994. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12273-021-0853-0
- Ojima, T., & Xu, L. (2007). Field experiments on natural energy utilization in a residential house with a double skin façade system. Building and Environment, 42(1), 2014–2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2005.07.026

Republic of Türkiye, Ministry of Energy and Natural Re-

sources. (n.d). Natural Energy Balance Tables. https://enerji.gov.tr/eigm-raporlari

- Teledyne Flir. (n.d.). Extech RHT-10 General Specifications. https://www.flir.com/products/RHT10/
- Utkutuğ, G. (2011, April 13–16). Sürdürülebilir Bir Geleceğe Doğru Mimarlık ve Yüksek Perfor-manslı Yeşil Bina Örnekleri [Conference presentation]. X. Ulusal Tesisat Mühendisliği Kongresi, İzmir,

Türkiye. http://www1.mmo.org.tr/resimler/dosya_ ekler/6221b4b01ea0a47_ek.pdf

WeatherOnline. (n.d). Cities Climate Temperature Diagram, Ereğli. https://www.weatheronline.co.uk/ weather/maps/city?LANG=en&PLZ=____&PL ZN=____&WMO=17248&PAG=0&CONT=euro&LEVEL=160®ION=0005&LAND=TU&IN-FO=0&R=160&NOREGION=1



Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.20587

MMGARON

Article

An evaluation for "spirit of place" focused preservation approaches in historic environments

Remziye GÜNER^{1*}, Elvan Ebru OMAY POLAT²

¹Architectural Restoration Programme, Vocational School, Istanbul Arel University, Türkiye ²Department of Architecture, Faculty of Architecture, Yildiz Technical University, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 04 May 2023 Revised: 11 September 2023 Accepted: 13 September 2023

Key words: Genius loci; meaning of place; preservation of historical environment; sense of place; spirit of place.

ABSTRACT

The starting point of this article is the thought that the effort to protect the meanings created by the collective experiences is lacking, even though the physical integrity of a historical environment is tried to be conserved in the preservation activities that have been done or are being done from the past to the present. However, historical environments have existed as a product of collective experiences as well as being a physical accumulation, and they carry these experiences as a meaning. While trying to define this meaning, the concept of "spirit of place (genius loci)," which emerged as a reflection of the existential debates of space, and has been continuing since the end of the 19th century, among the philosophical theorists in the middle of the 20th century, was encountered and the origin, adventure and existence of this concept in the field of preservation were researched. As a result, it was concluded that the meaning deemed necessary to be included in preservation processes is a component that will be identified and documented with the title of "spirit of place." To do this, a method needs to be determined and the research process needs to be carried out more systematically. This paper, which seeks a method for defining the spirit of place in historical environments, aims to shed light on a holistic approach in which the concern of preservation process.

Cite this article as: Güner R, Omay Polat EE. An evaluation for "spirit of place" focused preservation approaches in historic environments. Megaron 2023;18(3):344–365.

INTRODUCTION

In today's world, where discussions on the interaction of culture with the physical environment have spread to different disciplines, application approaches in the field of cultural heritage preservation are also developing worldwide. When we look at the preservation history of Türkiye, the transition from building-scale preservation to a historical environmental preservation approach took place for the first time in an official sense with the Ankara zoning plan approved in 1932¹. In this plan, it was mentioned that the Ankara Castle should be protected as the symbol of the city and perceived from the environment, and in 1937, the

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: remziyecagatay@gmail.com

This article is based on the PhD Dissertation entitled as Çok Kültürlü Yerleşimlerde Koruma: Samatya, Narlıkapı, İmrahor Örneği (Conservation in Multicultural Settlements: The Case of Samatya, Narlıkapı, Imrahor) by Remziye Güner and completed under the supervision of Assoc. Prof. Dr. Elvan Ebru Omay Polat at YTU, Department of Architecture in 2023. Permission has been obtained for the use of figures, which do not belong to the authors.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

area covering the castle and its surroundings was taken under preservation as a protocol area. Thus, the concept of preserving an immovable cultural property together with its surroundings was put into practice for the first time (Dinçer and Akın, 1994). In Istanbul, the process of "reshaping the city by preserving its historical texture," which started with the work of Henri Prost², remained on the agenda simultaneously with the work in Ankara, but it took a long time to be officially implemented. With the declaration of 1975 as the European Heritage Year by the Council of Europe, preservation efforts gained momentum all over the country (Erder, 2020).

The Law No. 2863 on the Preservation of Cultural and Natural Assets, which was adopted in 1983 and is still in effect today, aims to carry out the preservation activities in Türkiye within the framework of international declarations and regulations to which our country is a party. The law defines the concepts of preservation in a contemporary dimension, deals with the processes to be undertaken at the scale of a single building and in protected areas, and also touches upon issues such as site management and management plan (Presidency of Republic of Turkiye, Legislative Information System, 2023). However, these contents are not sufficient for the implementation of a holistic preservation approach in which a building is handled together with its environment.

While the concept of cultural heritage is defined in international documents to include intangible cultural assets, the legislation in Türkiye emphasizes the physical environment in historical environmental preservation approaches. This situation is evaluated by Özlem Karakul as follows: "The main problem in preservation practices arises from the inability to understand the integrity of the intangible cultural heritage consisting of the structures that make up the tangible cultural heritage and the cultural practices and expressions produced by the inhabitants" (Karakul, 2019).

The starting point of this article is based on the observations on the intangible elements that make up the character and make one feel and recall the experiences in the collective memory, that are ignored even though the physical integrity is tried to be preserved in the preservation processes carried out in historical environments. Historical environments have existed as a product of collective experiences as well as being a physical accumulation, and they carry these experiences as a value. In order for the mentioned deficiency to be overcome in the preservation program, first of all, these values must be determined and defined even if their traces do not exist anymore in the physical environment. To do this, a method needs to be determined and the research process needs to be carried out more systematically.

The most important question sought to be answered in this study was as follows: How can the intangible traces that form the character of the historical environment be determined? While searching for the answer to this question, the concepts that will express the method correctly and form the framework that sheds light on the method are discussed. In this process, the concept of "spirit of place," which emerged with the reflection of the existentialism of place discussions continued since the end of the 19th century among philosophical theorists, on the field of architecture in the middle of the 20th century, and the origin, adventure and existence of this concept in the field of preservation were investigated. The components of the concept were determined and its definition was clarified, and the connection of the concept with historical environmental preservation was tried to be constructed through these components. In this context, the main purpose of the study is to reveal the main lines of a synthesis-approach within the framework of the main approaches in the literature.

This study, which searches for data collection and data analysis methods and techniques through current case studies providing guidance for the development of a future model defining collective meanings in historical environments, aims to shed light on holistic preservation approaches in which those meanings are focused on.

CONCEPTUAL AND THEORETICAL BACK-GROUND

In this study, the search for a method to determine the spirit of place in the historical environment takes place within the framework of the conceptual and theoretical background of the problem under consideration. In this sense, the formation process of the conceptual and theoretical background also creates the flow that leads the search for a method to a conclusion. The process, which started with the questioning of the concepts of place and space, continued with the concept of the spirit of place coming to the fore in the fields of architecture and preservation and taking place in various international documents and regulations and has come to the present day with a series of research and questioning. Studies on the method continue today.

Changing and Developing Meanings of Place and Space What is "place," what is "space?" What should we use to describe the house we live in or the street we pass through every day? Although these two concepts seem to mean the same thing in daily life, their meanings are quite different from each other. As the concepts of place and space are discussed and defined by various disciplines, their meanings have deepened, and inevitably sub-concepts such as the sense of place, the spirit of place, and the meanings of place have emerged.

Differentiating the definitions of the concepts of place and space from each other is a discussion developed

based on the "existentialism" movement that emerged in European philosophy in the middle of the 20th century. In the existentialism movement, man consists of an "essence" that reflects his own nature and an "existence (or being)" that he creates by living. French philosopher Jean-Paul Sartre, one of the pioneers of the movement, stated that existence comes before essence and that man exists as he does himself, and expressed existence as a more complex and superior structure than essence (Sartre, 1985). In this case, experiences are vital accumulations that contribute to the existence of human beings and that constantly increase, and people shape their existence as they practice these experiences. Another existentialist German philosopher, Martin Heidegger, defines the transformation of space into place and expresses "place" as a "space" that is produced and limited by keeping the human mind busy. Heidegger, giving the example of the extended family going to a park for a picnic, interprets the family members' laying out the picnic mat according to their choice of direction, and the fact that they take a position for themselves according to their choice of meeting with other members around the cover, as individuals reflect their "existence" to the space (Sharr, 2013). According to Heidegger, space, which is a non-existent "essence," transforms into a place by taking its "existence (or being)" from man.

The distinction between space and place in the philosophy of the 20th century began to be discussed in the discipline of human geography in the 1970s. Geographer Yi-Fu Tuan joined the discussion, saying that a space becomes a place when it becomes familiar to the individual. According to Tuan, space is transformed into place through experiences. Experience, on the other hand, consists of sensory perceptions that form thoughts by being influenced by what is in our minds, so it is never objective.

Tuan says that the place is a center of meaning built with experiences and expresses the difference of space from place as one's own experience (Tuan, 1975). Another geographer who defined these concepts is Edward Relph. Relph explains the evolution of space to place by repeating Heidegger's definition of "A space becomes a place by gaining existence" and associates the human tendency to own the place by giving meaning to it with the instinct of shelter. Later, Relph also talked about the concepts of "spirit of place" and "sense of place" and stated that the power of these two concepts increased and decreased in direct proportion to each other. According to Relph, the sense of place is a skill that combines the five senses with memory, imagination, and intuition and is unique to the individual. It is weak in people who have less interest in their environment, and strong in people who are related to their environment. The spirit of place, on the other hand, is a property of the place that occurs spontaneously by being influenced by the built environment and what happens there, and it can change as it goes on (Relph, 2007).

Origin and Definition of the Concept "the Spirit of Place" (Genius Loci)

The Latin word "Genius loci" means "spirit of places" in English³. According to the ancient Roman belief, every being has a guardian spirit. This spirit accompanies that being from birth to death like a guide, protects it and gives it its character. Not only humans but also places and even gods have a guardian spirit. The guardian spirit both affects the being throughout its existence and reveals what is in the being or, in a fictional discourse, "whatever it wants to be⁴."

The concept of the spirit of place has been used directly or indirectly in the field of architecture since the end of the 19th century and has reached the present day with various definitions. Sometimes it is used with the same meaning as "sense of place," while it is considered "specific to the individual," sometimes it is defined as "independent from the individual and specific to the place." However, all definitions state that the spirit of place is a composite value formed by the tangible and intangible elements which are the traces of collective sharing of societies on a place.

The most striking of the definitions is Norwegian architect Christian Norberg-Schulz's definition, which paved the way for incorporating the spirit of place into the design process as both a goal and a tool. Bringing the concept of the spirit of place to the fore with his publications in the field of architecture at the end of the 70s, Schulz says that Heidegger was influenced by the concept of "dwelling/ wohnen" and that when people acquire an identity that integrates with the environment they live in or have meaningful experiences in that environment, they tend to build houses. Building a house is a means of holding on to the environment in which people live and is the most basic example of transforming space into place. Schulz began to describe the spirit of the place by explaining the meaning of the place and the culture that nurtures it. According to him, the meanings or realities that arise naturally in the environment are brought together by people to form a new meaning, and this new meaning is now a brandnew meaning that is complex and an aggregation. Schulz, equating the effort to be a part of the culture with the goal of having a meaningful existence, stated that the most basic need of man is to make his existence meaningful (Norberg-Schulz, 1979). Schulz arrived at the concept of "spirit of place" by translating and interpreting the ancient Latin term "genius loci." According to ancient beliefs, places had a guardian spirit, and to settle in that place, people must first recognize that spirit and adapt to it. Since this situation brings with it a respect and care that positively affects the settlement policy of cities and the building process of architects, Schulz puts forward the concept of "spirit of place" as a remedy for the aforementioned chaotic and alienated environment of today's cities. According to him, when the right building action by architects in the past is fully understood and taken as an example, the chaos

related to cities will be resolved (Norberg-Schulz, 2001). Schulz used the "spirit of place" for "existential meaning" and talked about the phenomenological legibility of this meaning. Schulz wanted architects to see the spirit of place and to be concerned about harmonizing with this spirit when designing in an environment. According to this definition, reading the spirit of place is considered as a part of the design.

Architectural Preservation and Spirit of Place

The existence of differences separating place from space, the unique character and atmosphere of place, and similar issues have already been discussed in the field of architectural preservation, even before they were discussed in the field of architectural design. On the basis of the antirestorationist discourse of the 19th century British art and society critic John Ruskin, who is seen as the representative of the romantic view by today's preservation theorists, lies the idea that the interventions made under the name of restoration would irreversibly destroy the spirit of place (Ruskin, 1849)⁵. While the spirit or sense of place is a condition that must be taken into account in the design process, it gains importance in the preservation process in a different way and comes to the fore as a value that needs to be revealed, kept alive, and delivered to the future. In fact, the act of preserving the cultural heritage itself is part of the effort to preserve the character, and atmosphere, i.e., spirit of place. The concept of the spirit of place which has gained an ambiguous definition is today progressed to be searched methodologically in the preservation discipline.

Since the Venice Charter of 1964, the "protection of intangible values" in the field of preservation has been on the agenda at various times and the elements that make up the place have been the subject of discussion, even without being officially defined. In many international charters, declarations, and recommendations since the 1970s, it has been stated that traditional architecture does not only consist of concrete spaces but also includes the values that create the identity of the area and the memory of humanity (Table 1). In these studies, "spirit of place" is not directly included as a concept, but a discourse that draws attention to the meaning of place in monuments and sites is mentioned and the necessity of protecting this existence is emphasized⁶.

In the Introduction and Definitions section of the 1987 ICOMOS Washington Charter, the purpose of the charter is expressed as "The protection of cultural values that exist in private and public spaces in historical environments and constitute the collective memory" (ICOMOS, 1987). This purpose reveals that the mindset of preservation in the historical environment should also include the goal of preserving cultural values.

The main theme of the symposium held at the general

assembly meeting of ICOMOS in Zimbabwe in 2003 was chosen as "Place-Memory value-Meaning: Preserving Intangible Values in Monuments and Sites." The common subject of the conference papers was the protection of intangible values in cultural heritage sites in accordance with the main theme of the symposium (ICOMOS, 2003a). In some studies, the relationship between these values and memory was examined, and in one study, these values were paired with the concept of the spirit of place . The Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage was also signed at the 2003 meeting of ICOMOS. In the definition made in the second article of this convention, "Intangible cultural heritage means the practices, representations, expressions, knowledge, skills and related tools, materials, and cultural spaces-which communities, groups and in some cases, individuals define as part of their cultural heritage. Intangible cultural heritage transmitted from generation to generation is constantly recreated by communities and groups based on their interaction with their environment, nature, and history, giving them a sense of identity and continuity; thereby contributing to respect for cultural diversity and human creativity" (ICOMOS, 2003b). The concept of "spirit of place" is not used in this article, but a definition that overlaps with the "spirit of place" has been made for intangible values as a value transmitted from generation to generation through collective memory.

In 2005, UNESCO signed the Convention on the Protection and Development of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions, and it was accepted that the issue of protecting traces of cultural diversity would be included in the development policies and programs of the state (UNESCO, 2005). Considering that this situation is also valid for policies that support preservation activities, it means that efforts to protect the spirit of the place are supported by this convention. Because one of the components that make up the spirit of place is the social culture, so conveying the spirit of place to the future plays a very important role in preserving the traces of the social culture.

2008 was a year that introduced the concept of "spirit of place" into the discipline of preservation and made a difference. ICOMOS determined the main theme of the scientific symposium held within the scope of the general assembly meeting held in Quebec, Canada in October 2008, as "Finding the Spirit of place." The papers presented at the symposium and addressing the concept of the spirit of place clarified the concept's position in the field of preservation and made it an approach. At the meeting, two important documents, which are significant in terms of the role of the concept of "spirit of place" in the history of preservation, were approved. The first is the Icomos Charter on the Perception and Presentation of Cultural Heritage Sites, and the other is the Quebec Declaration, an approved study on the Preservation of the Spirit of Place. These two documents, which were

	•		
Year	Document	Definitions	Evaluations
1964	Venice Charter Definitions Article 1	"The concept of a historic monument embraces not only the single architectural work but also the urban or rural setting in which is found the evidence of a particular civilization, a significant development or a historic event. This applies not only to great works of art but also to more modest works of the past which have acquired cultural significance with the passing of time."	In this article, while defining the monument, the meaning it gains in line with the bond it establishes with society and the individual is kept in the foreground.
1964	Venice Charter Preservation Article 7	"A monument is inseparable from the history to which it bears witness and from the setting in which it occurs. The moving of all or part of a monument cannot be allowed except where the safeguarding of that monument demands it or where it is justified by national or international interest of paramount importance."	In this article, while it is mentioned that the monument will gain meaning with the environment it is in, it is indirectly referred to the fact that its surroundings have a meaning that integrates with it.
1987	Washington Charter Preamble and Definitions	"This new text defines the principles, objectives, and methods necessary for the preservation of historic towns and urban areas. It also seeks to promote the harmony of both private and community life in these areas and to encourage the preservation of those cultural properties, however modest in scale, that constitute the memory of mankind."	In this section, where the main purpose of the charter is explained, it is clearly seen that the comprehension of preservation in the historical environment also includes the goal of protecting cultural values.
2003	Preliminary report on the 14th General Assembly of ICOMOS and the International Scientific Symposium : « Place – Memory – Meaning : Preserving Intangible Values in Monuments and Sites »	The Themes for each session were: Sub-theme A: The Intangible dimension – concepts, identification and assessment A1 : Concepts, definitions and theoretical considerations A2 : Places and their intangible heritage A3 : Heritage places and living traditions Sub-theme B : Impact of Change and Diverse Perceptions B1 : Changing use of spirit and places B2 : Diversity of perceptions B3 : Preservation and traditional knowledge Sub-theme C : Conserving and Managing Intangible Heritage: methods C1 : Preservation, interpretation management methods C2 : Transmission, interpretation and tourism C3 : Leval and other forms of preservation	The spirit of place is also mentioned in some of the papers prepared in accordance with the main theme of the symposium.

Table 1.	. Charters and documents address the spirit of	place and equivalent concepts in the history of preservation	n (Cont.)
Year	Document	Definitions	Evaluations
2003	UNESCO Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage Article 2	"The "intangible cultural heritage" means the practices, representations, expressions, knowledge, skills – as well as the instruments, objects, artifacts, and cultural spaces associated therewith – that communities, groups and, in some cases, individuals recognize as part of their cultural heritage. This intangible cultural heritage, transmitted from generation to generation, is constantly recreated by communities and groups in response to their environment, their interaction with nature and their history, and provides them with a sense of identity and continuity, thus promoting respect for cultural diversity and human creativity."	The concept of the spirit of place is not included in the contract with its name directly but is defined as a value that must be protected.
2005	UNESCO Convention on Diversity of Cultural Expressions Article 13	"Parties shall endeavor to integrate culture in their development policies at all levels for the creation of conditions conducive to sustainable development and, within this framework, foster aspects relating to the preservation and promotion of the diversity of cultural expressions."	In the Convention, it has been accepted that the issue of protecting the traces of cultural diversity will take place in the development policies and programs of the state. This also applies to policies that support preservation activities.
2008	ICOMOS' 16th General Assembly and Scientific Symposium in Québec "Finding the Spirit of place"	Summary of theme and sub-themes Symposium Theme 1 : Re-thinking spirit and place Theme 2 : The threats to the spirit of place Theme 3 : Preservation of the spirit of place Theme 4 : Transmitting the spirit of place Theme 5 : The role of memory Theme 6 : The fragility of spirit of place Theme 7 : Safeguarding and transmitting the spirit of place	Remarkable papers on the spirit of place were presented at the symposium.
2008	ICOMOS' The Quebec Declaration on the Preservation of the Spirit of Place	"Recognizing that the spirit of place is made up of tangible (sites, buildings, landscapes, routes, objects) as well as intangible elements (memories, narratives, written documents, festivals, commemorations, rituals, traditional knowledge, values, textures, colors, odors, etc.), which all significantly contribute to making place and to giving it spirit, we declare that intangible cultural heritage gives a richer and more complete meaning to heritage as a whole and it must be taken into account in all legislation concerning cultural heritage, and in all preservation and restoration projects for monuments, sites, landscapes, routes and collections of objects".	In the declaration, it was stated that the spirit of place is an inseparable whole with the cultural heritage and that it must be included in the preservation processes. With the titles it covers, the Declaration laid the foundations for the method of preservation based on the spirit of place.

		the free man and the free start and the start of the start and the	
lear	Document	Definitions	Evaluations
013	Burra Charter The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance Article 1	"Cultural significance means aesthetic, historic, scientific, social or spiritual value for past, present, or future generations. Cultural significance is embodied in the place itself, its fabric, setting, use, associations, meanings, records, related places and related objects. Places may have a range of values for different individuals or Groups."	In the charter, some concepts such as culture, place, cultural significance, place with cultural significance have been defined specifically for Australia. The definition of cultural significance overlaps with the definition of the spirit of place.

Table 1. Charters and documents address the snirit of place and equivalent concents in the history of preservation (Cont.)

Megaron, Vol. 18, No. 3, pp. 344-365, September 2023

approved in the same year and are complementary to each other, are the clarification of all the official documents and regulations that have been discussed and studied since the 1964 Venice Charter.

The Venice Charter mentions the importance of social communication in the preservation processes, stating "It is essential that the principles guiding the preservation and restoration of ancient structures are laid down on an international basis formed by the countries responsible for implementing the plan within the framework of their own culture and traditions." In the ICOMOS charters, which are the continuation and explanatory nature of the Venice Charter, this issue has been frequently mentioned and emphasized with different concepts such as dissemination, popularization, presentation, and interpretation. The ICOMOS Charter on the Perception and Presentation of Cultural Heritage Sites, one of the two important documents that ICOMOS Quebec 2008 brought to the preservation area, is an approved study with the aim of explaining all the expressions that mention the importance of social communication, standardizing the terminology on this subject and presenting rational principles. Following the redefinition of the terms related to the subject in the regulation, 7 principles, titled "1. Access and Understanding, 2. Sources of Information, 3. Drawing Attention to Context and Environment, 4. Preserving Authenticity, 5. Planning for Sustainability, 6. Concern for Inclusivity 7. The importance of Research, Education, and Evaluation," were determined. The thirdranked principle titled "Attention to the Context and Environment" mentions that the targeted perception should cover all the cultural, social, and environmental importance and values of the cultural heritage. The fourth rank principle of "Preservation of Authenticity" states that all planning and work to be done for the perception and presentation of the cultural heritage must be carried out without damaging the texture of the place, which expresses the cultural value while respecting the character of the place to preserve the originality. These principles are guiding recommendations that ensure the preservation of the spirit of place for those who will develop presentation methods as part of the preservation processes (ICOMOS, 2008a). Another document that ICOMOS Quebec 2008 brought to the field of architectural preservation is the Quebec Declaration on the Protection of the Spirit of Place (ICOMOS, 2008b). The Declaration explains in detail the "cultural, social and environmental values" in the article, which is accepted as the third principle of the "ICOMOS Regulation on the Perception and Presentation of Cultural Heritage Sites" mentioned above. Emphasizing the importance of preserving the spiritual values and the spirit that constitutes the cultural property, the declaration aims to clarify the framework of this subject, which has been discussed recently. Another remarkable point in the declaration is that it states that tangible and intangible values, which have been expressed as two opposite and separate concepts, are actually intertwined and integrated with each other (Erder, 2020).

The Quebec Declaration, in a sense, draws a roadmap for the process of understanding, protecting, and presenting the spirit of place, with ten articles gathered under four main headings. The first title of the manifesto is "Rethinking the Spirit of Place." The three items under this heading list the tangible and intangible elements that make up the spirit of place, and state that intangible elements are more effective than tangible ones to emphasize the spirit of place and must be taken into account in the preservation processes. Under this title, it is also explained that a multidisciplinary team and traditional practitioners must be assigned in the processes of identifying, protecting and transmitting the spirit of place, that the spirit of place varies from culture to culture, according to time and practices, and that a place can have different spirits that mean different attributions for different cultures (ICOMOS, 2008b).

Although the Quebec Declaration does not provide a direct method for determining the spirit of place, identifying its threats, protecting it and bringing it to light, it is the most striking of the charters and documents that refer to the spirit of place in terms of providing a general framework for a method to be developed (Figure 1). The declaration aims to secure not only the cultural heritage but also the cultural groups, which are the sources of the spirit of the cultural heritage. The Declaration proposes the development of specific management plans and strategies that can be adapted to the pluralistic context of multicultural societies, with the concern that these spirits may clash and destroy the other in places with more than one spirit.



Figure 1. Stages and principles of "spirit of place"-focused preservation according to the Quebec Declaration (Edited by the authors based on the main headings of the Quebec declaration, 2023).

METHOD STUDIES

Searching for Meaning and Spirit in a Place

When focusing on the equivalent of the concept of the spirit of place in Roman mythology, it is understood that the main reason for the inclusion of this concept in the discipline of architecture is to design it with the concern of preserving the meaning and character of the place. In this context, the spirit of place is not only a meaning that is there and waiting to be discovered, but also a guide that accompanies the place in the form that overlaps with the equivalent of the concept in mythology interacts with and directs people at every moment of life on the ground. This feature defines a task for the spirit of place, and obliges it to be in constant interaction with its environment, in other words, to be alive by showing its own existence. The spirit of place is basically a construct of the mental interaction between the individual and the place. In this interaction, the whole of the impressions and images that the individual creates in his/her mind with his/her experiences transforms into the corresponding meanings. When the theoretical approaches that address the connection between the individual and the place in different disciplines are examined, it is understood that these approaches focus on similar things with different concepts and basically examine the relationship between meaning and memory. The meaning that should be preserved together with the place as a social value in the historical environment is created in the collective memory, in other words, with the common images formed in the mind of the society. Therefore, to reach this meaning, it is necessary to concentrate on a method in which the spirit of place as a collective meaning can be reached through the common codes of the collective experiences lived in a place which correspond in minds.

The German philosopher Edmund Husserl, who stated that the meaning of place is a whole united with the practices experienced, with the definition of "The place is a kinesthetic formation," is one of those who planted the seeds of the idea of analyzing the place with phenomenological methods. This theory of Husserl's method influenced many philosophers, especially Martin Heidegger, and started a process in which individual experiences were discussed in philosophy as a component of place. German philosopher Martin Heidegger said that place has components perceived through experiences; defined the place as an experiential center, not as a dead location, and thus presented a method that brings sensory perception to the fore (Heidegger, 1971). The declaration titled "Building, Dwelling, Thinking," which Heidegger presented to architects at a conference held in Darmstadt in 1951, soon influenced architects from all over the world and caused architecture to be questioned from a different perspective and phenomenologically⁸(Sharr, 2013).

Christian Norberg-Schulz is the first follower of the phenomenological approach in the field of architecture,

which Edmund Husserl transformed into a method and his student Martin Heidegger made one of the most important philosophical approaches of the 20th century. Schulz combined this approach with Lynch's schematization of perception of the physical environment and adapted it to architecture as a synthesis of scientific views from the fields of sociology, psychology, and semiotics. Schulz brought a new approach to the problem of architectural space in his work called "phenomenological trilogy," which consists of three books, "Existence, Space and Architecture," "Genius Loci" and "The Concept of Housing," published in 1971, 1980, and 1985. According to Schulz, architectural space can be understood as the embodiment of environmental schemes or images that form an indispensable part of man's general harmony or "being in the world." Schulz presented a new approach saying that architecture should be perceived not only with scientific ones but also with qualitative methods. For this purpose, he aimed to find the essence of human experiences by analyzing the spirit of place through phenomenological means.

American architect Steven Holl stated that the architectural product is perceived by the senses as an experience lived differently from other works of art. Holl defines architecture as a combination of mathematics and phenomenology (Holl et al., 1994). Finnish architect Juhani Pallasmaa almost defines the concept of the spirit of place when talking about the aura of a building. According to him, a structure's aura is an intangible feature that it carries on and tells something. When an individual encounters a structure, he undoubtedly perceives it primarily with his own memory and what is in his memory, but the aura of the structure is a dominant character and directs the individual's personal perception by influencing it. In this case, the aura is a structurespecific and powerful "perception guide." Peter Zumthor, on the other hand, describes the element that Pallasmaa defines as the "aura" as the "atmosphere" and states that the atmosphere felt within while entering in, creates a bond between the person and the space, and this bond is a very important part of architectural comfort (Zumthor, 2006). Katherine Benzel's approach is also parallel to other theories. Benzel states that the architectural work is in interaction with social life and nature, and the design is shaped in a process compatible with this interaction (Benzel, 1997). All these theoretical approaches, which refer to the spirit of a place or equivalent components, are important in terms of emphasizing the existence of a "spiritual" element as well as a physical body in architectural products (Table 2).

Analysis of Methods and Techniques

In his book "Genius Loci: Toward a Phenomenology of Architecture" published in 1979, Schulz conducted city assessment studies that will shed light on searches for methods and techniques in determining the spirit of place. Although the studies in the book do not fully express a

hasized Concept	Main Idea in Theory	Announcement Date
us Loci/Spirit of place	Architectural space is the embodiment of environmental schemes and images.	1980
ax/Perspective perception changing movement and viewpoint	The perception of a place is personal. The space gains a personal meaning with a perception that changes with experience and movement.	1989
/ Spiritual energy	Architecture can be defined not only with objects but also with verbs, it gains meaning as it is perceived by the senses, it is not just a visual product.	1994
ynor	A space is shaped by interacting with its environment (city, topography, social life).	1998
sphere	The structure, with its various features, forces people to relate to the world and calls something from memory with what they visualize in their minds.	1998
	ovement and viewpoint cnanging ovement and viewpoint in the second spiritual energy in the second se	orterspective perception changing ovement and viewpointThe space gains a personal meaning with a perception that changes with experience and movement.Spiritual energyThe space gains a personal meaning with a perception that changes with experience and movement.Spiritual energyArchitecture can be defined not only with objects but also with verbs, it gains meaning as it is perceived by the senses, it is not just a visual product.InyArchitecture can be defined not only with objects but also with verbs, it gains meaning as it is perceived by the senses, it is not just a visual product.InyA space is shaped by interacting with its environment (city, topography, social life).The structure, with its various features, forces people to relate to the world and calls something from menory with what they visualize in their minds.

method flow, it was found worthy of being analyzed as one of the first concrete research to determine the spirit of place in a historical environment. Other studies analyzed are current studies on understanding of place, which have been made in the last 5 years, and which are remarkable in terms of clearly revealing methods and techniques.

Norberg-Schulz's City Assessments

In his previous books, Intentions in Architecture (1963) and Existence, Space, and Architecture (1971), Schulz talked about the transformational journey of space into existential space and defined existential space as the place where meaningful actions are embodied (Norberg-Schulz, 1971). In these books, he used the concept of genius loci in response to the unique character of places and defined this character as a power unaffected by political, social, or cultural changes. In his book Genius Loci: TowSards a Phenomenology of Architecture, published in 1979, the concept of "spirit of place" is discussed as a theory that sheds light not only on architecture but also on ethnographic and anthropological researches. Schulz says "human beings only take root in an environment where they experience meaning" and states that both the spirit of place is formed through meaningful experiences and that people need to hold on to the spirit of place as a support (Norberg-Schulz, 1979). According to him, settlement is more than building and sheltering, he focuses on the intangible elements of the physical environment and tries to analyze and explain them. The process of formation of the spirit of place can be listed as follows with the help of the stages Schultz himself expressed (Figure 2).

In his book "Genius Loci: Towards a Phenomenology of Architecture", Schulz evaluates three different cities, Prague, Khartoum, and Rome, in terms of the spirit of place (Norberg-Schulz, 1979). Schulz's assessment approach can be expressed as "expert researchers' interpretations based on field observations and historical studies." Here, the researcher is almost always himself, and occasionally he evaluates by taking into account the opinions in the published texts. He makes inferences about the spirit of



Figure 2. The stages of formation of the spirit of place according to Schulz.

place in the cities he examines, searches its origin, but avoids putting forward a definite and clear formula about the formation of this spirit. In addition, after determining the spirit of place, he leaves its determinations only at a level of interpretation. This situation was evaluated by the authors of this article as a concern to avoid ending the interpretation process due to the continuity feature of his phenomenological approach.

According to Wilken, Schulz traveled the cities by considering their history and current situation, and evaluated them with inspiration from Heidegger's concept of the unity of the four legs consisting of "earth-sky-mortals-gods" (Wilken, 2013). However, he did not systematize his evaluations and left the conclusion uncertain. For this reason, the study of determining the spirit of place did not create data for a path to be followed afterward.

Among the city evaluations of Schulz, his determinations about Rome are remarkable. First of all, Schulz emphasizes that the city has been called the "eternal city" for a long time, and its title of being a "capital," which has the effect of monumentality and greatness. However, according to Schulz, these adjectives alone cannot express the spirit in the city, because the absolute order which is the mental equivalent of these adjectives does not exist in this city. Here, Schulz puts a comma in his comments to include the words of art historian Hans Peter L'orange9 that describe the streets of ancient Rome: "the self-satisfied, closed world of the street is characteristic of ancient Rome: a complete world, a small universe, the paradise from which Scandinavian people were expelled." Making use of Lorange's findings, Schulz describes the features that do not separate the houses from the street, on the contrary, integrate them, that the entrances to the houses are provided directly from the street without sidewalks or steps, therefore, the house life continues on the street, and this situation gives the streets an "urban interior" appearance. Features that were a part of life in ancient Rome still exist in the city of Rome, and this is the most important reason why, according to Schulz, a capital full of monumental buildings offers a surprisingly pastoral/ rural effect. Schultz calls this influence the Roman spirit of place. After depicting the streets in the city, Schulz goes out of the city and looks at the city from the outside. In this way, he sees the divinity and greatness of the city's existence in its natural environment. The ancient Romans built the city as a Greek statue, with details complementing each other. In its natural environment, the city is like a giant statue carved for the gods. Schulz interprets the spirit, which is felt in the city and exists in every corner, as a synthesis of this divinity/ sublimity and Roman pastoralism. In summary, the spirit of place in Rome was formed through the self-confidence of divinity and the "existential meanings" that emerged from the sincerity of Roman life. In his book, Schultz also included images with the meanings he wanted to emphasize. The most striking of these is a painting by Franz Roesler¹⁰



Figure 3. The Franz Roesler painting that Schulz included in his book and the photograph depicting the city's stance in the natural environment (Norberg-Schulz, 1979).

depicting ancient Roman streets and a recent photograph expressing the city's topography (Figure 3).

Since Schulz's leading work, many studies have been conducted to understand place. In the following lines, current scientific researches on understanding place are analyzed in terms of their methods and techniques. The information obtained from this analysis is intended to contribute to future studies for determining the spirit of a place.

Sample Research 1: Identifying and expressing the spirit of place in the Sziget festival area (Pap, 2019)

The research that Victoria Pap carried out between 2014 and 2019 within the scope of her doctoral study in sociology and social policy at Corvinus University in Budapest was the most remarkable among the sample studies in terms of the diversity of method techniques (Table 3). In her study, Pap dealt with the area of the Sziget festival, one of the most important music events in Europe and held in August every year, and she aimed to determine and express the atmosphere that is as important as the music presented in the week-long festival. In this study, Pap questioned the characteristic points in the area, the alternative spaces that developed in addition to the existing spaces, and the elements that determine the atmosphere in the place, and sought an answer to the question of what the channels of perception of the spirit of place would be.

Pap mainly used the mental mapping method in her study, supplementing this method with questionnaires and participant observations, which she referred to as "content analysis of fieldwork diaries." Pap describes the spirit of place as "the mental perception of subjective experiences and feelings associated with place through experiences that can be verbally expressed." Therefore, she sees mental mapping as the most appropriate method for determining the spirit of place.

As the first step, Pap asked 225 festival attendees to write their "experiences" on a blank map, thus she obtained 225 "experience maps." In the second step, she conducted a survey with 533 randomly selected participants and aimed to collect the words corresponding to the spirit of the place by asking questions such as: "If asked to describe the atmosphere in one word, what would this be? How would you describe the aura?" The third and final step in Pap's fieldwork is the "fieldwork diaries." These data, consisting of the notes of 30 researchers who took part in the field study, were also used in the analysis phase.

Among the findings, it is noteworthy that the venues that are outside the boundaries of the official festival area formed spontaneously were determined on the mental maps. By combining the mental maps she collected, Pap created a map that she called visitors' mental places. She analyzed the data of her research with computer support and expressed her findings with maps, tables, flow charts, and word cloud diagrams (Figure 4).

 Table 3. Analysis of Victoria Pap's study in terms of method techniques

Sample Research 1:	: Identifying and expressing	ng the spirit of place	in the Sziget festival area	
Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Interview	Festival participants	Words	A survey was conducted with 533 participants, and symbol words were collected by asking questions.	Coding
Mental mapping	Festival participants	Experience map	225 participants were asked to write their experiences on the sketch.	Geolocation Frequency Analysis (ArcGIS)
Observation	Researchers	Notes	The notes taken by 30 researchers in their field studies were used as data.	

Table 5. Analysis of victoria Paps study in terms of method techniques



Figure 4. Expression technique of Victoria Pap's work (Pap, 2019).

Sample Research 2: Mapping historical urban landscape values using social media (Ginzarly&Roders&Teller, 2018)

The study, which was carried out within the scope of an article written in the field of urban design, proposes the method of using the photo angles and tags shared on the social media of that place in determining the perceived character of an area. The findings of the study express the differences in the preferences of local people and visitors (Table 4).

The location chosen for the research is the El-Mina district in Tripoli, Lebanon. During the data collection phase, 1320 photos shared for this region between 2003 and 2016 were taken from the social media platform Flickr. The goal here is to determine how users refer to inheritance entities and whether they relate to tangible or intangible attributes. Accordingly, tags referring to an abstract attribute such as activities, expressions, knowledge, or practices (Example: tradition, work, shopping, and medieval) were extracted together with their geographic information, and a tag clouds map was created using ArcGIS. In this map, each label is given a rating, symbolized by font size, based on frequency of use. This map was made to visualize the density and spatial distribution of the photographs. To distinguish the photograph angle preferences of local people and tourists, the nationality information of the users was transferred to the ArcGIS medium and visualized by grading according to the frequency of tagging (Figure 5).

Since the study was found successful by the authors in terms of visualizing the results of data analysis, it ranks high among the case studies.



Figure 5. Expression technique of Manal Ginzarly's work (Ginzarly et al., 2019).

Sample Research 3: Reviving the past through collective memory in Tehran Baharestan Square (Lak & Hakimian, 2019)

The research, which was carried out within the scope of an article written in the field of urban design, aims to propose a theoretical model to sustain and reproduce the traces of collective memory in historical urban spaces. Baharestan Square, which is an area that has been transformed both physically and semantically depending on the changes in the city of Tehran, was chosen as the study area, and a qualitative research was conducted by conducting in-depth interviews with 20 local residents during the summer of 2016. In addition to the interviews, observations, related documents, and texts were evaluated with qualitative content analysis (Table 5).

The qualitative method used to investigate the collective memory in the square can be expressed in two stages. The first part of the first phase is the "review of the literature on collective memory," in which the historical studies, related internet resources, and documents are reviewed. This section was completed in a desk-based work process and resulted in the determination of open-ended interview questions.

The second part of this phase is a field study in which the determined questions are directed to the participants through in-depth interviews. Participants were selected by

Table 4. Analysis of Manal Ginzarly's study in terms of method techniques

Sample Research 2: Mapping historical urban landscape values using social media

Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Mental mapping	Flickr contributors	Tag map	The shooting directions, tags, and hometown information of the 1320 photographs were used as data.	Geolocation Frequency Analysis and Classification (ArcGIS)

		•	-	
Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Interview	Historical documents and texts	Words	The history of the square has been researched.	Coding Qualitative Content Analysis
Mental mapping	20 local residents	Experience map	Open-ended questions were asked to 20 people selected l random sampling from loca residents and shopkeepers who had lived or worked in Baharestan Square for more than 10 years and were also asked to tell their memories	e by 1
Observation	Baharestan Square	Notes	Thematic codes were enrich with the observations made	ed

Table 5. Analysis of Azadeh Lak's study in terms of method techniques.

Sample Research 3: Reviving the past through collective memory in Tehran Baharestan Square

random sampling from local residents and shopkeepers who have lived or worked in Baharestan Square for more than 10 years. After the interview, the participants were also asked to tell their memories of the past and present in the square.

Data analyses were made with the qualitative content analysis method, in which the researchers repeatedly read, discussed, and interpreted the transcribed interviews. At the end of this process, general thematic sections and subcategories could be determined with the embedded theory method¹¹. The analysis study aimed to extract the main categories related to the conceptual model of the collective memory features proposed in the form of four broad themes including place, activities/events, history, and personal images/values.

In the second stage of the research, the concepts were unfolded in contexts such as buildings/monuments, functions, land uses/activities, and as a visual survey of the street landscape, and physical features such as space use, building age, architectural style were defined.

The study aims to reveal the features that revive the collective memory in Baharestan Square to support urban renewal policies (Figure 6).

Sample Research 4: Investigation of cultural memory and the spirit of place in the context of a destroyed theater in Alexandria, Egypt (Hussein&Stephens&Tiwari, 2020)

The research is about the Al Salam Theater, which was built in 1956 in Alexandria, Egypt's second-largest city, and which has become a very important figure for the city during its 62 years of service as a theater, in the city's memory before being demolished. The research consists of an investigation of traces carried in the spirit of place from the time it was there to today when a hotel exists in its place.

The first stage of the study includes library research, and



Figure 6. Expression technique of Azadeh Lak's work (Lak & Hakimian, 2019).

the second stage includes field studies. In the first stage, the existing literature was reviewed to create the conceptual framework of the research and to prepare the interview questions that would be required in the second stage.

In the second stage, semi-structured face-to-face interviews were conducted in the field through the prepared 20 questions. During the field study, which lasted for about 2 months, a total of 12 participants, six of whom were locals of the mentioned region and six of whom had no regular connection with the region, were interviewed, and each interview lasted 30–45 min. The second stage, the data collection stage, also includes some studies on social media. For this purpose, a Facebook group called "The Spirit of Alexandria" was created, and the participants were allowed to express their opinions and thoughts by sharing freely without pressure in face-to-face meetings. In the group of 90 participants, 42 comments about the Al Salam Theater were included as data in this study (Table 6).

TADIE U. ATTAIVSIS UL PALITIACIZATITAA TTUSSETTI S WULK TILLETTUS UL THELHUU LECHTHUUE	Table 6	6. Analysis	of Fatmaelzahraa	Hussein's work in	terms of method	techniques
---	---------	-------------	------------------	-------------------	-----------------	------------

Sample Research 4: Investigation of cultural memory and the spirit of place in the context of a destroyed theater in Alexandria, Egypt

Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Interview	12 local residents	Texts	A total of 12 participants, 6 of whom are locals of the mentioned region, and 6 of whom are not in regular connection with the region, were interviewed.	Coding Qualitative Content Analysis
Social media comments	90 group participants	Texts	In the created Facebook group, the participants were allowed to freely express their opinions and thoughts by sharing. In the group of 90 participants, 42 comments about the Al Salam Theater were included as data in this study.	

The researchers analyzed the data based on the "qualitative triangulation method¹²," and field notes, interview texts, and social media posts were evaluated together. Analytical software called QSR NVivo 12 was used while evaluating the coding. After the study, a diagram indicating the main research themes and relationships used throughout the coding process and a word tree showing the frequency of participants' mention of summer were obtained from the



Figure 7. Expression techniques of Hussein et al.'s (2020).

 Table 7. Analysis of Filiz Ertürk's study in terms of method techniques

software (Figure 7).

During the interviews, the participants recalled their good memories and experiences at the theater with their families and friends, and the events they had in the urban area around the theatre. A great majority of the interviewees combined the theater with the summer vacation and the sea, this situation is also emerged during the evaluation (Figure 7).

Sample Research 5: A Workshop to Determine the Spirit of place in Kocaeli¹³

The research carried out within the scope of the first thesis studies, which is considered as an example, is remarkable because it includes a workshop held in the field with a group of experts. In the research, a 1-day workshop was held in Kocaeli with 19 experts, including architects, city planners, interior architects and civil engineers, consisting of academicians, local government employees, private sector employees and students, and it was ensured that they experienced the field during the workshop. After the workshop, the participants were asked to convey their

Sample Research 5: A Workshop to Determine the Spirit of place in Kocaeli (Ertürk, 2019)

Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Workshop + Interview	19 experts consisting of academicians, local government employees, private sector employees and students, architects, city planners, interior architects and civil engineers	Experience transfer, matching and connection forms	A one-day workshop was held, in which participants were asked to first experience the area, then transfer it and fill out a few forms.	Content Analysis

experiences in writing and it was tried to determine the components of the place and their relations through a preprepared form.(Table 7).

Sample Research 6: Evaluation of Changes in Konya Historical City Center through the Concept of 'Spirit of Place'¹⁴

The second of the thesis studies includes a quantitative research to determine the user's perception of the historical city centers in Konya. In the first stage of the study, a sample area was selected by researching the historical areas of Konya, and in the second stage, a survey was conducted with 45 local residents in this area. Participants were asked to answer 17 questions such as "Today's Konya Historical City Center is a Cultural Center (Perception1)" or "Today's Konya Historical City Center is a Service Center (Perception2)" by rating them on a Likert scale¹⁵. The survey results were evaluated through quantitative analysis and the perceptions were hierarchically ordered and interpreted (Table 8).

In the Table 9, the data collection and data analysis methods and techniques used by various researchers to determine the spirit of place and the results they revealed were examined. As seen, those who have achieved successful results in the last 5 years to determine the meaning of place, conducted with phenomenological approaches, have revealed results emphasizing intangible values with a perspective integrating the physical environment and society. In most of the studies analyzed and evaluated as an example, people who have a connection with the field were chosen as the data source and the data were compacted by coding or labeling the interviews. The coding method makes it possible to present the data by abbreviation and geolocation. The first two studies are remarkable in that they present the visuals that express the coded data on the physical environment in an architectural language. Other studies were also evaluated in terms of data collection and analysis techniques used.

Based on this analysis, an evaluation can be made on data collection techniques as follows:

Interview: Conducting interviews is a very important way to collect data by making connections with the collective memory of a place. Care should be taken to interview with especially local inhabitants, in order to get the accurate data.

Mental mapping: Since creating a map that addresses what is remembered requires an expert perception of the physical environment, it was concluded that it would be more appropriate for the researcher to make the memory maps during and after the interviews.

Observation: Observations made by the researcher are always important as a support and complement to other data collection techniques.

Social media comments: When the case studies above are examined, it is revealed that social media can create a context that can be used as a very rich data source when its reliability is ensured.

Workshop: In some researches, the fact that the workshops were conducted by experts rather than local residents created a disconnection between the study and the place. Conducting the workshop with local residents and completing the evaluation by experts would lead to more accurate findings.

Document research: Historical and visual document scanning made by the researcher should also support and complement other data collection techniques.

The evaluation of sample researches has shown that the most essential data collection technique is the interviewing

Table 8. Analysis of Hatice Kübra Söğütlü's study in terms of method techniques

Sample Research 6: Evaluation of Changes in Konya Historical City Center through the Concept of "Spirit of Place" (Söğütlü, 2023)

Data Collection Techniques	Data Sources	Data Type	Explanation	Data Analysis Techniques
Documentary search	Historical documents and texts	Texts	The history of the historical city center of Konya has been researched.	Quantitative Analysis (SPSS)
	45 local residents	Answers evaluated with a Likert scale	17 questions were asked to 45 people who knew the historical city center of Konya, were somehow connected with the area and witnessed the transformation of the center and were asked to mark the options prepared according to the Likert scale.	er, e g

Table 9. A	Analysis and evaluat	ion of place u	nderstanding stı	udies in terms of m	ethods and techniqu	les			
Sample Number	Research Subject	Date and Location of the Research	Researcher	Publication Name, Place, Date	Data Collection Techniques	Evaluation of Data Collection Techniques	Data Analysis Techniques	Evaluation of Data Analysis Techniques	Evaluation of Expression Technique of Findings
_	Identifying and expressing the spirit of place in the Sziget festival area	2014-2019 Budapest, Hungary	Victoria Pap	Researching the spirit of place: Mental mapping on Sziget festival, Cornivus Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 2019	Interview, Mental mapping, Observation	Data collection techniques are very compatible and sufficient with the study.	Coding, Geolocation, Frequency Analysis	The analyzes were made with the help of the software with sufficient sensitivity, were found reliable and sufficient.	The visual work for Mental places was found to be very understandable and having clear in terms of an architectural language. The fact that the findings related to the spirit of place were not combined with the physical environment was evaluated as a deficiency.
7	Mapping historical urban landscape values using social media	2003-2016 Tripoli, Lebanon	Manal Ginzarly, Ana Pereira Roders, Jacques Teller	Mapping historic urban landscape values through social media, Journal of Cultural Heritage, 2018	Mental mapping	The reliability of data from social media has not been proven in the study. However, when these studies are examined, it is revealed that social media can create a context that can be used as a very rich data source when its reliability is ensured.	Geolocation, Frequency Analysis and Classification		It was found very successful that the findings were reduced to codes and located in their places in the physical environment and visualized very clearly.
4	Investigation of cultural memory and the spirit of place in the context of a destroyed theater in Alexandria, Egypt	2018 Alexandria, Egypt	Fatmaelzahraa Hussein, John Stephens, Reena Tiwari	Cultural Memories and Sense of Place in Historic Urban Landscapes The Case of Masra Al Salam, the Demolished Theatre Context in Alexandria, Egypt, Land, 2020	Interview, Social media comments :: th		Coding, Qualitative Content Analysis	The tags in the social media were used as codes directly without being changed. This technique has been found interesting because it offers an advantage of a very practical and fast working process.	The fact that the findings were not matched with the places in the physical environment and the results were not visualized in an architectural language was considered as a deficiency.

359

Table 9. A	Analysis and evalua	tion of place u	understanding s	tudies in terms of m	ethods and techniqu	tes (Cont.).			
Sample Number	Research Subject	Date and Location of the Research	Researcher	Publication Name, Place, Date	Data Collection Techniques	Evaluation of Data Collection Techniques	Data Analysis Techniques	Evaluation of Data Analysis Techniques	Evaluation of Expression Technique of Findings
m	Reviving the past through collective memory in Tehran Baharestan Square	2016 Tehran, Iran	Azadeh Lak, Pantea Hakimian	Collective memory and urban regeneration in urban spaces: Reproducing memories in Baharestan Square, city of Tehran, Iran, City, Culture and Society, 2019	Interview, Observation	Interviews were conducted with the local residents with the help of open- ended questions and the study was found to be efficient since a wide variety of data were obtained by supporting observations.	Coding, Qualitative Content Analysis	The coding was found very careful and successful.	
۲	A research to understand the place and the spirit of place through street practice in Kocae	2019, Kocaeli, Turkey Ii	Filiz Ertürk	Sokak pratiği aracılığıyla yer ve yerin ruhumu anlamaya yönelik bir sentez önerisi: Hermeneutik- fenomenolojik- semiyolojik (HFS) çerçeve yaklaşım, Phd Thesis, 2019	Workshop, Interview	The fact that the participants were not selected from local residents was found to be negative. It was thought that conducting the workshop and interviews with the residents and completing the evaluation by experts would lead to more accurate findings.	Content Analysis	Analyzes were made by experts different from the experts who were workshop participants. The analyzes are revealed as tables expressing the relationships between the components of the earth. The analysis technique was found to be sufficient.	
Ň	Evaluation of the change in the historical city center of Konya by measuring perceptions	2021, Konya, Turkey	Hatice Kübra Söğütlü	Konya Tarihi Kent Merkezinde Meydana Gelen Değişimlerin "Yerin Ruhu" Kavramı Üzerinden Değerlendirilmesi Master Thesis, 2021	Document search, Interview	Receiving the answers with a Likert scale limits and ordinaryizes the participant's view.	Quantitative Analysis (SPSS)	The fact that the analysis was done in a quantitative way prevented the researcher from reflecting his expertise on the study with his comments, and kept the architect- researcher out of the evaluation. This situation has been evaluated as a deficiency since it has taken the study out of the field of architecture.	

as it directly enables a collecting method of collective experiences in the memory of users of a place as data. Interviewing should be supported and complemented by mental mapping, observation and document research.

Data analysis techniques in line with the examinations from the sample researches can be evaluated as follows:

Coding: The coding method is a technique that summarizes and shortens the data, as in all qualitative researches. In this way, it enables the data to be expressed in an understandable way within the findings.

Geolocation: This technique is important in architectural researches because it enables data or findings to be matched with the physical environment and the results to become usable documents.

Frequency analysis: It should be used as an intermediate stage in researches where the general approach is not quantitative but the frequency of mentioning the coded data is important.

Classification: Classification is a coding stage that allows similar data to be grouped and collected under the same heading and these headings to be used in the ongoing process. It was found useful in terms of simplifying the data.

Content analysis: It is a very appropriate technique to be used in research on "place" as it reflects the expertise of the researcher by adding his/her interpretation and ensures that the study remains within the boundaries of the desired area.

Quantitative Analysis: It has been observed that this analysis technique is not sufficient in studies on "place," as it does not include the interpretation and intervention of the researcher in the research.

As it is understood from the information expressed in the literature review, coding is considered as the first and most practical technique among these analysis techniques as it shortens the data and provides practicality. The efficiency of the coding technique can be increased by supporting it with frequency analysis and geolocation. The combinations of data collection and data analysis techniques may change from case to case according to terms and aim of the research.

CONCLUSION

Identifying and documenting the spirit of place is the first step in a "spirit of place"-oriented preservation process. The process to be carried out should also be expected to include the flow that ensures the protection of the determined and expressed "spirit" and its transfer to the future. As the literature suggests, studies that propose a clear model should be carried out for determining the spirit of a place. The goal of this study is to emphasize the lack of a viable method/ model that aims to "determine the spirit of place" and which is revealed by synthesizing the approaches focused on the spirit of place in preservation, to support the spirit of place focused approaches in the historical environment and to contribute to making the preservation activities of the historical environment more holistic.

The twenty-first century has started as a century in which concepts are questioned again, problems are re-discussed and current solutions to problems are sought. In this context, one of the most important phenomena that has come to the fore in recent years is the inevitable isolation of the individual in crowded cities and hybridized societies. The fact that people cannot connect with the environment they live in plays a major role in this isolation. The activities carried out in historical cities under the name of "preservation" with commercial and touristic concerns cause the historical environment to lose its identity and original character, weakening the bond between people and the environment day by day. As Lynch said, "the visual environment should be meaningful; that is, its visible character should relate to other aspects of life." In this respect, it is important that what is felt in the historical environment should be the existential meaning of the place, in other words, a place should tell you the original story. In this way, it will be possible for the individual to establish a relationship with the past as well as with the environment, and to form a cognitive collective sharing from the past among people living together. The spirit of place is the meaning of place, together with everything that has lived and left a trace in the environment. It is spatial, existential and original. It welcomes the users and visitors of the place, influences the experiences, connects and unites people with each other and the place. It is what makes a house home or a town homeland.

The use of urban scale as a reminder to people is not a new phenomenon for urban designers. However, the application of this effort in the field of preservation has sometimes been the subject of discussion. Without turning the city into a museum that can be visited with one's fingertips, it is enough for the city to make a connection between the past and the individual by reminding it at intervals (Othman et al., 2013). These reminders, which are links between the individual and the environment and society, can be defined as "guidance of the spirit of place" as in Roman mythology.

If a place has a spirit, which is defined as a spiritual element and perceived by the senses, it is possible to detect this spirit with a method that includes sensory evaluations. As a result of the analyses and evaluations made, it has emerged that a new method to be designed to determine the spirit of place should be created in line with the following flow:

Collective sharing of practices as well as the physical environment play a role in the formation of the spirit of place. This situation will find its place in the general framework of the method as a reflection of the mentality that has come to the agenda for the first time with the Washington Charter of 1987 and has continued until today. Intangible values which are traces of social life in a place, are the drivers of phenomenological perceptions together with the physical environment. Phenomenological perceptions correspond to the meanings encoded in memory under the influence of these directors. Acquiring the right techniques to reach these meanings and evaluate them together is one of the most important determinants of the method flow sought in this study.

Identifying meanings for collective sharing may be possible by making use of collective memory studies. Collective memory data can be obtained by interpreting researches conducted with the participation of local people by experts from various disciplines. The necessity for expert researchers to be involved in the process was also expressed in the 2008 Quebec Declaration. In the declaration, it is also mentioned that local masters should be supported to analyze the spirit of place, which is a complex element. The role of local residents, who are first-degree experiencers of the place, was not mentioned in the declaration. However, when the studies of understanding the place made in recent years are analyzed in terms of methods and techniques, it has been concluded that the most efficient source of data on collective memory is local residents. Since Schulz's evaluations of the city and sample research (5) analyzed in this study neglected to collect data from the local people, the findings they put forward as the "spirit of place" do not integrate with the social life of the place. For this reason, it will be appropriate to benefit from the local residents as a data source in the field studies to be carried out. Figure 8 shows the appropriate data collection and data analysis methods which can be used in a field study.

The meanings that make up the spirit of place should be combined with the physical environment in line with the supporting data obtained through research. Since the



Figure 8. Data collection and analysis techniques.

spirit of place is an element that gains meaning when it is with the place, the work of determining the spirit of place should also include an addressing effort and should also express this information at the end.

The "spirit of place" obtained as a result of a research carried out with this flow is a place map where all data are coded, hierarchically ordered and geographically placed in the physical environment. The results obtained in this way will have an understandable and archival quality.

NOTES

¹Prof. Hermann Jansen's plan won the Ankara City Development Plan competition, which was opened in 1928, and was put into practice in 1932. The most important feature of the plan is that it proposes not to interfere too much with the old city and to establish the new city next to the old one. The plan, known as the Jansen Plan, was the plan that guided the development of Ankara with minor changes until the 1950s (Tunçer, 2009).

²Henri Prost is a French city planner who was invited by M. Kemal Atatürk to carry out urban planning studies for Istanbul in 1933, after he started the work on the reconstruction of Ankara. The reason why Atatürk chose him for this task is that Prost is an expert in the planning of historical cities and the work he had done in various cities of the world in this field (Aydemir, 2008).

³The Latin word "genius" means "spirit", while the singular form of the word "loci" meaning "places", is "locus" (Online Etymology Dictionary, 2021).

⁴American architect Louis Kahn, in his speech at a conference, stated that building materials did not come together by chance or at our will, they actually wanted to become something and told us this. Kahn expressed this with the following words: "... You say to brick, 'What do you want, brick?' Brick says to you, 'I like an arch" (Lesser, 2017).

⁵The British art and society critic John Ruskin, who is accepted as the representative of the "Romantic View" in preservation, expressed the idea that the place has a spirit in his book Seven Lamps of Architecture, published in 1849. Each of the "lights" described as chapter titles in the book represent the connotations that direct/affect the audience of an architectural work while perceiving it. (Baljon, 1997).

⁶While defining the concept of historical monument in the first article of the Venice Charter, the scope is kept wide and it is stated that an architectural work does not necessarily have to have superior values in order to be defined as a "monument", and that a simple building can also be considered as a monument if it has a cultural meaning. With this expression, the relationship between monument and meaning is emphasized, and the meaning gained by the monument in line with the bond it establishes with the society and the individual is kept in the foreground. In the seventh article of the same charter, while it is mentioned that the monument will gain meaning with the environment it is in, it is indirectly referred to the fact that its surroundings also have a meaning that integrates with it (ICOMOS, 1964).

⁷A paper with a title "Genius Loci-The Spirit Of Archeological Sites" presented by Visy Zsolt from Hungary, was a remarkable work for emphasizing the necessity of protecting the spiritual value of monuments in restoration processes (ICOMOS, 2003a).

⁸As Edmund Husserl expressed in his book "Five Lessons on Phenomenology", phenomenology is a method of perception and interpretation in which vision (but seeing in which consciousness plays a more important role than the eyes) is at the forefront (Husserl, 2003).

⁹Hans Peter L'orange, in his book titled "Art Forms and Civic Life in the Late Roman Empire" published in 1965, mentioned that artistic and architectural production are linked to social life and reflect each other, and visualised Roman cities from this perspective (Pack, 1968).

¹⁰Franz Roesler painted life in the ghettos of Rome, using memories, in a series of 120 watercolor paintings titled "Roman Spirita/Lost Rome", which he made between 1878 and 1896 (Ettore Franz Roesler Collection Official Website)

¹¹According to Corbin and Strauss, three types of coding are mentioned in the embedded theory: 1. In open coding, initial codes (themes) with low abstraction are assigned, categories are estimated, 2. Axis coding is the stage where data is passed over for the second time. At this stage, connections are made between the themes, some themes are excluded from the coding, some new ideas are produced and subcategories are revealed, 3. Selective coding is the stage where the themes are reviewed and clustered for the last time, and the main categories are revealed (Corbin and Strauss, 1990).

¹²According to Denzin and Patton, four different types of triangulation can be made in qualitative research: 1. Method triangulation, 2. Investigative triangulation, 3. Theory triangulation, 4. Data source triangulation. Method triangulation means diversification of the method and is usually done in the form of interview-observation-field notes. Investigative triangulation, on the other hand, is when at least three researchers do the same work together and allows evaluation from different perspectives. While various theories and hypotheses are used in theory triangulation, in data source triangulation, different participant types such as individual, family, and group are studied. The purpose of triangulation in qualitative research is to obtain comparative perspectives as well as to ensure the reliability of the findings (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville et al., 2014).

¹³This study is the research included in Filiz Ertürk's doctoral thesis titled "A synthesis suggestion to understand place and the spirit of the place through street practice: Hermeneutic-phenomenological-semiological (HPS) framework approach" in Kocaeli University Architecture Department in 2019.

¹⁴This work is the research included in Hatice Kübra Söğütlü's master's thesis titled " Evaluation of changes in the historical city center of Konya through the sense of space concept" conducted in Konya Technical University, Department of Architecture in 2021.

¹⁵It is used to measure attitudes towards objects and events. The scale consists of statements that can be evaluated positively or negatively. Scales can have 2-9 degrees. Often 3, 5 or 7 grades are used. Participant items are rated, for example, in the range of "strongly agree" (or "very positive") to "strongly disagree" (or "very negative"). The total score is calculated from the sum of the grades specified for the items (Prof. Dr. Sirel Karakaş Psikoloji Sözlüğü, 2023).

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Aydemir, I. (2008). İki Fransız Mimarı Henri Prost ve August Perret'nin İstanbul ile İlgili Çalışmaları (Works of Two French Architects, Henri Prost and August Perret, on İstanbul). Megaron, 3/1, 104-111.
- Baljon, C. J. (1997). Interpreting Ruskin: The Argument of The Seven Lamps of Architecture and The Stones of Venice. The Journal of Aesthetics and Art Criticism, 55/4. 401-414. doi: https://doi.org/10.2307/430927

- Benzel, K. (1997). The Room In Context: Design Beyond Boundaries. New York: McGraw-Hill Professional.
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The Use of Triangulation in Qualitative Research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41/5. 545-547. doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (1990). Grounded Theory Research: Procedures, Canons, and Evaluative Criteria. Qualitative Sociology, 13/1. 3-21.
- Dinçer, İ., & Akın, O. (1994). Kültür ve Tabiat Varlıklarını Koruma Kapsamında Koruma Planı ve İdari Yapısı (Conservation Plan and Administrative Structure within the Scope of Conservation of Cultural and Natural Heritage). 2. Kentsel Koruma Yenileme ve Uygulama Kollokyumu (2nd Urban Conservation Renewal and Implementation Colloquium), (127-131). İstanbul.
- Edmund Husserl, ç. H. (2003). Fenomenoloji Üzerine Beş Ders (Five Lessons on Phenomenology) (H. Tepe, Trans.). Ankara: Bilim ve Sanat.
- Erder, C. (2020). Tarihi Çevre Algısı (Perception of Historical Environment). İstanbul: YEM Yayın.
- Ertürk, F. (2019). A synthesis suggestion to understand place and the spirit of the place through street practice: Hermeneutic-phenomenological-semiological (HPS) framework approach. (Unpublished doctoral thesis). Kocaeli University, Kocaeli.
- Ettore Franz Roesler Collection Official Website. (2022, 3 13). Retrieved from https://www.ettoreroeslerfranz. com/acquerelli/roma-sparita/
- Ginzarly, M., Roders, A. P., & Teller, J. (2018). Mapping historic urban landscape values through social media. Journal of Cultural Heritage, 36, 1-11. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2018.10.002
- Heidegger, M. (1971). Poetry, Language, Thought. Londra: Harper & Row.
- Holl, S., Pallasmaa, J., & Perez-Gomez, A. (1994). Questions of Perceptions Phenomenology of Architecture. Los Angeles: William K Stout Pub.
- Hussein, F., Stephens, J., & Tiwari, R. (2020). Cultural Memories and Sense of Place in Historic Urban Landscapes: The Case of Masrah Al Salam, the Demolished Theatre Context in Alexandria, Egypt. Land, 9(8)/264. 1-16 doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ land9080264
- ICOMOS (1964) International Charter For The Conservation and Restoration of Monuments And Sites (Venice Charter), Venice. (https://www.icomos.org/en/ participer/179-articles-en-francais/ressources/charters-and-standards/157-thevenice-charter) (Date of access 2022, March 15)
- ICOMOS (1987) Charter For The Conservation of Historic Towns and Urban Areas (Washington Charter), Washington DC. (https://www.icomos.org/images/

DOCUMENTS/Charters/towns_e.pdf) (Date of access 2022, March 10)

- ICOMOS (2003a) 14th ICOMOS General Assembly and International Symposium: 'Place, memory, meaning: preserving intangible values in monuments and sites, Zimbabwe (https://openarchive.icomos.org/view/ collection/scientific=5Fsymposium/2003,_14th. html) (Date of access 2022, March 10)
- ICOMOS (2003b) The Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage, Paris. (http://orcp. hustoj.com/2016/03/26/convention-for-the-safeguarding-of-the-intangible-cultural-heritage-2003/) (Date of access 2022, March 10)
- ICOMOS (2008a) Charter on the Perception and Presentation of Cultural Heritage Sites, Quebec (https:// www.icomos.org/images/DOCUMENTS/Charters/interpretation_e.pdf) (Date of access 2022, March15)
- ICOMOS (2008b) Quebec Declaration On The Preservation Of The Spirit Of Place, Quebec (https://whc. unesco.org/uploads/activities/documents/activity-646-2.pdf) (Date of access 2022, March15)
- Karakul, Ö. (2019). Kuram ve Uygulamada Tarihi Çevre Korumaya Bütüncül Bir Yaklaşım (A Holistic Approach to Historic Environment Conservation in Theory and Practice). Social Sciences Research Journal, 8/1, 61-78.
- Kültür ve Tabiat Varlıklarını Koruma Kanunu (Law on the Protection of Cultural and Natural Assets). (1983). Retrieved from https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/ mevzuatmetin/1.5.2863.pdf
- Lak, A., & Hakimian, P. (2019). Collective memory and urban regeneration in urban spaces: Reproducing memories in Baharestan Square, city of Tehran, Iran. City, Culture and Society, 18. 1-10. doi: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ccs.2019.100290
- Lesser, W. (2017). You Say to Brick: The Life of Louis Kahn. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- L'Orange, H. P. (1965). Art forms and Civic life in the Late Roman Empire. Princeton, N. J.: Princeton University Press.
- Lynch, K. (1960). The Image of the City. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Norberg-Schulz, C. (1963). Intentions in Architecture. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Norberg-Schulz, C. (1971). Existence Space and Architecture. Worthing: Littlehampton Book Services Ltd.
- Norberg-Schulz, C. (1979). Genius Loci: Towards a Phenomenology of Architecture. New York: Rizzoli.
- Norberg-Schulz, C. (2001). Yer Kavramı Bağlamında Eski Çevrelerde Yapılaşma (Building in Historical Environments in the Context of the Concept of Place). Mimarlık, 297. 42-43.
- Online Etymology Dictionary (2021, Ekim 11): Retrieved

from https://www.etymonline.com/word/locus

- Othman, S., Nishimura, Y., & Kubota, A. (2013). Memory Association in Place Making: A review. Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences, 554-563.
- Pack, R. A. (1968). Art Forms and Civic Life in the Late Roman Empire by H. P. L'Orange. The American Journal of Philology, 121-122.
- Pap, V. (2019). Researching The Spirit of Place. Mental Mapping On Sziget Festival. Corvinus Journal Of Sociology And Social Policy, 10/1, 113-131. doi: https://doi.org/10.14267/CJSSP.2019.1.6
- Presidency of Republic of Turkiye, Legislative Information System, 2023
- https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/mevzuatmetin/1.5.2863.pdf
- Prof. Dr. Sirel Karakaş Psikoloji Sözlüğü (2023). Available at https://www.psikolojisozlugu.com/searchapi1?search_api_views_fulltext=likert
- Relph, E. (2007). Spirit of Place and Sense of Place in Virtual Realities. Technè, 10/3, 17-25. doi: 10.5840/ techne20071039
- Ruskin, J. (1849). The Seven Lamps of Architecture. London: Smith, Elder and Co.
- Sartre, J. P. (1985). Varoluşçuluk (Existentialisme). İstanbul: Say Yayınları.
- Sharr, A. (2013). Mimarlar İçin Düşünürler 2 Mimarlar İçin Heidegger (Philosophers for Architects 2 -

Heidegger for Architects. İstanbul: YEM Yayınları.

- Söğütlü, H. K. (2023). Evaluation of changes in the historical city center of Konya through the sense of space concept. (Unpublished master thesis). Konya Technical University, Konya.
- Tuan, Y.-F. (1975). Place: An Experiential Perspective. Geographical Review, 65/2, 151-165. doi: https://doi. org/10.2307/213970
- Tunçer, M. (2009). Cumhuriyet'in "Mimari Mirası"nın Planlama Aracılığı ile Korunması: Ankara Örneği (Preservation of the "Architectural Heritage" of the Republic through Planning: The Case of Ankara). Cumhuriyet'in Mimari Mirası Sempozyumu (Architectural Heritage of the Republic Symposium). Ankara: TMMOB Mimarlar Odası (Chamber of Architects).
- UNESCO (2005) Convention on Diversity of Cultural Expressions, Paris (https://www.unesco.org/creativity/en/2005-convention) (Date of access 2022, March15)
- Wilken, R. (2013). The Critical Reception of Christian Norberg-Schulz's Writings on Heidegger and Place. Architectural Theory Review, 18/3, 340-355. doi: 10.1080/13264826.2013.875614
- Zumthor, P. (2006). Atmospheres. Basel: Birkhauser.



Article

Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.81594

"Context" knowledge in architecture: A systematic literature review

Rüya KURU YÜCEL^{*}⁽⁰⁾, Feride Pınar ARABACIOĞLU⁽⁰⁾

Department of Architecture, Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 16 June 2023 Revised: 26 July 2023 Accepted: 14 September 2023

Key words: Historical context; knowledge; physical context; socio-cultural context; urban context.

ABSTRACT

The goal of this research is to investigate the definition, development of techniques, and consequences of context, as well as to contribute to the growth of knowledge in the field of study. For this purpose, a full systematic literature review (SLR) was undertaken on the methods and approaches that have been used in the generation of architectural knowledge in recent years. The Google Scholar Web of Science and Scopus databases were searched for relevant studies as part of a directed SLR. The article describes the SLR methodology, which condensed the related studies to 79 publications using the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses reporting procedure. The chosen publications were examined quantitatively. The second step of the inquiry was a qualitative analysis of the data, which was based on the results of the quantitative analysis. It has been found that current research on the context of architecture has concentrated on new designs, infill designs, Islamic architecture, and mosque designs in a historical and urban context, as opposed to studies that have concentrated on vernacular and sustainable architecture. Along with the conclusions drawn about the research domains for context knowledge in architecture, it is clear that the studies focus on specific topics such as physical context, sociocultural context, local context, and place identity.

Cite this article as: Kuru Yücel R, Arabacıoğlu FP. "Context" knowledge in architecture: A systematic literature review. Megaron 2023;18(3):366–386.

INTRODUCTION

With the aid of science and philosophy, architectural knowledge has been produced in a variety of ways throughout the evolution of architectural thought. Knowledge of "context" has also played a significant role in the field of architectural knowledge. While designers use environmental data from the context to take decisions in the architectural design process, theorists have handled context knowledge by developing theoretical and methodological approaches. By undertaking a comprehensive analysis of how "context" information has been discussed in the literature recently and what its scope is, the goal of this study is to create a framework for the distinguishing aspects of the context.

MGARON

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: ruyakuru.2@gmail.com

This article based on unpublished Phd Dissertation entitled as Context in the Field of Architectural Knowledge by Rüya Kuru Yücel and continues under the supervision of Assoc. Prof. Dr. Feride Pinar Arabacioğlu at YTU, Department of Architecture.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

Vitruvius, who introduced the ideas of climate and direction, is credited with introducing the concept of context as knowledge. Due to modern architectural critique, it rose to prominence in the realm of architectural theory in the 1950s and 1960s. In the second part of the 20th century, the notion of "context" knowledge in architecture was developed and started to become a paradigm. The philosophy of the Enlightenment held that knowledge could only be created through abstraction, as the positivism of the 19th century had predicted. The decisiveness of abstract design knowledge has grown stronger in the 20th century with modernism, and it has influenced the methods that knowledge has produced in the field of architecture. While laws of relationships such as form and esthetics or composition and geometry determined abstract design knowledge throughout this time, subjects such as space, time, function, and place became the standards of design and knowledge. Modern architecture thinks that production cannot adapt to the features of the age because of its fixation with historicism, despite criticism of its aim to abstract architectural knowledge with particular standards, notably in form. In this way, context has evolved into an unavoidable element in contemporary design. Once more, the appearance of historical centers in CIAM between 1945 and 1951 demonstrates that modern design does not entirely disregard the context. In the same years, Robert Venturi's master's thesis, "Context in Architectural Composition," was defended at Princeton University. It included analyses of historical structures using Gestalt principles and revealed the idea that context gives an architectural structure meaning. Ernesto Rogers' emphasis on the value of the environment is also demonstrated as one of the modern and contextualist approaches of the time (Isenstadt, 2005). Meeting the scientific standards for design and information production has undergone a significant revolution because of the new, universal, functionalist ideology of modern architecture, which rejects the past and tradition. However, at this time, discursive knowledge was created with the help of individual and group manifestos, and normative knowledge was transformed into speculative knowledge (Tanyeli, 2004).

In the second part of the 20th century, structuralist approaches to architecture began to demonstrate the discovery of context as architectural knowledge. "The Image of the City" by Kevin Lynch, published in 1960, is the earliest indication of the structuralist approach. Another noteworthy research is Christopher Alexander's book "Pattern Language: Towns, Buildings, Construction" published in 1977. During this time, structuralism manifested itself in architecture through the use of techniques from disciplines such as languages, semiotics, anthropology, psychology, and sociology. The syntactic method was used to analyze the city's grammar, while the semantic method was utilized to analyze its meaning. During the same period as "The Image of the City," names like Rossi, Venturi, Rowe, Koetter, Leon, and Rob Krier developed novel ways to context awareness. The concept of context has been associated with the term "contextuality," which refers to a collection of techniques identified in Cornell's urban design graduate program, which began its studies in 1963 under the direction of Colin Rowe. In his book Collage City, which he co-authored with Fred Koetter and was released in 1978, Rowe later compiled his thoughts on contextual urban design. Contextualism became a vital idea in these years, and this method, which emphasized the connection between the entire city and architecture, was later broadened by adopting other perspectives in numerous studies. The first such studies that come to mind are those by Steven Peterson (1979), such as "Urban Design Tactics," "Space and Anti-Space," Colin Rowe's (1981) "The Present Urban Predicament," Thomas Schumacher's (1971) "Contextualism: Urban Ideals and Deformations," Stuart Cohen's (1974) "Physical Context/Cultural Context: Including it All," William Ellis's (1998) "Type and Context in Urbanism: Colin Rowe's Contextualism," and Steven Hurtt's (1983) "Conjectures on Urban Form."

Rossi, on the other hand, coined the term "locus" in his 1966 book Architecture of the City, which encompasses all history of architecture. Rossi used the idea of "locus" to analyze the typological and morphological traits of the city in a historical context (Rossi, 2006).

Alternatives to the traditional positivist strategies created by method and model thinking have emerged since the 1980s. Norberg-Schulz, Cooper Marcus, Dovey, Seoman, Mugerauer, Lerup, Moore, and Lyndon are just a few of the people who have recreated context knowledge using the phenomenological, hermeneutical, and post-structuralist schools of thought. Different viewpoints in the creation of contextual knowledge are illustrated by Norberg-Schulz's concept of "genius loci" for "place" (Norberg Schulz, 1980), Dovey's critique of the idea of authenticity (Dovey, 1995), Lerup's skewed perception of cities and metropolises (Zizek, 1999), and Moore and Lydon's descriptions of their experiences (Lydon, Moore, 1994).

Critical contextualist approaches have developed various perspectives on the concept of "place" in addition to challenging its meaning in context, such as Rossi's examination of the meaning through the concept of "locus" and Schulz's introduction of the concept of "genius loci,". This strategy, known as critical regionalism, was established by Alexander Tzonis and Liane Lefaivre, and supported by Kenneth Frampton's book "Towards a Critical Regionalism: Six Points for an Architecture of Resistance (1983)." By concentrating on issues like sustainability to local texture, place, and identity, it has evolved into an alternative in the production of context knowledge.

When the Second World War came to a close, the gaps

and destruction in the cities put the new building in historical environment phenomena at the forefront. The concept of contextual suitability has been used in the field of architecture to discuss the relationship between the old and the new. Historical context, or the information from historical buildings, has been an essential source of data for the design of new buildings in historical environments. Infill architecture, or the creation of modern buildings inside a historical environment, has been studied in the literature. Brolin's book "Architecture in Context," which was released in 1980 and contextually discusses the cohabitation of old and contemporary structures, is one of the earliest groundbreaking works on this subject (Brolin, 1980). The 1988 book "Contextual compatibility in architecture: a problem of personal taste?" by Linda Groat can be used as an illustration of how structuralist ideas were supported by environmental behavior research during this time. Her other publications on the subject include "Contextual compatibility: An issue of composition, not replication" (Groat, 1987), and "A study of the perception of contextual fit in architecture" (Groat, 1983), as well as "Measuring the fit of new to old: A checklist resulting from a study of contextualism" (Groat, 1983).

According to previous research on the application of context knowledge in architecture, context encompasses not only the geography and physical conditions of the present building site, but also the sociocultural, economic, legal, and historical conditions of the immediate environment. Consequently, the phenomena of architectural context have become an architectural ideology, as its content has evolved and transformed over time. The direction of future research endeavors can be determined by examining a general picture of the data in the multidimensional field of context knowledge during the past few years. An investigation into contextual architecture-related research methodologies was done to better understand the definition, development of technique, and effects of context.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY: A SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW (SLR)

In this study, the SLR approach was used to find, select, and analyze the research literature critically, as well as to generate fresh insights. It provided theoretical information and insight into contemporary trends relating to the research issue (Petticrew and Roberts, 2008). The systematic literature search was conducted according to the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) standards (Liberati et al., 2009) (Page et al., 2021). A SLR consisting of four phases was undertaken in accordance with these guidelines: (1) identifying the research topics, (2) describing the research strategy and criteria, (3) defining the data selection method, and (4) defining the data analysis techniques (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Systematic literature review method.

In the initial phase of the investigation, the keyword technique was used to scan databases and collect relevant articles (Saade et al., 2020). The search results were then filtered to exclude irrelevant studies. First, terms from fields other than architecture, urban design, and building were removed. Second, the papers were reviewed based on their titles and abstracts, and the most relevant ones were chosen. Finally, the remaining articles were full-text scanned and irrelevant ones were eliminated. The created sample of literature was then submitted to quantitative and qualitative assessments considering the study questions posed.

Defining the Research Questions

We conducted a comprehensive SLR to capture the evolving subjects and emerging concepts in the theory of contextual architecture over the past few years. The review of relevant literature tackles the following principal research questions:

RQ1. What is the scope of "context" knowledge in architecture?

RQ2. How did methodologies and implications of context in architecture evolve?

RQ3. What are the changing, developing, and remaining ideas associated with "context" knowledge in architecture

Defining the Research Strategy and Criteria

SLRs are a strategy for making sense of vast amounts of information by surveying all published literature that addresses a certain research subject. SLR performs a thorough search of selected literature based on meticulously chosen keyword strings (Saade et al., 2020). Simultaneously, SLR is a strategy for mapping unclear areas, identifying those with no or limited investigation among relevant studies (Petticrew and Roberts, 2008). Table 1 covers the principal search criteria for databases (according to the PRISMA checklist).

The data were collected by scanning the databases Web of Science, Scopus, and Google Scholar. Selected databases cover a vast array of research, including the most pertinent studies on the topic. Within the scope of the investigation, papers published between 2011 and the present were chosen. The purpose of this time frame is to evaluate how "context" information has evolved to be utilized in the 21st century. Finally, this analysis solely contains English language articles.

Utilizing the pioneering works in the literature, as stated in the study's introduction, the keyword strings were generated. Initially, the Google Scholar database was searched using the phrase "architecture and context," which is the subject's generic term. This initial search resulted in a number of 165 000 texts, which was questionable, as it included all research fields. Due to this ambiguity, the subject-related keyword strings "architecture and contextualism," "contextual architecture" were refined, and the number of results was decreased to 6,250. Later, a comparable technique was used to additional databases. Similar searches in the Web of Science database found 799 items. As a result of the Scopus database searches, 715 articles were discovered.

Defining the Data Selection Process

After conducting initial searches on the subject, the collected data were then further evaluated. As was mentioned in the previous section, basic searches were performed using the keyword method. The keywords of both abstracts and fulltext articles were chosen as "architecture" and "context," which are most relevant to the research topic.

In addition to these terms, the keywords "architecture and contextualism," "contextual architecture and architectural design" or "urban contextual architecture" were also included, with the assumption that they encompass the majority of the research topic's primary aspects. After the initial searches, recurring trends were observed in all three databases and the terms "socio-cultural context and architecture," "infill architecture and historical context," "contextual architecture and sustainability" and "vernacular architecture and context" were added to the keywords.

Figure 2 provides a summary of the data selection procedure (PRISMA) and the number of selected publications at the conclusion of each procedure. Following the initial searches, the number of results in Google Scholar was reduced to 324, in Web of Science to 141, and in Scopus to 171. Thus, a total



Figure 2. The data selection process (preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses).

Database	Google Scholar, Web of Science, Scopus
Search strategy	Keyword method
	(Using keyword string: "Context and architecture" or "contextual architecture and architectural design" or "contextualism and architecture" or "urban contextual architecture")
Eligibility criteria	1. Document type: Journal papers.
	2. Search language: Title, abstract, keywords, and full text only in English.
	3. Data range: 2011-present

Table 1. The research strategy and criteria

of 636 articles were collected. Later, 40 duplicate articles were deleted, leaving 596 items for further investigation. Before doing a deeper search, 409 papers with a tenuous relationship to the topic were deleted, reducing the number of abstracts to be studied to 199. Of the 199 publications whose abstracts were read, 74 were eliminated as irrelevant, and 125 were selected for full-text review. After evaluating 125 full-text papers, it was determined that 46 were of insufficient quality and were therefore eliminated from the study. Thus, 79 papers were considered to be necessary for a systematic literature evaluation.

Defining Data Analysis Methods

The chosen publications were analyzed using bibliometric analysis, a statistical and applied mathematical analysis technique (Broadus, 1987). In addition, network analysis, a major bibliometric tool, was employed to depict the intricate relationships between publications in this study (Soomro et al., 2022). Due to network analysis, the informationgathering process can be streamlined, and the relationship between articles can be clarified using networks and nodes (Soomro et al., 2022).

In the research, network analysis was conducted using the text-mining software Visualization of Similarities viewer (VOS viewer). VOS viewer is a software program used for displaying and navigating network-based maps. The VOS viewer can be used to build networks of scientific articles, scientific journals, researchers, research organizations, nations, keywords, and concepts. Simultaneously, VOS viewer displays three distinct maps: the network visualization, the overlay visualization, and the density visualization (Van Eck and Waltman, 2010). In this study, the literature sample produced by the bibliometric search was transferred to the VOS viewer for analysis, and keyword networks depicting the relationship between the articles in the area were built.

In the subsequent step of the research, qualitative analysis was undertaken based on the results of the quantitative (bibliometric) analysis-the network of keywords with clusters determined by their co-occurrence rate. While the quantitative study was done to assess how context information has been handled in architecture in past years, the qualitative study's objective was to classify the obtained data and analyze and organize the current research in greater depth.

RESEARCH FINDINGS

This section presents the findings of quantitative analysis and qualitative analysis organized in subsequent subheadings.

Quantitative Findings

Articles Publishing Trends

Figure 3 depicts the trend of the annual number of 79 articles selected from the papers published on the topic of context in architecture between 2011 and 2022, by year. As can be seen from the 79 selected publications, the number of available papers expanded substantially in 2015, 2016, 2017, 2020, and 2021. Although the number of publications on the subject reduces from time to time, it can be observed that a certain percentage of articles are ongoing and that there are not many significant differences. This demonstrates that the topic of context in architecture is constantly on the agenda.

While 2 articles published in 2011 constitute the least with %2.53 of the total number of articles, 12 papers published in 2016 and 2017 constitute the highest with %30.37 of the field.

Source Information

A sample of 79 papers published in 69 different publications constitutes the literature. The majority of the publications were published in architecture and buildings, architecture and urbanism, sustainability, Islamic architecture, arts and design studies, environmental sciences, social and behavioral sciences, design and culture, and arts journals. Due to the scope of the concept, there are no leading periodicals devoted to context in architecture (Table 2).



Figure 3. Number of filtered articles on contextual architecture per year.

Source Journals	Journals Number	SCR (2021)	IF (2021)
Environment-Behaviour Proceedings	1	Q1	7.500
Journal International Journal of Applied Engineering Research	1	NA	NA
Techne Journal of Technology for Architecture and Environment	1	Q3	0.239
Journal of Islamic Architecture	2	NA	NA
Spring Journal of Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences	1	NA	NA
Space Ontology International Journal	1	NA	NA
Arts	1	NA	NA
The Journal of Architecture	2	Q1	0.255
The Turkish Online Journal of Design, Art, and Communication: TOJDAC	1	NA	NA
The quarterly journal of philosophical investigations	1	NA	NA
Armanshahr architecture and urban development	1	NA	NA
International journal of architectural research	1	Q1	0.968
International research journal of advanced engineering and science	1	NA	NA
Arts and design studies	1	NA	NA
Prosiding persidangan antarabangsa kelestarian insan	1	NA	NA
European online journal of natural and social sciences	2	NA	NA
Geography and territorial spatial arrangement	1	NA	NA
Global journal of arts education	1	NA	NA
Journal of faculty of architecture	1	NA	NA
Periodicals of engineering and natural sciences	1	Q2	1.098
International journal of education and social	1	NA	NA
Sciences journal of environment and earth	1	NA	NA
Science journal of sustainable development	1	NA	NA
International Journal of Innovative Research and Advanced Studies (IJIRAS)	1	Q4	0.068
International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology (IJERT)	1	NA	NA
An International Journal for Engineering and Information Sciences	1	NA	NA
Skills in Architectural Education: A New Paradigm	1	NA	NA
International Journal of Architecture and Urban Development	1	NA	NA
Journal of Applied Environmental and Biological Sciences	1	NA	NA
Fabrications	1	NA	NA
Studies in Sociology of Science	1	NA	NA
Journal of the Institute of Conservation	1	Q1	0.7104
Journal of Aesthetics and Culture	1	Q2	0.214
International Journal of Parallel, Emergent, and Distributed Systems	1	Q3	1.340
Urban planning	1	Q2	1.606
Architectural theory review	1	Q3	0.100
Urbanism	1	Q2	0.842
The Journal of Architecture	1	Q1	0.255
Urban Analytics and City Science	1	Q1	4.043
Nexus Network Journal	1	Q1	0.457
Journal of Architecture and Urbanism	1	Q2	0.389

Tabl	e 2.	CONT.	

Source Journals	Journals Number	SCR (2021)	IF (2021)
European Urban and Regional Studies	1	Q1	4.729
Journal of Urbanism	1	Q1	2.000
International Journal of Architectural Computing	1	Q3	1.038
Journal of Architectural and Planning Research	1	Q3	0.364
ACE Architecture, City and Environment	1	Q1	0.696
Architectural Research Quarterly	2	Q3	0.074
Architectural Science Review	1	Q1	3.000
Journal of Urban Technology	1	Q1	6.327
Journal of Asian Architecture and Building Engineering	1	Q1	1.212
International Journal of Urban Sciences	1	Q2	2.956
Journal of Cultural Geography	1	Q1	0.968
Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences	1	NA	NA
International Journal of Sustainable Development and Planning	1	Q3	1.566
Civil Engineering and Architecture	1	Q2	1.364
Open House International	1	Q3	0.559
Buildings	1	Q1	3.598
A Z ITU Journal of Faculty of Architecture	3	Q1	0.338
Bagh-e Nazar	2	NA	NA
Procedia Engineering	1	NA	NA
Heliyon	1	Q1	3.918
World Applied Sciences Journal	1	NA	NA
Procedia Environmental Sciences	1	NA	NA
Frontiers of Architectural Research	2	Q1	2.562
Periodicals of Engineering and Natural Sciences	1	Q2	1.098
Journal of History Culture and Art Research	1	NA	NA
Design and Culture the Journal of the Design Studies Forum	1	Q1	1.000
Sustainability	1	Q1	4.166
Global Journal Al-Thagafah (GJAT)	1	Q2	0.101

A|Z ITU Journal of Faculty of Architecture (3 articles), Frontiers of Architectural Research (2 articles), Journal of Islamic Architecture (2 articles), The Journal of Architecture (2 articles), European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences (2 articles), Architectural Research Quarterly (2 articles), and Bagh-e Nazar (2 articles) have more contextrelated articles than the others, although the difference is not statistically significant (Table 2). Diverse concepts, such as infill design, sustainability, vernacular architecture, Islamic architecture, urban design, physical context, cultural context, social context, technology, as well as fields such as architectural design and theory, education, urban planning, environmental sciences, social and behavioral sciences, engineering, art, and philosophy, are presented in the publications. Based on the SCImago Journal Ranking (SJR) algorithm and high impact factors (IF), 29 percent of journals with analyzed literature samples have a Q1 score. 26% of the analyzed literature sample consists of journals with Q2, Q3, and Q4 scores according to the SJR system.

Co-Occurrence Network Mapping: Keyword Analysis and Clustering

Keyword co-occurrence analysis allows for keyword clustering, defines the direction of progress, and summarizes research in an academic field. There are two sorts of counting techniques for keyword analysis: Binary and full. The binary method was not favored in this study since it does not calculate the repetition of words in an article; it just indicates if a word exists or not. In contrast, in the full count approach, the location of each word is determined. To conduct a more exhaustive study, the full count approach was judged appropriate for this topic.

By analyzing the titles, keywords, and abstracts of every publication in the Web of Science and Scopus databases, repetitive keywords were identified. In contrast, they were chosen by scanning only the titles of Google Scholar databases due to a constraint in VOS Viewer. Word repetition is restricted to two or fewer instances to observe new research interests. Across all databases, 188 terms meet these criteria. Comparing the calculated occurrence values from three distinct datasets led to the selection of 33 common terms. Concurrently, keywords with identical meanings were grouped under a single keyword. Table 3 displays 33 selected terms with good connectivity.

Table 3. The occurrence and relevance of keywords in the analyzed literature sample

No	Cluster/theme	Keywords	No	Cluster/theme	Keywords
1	Infill Architecture	Infill architecture	5	Contemporary Architecture	Heritage
	and Design	Urban design		and New Design	Urban context
		Compatibility			Historical context
		Historic context			Modern architecture
		Contextual design			
		Contextualism			
2	Islamic architecture	Historic context	6	Architectural Design	Urban environment
	and design	Mosque design		and Urban Environment	Historical context
		Social context			Culture
		Urban context			Traditions
		Cultural environment			Architectural identity
		Islamic context			Place identity
		Climate			Meaning
		Contextualism			Conservation
					Technology
					Typology
					Shape grammar
					Neighborhood
3	Vernacular Architecture	Sustainability	7	Architectural design	Design approaches
		Climatic			Discourse
		Cultural context			Architectural theory
		Urban morphology			Modernism
		Vernacular architecture			Esthetic
		Space-syntax			Conceptual context
		Traditional houses			Museum image
		House typologies			Technology
4	Sustainable Architecture	Urban planning/design	8	Architectural Design and	Design education
		Contextualism		Education	Environmental context
		Socio-cultural context			Design concept
		Sustainable development			Architectural education
		Urbanism			Site analysis
		City			Socio-cultural aspects
		Well-Being			
		Politics			

Co-occurrence network mappings produced by VOS viewer for three distinct databases depict keywords with distinct hues and groupings (Figures 4-6). Due to

these discrepancies, clusters and themes were selected by evaluating the study as a whole, and colors were disregarded to minimize confusion. Therefore, VOS



Figure 4. Co-occurrence network mapping for web of science database.







Figure 6. Co-occurrence network mapping for Google scholar database.

viewer has served as a source of early data for the study's themes.

Qualitative Findings

Creating Theme

Cluster 1/Theme 1: Infill Architecture and Design

The first cluster's focus is on infill architecture and design. The majority of the works on this subject concentrate on new architecture as an infill in a historical setting. According to studies (Sotoudeh, 2012; Parvizi, 2020; Stamps, 2011), and (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013), understanding the contextual preferences of experts and residents/users regarding the issue of compatibility for new infill design in a historical context can help formulate the frameworks toward establishing the design guidelines for architectural intervention in such urban historical environments (Sotoudeh, 2013). On the other hand, some studies have shown that evaluating the design's suitability in an urban historical context using contrasting methods (Demiri, 2013) and establishing a model method (Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2019; Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2021), can offer useful knowledge in identifying the place identity and the effects of meanings on users' perceptions. The findings of the research might provide designers new views because it is up to the architect's point of view on how he approaches the historical material as a source of meaning and inspiration.

Cluster 2/Theme 2: Islamic Architecture and Design

The second cluster focuses on Islamic architecture in connection with the structural and societal elements of mosque design. Based on several design techniques, the findings of the studies in this cluster show that an inclusive mosque architecture may be improved (Samsudin et al., 2021; Kanesh et al., 2017; Rasdi, 2017; Saiful Hasan and Mahbuba Afroz, 2013). Iranian Islamic art can be seen in a comparison of the geometric motifs used in two separate mosques (Karim et al., 2020). The other research on Islamic architecture assesses mosques in relation to climatic variations and traditional Islamic homes as an example of sustainable architecture (Tabarsa and Naseri, 2017; Attia, 2021).

Cluster 3/Theme 3: Vernacular Architecture

The third cluster's focus is the context-specific vernacular architecture. Studies have shown that vernacular architecture is created based on the climatic context of the area and takes into account a variety of factors, including building types, urban texture, the types of materials used, their colors, and the way that building details are designed, as well as sustainable design principles (Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2014; Mehrabi, 2016; Afsari and Yousefi, 2020). These studies focus on traditional residential architecture. According to the results, considering climatic conditions in the design process of houses can provide a basic understanding of the design of native homes, as well as the use of patterns of the functional spaces of native homes in the design of contemporary architecture. Alternatively, several studies in this cluster concentrate on cultural aspects (Asif et al., 2018; Oranratmanee, 2020; Costa and Rosado, 2021).

Cluster 4/Theme 4: Sustainable Architecture

The fourth cluster's topic of sustainable architecture and the third cluster's topic of vernacular architecture share comparable keywords in terms of sociocultural context. Sustainable development in the built environment, often known as sustainable architecture, is guided by three fundamental concepts: Ecological, socio-cultural, and economic. A number of studies have demonstrated the importance of social sustainability for sustainable urban development in the fields of architectural design and urban planning (Bahrami, 2016; Peters, 2016; Andersen and Røe, 2017; Filep and Thompson-Fawcett, 2020; Aurigi and Odendaal, 2021; Zoranić, 2021). The results of the other two studies indicate that culture demonstrates change and sustainability as a result of the differentiation of the aspects that make up the culture; and architecture, which reflects the culture (Memmott and Keys, 2015; Ertaş and Taş, 2017). In contrast, the important literature focuses on the interaction between contextual design standards and sustainability principles (Farmer, 2013; Lee and Lee, 2014; Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Bahrami, 2016; Saradj, 2016; Ghahremani et al., 2017; Filep and Thompson-Fawcett, 2020; Shahbazi, 2016; Malek and Grierson, 2016).

Cluster 5/ Theme 5: Contemporary Architecture and New Design

In terms of new design in a historical context, there is a substantial overlap between the works in this and the preceding cluster. The works in this cluster examine the interaction between new construction in an old context with an emphasis on the value recognition of contemporary buildings (Franco, 2016; Cetin, 2017; Mısırlısoy, 2017; Jagxhiu, 2020; Zoranić, 2021; Rıza and Doraltı, 2015; Choi and Park, 2021).

Cluster 6/ Theme 6: Architectural Design and Urban Environment

The sixth cluster contains the greatest number of keywords. Based on the frequency of occurrence and link strength, the most prevalent words in this cluster are "place identity," "shape grammar," "meaning," "urban environment," "neighborhood," "culture," "Historical context," "technology," "typology," and "conservation," indicating the presence of multiple topics. The majority of authors in this

cluster focus their research on "culture continuity," "place identification," and also "architectural identity" in diverse urban environments, such as scale of building, scale of street, scale of historical axes, or scale of neighborhood, in different cities (Salama, 2014; Lambe and Dongre, 2016; Abedi and Iravani, 2015; Abuorf and Wafi, 2020; Skaboni and Pourjafar, 2017; Rahimi et al., 2021). On the other hand, the two studies, unlike the other studies that address contextual design in urban environments using a shape grammar approach to evaluate conventional architectural style, have concluded that the contextual design approach greatly influences a designer's decision-making process (Lambe and Dongre, 2019; AlFadalat and Al-Azhari, 2022). The one study contends that if the original context is lost, the situation can be remedied by gathering, compiling, and making available all existing information about the place, and the research seeks to preserve tangible cultural heritage (Tamborrino and Wendrich, 2017). One study examined typology in the context of three distinct initiatives (Moneo, 2015).

Cluster 7/ Theme 7: Architectural Design

The majority of authors in this cluster focus their research on architectural theory and design methodologies. Some studies concentrate on the emergence and evolution of contextual theories and design methodologies (Komez Daglioglu, 2015; Zavoleas and Taylor, 2021; Saad, 2022; Miao, 2012; Naghavi and Mazaherian, 2019, Abrar, 2021; Saadlounia et al., 2021). On the other hand, some studies evaluate contextualism in relation to certain building types, such as hotels and museums (Jakobsen, 2012; Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2015; Ukabi, 2016; Tabarsa and Naseri, 2017). In one study, contextual design was discussed in the context of technology and science (Neumann, 2014). In the other two studies, the architectural designs of wellknown designers including Mies, Lumifoil, and Tschumi were used to study the context (Aitchison, 2012; Bieg and Odom, 2017).

Cluster 8/ Theme 8: Architectural Design and Education

The final cluster's focus is on architectural design and contextual design education. The majority of the studies in this cluster focus on the influence of the current surrounding context's traits and qualities on the educational design process for architecture. According to studies, some pupils are skilled at creating projects that blend in with their surroundings and demonstrate contextual fitting. However, several students struggled with adopting urban fabric (Molaee and Mahdavinejad, 2011; Dessouky, 2016; Tarboush and Gürdallı, 2022). One paper stands out from the rest because it offers instructions on how to perform contextual studio, including its elements and significance (Bhagyajit Raval et al., 2020).

Creating Category Based on Method

Case Studies

The majority of studies in this group use a qualitative case study technique that includes tools from environmental behavior studies such as observation, interviewing, surveys, and descriptive analysis (Stamps, 2011; Sotoudeh, 2012, 2013; Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013; Salama, 2014; Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Lambe and Dongre, 2016; Peters, 2016; Saradj, 2016; AboWardah, 2017; Kanesh et al., 2017; Kanesh et al., 2018; Filep and Thompson-Fawcett, 2020; Oranratmanee, 2020; Parvizi, 2020; Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2021; Kaboli et al., 2021; Samsudin et al., 2021; AlFadalat and Al-Azhari, 2022; Saad, 2022; Abedi and Iravani, 2015; Skaboni and Pourjafar, 2017; Rahimi et al., 2021; Choi and Park, 2021). In a different way, some case studies use a qualitative contentbased strategy for understanding data, as well as a descriptive analytical method and a systematic analysis approach (Lee and Lee, 2014; Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2014, 2015; Laurens and Salura, 2015; Rıza and Doraltı, 2015; Bahrami, 2016; Cetin, 2017; Bhagyajit Raval et al., 2020; Jagxhiu, 2020; Costa and Rosado, 2021; Gharehbaglou et al., 2019; Seyedeh Masoumeh Fotokian, 2022; Abuorf and Wafi, 2020; Afsari and Yousefi, 2020; Karrimi, et al., 2020). On the other hand, case studies analyze student projects in architectural design studios (Molaee and Mahdavinejad, 2011; Farmer, 2013; Dessouky, 2016; Tarboush and Gürdallı, 2022). Several case studies that analyze spatial change in the built environment employ the space syntax method and the shape grammar methodology (Ertaş and Taş, 2017; Asif et al., 2018; Lambe and Dongre, 2019). Further studies use a qualitative method to compare a series of case studies (Moneo, 2015; Ukabi, 2016; Mısırlısoy, 2017; Attia, 2021; Fabbri, 2022).

Theoretical Studies

This collection of research dealt with the issue theoretically. The scholars conducted their theoretical research using a historical, critical, and descriptive approach (Aitchison, 2012; Miao, 2012; Jakobsen, 2012; Demiri, 2013; Saiful Hasan and Mahbuba Afroz, 2013; Neumann, 2014; Komez Daglioglu, 2015; Memmott and Keys, 2015; Franco, 2016; Andersen and Røe, 2017; Bieg and Odom, 2017; Ghahremani et al., 2017; Rasdi, 2017; Tabarsa and Naseri, 2017; Tamborrino and Wendrich, 2017; Jon-Nwakalo, 2018; Naghavi and Mazaherian, 2019; Abrar, 2021; Aurigi and Odendaal, 2021; Zavoleas and Taylor, 2021; Zoranić, 2021; Saadlounia et al., 2021; Shahbazi, 2016). Several studies have been carried out to establish a model (Lejano and Kan, 2015; Mehrabi, 2016; Malek and Grierson, 2016; Mehan, 2017; Zoranić, 2021; Abuorf and Wafi, 2020).

Literature Review Summary

Table 4 provides a comprehensive summary of all papers included in this review. It maps each article according to the year of publication, clusters, and main method.
Table 4. Literature review summary

Year				Theme					M	ethod	Author
	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5	Cluster 6	Cluster 7	Cluster 8	Case study	Theoretica study	ો
2011								•	•		Molaee and Mahdavinejad, 2011
	•								•		Stamps, 2011
2012	•								•		Sotoudeh, 2012
							•			•	Aitchison, 2012
							•			•	Miao, 2012
							•			•	Jakobsen, 2012
2013	•									•	Demiri, 2013
	•								•		Sotoudeh, 2013
	•								•		Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013
		•								•	Saiful Hasan and Mahbuba Afroz, 2013
				•					•		Farmer, 2013
2014			•						•		Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2014
							•			•	Neumann, 2014
				•					•		Lee and Lee, 2014
						•			•		Salama, 2014
2015						•			•		Abedi and Iravani, 2015
						•			•	1	Aurens and Salura, 2015
							•			•	Komez Daglioglu, 2015
						•			•		Moneo, 2015
							•		•		Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2015
					•				•		Riza and Doratli, 2015
				•						•	Memmott and Keys, 2015
				•						•	Lejano and Kan, 2015
			•						•		Zhou and Zhang, 2015
2016					•					•	Franco, 2016
			•							•	Mehrabi, 2016
							•		•		Ukabi, 2016
						•			•		Lambe and Dongre, 2016

Year				Theme					M	ethod	Author
	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5	Cluster 6	Cluster 7	Cluster 8	Case study	Theoretica study	1
				•						•	Shahbazi, 2016
				•					•		Saradj, 2016
				•					•		Peters, 2016
				•					•		Bahrami, 2016
				•						•	Malek and Grierson, 2016
								•	•		Dessouky, 2016
2017								•	•		AboWardah, 2017
						•			•		Skaboni and Pourjafar, 2017
		•								•	Rasdi, 2017
				•						•	Ghahremani et al., 2017
						•				•	Tamborrino and Wendrich, 2017
							•			•	Bieg and Odom, 2017
				•						•	Andersen and Røe, 2017
					•				•		Mısırlısoy, 2017
				•					•		Ertaş and Taş, 2017
					•				•		Cetin, 2017
							•			•	Tabarsa and Naseri, 2017
		•							•		Kanesh et al., 2017
				•						•	Mehan, 2017
2018							•			•	Jon-Nwakalo, 2018
			•						•		Asif et al., 2018
		•							•		Kanesh et al., 2018
2019						•			•		Lambe and Dongre, 2019
							•			•	Naghavi and Mazaherian, 2019
	•								•		Gharebaglou et al., 2019
2020	_	•							•		Karimi, et al, 2020

Table 4. Literature review summary (cont.)

Table 4. Literature review summary (cont.)

Year				Theme					M	ethod	Author
	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5	Cluster 6	Cluster 7	Cluster 8	Case study	Theoretica study	1
						•			•		Abuorf and Wafi, 2020
			•						•		Afsari and Yousefi, 2020
								•	•		Bhagyajit Raval et al., 2020
						•			•		Kaboli et al., 2020
	•								•		Parvizi, 2020)
				•					•		Filep and Thompson- Fawcett, 2020
					•				•		Jagxhiu, 2020
			•						•		Oranratmanee, 2020
2021		•							•		Samsudin et al., 2021
						•				•	Saadlounia et al., 2021
						•			•		Rahimi et al., 2021
				•						•	Zoranić, 2021
						•				•	Abrar, 2021
							•			•	Zavoleas and Taylor, 2021
	•								•		Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2021
		•							•		Attia, 2021
					•				•		Choi and Park, 2021
			•						•		Costa and Rosado, 2021
					•					•	Zoranić, 2021
				•						•	Aurigi and Odendaal, 2021
2022		•							•		Seyedeh Masoumeh Fotokian, 2022
							•		•		Fabbri, 2022
								•	•		Tarboush and
											Gürdallı, 2022
						•			•		AlFadalat and Al-Azhari, 2022
							•		•		5aau, 2022

DISCUSSION

After evaluating the findings of the papers chosen for the SLR, it was determined that context knowledge could be explored under four major topics.

Historical and Urban Context

Studies on the topic of contextual design tend to focus on new design, contemporary design, and infill design in historical and urban contexts. According to these scholars, contextual design may be achieved in modern architecture by creating new designs that are respectful of and compatible with existing architecture (Zhou and Zhang, 2015) and the traditional principles and rules (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2012). In the studies done in the residential areas, it was believed that new neighborhoods should be established while maintaining the natural appearance of the neighborhoods and fusing them with the historical texture (Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Abedi and Iravani, 2015). To put it another way, it is critical to comprehend and preserve a place's spatial character (Zhou and Zhang, 2015), historical texture (Saradj, 2016), and regional features (Salama, 2014).

Architecture's context-awareness makes it simpler to establish a connection between the past and the present. In contemporary designs for the urban environment, architects have addressed the link between old and new structures through the concept of "compatibility" or "fitting," particularly in infill designs (Stamps, 2011; Sotoudeh, 2012; Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013; Saradj, 2016; Choi and Park, 2021). The majority of research has determined that the harmony between the old and the new is essential for urban continuity and that it should be avoided to replicate the past (Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Saradj, 2016). Similarly, research in the field of architectural design and education has examined the projects developed by students in the architectural design studio and focused on contextual compatibility. Some students are able to develop projects that are suitable for the surrounding environment and reflect the nature of contextual fitting, according to the research. However, some students failed the urban fabric fitting criteria (Molaee and Mahdavinejad, 2011; Dessouky, 2016; Tarboush and Gürdallı, 2022).

Studies conducted in historical environments have incorporated cultural heritage values as one of the significant factors (Franco, 2016; Mısırlısoy, 2017; Jagxhiu, 2020). Similarly, cultural heritage values have been included as one of the important issues in studies conducted in historical environments. The samples selected in the studies were critically evaluated according to the defined conservation principles (Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2021).

Physical, Social, and Cultural Context

Some of the studies in this group focused either on the physical context or the cultural context, while others

examined both settings simultaneously. Studies addressing contextual knowledge from a physical perspective have typically evaluated new buildings in terms of "visual quality" (Salama, 2014), "aesthetic quality," "aesthetic fitness" (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013), "visual compatibility," "visual diversity" (Stamps, 2011), "design quality" (Sotoudeh, 2012), and "design compatibility" (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013). Physical and cultural environments were analyzed using the space syntax method and shape grammar approach to analyze the spatial change in the built environment (Ertaş and Taş, 2017; Asif et al., 2018; Lambe and Dongre, 2019).

While vernacular architecture focuses mostly on the physical impact of the region's climatic conditions on the design (Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2014; Mehrabi, 2016; Afsari and Yousefi, 2020), other studies have emphasized the cultural context (Asif et al., 2018; Oranratmanee, 2020; Costa and Rosado, 2021). In addition, one study approached the cultural context through the concepts of "culture continuity" and "place identity" and underlined the need for designs that are consistent with historic locations (Abuorf and Wafi, 2020).

In a way of comparison, Islamic architecture has investigated the physical and social impacts of mosque design. (Kanesh et al., 2017; Rasdi, 2017; Samsudin et al., 2021). The findings of studies in Islamic architecture indicate that inclusive mosque architecture can be improved via the use of diverse design techniques (Saiful Hasan and Mahbuba Afroz, 2013; Samsudin et al., 2021). Islamic art in Iran was exemplified by a comparison of the geometric patterns of two mosques (Karim et al., 2020). Other research on Islamic architecture assesses mosques in relation to climatic variations (Tabarsa and Naseri, 2017), and traditional Islamic households as an example of sustainable architecture (Attia, 2021).

Several studies have shown that social sustainability is significant for sustainable urban development in the field of architectural design and urban planning (Bahrami, 2016; Peters, 2016; Andersen and Røe, 2017; Filep and Thompson-Fawcett, 2020; Aurigi and Odendaal, 2021; Zoranić, 2021). The other two studies have demonstrated that culture exhibits change and continuity due to the diversity of its constituent aspects and that one significant factor representing culture is architecture (Memmott and Keys, 2015; Ertaş and Taş, 2017). Important publications also emphasize how sustainability concepts relate to contextual design factors (Farmer, 2013; Lee and Lee, 2014; Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Bahrami, 2016; Saradj, 2016; Ghahremani et al., 2017; Filep and Thompson-Fawcett, 2020; Shahbazi, 2016; Malek and Grierson, 2016).

Local context, Place, Identity, and Meaning

A critical regionalist approach that focused on local texture, place, and identity was created by Alexander Tzonis and Liane Lefaivre and supported by Kenneth Frampton's book "Towards a Critical Regionalism: Six Points for an Architecture of Resistance (1983)." This approach eventually evolved into a vernacular architecture approach in contemporary studies. However, the subjects covered are still pertinent and do not significantly diverge from the groundbreaking investigations. In the subject of vernacular architecture, contextual designs put an emphasis on the geographical features and cultural traditions of the area and consider how the climate may affect them (Mehrabi, 2016; Ozorhon and Ozorhon, 2014; Afsari and Yousefi, 2020; Zoranić, 2021).

Recent research on identity, however, contends that contextualism is about conforming to "place identity" (Lambe and Dongre, 2019), "identity" (Demiri, 2013), "architectural identity" (Salama, 2014; Parvizi, 2020) "unique identity "of a place (Abuorf and Wafi, 2020) "sense of place" (Riza and Doratli, 2015) "collective memory," (Parvizi, 2020), "place attachment" (Rahimi et al., 2021). In terms of sense of place, contextualism emphasizes architectural spatial character, behavioral patterns, and image-making (Salama, 2014; Lambe and Dongre, 2016). In addition, a sense of place can be created by reproducing the natural, physical, and atmospheric characteristics of the region (Zhou and Zhang, 2015; Komez-Daglioglu, 2015) or the quality of place (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2012). Two of the studies concentrate on how users perceive infill design in a historical context (Sotoudeh and Abdullah, 2013; Gharehbaglou and Ardabilchi, 2021). They also discuss the replication and differentiation of new infill designs and come to the conclusion that users prefer harmonious but distinctive architectural styles.

CONCLUSION

It has been determined that current research on contextual knowledge in architecture focuses on new designs, infill designs, Islamic architecture, and mosque designs in historical and urban contexts, in contrast to studies focusing on local and sustainable architecture. The majority of theoretical studies, on the other hand, evaluated the discussions on the concept of context in architecture by placing them in the context of historical processes. Less research has been conducted in the fields of architectural design and education compared to other fields. Together with the conclusions drawn about the areas of research on contextual knowledge in architecture, it is clear that studies focus on specific topics such as physical context, sociocultural context, local context, and place identity On the other hand, the keywords of the topics focus on words such as infill architecture, historical context, compatibility, contextualism, socio-cultural context, physical context, identity, sustainability, and vernacular architecture (Figure 7).

The findings reveal ongoing diversity in the understanding of contextuality, with studies showing consensus and disagreement on the three issues identified. In discussions of place identity, studies show a consensus on linking contextuality to the preservation of local character and identity. In contrast, discussions on physical and cultural aspects show that there is considerable inconsistency in defining contextuality as physical or cultural, with limited consensus between them. Finally, discussions of traditional and contemporary architecture, where new designs are evaluated in historical and urban contexts, tend to associate contextuality with traditional and historical patterns rather than modern ones. Especially in "infill" designs, compatibility with the historic fabric was considered an important issue.

According to the studies, it has been revealed that field studies are important for obtaining contextual knowledge. On the other hand, it is evident that contextualism is treated similarly in studies that deal with the topic within a theoretical framework. All studies maintain their consistency after undergoing some current transformations in the light of pioneering studies. The approach in Linda Groat's research, used as an example of how constructivist ideas are supported by environmental behavior studies, is methodologically used in current "infill" design case studies. Similarly, Brolin's formal approach to adapting new designs to the historic environment remains relevant as a methodology in research on infill design and contemporary design.

Through various methodologies, the study offers new definitions of contextual knowledge, which is still essential in the field of architectural knowledge. As recent research suggests, there is a lack of a holistic approach to the use of contextual knowledge in architectural design. According to the study, contextuality should be redefined for new designs realized in urban and historical contexts and should not be considered only in the framework of old or new based on the concept of convenience. By redefining these two concepts, theorists and practitioners will be able to better understand how local characters and traditional or historical patterns interact with the environment in new designs.

This research has revealed the theoretical gaps for future design by identifying how "context" knowledge is used in existing studies in the field of architectural knowledge and what its scope is. Further research is needed to fill these theoretical gaps by exploring innovative approaches to the use of contextual knowledge in architectural design. At the same time, the multidimensional and complex nature of contextual knowledge places it in a special position within architectural knowledge. Therefore, a multidimensional assessment of the issues raised for the production of contextual knowledge, especially in architectural practice, is deemed necessary.



Figure 7. Scope of current research on context in architecture.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Abbaszadegan, M., Ghahremani, H., & Hashemi, N. (2017). A review of the contextual adaptability of three contemporary urban paradigms: New urbanism, urban village and urban renaissance. Armanshahr Architecture & Urban Development, 10(18), 71–82.
- Abdullah, W. M. Z. W. & Sotoudeh, H. (2013). Evaluation of fitness of design in urban historical context: From the perspectives of residents. Frontiers of Architectural Research, 2(1), 85–93. https://doi.

org/10.1016/j.foar.2012.10.007

- Abdullah, W. M. Z. W., & Sotoudeh, H. (2012). Affected Variables on Successful Infill Design in Urban Historic Context. Arts and Design Studies, 3(1), 7–11.
- Abdullah, W. M. Z. W., & Sotoudeh, H. (2013). Contextual preferences of experts and residents: Issue of replication and differentiation for new infill design in urban historical context. World Applied Sciences Journal, 21(9), 1276–1282.
- Abedi, S. & Iravani, H. (2015). Analysis of the contextual architecture and its effect on the structure of the residential places in dardasht neighborhood of Isfahan. Civil Engineering, 4(3), 158–168.
- AboWardah, D. E. S. (2017). Addressing the urban contextual envelope: An analytical study in architectural design studio. International Journal of Applied Engineering Research, 12(18), 743–751.
- Abrar, N. (2021). Contextuality and Design Approaches in Architecture. International Journal of Education, 2(11), 7043–7051.
- Abuorf, H. & Wafi, S. (2020). A continuity of the past in contemporary architecture: Investigating a cultural continuity. International Research Journal of Advanced Engineering and Science, 5(1), 288–294.
- Afsari, M. & Yousefi, R. (2020). Investigating the effect of climate on warm and humid architecture: A review of the contextualism approach in native architecture of Bandar Abbas and Bushehr regions. International journal of engineering research, 9(12), 31–36.
- Aitchison, M. (2012). Finding the context in Mies. Fabrications, 22(2), 186–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/1033 1867.2012.734434
- Akl, E. A., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hoffmann, T. C., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., McGuinness, L. A., McKenzie, J. E., Moher, D., Mulrow, C. D., Page, M. J., . . Whiting, P. (2021) The PRISMA 2020 Statement: An Updated Guideline for Reporting Systematic Reviews. BMJ, 372(n71), 1–7.
- Al-Darah, H., Jean L. M., Kanesh, K., & Rasdi Mohd T. M. (2017). An evaluation of the Abu Bakar Mosque in Bangsar from the perspective of architectural contextualism and social inclusion. Journal of Islamic Architecture 6(2), 93–102.
- Al-Darahirst, H., Jean, L. M., Kanesh, K., Rasdi Mohd T. M., (2018). Contextualism of mosque architecture in the city: Case study of the Abu Bakar Mosque in Bangsar. Journal of Techno Social, 10(2), 1–10.
- AlFadalat, M. & Al-Azhari, W. (2022). An integrating contextual approach using architectural procedural modeling and augmented reality in residential buildings: The case of Amman City. Heliyon, 8(8), e10040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.

e10040

- Altman, D. G., Clarke, M., Devereaux, P. J., Ioannidis, J. P., Gøtzsche, P.C., Kleijnen, J., Mulrow, C., Liberati, A., Moher, D. & Tetzlaff, J. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol, 62(10):e1–34.
- Amor, B., Saade, M. R. M., & Yahia, A. (2020). How has lca been applied to 3d printing? A systematic literature review and recommendations for future studies. Journal of Cleaner Production, 244(11), 118803.
- Andersen, B. & Røe, P. G. (2017). The social context and politics of large-scale urban architecture: Investigating the design of barcode, Oslo. European Urban and Regional Studies, 24(3), 304–317. https://doi. org/10.1177/0969776416643751
- Ardabilchi, I., & Gharehbaglou, M. (2021). The impact of changes in environmental meanings on users' perceptions: A case study of infill architecture in the historic bazaar of Tabriz. ACE: Architecture, City and Environment, 16(47), 9638. https://doi.org/10.5821/ ace.16.47.9638
- Ardabilchi, I., Ebrahimi, A. N., & Gharebaglou, M. (2019). Infill architecture: An interdisciplinary approach to the design of historic context case study: Mashruteh complex in the historic bazaar of Tabriz, İran. Bagh-e Nazar, 16(76), 65–78.
- Aref, M., Bahmani, P., Goodarzparvari, P., & Karimi, S. (2020). A comparative study of the geometric motifs of the Ateeq Mosque (Shiraz) and The Cordoba Mosque (Cordoba) with a contextual approach. Journal of Islamic Architecture, 6(2), 93–102.
- Attia, A. S. (2021). Traditional Islamic house (Ottoman house) architecture, in old Fatimid Cairo and Rosetta cities, Egypt - an example of sustainable architecture. International Journal of Sustainable Development and Planning, 16(8), 1509–1517. https://doi. org/10.18280/ijsdp.160812
- Aurigi, A. & Odendaal, N. (2021). From "Smart in the Box" to "Smart in the City": Rethinking the socially sustainable smart city in context. Journal of Urban Technology, 28(1–2), 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1080 /10630732.2019.1704203
- Azmal, S. B., Nangkula, U., Nayeem, A., & Sumarni, I. (2018). Reflection of cultural practices on syntactical values: An introduction to the application of space syntax to vernacular Malay architecture. Frontiers of Architectural Research, 7(4), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foar.2018.08.005
- Bahrami, A. (2016). Indigenous architecture as a context-oriented architecture, a look at indigenous architecture of Shushtar. Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences, 8(2), 380–297. https://doi.

org/10.4314/jfas.8vi2s.52

- Bieg, K. & Odom, C. (2017). Lumifoil and Tschumi: The generative content of context. International Journal of Parallel, Emergent and Distributed Systems, 32(1), 133–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/17445760.2 017.1390107
- Broadus, R. N. (1987). Toward a definition of "Bibliometrics". Scientometrics 12(6), 373-372.
- Brolin, B. (1980). Architecture in context. Van Nostrand Reinhold Book Company.
- Casakin, H., Georgiev, G. V. & Soomro, S. A. (2022). A systematic review on fablab environments and creativity: Implications for design. Buildings, 12(6), 804.
- Cetin, M. (2017). Filling an urban void as a "Public Interior" in Balıkesir; Contemporary intervention into historic context through interior space. A/Z ITU journal of Faculty of Architecture, 14(1), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.5505/itujfa.2017.19870
- Chianeh, R. H., Saadlounia, H., & Zarei, G. (2021). Philosophical and epistemological foundations of contextualism in postmodern urban design and architecture. Journal of Philosophical Investigations, 15(36), 328–343.
- Choi, J. & Park, S. (2021). Understanding the operation of contextual compatibility through the relationships among heritage intensity, context density, and regulation degree. Buildings 11(1), 25.
- Cohen, S. (1974) Physical context/cultural context: Including it all. Oppositions, 2(1), 1–40.
- Costa, M. R. & Rosado, A. C. (2021). Vernacular architecture in the south of Portugal: The history of Mértola's houses from a rural to an urban landscape. A/Z : ITU journal of Faculty of Architecture, 18(2), 413–428. https://doi.org/10.5505/itujfa.2021.21703
- Demiri, K. (2013). New architecture as infill in historical context. Architecture and Urban Planning, 7(1), 44–49.
- Dessouky, N. (2016) Architecture and urban education in Egypt: Producing designers that are ready to respond to the social and environmental circumstances of the Egyptian context. Procedia Environmental Sciences, 34(1), 401–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. proenv.2016.04.035
- Dodo, Y. A., Mazlan, I. M., Rabu, Z.M., & Samsudin, I. L. (2021). Architecture and contextualism in mosque design as a multi-faith and community friendly place. Environment-Behaviour Proceedings Journal, 6(18), 21–27. https://doi.org/10.21834/ebpj. v6i18.2972
- Dongre, A. R., & Lambe, N. R. (2019) A shape grammar approach to contextual design: A case study of the Pol houses of Ahmedabad, India. Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science, 46(5), 845–861. https://doi.

org/10.1177/2399808317734207

- Dongre, A., & Lambe, N. (2016). Contextualism: An approach to achieve architectural identity And Continuity. International Journal of Innovative Research and Advanced Studies 3(2), 33–42.
- Doraltı, N. & Rıza, M. (2015). The critical lacuna between new contextually juxtaposed and freestyle buildings in historic settings. Journal of Architectural and Planning Research, 32(3), 234–257.
- Dovey, K. (1995). Place/Power. Architectural Design, 65(3– 4), 36–41.
- Ellis, W. (1998). Type and context in urbanism: Colin Rowe's contextualism, oppositions reader: Selected readings from a journal for ideas and criticism in architecture, 1973-1984. Princeton Architectural Press.
- Ertaş, Ş. & Taş, A. (2017). The effect of change of place on frontage in the context of cultural sustainability. A/Z : ITU journal of Faculty of Architecture, 14(1), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.5505/itujfa.2017.09797
- Fabbri, R. (2022) The contextual linkage: Visual metaphors and analogies in recent Gulf museums' architecture. The Journal of Architecture, 27(2–3), 372–397. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602365.2021.2018479
- Farmer, G. (2013). Re-contextualising design: Three ways of practising sustainable architecture. Architectural Research Quarterly, 17(2), 106–119. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1359135513000468
- Filep, C. & Thompson-Fawcett, M. (2020). New urbanism and contextual relativity: Insights from Sweden. Urban Planning, 5(4), 404–416. https://doi. org/10.17645/up.v5i4.3514
- Fotokian S. M. (2022). The role of the context in the internal form of the roof of Akbari Mosque. Sprin Journal of Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences, 1(2), 98–107. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.6290661
- Frampton, K. (1983). Towards a critical regionalism: Six points for an architecture of resistance. The Anti-Aesthetic: Essays on Postmodern Culture, Bay Press.
- Franco, G. (2016). Contemporary architecture in historical contexts: For a system of values. TECHNE
 Journal of Technology for Architecture and Environment, 12, 182–189. https://doi.org/10.13128/ TECHNE-19351
- Groat, L. (1983). A study of the perception of contextual fit in architecture. Symposium organizer and presenter: Environmental Meaning: The Problem of Contextual Fit. Environmental Design Research Association Annual Conference, Lincoln, NE.
- Groat, L. (1983). Measuring the fit of new to old: A checklist resulting from a study of contextualism. Architecture: The AIA Journal, 72(11), 58–61.
- Groat, L. (1987). Contextual compatibility: an issue of com-

position, not replication. In: T. Beeby and A. Plattus (editors) Architecture and Urbanism: The Proceedings of the Association of Collegiate Schools of Architecture. Association of Collegiate Schools of Architecture.

- Gürdallı, H. & Tarboush, R. (2022). Context and concept in architectural design studio: Design studio IV. NEU Journal of Faculty of Architecture, 4(1), 51–72. https://doi.org/10.32955/neujfa202241527
- Hajarnis, M., Patel, C. & Raval, B. (2020). Significance of contextual imprints in shaping architecture: Settlement study of Dungrabhint, Lunawada, Gujarat. Skills in architectural education: A new paradigm (1st Ed.). Chetak Books. https://doi.org/10.13140/ RG.2.2.19982.38727
- Hurtt, S. (1983) Conjectures on urban form: The cornell urban design studio (1963-1982). The Cornell Journal of Architecture 2, 54–143.
- Isenstadt, S. (2005). Contested Contexts. Site Matters: Design Concepts, Histories, and Strategies. Routledge.
- Jagxhiu, B. (2020). New structure in the historical context case study: Contemporary shopping mall in the historic center of Prizren. Pollack Periodica, 15(1), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1556/606.2020.15.1.22
- Jakobsen, A. (2012). Experience in-between architecture and context: The New Acropolis Museum, Athens. Journal of Aesthetics & Culture, 4(1), 18158. https:// doi.org/10.3402/jac.v4i0.18158
- Jon-Nwakalo, C. C. (2018). Discourse on contextualism in architecture and design: The French hotels and the African paradigm. Journal of environment and earth science, 8, 8–22.
- Kaboli, A., Karimi, B., & Mahdinejad, J. D. (2021). The assessment of some contextual architecture factors with an approach to culture and identity in the state and public buildings of Pahlavi era (Case study: Oil Cinema, Oil Industry College and National Bank). International Journal of Architecture and Urban Development, 11(2), 21–30. https://doi.org/10.30495/ijaud.2021.17308
- Kan, W. S., & Lejano, R. P. (2015). Seeing urban regeneration through an institutional lens: Toward a new contextualism. International Journal of Urban Sciences, 19(3), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/1226 5934.2015.1043328
- Keys, C., & Memmott, P. (2015). Redefining architecture to accommodate cultural difference: Designing for cultural sustainability. Architectural Science Review, 58(4), 278–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/00038628.2 015.1032210

Koetter, F & Rowe, C. (1978). Collage City. The MIT Press.

Komez Daglioglu, E. (2015). The context debate: An archaeology. Architectural Theory Review, 20(2), 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/13264826.2016.1170058

- Laurens, J. & Salura, P. (2015). Contextual relationship of form and meaning in architectural inculturation. J Appl Environ Biol Sci, 5(12), 1–7.
- Lee, D. E., & Lee, M. J. (2014). Questioning beliefs surrounding urban sustainability: The need for a contextual urban model. Journal of Asian Architecture and Building Engineering, 13(1), 163–170. https://doi.org/10.3130/jaabe.13.163
- Lynch, K. (1960). The Image of the City (1st ed.). The MIT Press.
- Lyndon, D. & Moore, C. W. (1994). Chambers for a memory palace. The MIT Press.
- Mahbuba Afroz, J. & Saiful Hasan, T. (2013). The contextual issues in the Islamic architecture of Bengal mosques. Global Journal Al Thaqafah, 3(1), 41–49. https://doi. org/10.7187/GJAT322013.03.01
- Mahdavinejad, M., & Molaee, M. (2011). Architecture in context - inspiration of contextualism in architectural designing. Computer Science, 1(1), 21–34.
- Malek, S. & Grierson, D. (2016). A contextual framework for the development of a building sustainability assessment method for İran. Open House International, 41(2), 64–73.
- Mazaherian, H., &. Naghavi, P. (2019). Analysis of contemporary theories when encountering the context in architectural design. Bagh-e Nazar, 16(74):79–94.
- Mehan, A. (2017). An integrated model of achieving social sustainability in urban context through theory of affordance. Procedia Engineering, 198(1), 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.07.070
- Mehrabi, M. (2016). Consideration of climate impact on contextual architecture in arid regions. The Turkish Online Journal of Design, Art and Communication, 6(AGSE), 2011–2018. https://doi. org/10.7456/1060AGSE/079
- Miao, L. (2012). Exploration of architectural context from aesthetics view. Studies in Sociology of Science, 3(4), 75–79.
- Misirlisoy, D. (2017). New designs in historic context: Starchitecture vs architectural conservation principles. Civil Engineering and Architecture, 5(6), 207– 214. https://doi.org/10.13189/cea.2017.050602
- Moneo, R. (2015). Typology in the context of three projects: San Sebastian, Lacua, Aranjuez. The Journal of Architecture, 20(6), 1067–1087. https://doi.org/10.108 0/13602365.2015.1116347
- Naseri, Y. & Tabarsa, M. A. (2017). The role of contextualism in architectural design of museums. Journal of History Culture and Art Research, 6(1), 354–364. https://doi.org/10.7596/taksad.v6i1.747
- Neumann, O. (2014). Technology, context and science in architecture. International Journal of Architectural Computing, 12(2), 179–197. https://doi. org/10.1260/1475-472X.12.2.179

- Norberg-Schulz, C. (1980). Genius Loci: Towards a phenomenology of architecture. Rizzoli.
- Oranratmanee, R. (2020). Cultural geography of vernacular architecture in a cross-cultural context: Houses of the Dai ethnic minority in South China. Journal of Cultural Geography, 37(1), 67–87. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/08873631.2019.1658441
- Ozorhon, G. & Ozorhon, I. (2014). Learning from Mardin and Cumalıkızık: Turkish vernacular architecture in the context of sustainability. Arts, 3(1), 175–189. https://doi.org/10.3390/arts3010175
- Ozorhon, G., & Ozorhon, I. F. (2015). Investigation of the relationship between museums and cities in the context of image: Cases from İstanbul. Journal of Architecture and Urbanism, 39(3), 208–217. https://doi. org/10.3846/20297955.2015.1088418
- Parvizi, E. (2020). Collective memory as a measure to evaluate the infill architecture innovations in historic contexts (Case study: Historic context of İmamzadeh Yahya in Tehran. International Journal of Architectural Engineering & Urban Planning, 30(1), 66–75. https://doi.org/10.22068/ijaup.30.1.66
- Peters, T. (2016). Social sustainability in context: Rediscovering Ingrid Gehl's Bo-miljø. Architectural Research Quarterly, 20(4), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1359135516000488
- Peterson, S. (1979). Urban Design Tactics. Architectural Design, 49(3-4), 76-81.
- Petticrew, M. & Roberts, H. (2008) Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences: A Practical Guide; Blackwell Publishing.
- Pourjafar, M. R. & Skaboni, M. K. (2017). Organizing the cultural, historical axes of Qazvin City with contextualism approach (Case study: Street Peighambarieh). Space Ontology International Journal, 6(3), 1–16.
- Rahimi et al. (2021). Analyzing the impact of contextualism on place attachment in historical neighborhoods (Case study: Sorkhab and Davehchi - Tabriz). Geography and Territorial Spatial Arrangement, 11(40), 1–28.
- Rasdi, M.T.M. (2017). Contextualism in mosque architecture: Bridging the social and political divide. Journal of Islamic Architecture, 4(4), 181. https://doi. org/10.18860/jia.v4i4.4469
- Rossi, A. (2006). Şehrin Mimarisi. Kanat Yayın.
- Rowe, C. (1981). The present urban predicament. The Cornell Journal of Architecture, 1(1), 16–33.
- Saad, Q. (2022). Design in Iraq: Discourse and its contex-

tual transformation. Design and Culture, 14(1), 31–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/17547075.2021.2012006

- Salama, A. M. (2014). Interrogating the practice of image making in a budding context. International Journal of Architectural Research: ArchNet-IJAR, 8(3), 74– 94. https://doi.org/10.26687/archnet-ijar.v8i3.549
- Saradj, F. M. (2016). Compatible development solutions in the context of historical settings in İran, Urbanism Arhitectura Constructii, 7(4), 285–298.
- Schumacher, T. (1971). Contextualism: Urban Ideals + Deformations. Casabella, 359–360, 79–86.
- Shahbazi, S. (2016). Contextualism: A Strategy for Achieving Sustainable Architecture. European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences, 5(3), 306–314.
- Stamps, A. E. (2011). Parameters of contextual infill design: style, matching, diversity, distance, responses. Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability, 4(1), 7–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2011.559943
- Tamborrino, R., & Wendrich, W. (2017). Cultural heritage in context: The temples of Nubia, digital technologies and the future of conservation. Journal of the Institute of Conservation, 40(2), 168–182. https:// doi.org/10.1080/19455224.2017.1321562
- Tanyeli, U. (2004). Mimarlik, modernizm, modernite: Aykırı rotalar. Sanat Dünyamız, 92(1), 135–149.
- Taylor, M. & Zavoleas, Y. (2021). New relevancies between cultural context and spatial discourse: An evolution of patterns through methods, models and techniques. Nexus Network Journal, 23(1), 5–19. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00004-020-00545-6
- Ukabi, E. B. (2016). Harnessing the tension from context-duality in historic urban environment. Journal of Sustainable Development, 9(1), 77. https://doi. org/10.5539/jsd.v9n1p77
- Van Eck, N. J., & Waltman, L. (2014). Visualizing Bibliometric Networks. In Ding, Y., Rousseau, R., & Wolfram, D. (Eds.) Measuring Scholarly Impact. Springer International Publishing. Cham, Switzerland.
- Zhang, S. & Zhou, S. (2015). Contextualism and sustainability: A community renewal in old city of Beijing. Sustainability, 7(1), 747–766. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su7010747
- Zizek, S. (1999). Yamuk Bakmak (T. Birkan, Trans.) Metis.
- Zoranić, A. (2021). Contextual parameters of contemporary modernist house in the mediterranean. Periodicals of Engineering and Natural Sciences (PEN), 9(3), 122–131. https://doi.org/10.21533/pen.v9i3.1825



Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.88972

MMGARON

Article

An analysis of comparative studies on embodied carbon and embodied energy assessment of tall building structures

Beste FAKIOĞLU GEDİK *[®], Bekir Özer AY[®], Aysem Berrin ÇAKMAKLI[®]

Department of Architecture, Building Science Programme, Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 10 May 2023 Revised: 19 September 2023 Accepted: 19 September 2023

Key words: Embodied carbon; embodied energy; high-rise buildings; life cycle assessment; structural design; systematic literature review; tall building structures.

ABSTRACT

High-rise building construction can lead to a "carbon spike," which refers to excessive carbon emissions resulting from the massive use of structural materials during building production. Furthermore, the embodied carbon (EC) and embodied energy (EE) of buildings are gaining significance, considering the improvement in the operational energy performance of new buildings. Therefore, early design decisions regarding the structural system selection of tall buildings significantly affect the carbon footprint. Previous studies investigated the EC and EE of tall building structures using the life cycle assessment (LCA) approach. The effects of various design parameters on EC and EE are compared. Nevertheless, inconsistencies inherent to the LCA approach and variations in structural design methods used in these studies may lead to incompatibilities in the results. This study examines existing research on the EC and EE of tall building structures through a systematic literature review. The scope, materials, and methodologies employed in the literature are scrutinized to identify current gaps. Results from various scenarios are analyzed regarding specific design parameters, such as building height, structural material use, type of the structural system, and structural components, to identify patterns in reported EC and EE. To enhance the comparability of the findings, further research that adopts a consistent approach is required to explore the EC and EE of tall building structures.

Cite this article as: Fakioğlu Gedik B, Ay BÖ, Çakmaklı AB. An analysis of comparative studies on embodied carbon and embodied energy assessment of tall building structures. Megaron 2023;18(3):387–400.

INTRODUCTION

The urgent need to mitigate the impacts of climate change was most recently addressed at the UN COP26 conference, where countries made commitments to take immediate actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. According to the latest report published by the UN Environment, the International Energy Agency (IEA), and the Global Alliance for Buildings and Construction (GABC), 37% of total global energy-related carbon emissions belong to

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: bestefakioglu.metu@gmail.com

This article is the first phase of the continuing and unpublished PhD Dissertation entitled as A systematic approach for embodied carbon assessment of tall building structures by Beste Fakioğlu Gedik under the supervision of Bekir Özer Ay and Ayşem Berrin Çakmaklı at Middle East Technical University, Department of Architecture.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

the building sector in 2021 (United Nations Environment Programme, 2022). Thus, the construction industry has a substantial potential for mitigating carbon emissions as a major contributor to global emissions. A building is a complex product with a long life, leading to environmental impacts throughout its life. For a comprehensive and systematic environmental impact assessment of a building throughout its lifetime, the life cycle assessment (LCA) is one of the most recognized methodologies (Cabeza et al., 2021). LCA is a method employed to measure the environmental performance of materials, products, and buildings. According to the LCA method, a building's life comprises six main stages: raw material extraction, manufacturing, construction, operation and maintenance, demolition and disposal, reuse, and recycling (Crawford, 2011). In addition, the life cycle stages of buildings are identified in detail in EN 15978 (CEN, 2011) as product stage (A1-A3) including raw material extraction (A1), transportation (A2), and manufacturing (A3), construction stage (A4-A5), use stage (B1-B7), end of life stage (C1-C4), and benefits and loads beyond the system boundary (D). Life cycle methodology is developed within the ISO 14040 framework, and it includes four phases: goal and scope, life cycle inventory, life cycle impact assessment, and interpretation (International Organization for Standardization ISO, 2006). Life cycle inventory analysis (LCI) is one of the most significant processes that involves data compilation incorporating various LCI methods (such as process based, economic input-output, or hybrid), and measuring the inputs and outputs of a product over its entire lifespan.

According to the literature, embodied impacts play a substantial role in the global emissions originating from buildings (Cabeza et al., 2021). Embodied carbon (EC) refers to the cumulative carbon emissions from fuel and process-related sources, whereas embodied energy (EE) denotes the overall primary energy consumption resulting from both direct and indirect processes linked to a product or service within the ICE Database. EE accounts for all energy inputs, regardless of its source, such as renewables. Nevertheless, when quantifying EC, no greenhouse gases are produced through the use of renewable sources. Similarly, net carbon estimations may factor in carbon sequestration, which does not impact the EE of a building.

Although a building uses energy and produces carbon emissions throughout its life, scientific research mainly concentrates on operational energy use and, more recently, related carbon emissions (Röck et al., 2020). Nevertheless, Helal et al. (2018) emphasized that the designers should take action promptly to decrease carbon emissions in the short term, which generally corresponds to a 50-year working life of buildings. Instead, they should directly focus on mitigating carbon emissions starting from the building construction phase. In fact, there is a recent shift in the scientific community toward the embodied impacts of buildings and associated carbon emissions (Azari and Abbasabadi, 2018; Baek et al., 2013; Paya-Zaforteza et al., 2009; Sartori and Hestnes, 2007; Thormark, 2002).

Elnimeiri and Gupta (2008) emphasized the significance of tall building design since tall buildings consume vast resources, especially in the construction and operation stages. Over the last century, energy efficiency in the operational phase of tall buildings has become a prevalent issue owing to their typological evolution (Oldfield et al., 2009). As buildings progressively enhance their energy efficiency, the share of their embodied impacts increases (Gustavsson and Joelsson, 2010; Optis and Wild, 2010; Sartori and Hestnes, 2007). Besides, as the building height increases, the structural material use relatively increases due to the exponential growth of lateral loads. Therefore, the materials used in the structural elements of a building are the major contributors to the overall EC emissions (Moncaster et al., 2018). Due to higher wind sensitivity in tall buildings, the structural material use per unit floor area and the EC become relatively higher than in low-rises (Azari and Abbasabadi, 2018). Treloar et al. (2001) demonstrated that the EC per gross floor area (GFA) of high-rise buildings is almost 60% more than that of low-rise ones.

The number of studies on the LCA of low-rise buildings almost doubled that of high-rise ones (Bahramian and Yetilmezsoy, 2020). Azari and Abbasabadi (2018) also indicated the neglect in the current literature on the embodied impact assessment of tall buildings. Besides, there are incompatibilities in the methods of these studies, which is highlighted by (Trabucco et al., 2015; Bahramian and Yetilmezsoy, 2020; Helal et al., 2020). In this study, the comparative studies on the LCA of tall building structures are critically assessed in terms of their scope, materials and methods, and comparative building design parameters (i.e., building height, the type of the structural system, structural materials, and structural components). Despite the shared similarities in the results, the findings of these studies do not provide a comprehensive framework for the early design stage of a tall building. Helal et al. (2019) also emphasized the necessity of a comprehensive framework for the environmental impact assessment of tall building structural systems. Thus, a consistent approach is required to evaluate the effects of various design parameters for the embodied impact assessment of tall building structures. Table 1 illustrates the nomenclature employed in this paper.

METHODOLOGY

The main objective of this research is to scrutinize the comparative studies on the EC and EE of tall building structures via a systematic literature review. The review is conducted by searching in Web of Science and Scopus

Fable 1. Nomenc	lature used	in t	this	pa	bei
-----------------	-------------	------	------	----	-----

ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
ACI	American Concrete Institute
AIK	Architectural Institute of Korea
AISC	American Institute of Steel Construction
ASCE	American Society of Civil Engineers
AusLCI	Australian National Life Cycle Inventory Database
CLT	Cross laminated timber
DL	Dead load
EC	Embodied carbon
EE	Embodied energy
EGHG	Embodied greenhouse gas emissions
EL	Earthquake load
EPIC	Environmental Performance in Construction
GABC	Global Alliance for Buildings and Construction
GFA	Gross floor area
GWP	Global warming potential
HKBD	Hong Kong Building Department
HKEPD	Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
ICE	Inventory of Carbon and Energy
IEA	International Energy Agency
KEITI	Korea Environmental Industry & Technology Institute
LCA	Life cycle assessment
LCI	Life cycle inventory
LL	Live load
NFA	Net floor area
PV	Photovoltaic panel
RC	Reinforced concrete
SEI	Structural Engineering Institute
SRC	Steel reinforced columns
UN	United Nations
UNEP	United Nations Environmental Programme
WL	Wind load

databases using the following keyword combinations: ("embodied energy" or "embodied carbon") and ("tall buildings" or "high-rise buildings"). In total, twenty-two studies on the LCA of tall buildings are identified by excluding which are not relevant to the scope of this study. Six of them (Bohne et al., 2017; Drew et al., 2014; Helal et al., 2019; Oldfield, 2012; Trabucco, 2011; Zhao and Haojia, 2015) are conference proceedings, and one of them (Trabucco et al., 2015) is a research report. The rest of the studies (Cho et al., 2012; Choi et al., 2016; Fakıoğlu Gedik and Ay, 2023; Foraboschi et al., 2014; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Gan, Cheng et al., 2017; Helal et al., 2020; Hens et al., 2021; Kofoworola and Gheewala, 2009; Li et al., 2019; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019; Moussavi Nadoushani

and Akbarnezhad, 2015; Resch et al., 2016; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021; Treloar et al., 2001) are published in peer-reviewed scientific journals.

Firstly, the 22 studies on the LCA of tall buildings are evaluated in terms of their scope. Then, the findings of the seventeen comparative studies on the embodied impact assessment of tall building structures (Treloar et al., 2001; Cho et al., 2012; Drew et al., 2014; Foraboschi et al., 2014; Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad, 2015; Trabucco et al., 2015; Zhao and Haojia 2015; Choi et al., 2016; Bohne et al., 2017; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Helal et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019; Helal et al., 2020; Hens et al., 2021; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021; Fakioğlu Gedik & Ay, 2023) are examined according to their materials and methods and building design parameters. The methodology of the paper is demonstrated in Figure 1.

ANALYSIS OF THE FINDINGS REGARDING SCOPE, MATERIALS AND METHODS, AND BUILDING DESIGN PARAMETERS

In this section, the existing studies on the LCA of tall building structures are examined according to their scope, materials and methods, and building design parameters. The materials and methods of these studies are categorized based on their LCA and structural design approaches, whereas the building design parameters incorporate the relationships between the building height, structural material, structural system types, and structural components with respect to the EC and EE.

Scope

There are differences in the scope of the existing studies on the LCA of tall building structures. Most of the existing studies (17 comparative studies) focused on comparing specific building design parameters such as building height, structural materials, and structural components (Tables 1-3). For example, Oldfield (2012) and Kofoworola and Gheewala (2009) compared the share of buildings' operational and embodied energy and carbon, respectively. On the other hand, Trabucco (2011), Gan, Chan et al.



Figure 1. Flowchart of the methodology: the systematic review and the analysis of the selected studies.

(2017), and Helal et al. (2019) focused on the methods used for the LCA of tall building structures. Unlike the others, Resch et al. (2016) focused on the urban scale and investigated the environmental impacts of building height at an urban scale, considering the transportation and road infrastructure energy.

The seventeen comparative studies on the LCA of tall buildings are focused on EC, EE, or both. Trabucco (2011), Kofoworola and Gheewala (2009), Foraboschi et al. (2014), Resch et al. (2016), and Treloar et al. (2001) focused on only the EE of buildings. In contrast, Drew et al. (2014), Zhao and Haojia (2015), Choi et al. (2016), Gan, Cheng et al. (2017), Gan, Chan et al. (2017), Helal et al. (2019), Helal et al. (2020), and Hens et al. (2021) focused on only the EC. Cho et al. (2012), Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad (2015), Trabucco et al. (2015), Li et al. (2019), and Mavrokapnidis et al. (2019) examined both EC and EE of tall buildings.

The majority of the reference buildings used in the selected studies are existing buildings (Treloar et al., 2001; Trabucco et al., 2015; Zhao and Haojia, 2015; Oldfield 2012; Kofoworola and Gheewala, 2009; Cho et al., 2012; Drew et al., 2014; Foraboschi et al., 2014; Helal et al., 2019; Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad, 2015; Gan, Cheng et al., 2017; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019; Bohne et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2016). The rest of the eight studies used hypothetical building models. Another difference among the existing studies is the functional use of buildings. For example, four studies used residential building examples (Cho et al., 2012; Drew et al., 2014; Resch et al., 2016; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021), and in eight of these studies, buildings with office functions are used (Fakıoğlu Gedik and Ay, 2023; Helal et al., 2020; Kofoworola and Gheewala, 2009; Oldfield, 2012; Trabucco et al. 2015; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021; Treloar et al., 2001; Zhao and Haojia, 2015). The functional use of the buildings is not indicated in ten studies (Bohne et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2016; Foraboschi et al., 2014; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Gan, Cheng et al., 2017; Helal et al., 2019; Hens et al., 2021; Li et al., 2019; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019; Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad, 2015).

Materials and Methods

There are variations and inconsistencies between the LCA and structural design methods of the existing studies on EC and EE of tall building structures. Bahramian and Yetilmezsoy (2020) presented a detailed review of the LCA of high-rise buildings by introducing the differences in the life cycle inventory (LCI) compilation methods (either process-based, economic input–output, or hybrid). In addition, Helal et al. (2020) also identified five comparative studies on the existing literature on LCA of tall building structural systems and underlined the discrepancies and incompleteness in the approaches to both structural design and the LCA. The following sections present the disparities in LCA and structural design approaches.

LCA Methods

Many studies underlined the inconsistencies and variations in the literature related to EC calculation methods in buildings (Abd Rashid and Yusoff, 2015; Azari and Abbasabadi, 2018; Chau et al., 2012; Dixit et al., 2010, 2012; Shadram et al., 2016; Simonen et al., 2017). Some of the common reasons for the variation of EE calculations presented in these studies are the broad variation in system boundaries, using different LCI compilation methods (process-based LC, input-output LCA, or hybrid LCA), differences in the geographic location of a study, and variation in the data sources and low data quality. The inconsistencies inherent to the LCA method also exist in the studies on the embodied impact assessment of tall building structures as presented in Table 2. In fact, the system boundaries are not even indicated in some of the studies. Furthermore, there is no consensus on the functional units either, which can impede the comparability of the results (Table 2). According to Table 2, almost all studies except Cho et al. (2012) utilized databases rather than software tools for the embodied impact assessment. The UK-based Inventory of Carbon and Energy (ICE) database is the most frequently used database, followed by the Environmental Performance in Construction (EPIC) database from Australia.

Structural Design Methods

In this study, the structural design methods refer to the structural design loads, related specifications, and structural software tools used in the selected studies, as presented in Table 3. Treloar et al. (2001) investigated the existing buildings, so structural analysis was not performed. The structural design methods are not transparent in some studies (Drew et al., 2014; Trabucco et al., 2015; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021) since no detailed information is given regarding the structural design and analysis.

Depending on the geographic location, buildings taller than 30–40 storeys are more sensitive to wind-induced loads (Momtaz et al., 2017). All of the studies in Table 3 considered the effects of wind loads on the structural design except Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad (2015). However, the wind load can be insignificant since the maximum height of the alternative buildings is only 15 storeys. Unlike the wind loads, most of the studies in Table 3 neglected the effects of seismic loads (Cho et al., 2012; Foraboschi et al., 2014; Bohne et al., 2017; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Hens et al., 2021; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the structural models should be analyzed and checked considering all the load combinations described in the codes and specifications rather than the most demanding scenario.

Helal et al. (2020) investigated the effects of static wind, static earthquake, and dynamic earthquake on the carbon emissions of tall building structures. The research indicates Life-cycle stages

not indicated

not indicated

Functional unit	LCA databases and software tools	Geographic location
GJ/m ² (GFA)	based on Treloar (1997)	Australia
	(hybrid LCI)	
kgCO _{2eq} /m ² (GFA)	SBTool	Korea
Å	(process-based LCI)	
tCO ₂	ICE Database,	Chicago, USA
	Athena Institute	
	(process-based LCI)	
MJ/m ² (NRA)	ICE Database	Australia
	(process-based LCI)	

Table 2. medisistencies in the LOAT methods

Authors/year of the study

Treloar et al. (2001)

Cho et al. (2012)

Drew et al. (2014)	A1-A3	tCO ₂	ICE Database,	Chicago, USA
			Athena Institute	
			(process-based LCI)	
Foraboschi et al. (2014)	A1-A3	MJ/m ² (NRA)	ICE Database	Australia
			(process-based LCI)	
Moussavi Nadoushani and	l A1-A3, A4, A5	$kgCO_{2eg}/m^2$	ICE Database	Atlanta, USA
Akbarnezhad (2015)			(process-based LCI)	
Trabucco et al. (2015)	A1-D	tCO _{2eq}	EcoInvent, Wordsteel databases,	Chicago, USA
		1	BETIE and various US EPDs	
			(process-based LCI)	
Zhao and Haojia, (2015)	A1-A3	tCO ₂	ICE Database	China
			(process-based LCI)	
Choi et al. (2016)	not indicated	kgCO ₂ /m	KEITI 2016	Korea
		(m denotes the unit	(process-based LCI)	
		length of the column)		
Bohne et al. (2017)	A1-A3	$kgCO_{2eg}/m^2$	based on Kaspersen et al. (2016)	not indicated
		Å	(SimaPro, EPDs)	
Gan, Chan et al. (2017)	A1-A3, A4	$kgCO_{2eq}/m^2 GFA$	A1-A3: The formula proposed by Gan, Cheng et al. (2017) is used.	Hong Kong
			4: HKEPD 2008 (process-based)	
Helal et al. (2019)	not indicated	kgCO ₂ -e/m ² GFA	AusLCI - process data ABS –	South Korea
		kgCO ₂ -e per capita	input-output tables Australian	
			National Greenhouse Gas Inventory	
			(DEE 2015) - GHG emission data	
			(hybrid LCA)	
Li et al. (2019)	A1-A3 (the carbon in t atmosphere absorbed by trees included)	he tCO ₂	AusLCI, EPDs of Structurlam (from North America)	Australia

that the static linear analysis of seismic loads results in the overestimation of structural materials compared to that of dynamic linear analysis. Nevertheless, further investigation is required for buildings over 30 storeys to verify this statement. Another statement is that static wind and dynamic earthquake loads can result in up to a 22% increase in EC emissions per NFA for a 50-storey building. Thus, the variation in design loads can substantially impact the EC emissions of high-rise buildings.

Building Design Parameters

The main contributions of the comparative studies on the EE or EC of tall building structures are presented in Table 4.

In these studies, the parameters regarding building design, such as the building height, structural systems, structural materials, structural components, and structural loads, are investigated in terms of their effect on the EE or EC.

Building Height

The current literature evaluates a wide range of building heights regarding the EC and EE of tall building structures. As indicated in Figure 2, the number of studied buildings decreases as the building height increases, except for the buildings with 60-70-storey height. Only five buildings are studied that are taller than 120 storeys. Furthermore, there are only nine supertall buildings (+300m).

Table 3. Inconsistencies in the	e structural design methods		
Authors/year of the study	Structural software tool	Structural design loads	Related specifications on structural design
Treloar et al. (2001)	not indicated	not applicable	not applicable
Cho et al. (2012)	not indicated	DL: 3.8 kN/m², LL: 1.7 kN/m²,	not indicated (but the buildings
		WL: applied, EL: not applied	are assumed to be in Korea)
Drew et al. (2014)	Neither the structural method nor the	loads are indicated by stating that structural	engineers identify the dimensions of structural components.
Foraboschi et al. (2014)	not indicated	DL: 2.5 kN/m^2 , LL: 3 kN/m^2 ,	Eurocode 1
		Façade load: 4kN/m, WL: applied,	
		EL: not applied	
Moussavi Nadoushani	ETABS	DL: 2.1 kN/m² for composite and	AISC Seismic Provisions
and Akbarnezhad (2015)	2.8	${\rm kN/m^2}$ for concrete floors, LL: 1.7 ${\rm kN/m^2}$,	ASCE7-05, AISC360-10, ACI 318-08
	Su	per-imposed DL: 3.6 kN/m², EL: applied,	
		WL: not applied	
Trabucco et al. (2015)	Neither the structural method nor the	loads are indicated by stating that structural	engineers identify the dimensions of structural components.
Zhao and Haojia (2015)	not indicated	not indicated	not indicated
Choi et al. (2016)	not indicated	WL: applied but not indicated,	ACI 2008, AISC 201, AIK 2010
		EL: applied but not indicated	
Bohne et al. (2017)	not indicated	DL: not indicated, LL: 2.4 kN/m^2 ,	Norwegian engineering consultancy company
		WL: applied, EL: not applied	
Gan, Chan et al. (2017)	ETABS	DL: 4.55 kN/m², LL: 4 kN/m²,	The codes and standards for high-rise buildings
		Façade load: 8 kN/m, WL: applied,	in Hong Kong are used
		EL: not applied	(HKDB 2011, 2004a; HKDB, 2004b; HKBD 2013)
Helal et al. (2019)	not indicated	WL: applied but not indicated,	not indicated
		EL: applied but not indicated	
Li et al. (2019)	Space Gass 12.6	DL: applied but not indicated,	AS1170.0
		LL: applied but not indicated,	(Australian Standards)
		WL: applied (dynamic load),	AS3600-2009
		EL: applied (equivalent static analysis)	(RC standards)
Mavrokapnidis et al. (2019)	ETABS	DL: applied but not indicated,	
		LL: applied but not indicated,	
	Sup	er-imposed DL: applied but not indicated,	Eurocode 1
	ML	applied but not indicated, EL: not applied	

Table 3. Inconsistencies in the	e structural design methods (Cc	ont.)	
Authors/year of the study	Structural software tool	Structural design loads	Related specifications on structural design
Helal et al. (2020)	ETABS	LL: 2 kN/m^2 , Super-imposed DL: 1 kN/m^2 ,	Australian Standard AS1170.1:2002
		Facade loads: 3.5 kN/m, WL: applied,	Structural design actions
		EL: applied (both static and dynamic	
		linear analyses are performed)	
Hens et al. (2021)	Karamba3D in Grasshopper	Super-imposed DL: 2.06 kN/m²,	ASCE 7-10
	and Python code	Facade load: 0.57 kN/m^2 ,	
		LL: 3.83 kN/m², WL: 1.92 kN/m²,	
		EL: not applied	
Trabucco and Belmonte (2021)	Neither the structural method r	nor the loads are indicated by stating that structural ϵ	ingineers identify the dimensions of structural components.
Fakıoğlu Gedik and Ay (2023)	ETABS	DL: applied but not indicated	ASCE/SEI 7-16
		Super-imposed DL: 3.5 kN/m², LL: 2.4 kN/m², WL: applied,	
		EL: applied (equivalent static analysis)	

Considering the growing concerns about the environmental impact of tall buildings, determining the optimal building height regarding carbon emissions becomes a prevalent research question. Treloar et al. (2001), Drew et al. (2014), Foraboschi et al. (2014), Bohne et al. (2017), and Gan, Chan et al. (2017) investigated premium building height in terms of carbon savings. According to Bohne et al. (2017), the optimum building height is between 10 and 20 storeys for reinforced concrete (RC), steel, and timber structures in terms of mitigated EC. Yet, buildings over 21 storeys are not investigated in the study. Foraboschi et al. (2014) stated that there is an upward trend in the EE per NFA of tall buildings as the building height increases. In contrast, there is a convex trend in EC per GFA of tall buildings according to the study of Gan, Chan et al. (2017), demonstrating a premium for height in terms of EC for various structural systems ranging between 50 and 90 storeys. Drew et al. (2014) have a broad perspective and evaluated the carbon emissions of buildings based on their height on the urban scale. According to the research, 34 and 58-storey buildings perform best in terms of carbon saving where the land saved for electricity generation from PV panels is concerned. Resch et al. (2016) conducted a similar study focusing on the environmental impacts of high-rise developments in cities regarding EE and lifetime energy. The height of the buildings range between 3 and 60 storeys, and the unitary EC emissions of materials are obtained from previous literature. The results showed that the optimum building height is between 7 and 27 storeys, depending on the city's population and the building's lifetime. Thus, the optimum building height depends on the scope of the research, system boundaries, and various other parameters. There is no consensus in the existing literature on the optimum building height considering the embodied impacts.

Structural Material Use

Mainly four structural materials are examined in the existing literature regarding EE or EC: RC, steel, composite (steel and RC), and timber. Due to its relatively low carbon footprint, timber became a popular structural material for tall buildings as an alternative to RC and steel. Bohne et al. (2017) stated that the EE of timber structures is considerably lower than the RC and steel structures: the EE of a 20-storey timber building is approximately 25% that of the RC and the steel buildings, even if the net carbon storage of the timber is excluded. However, if carbon storage is included, negative emissions (approximately 600 kgCO2 per square meter of a building) can be gained from timber buildings. Li et al. (2019) investigated the embodied impacts of structural timber for a 43-storey building. The results are interestingly different from the study of Bohne et al. (2017); although the timber alternative has the lowest EC, the EE of the timber alternative is greater than the RC alternative.

Despite the increasing popularity of timber as a structural



Figure 2. Building models according to their height, structural system, and material.

material, RC and steel still dominate the building industry and scientific research. According to the literature review of Bahramian and Yetilmezsoy (2020) on EE of high-rise buildings, only 3 of the 28 studies investigated timber as a structural material. Many of the studies compared the effects of RC and steel structures in terms of EC or EE depending on the building height and the type of the structural system (Foraboschi et al., 2014; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019; Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad, 2015; Trabucco et al., 2015; Trabucco and Belmonte, 2021; Zhao and Haojia, 2015). According to these studies, RC buildings consume less EC and EE per GFA than steel buildings for various structural systems whose height ranges between 3 and 60 storeys. However, Trabucco et al. (2015) indicated that a composite diagrid building is better than RC alternatives in terms of global warming potential for a 120-storey building. More research is required for buildings ranging from 60 to 120 storeys to clarify the effects of RC and steel on EC.

The amount of recycled content, manufacturing technologies, and material strengths are critical parameters when comparing the EC and EE of RC and steel structures. Although RC structures are commonly accepted as less carbon-intensive when compared to steel structures, the amount of recycled content can change the results (Zhao and Haojia, 2015; Gan, Chan et al., 2017; Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019). For instance, according to Gan, Chan et al. (2017), a 60-storey steel building is less carbon-intensive than the RC alternative when the recycled content of steel

is <70% and 100% Portland cement is used. Similarly, Zhao and Haojia (2015) indicated that when the recycling rate of steel is above 70%, and 15% fly ash concrete is used, the 69-storey building with two outrigger levels becomes less carbon-intensive than the RC alternative. Although the system boundaries of both studies and data sources are different, as indicated in Table 2, there is a critical point in the recycled content percentage of steel where steel buildings produce less EC than RC alternatives, depending on the recycled content of concrete and building height.

The manufacturing processes of steel are an essential factor that has a substantial impact on both the quantity of recycled scrap and the associated EC emissions (IEA, 2007). For example, the amount of recycled steel scrap is limited to 30% for blast furnace-basic oxygen furnace, whereas steel containing 100% scrap can be produced with an electric arc furnace (Gan, Chan et al. 2017). Zhao and Haojia (2015) contributed that as the recycling content of steel increases, in addition to the developments of steel-making techniques, steel buildings with high recycled contents will be more common due to increasing economic and environmental advantages.

Using high-strength materials substantially reduces EC emissions of tall buildings (Choi et al. 2016; ASCE Carbon Task Group 2017). For example, Choi et al. (2016) proposed that choosing composite columns, namely the steel-reinforced concrete (SRC) columns rather than conventional RC columns, substantially decreases the

Table 4. The main findings c	f the existing studies
Authors/year of the study	Main contributions
Treloar et al. (2001)	The EE per unit GFA of 42 and 52-storey buildings is 60% more than the others.
Cho et al. (2012)	The least amount of EE and associated EC emissions per unit area belongs to chevron bracing, followed by X bracing, outriggered frame, and rigid frame system, respectively.
Drew et al. (2014)	34 and 58-storey buildings perform best in terms of carbon saving by using the land saved for electricity generation from PV panels.
Foraboschi et al. (2014)	1. Reinforced concrete (RC) frames consume less EE than steel frames.
	2. The majority of the EE almost always belongs to the floors compared to other structural components.
	3. The lowest EE is consumed by RC slabs and followed by lightweight floor systems and steel-concrete floors.
Moussavi Nadoushani and Akbarnezhad (2015)	When only the EC at A1-A3, A4, and A5 stages are considered, RC structures are less carbon-intensive; however, when life-cycle carbon emissions are considered, steel structures are less carbon-intensive.
Trabucco et al. (2015)	1. 60-storey RC buildings have the highest GWP and cradle-to-grave EE among the other 60-storey alternatives with no recycled content.
	2. 120-storey composite diagrid building has the lowest GWP and cradle-to-grave EE among the other 120-storey alternatives with no recycled content.
Zhao and Haojia (2015)	RC shear frame system has the least EC compared to outriggered frame systems because of the limited steel recycling rates in China.
Choi et al. (2016)	1. SRC columns are more advantageous in carbon emissions than RC columns.
	2. Increasing material strength and cross-sectional area of steel shape rather than concrete is a better strategy in a composite structure for reducing carbon emissions.
Bohne et al. (2017)	1. Timber structures have far less EE than steel and concrete, even the carbon capture is not included.
	2. Optimum building height is 10–20 storeys for each alternative.
Gan, Chan et al. (2017)	1. Among the 60-storey buildings with RC, composite, and steel structures, the RC alternative is less carbon-intensive (EC/GFA) when no recycling content is included. However, the EC of alternative models changes as the ratio of the recycled content of steel and RC increases.
	2. Optimal building height in terms of minimum EC ranges between 50 and 90 storeys for the compared structural systems.
Helal et al. (2019)	1. Triangular floor plan configuration has lower embodied greenhouse gas (EGHG) per GFA than the rectangular configuration.
	2. A new functional unit is introduced: EGHG per capita (person).
	3. Steel reinforcement constitutes most of the EGHGE despite its relatively smaller volume.
Li et al. (2019)	1. EE of CLT is much higher than concrete; thus, all timber alternatives (except the RC core) have the highest EE among the three alternatives.
	2. Unlike EE, EC of the all-timber alternative is the lowest (indeed has negative carbon emissions) among the others.
Mavrokapnidis et al. (2019)	The EC emissions of the five structural systems are sorted from lowest to highest as RC trussed tube, RC tube-in-tube, steel diagrid, steel trussed tube, and steel outriggered frame.
Helal et al. (2020)	The EGHGE of structural systems can be influenced by as much as 22% due to the structural design techniques and the magnitude of structural loads.
Hens et al. (2021)	The post-beam-panel system exhibits a greater EC compared to the post-and-platform system, and this gap widens as the building height increases.
Trabucco and Belmonte (2021)	RC alternatives are the best regarding EE, EC, and cost, whereas the steel alternatives have the highest EE, EC, and cost.
Fakıoğlu Gedik and Ay (2023)	Reducing the structural core increases the cumulative EC, whereas surrounding outriggers with belt trusses increases the structural efficiency, and less EC can be obtained compared to a relatively larger structural core.

EC of columns (43% EC reduction) for a 29-storey coreframe building. Tall building construction requires highperformance materials such as composite materials, highstrength concrete, and pre-stress tendons, which are not commonly required for conventional building design (Gan, Cheng et al. 2017). The EC factors of these highperformance materials differ from conventional structural materials, yet they are commonly overlooked in the current literature. Gan, Cheng et al. (2017) investigated the EC factors of commonly used structural materials in tall building design.

Gan, Cheng et al. (2017) investigated the share of EC (A1-A3 and A4 phases) produced by concrete (%35 fly ash), structural steel, and steel reinforcement (no recycled content in structural steel and rebar) in a 60-storey highrise building with outriggered frame system. The results show that although the mass of concrete, structural steel, and reinforcement are 82%, 12%, and 6%, the EC of those materials is 17%, 54%, and 27%, respectively. Thus, the EC of reinforcing bars is much greater than the concrete in contrast to its relatively small weight. Zhao and Haojia (2015) also analyzed the amount of EC produced by rebar, structural steel, and concrete for three different structural systems for a 69-storey building. The EC share of concrete, structural steel, and reinforcement in RC shear frame structural systems is approximately 52%, 12%, and 36%, respectively. On the other hand, in outriggered frame systems, their respective contributions are around 28%, 54%, and 18%. In the study by Gan, Cheng et al. (2017), the EC share of rebar in outriggered frame systems is higher than Zhao and Haojia (2015). Nevertheless, the variation can be clarified by the usage of recycled scrap (38%) in rebars and also the lower amount of recycled content (15% fly ash) in concrete by Zhao and Haojia (2015). Unlike the EC contribution of reinforcing bars, the EC share in structural steel is quite similar in both studies (Gan, Cheng et al., 2017; Zhao and Haojia, 2015) despite the differences in LCA data sources as indicated in Table 2.

Type of the Structural System

Diverse structural system categorizations for tall buildings are utilized in practical applications and within academic discourse (Ilgin et al., 2021). Günel and Ilgin (2014) proposed a rather comprehensive classification system and categorized the tall building structural systems as rigid frame systems, flat plate/slab systems, core systems, shear wall systems, shear-frame systems (shear trussed/braced frame and shear walled frame), mega column (mega frame, space truss) systems, mega core systems, outriggered frame systems, and tube systems. The selected studies also used different names to refer to tall building structural systems. To address this, the classification system proposed by Günel and Ilgin (2014) is used to define tall building structural systems in Table 3. Nevertheless, Treloar et al. (2001) Drew et al. (2014), and Choi et al. (2016) conducted their studies regardless of the type of the structural system, even if it directly affects the EC emissions.

According to the study by Mavrokapnidis et al. (2019), the EC emissions of a 192-meter building with outriggered frame system are greater than steel trussed tube, steel diagrid, RC tube-in-tube, and RC trussed tube. Similarly, Zhao and Haojia (2015), the RC shear frame system produces less EC than the outriggered frame system for a 69-storey building. Although lateral loads are critical for the structural design of tall buildings, they are not discussed in the research conducted by Zhao and Haojia (2015), as indicated in (Table 3). Furthermore, in contrast to Zhao and Haojia (2015), Gan, Chan et al. (2017) indicated that outriggered frame system is the best alternative to minimize EC emissions compared to a tube-in-tube and mega-frame system for a 60-storey height building. Nevertheless, for 80-storey and 100-storey buildings, the lowest EC emissions are produced by the mega-frame system (Gan, Chan et al., 2017).

Cho et al. (2012) indicated that the chevron-braced structural system's EE per unit area is lower than the X-braced one. Hens et al. (2021) investigated two different structural systems for tall timber buildings: the post-beampanel and post-and-platform systems. They concluded that the latter has lower EC than the prior for buildings with varying heights (40–140 meters). Through extensive research, Gan, Chan et al. (2017) demonstrated the optimum height for tall buildings regarding EC for various structural systems. Finally, Fakıoğlu Gedik and Ay (2023) investigated the effect of structural core on EC emissions of tall buildings. Although the cumulative carbon emissions increase by reduced core size, the EC per unit area can be decreased by increasing the structural efficiency.

Structural Components

Gan, Chan et al. (2017) categorized the structural system of a tall building as (i) the lateral load-resisting system composed of core walls, columns, and outriggers, (ii) the floor framing system composed of floor slabs and beams, and (iii) the foundation. According to the study, the EC share of the lateral load-resisting system of a 60-storey outriggered frame building is around 70-80% for the floor slabs, 16-25% for the beams, and 2-5% for the foundation. Zhao and Haojia (2015) also examined the amount of EC production according to the structural components for a 69-storey building with alternative structural systems (Table 3). The share of EC is roughly 25% for walls, 22% for columns, 37% for beams, 15% for slabs, and 1% for outriggers. Foraboschi et al. (2014) emphasized the significance of the floor type on the total EE of a tall building structure. They indicated that the EE of the floor slabs and beams ranges from 34.7% to 78%, depending on the floor type, materials, and building height.

According to the study of Mavrokapnidis et al. (2019), the

EC share of building components varies depending on the type of structural system. For instance, the EC share of the lateral load resisting system and the floor framing system are almost equal for RC tube in tube, RC braced tube, steel braced tube, and outriggered frame 64-storey building alternatives. In contrast, the EC share of the lateral load resisting system in the diagrid building is much higher than that of the floor framing system. Despite the variations in the existing studies on the EC or EE share of structural components, floor type is a significant component for the embodied impact assessment of tall buildings (Table 5). Furthermore, Gan, Chan et al. (2017) stated that as building height increases, the EC attributed to the columns and core walls experiences exponential growth, primarily due to the growing impact of wind loads.

DISCUSSION

The scope, materials, and methods of the current literature on EC and EE of tall buildings are investigated in this study. Then, studies comparing the embodied impacts of specific building parameters for tall building structures are analyzed regarding their LCA and structural design methods. Although some variations are inherent to the LCA method, system boundaries, and geographic locations are not indicated in some cases, as shown in Table 2. Another significant problem in the existing studies is the lack of transparency, variations, and uncertainties in the structural design methods, as indicated in Table 3. Furthermore, while some studies establish a lateral deflection limit, others do not provide a precise method for ensuring structural equivalency among different models.

Considering the numerical values in terms of building height, supertall buildings (+300m) are mostly overlooked in the existing literature (Figure 2). Moreover, despite the recent popularity of timber as a structural material compared to reinforced concrete, steel, and composite (RC and steel), there is a growing interest in the current literature for timber tall buildings (Bohne et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Hens et al., 2021). However, there is a lack of research dedicated to timber tall buildings surpassing 50 storeys, given the limited examples of such structures.

The majority of the structural systems of tall buildings defined by Günel and Ilgin (2014) are examined in the existing literature, except rarely used structural systems, specifically flat plate/slab systems, core systems, shear wall systems, mega core systems, and bundled tube systems. According to Ilgin et al., (2021), the most common structural system used in supertall buildings is the outriggered frame system, followed by tube systems. This observation aligns with the numerical data presented in Figure 2.

Current studies investigated the effects of various design parameters of tall building structures in EC and EE assessment. There is no consensus in the existing literature regarding the optimum building height for minimized EC and EE. In fact, there is a broad variation in the optimum building height, which ranges between 7 and 58 storeys. Gan, Chan et al. (2017) found that the optimum building height varies depending on the type of the structural system in a tall building. Thus, optimum building height can vary depending on the research scope.

The amount of recycled content is decisive in identifying less carbon-intensive materials. According to the existing literature, the EC and EE of RC structures are lower than the steel alternatives for buildings up to 60-storey, when all the structural materials are virgin. However, the steel alternatives become less carbon-intensive when the steel scrap is more than approximately 70% for a 60-storey building. Therefore, the recycled content in steel can significantly change the results. Steel can be more advantageous for supertall buildings (+300m) regardless of its recycled content. Trabucco et al. (2015) indicated that 120-storey steel diagrid buildings are less carbon-intensive than RC alternatives. Nevertheless, further investigation is required.

There is not a single deterministic result for the proportional EC or EE share of structural components of tall buildings. However, previous research has shown that the floor framing system contributes significantly to the overall EC or EE of a tall building structure. Moreover, as the building height increases, the EC or EE share of the lateral load-resisting system increases exponentially.

CONCLUSION

The construction of tall buildings leads to significant energy and carbon emissions due to the massive use of structural materials. Therefore, decisions in the early design phase of a tall building are critical for reducing energy use and carbon emissions. Recent studies investigated the effects

Table 5. EC and EE share of the structural components according to the existing studies

	Gan, Chan et al. 2017	Zhao and Haojia, 2015	Foraboschi et al., 2014	Mavrokapnidis et al., 2019
Lateral load resisting system	70-80% (EC)	48% (EC)	35-78% (EE)	50-63% (EC)
Floor framing system	16-25% (EC)	52%	-	37-50% (EC)
Foundation	2-5% (EC)	-	-	-

of various design parameters on the EC assessment of tall building structures. This study analyzed the scope, materials and methods, and findings of these comparative studies, considering the design parameters of tall building structures.

There is no consensus on the optimum height of tall buildings since the scope and the method of these studies vary. Only a few studies investigated the environmental impacts of tall buildings on a larger scale. Resch et al. (2016) highlighted that when considering the optimum building height in terms of carbon and energy, the lifespan of the building and the population of a city plays a significant role. Furthermore, Drew et al. (2014) claimed that carbon and energy can be saved by using PV panels to generate energy in high-rise development zones where the land is saved compared to low-rise development areas. The optimum building height depends on various factors. Instead of seeking a one-size-fits-all solution, future studies can establish standards for environmental impact assessment based on the level of details in categorized spatial scales to determine the optimum building height.

According to this study, the lack of uniformity and the uncertainties in the LCA and the structural design methodologies lead to an extensive variation in the results. To establish consistency among diverse design parameters of tall buildings in terms of their EC or EE, it is crucial to develop a uniform methodology to estimate their EC or EE. This would effectively eliminate the uncertainties, variations, and inconsistencies previously identified in the LCA and structural design methods. In future studies, a standardized procedure can be developed for running various scenarios based on categorizations to consistently evaluate the effects of various design parameters on the environmental impacts of tall buildings. By revealing the effects of various design parameters on tall building structures, a holistic framework can be generated to guide designers in the early design stage.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

Abd Rashid, A. F., & Yusoff, S. (2015). A review of life cycle assessment method for building industry. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 45, 244–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.01.043

- ASCE Carbon Task Group. (2017). Structural Materials and Global Climate: A Primer on Carbon Emissions for Structural Engineers (M. D. Webster, Ed.; 1st ed.). American Society of Civil Engineers. https://doi. org/10.1061/9780784414934
- Azari, R., & Abbasabadi, N. (2018). Embodied energy of buildings: A review of data, methods, challenges, and research trends. Energy and Buildings, 168, 225–235. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.03.003
- Baek, C., Park, S. H., Suzuki, M., & Lee, S. H. (2013). Life cycle carbon dioxide assessment tool for buildings in the schematic design phase. Energy and Buildings, 61, 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2013.01.025
- Bahramian, M., & Yetilmezsoy, K. (2020). Life cycle assessment of the building industry: An overview of two decades of research (1995–2018). Energy and Buildings, 219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2020.109917
- Bohne, R. A., Kaspersen, B., Skullestad, J. L., & Ytrehus, E. (2017). Embodied energy versus building height, the "premium" of building tall. World Sustainable Built Environment Conference 2017 Hong Kong.
- Cabeza, L. F., Boquera, L., Chàfer, M., & Vérez, D. (2021). Embodied energy and embodied carbon of structural building materials: Worldwide progress and barriers through literature map analysis. Energy and Buildings, 231, 110612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2020.110612
- CEN (2011). Sustainability of Construction Works—Assessment of Environmental Performance of Buildings—Calculation Method, EN 15978:2011
- Chau, C. K., Hui, W. K., Ng, W. Y., & Powell, G. (2012). Assessment of CO2 emissions reduction in high-rise concrete office buildings using different material use options. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 61, 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESCON-REC.2012.01.001
- Cho, Y. S., Kim, J. H., Hong, S. U., & Kim, Y. (2012). LCA application in the optimum design of high rise steel structures. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16(5), 3146–3153. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. RSER.2012.01.076
- Choi, S. W., Oh, B. K., Park, J. S., & Park, H. S. (2016). Sustainable design model to reduce environmental impact of building construction with composite structures. Journal of Cleaner Production, 137, 823–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2016.07.174
- Crawford, R. H. (2011). Life Cycle Assessment in the Built Environment (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Dixit, M. K., Fernández-Solís, J. L., Lavy, S., & Culp, C. H. (2010). Identification of parameters for embodied energy measurement: A literature review. Ener-

gy and Buildings, 42(8), 1238–1247. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2010.02.016

- Dixit, M. K., Fernández-Solís, J. L., Lavy, S., & Culp, C. H. (2012). Need for an embodied energy measurement protocol for buildings: A review paper. In Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews (Vol. 16, Issue 6, pp. 3730–3743). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2012.03.021
- Drew, C., Fanning, K., & Fernandez Nova, K. (2014). The environmental impact of tall vs. small: a comparative study. CTBUH 2014 Shangai Conference.
- Elnimeiri, M., & Gupta, P. (2008). Sustainable structure of tall buildings. Structural Design of Tall and Special Buildings, 17(5), 881–894. https://doi.org/10.1002/ tal.471
- Fakıoğlu Gedik, B., & Ay, B. Ö. (2023). The impact of service core reduction in supertall buildings: A study on structural design, embodied carbon, and leasable floor area. Architectural Science Review, 66(2), 144-153. https://doi.org/10.1080/00038628.2023.218227 1
- Foraboschi, P., Mercanzin, M., & Trabucco, D. (2014). Sustainable structural design of tall buildings based on embodied energy. Energy and Buildings, 68(Part A), 254–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2013.09.003
- Gan, V. J. L., Chan, C. M., Tse, K. T., Lo, I. M. C., & Cheng, J. C. P. (2017). A comparative analysis of embodied carbon in high-rise buildings regarding different design parameters. Journal of Cleaner Production, 161, 663–675. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. JCLEPRO.2017.05.156
- Gan, V. J. L., Cheng, J. C. P., Lo, I. M. C., & Chan, C. M. (2017). Developing a CO2-e accounting method for quantification and analysis of embodied carbon in high-rise buildings. Journal of Cleaner Production, 141, 825–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLE-PRO.2016.09.126
- Günel, M. H., & Ilgın, H. E. (2014). Tall buildings: Structural systems and aerodynamic form. Tall Buildings: Structural Systems and Aerodynamic Form. Taylor and Francis.
- Gustavsson, L., & Joelsson, A. (2010). Life cycle primary energy analysis of residential buildings. Energy and Buildings, 42(2), 210–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enbuild.2009.08.017
- Helal, J., Stephan, A., & Crawford, R. H. (2018). Beyond the "premium-for-height" framework for designing structural systems for tall buildings: considering embodied environmental flows.
- Helal, J., Stephan, A., & Crawford, R. H. (2019). Towards a design framework for the structural systems of tall buildings that considers embodied greenhouse gas emissions. Structures and Architecture: Bridg-

ing the Gap and Crossing Borders - Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Structures and Architecture, ICSA 2019, 881–888. https://doi. org/10.1201/9781315229126-105

- Helal, J., Stephan, A., & Crawford, R. H. (2020). The influence of structural design methods on the embodied greenhouse gas emissions of structural systems for tall buildings. Structures, 24, 650–665. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.istruc.2020.01.026
- Hens, I., Solnosky, R., & Brown, N. C. (2021). Design space exploration for comparing embodied carbon in tall timber structural systems. Energy and Buildings, 244, 110983. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EN-BUILD.2021.110983
- IEA. (2007). Tracking Industrial Energy Efficiency and CO2 Emissions. OECD. https://doi. org/10.1787/9789264030404-en
- Ilgin, H. E., Ay, B. Ö., & Günel, M. H. (2021). A study on main architectural and structural design considerations of contemporary supertall buildings. Architectural Science Review, 64(3), 212–224. https://doi. org/10.1080/00038628.2020.1753010
- International Organization for Standardization. (2006). ISO:14040, Environmental management–Life cycle assessment; Principles and framework.
- Kaspersen, B., Lohne, J., & Bohne, R. A. (2016). Exploring the CO2-impact for building height; A study on technical building installations. Energy Procedia, 96, 5-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2016.09.089
- Kofoworola, O. F., & Gheewala, S. H. (2009). Life cycle energy assessment of a typical office building in Thailand. Energy and Buildings, 41(10), 1076–1083. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENBUILD.2009.06.002
- Li, J., Rismanchi, B., & Ngo, T. (2019). Feasibility study to estimate the environmental benefits of utilising timber to construct high-rise buildings in Australia. Building and Environment, 147, 108–120. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.BUILDENV.2018.09.052
- Mavrokapnidis, D., Mitropoulou, C. C., & Lagaros, N. D. (2019). Environmental assessment of cost optimised structural systems in tall buildings. Journal of Building Engineering, 24, 100730. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jobe.2019.100730
- Momtaz, A. A., Abdollahian, M. A., & Farshidianfar, A. (2017). Study of wind-induced vibrations in tall buildings with tuned mass dampers taking into account vortices effects. International Journal of Advanced Structural Engineering, 9(4), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/S40091-017-0174-9
- Moncaster, A. M., Pomponi, F., Symons, K. E., & Guthrie, P. M. (2018). Why method matters: Temporal, spatial and physical variations in LCA and their impact on choice of structural system. Energy and Buildings, 173, 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.en-

build.2018.05.039

- Moussavi Nadoushani, Z. S., & Akbarnezhad, A. (2015). Effects of structural system on the life cycle carbon footprint of buildings. Energy and Buildings, 102, 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.05.044
- Oldfield, P. (2012). Embodied Carbon and High-Rise. CT-BUH 2012 9th World Congress, 614–622.
- Oldfield, P., Trabucco, D., & Wood, A. (2009). Five energy generations of tall buildings: An historical analysis of energy consumption in high-rise buildings. Journal of Architecture, 14(5), 591–613. https://doi. org/10.1080/13602360903119405
- Optis, M., and Wild, P. (2010). Inadequate documentation in published life cycle energy reports on buildings. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 15(7), 644–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-010-0203-4
- Paya-Zaforteza, I., Yepes, V., Hospitaler, A., & González-Vidosa, F. (2009). CO2-optimization of reinforced concrete frames by simulated annealing. Engineering Structures, 31(7), 1501–1508. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.engstruct.2009.02.034
- Resch, E., Bohne, R. A., Kvamsdal, T., & Lohne, J. (2016). Impact of urban density and building height on energy use in cities. Energy Procedia, 96, 800–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2016.09.142
- Röck, M., Saade, M. R. M., Balouktsi, M., Rasmussen, F. N., Birgisdottir, H., Frischknecht, R., Habert, G., Lützkendorf, T., & Passer, A. (2020). Embodied GHG emissions of buildings – The hidden challenge for effective climate change mitigation. Applied Energy, 258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.114107
- Sartori, I., & Hestnes, A. G. (2007). Energy use in the life cycle of conventional and low-energy buildings: A review article. Energy and Buildings, 39(3), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2006.07.001
- Shadram, F., Johansson, T. D., Lu, W., Schade, J., & Olofsson, T. (2016). An integrated BIM-based framework

for minimising embodied energy during building design. Energy and Buildings, 128, 592–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENBUILD.2016.07.007

- Simonen, K., Rodriguez, B. X., & Wolf, C. De. (2017). Benchmarking the embodied carbon of buildings. Technology|Architecture + Design, 1(2), 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/24751448.2017.1354623
- Thormark, C. (2002). A low energy building in a life cycle - Its embodied energy, energy need for operation and recycling potential. Building and Environment, 37(4), 429–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-1323(01)00033-6
- Trabucco, D. (2011). The LCA of tall buildings: A quick pre-design assessment tool. CTBUH 2011 Seoul Conference.
- Trabucco, D., & Belmonte, M. (2021). Tall buildings and life cycle approaches: A debate that must be started. CT-BUH Journal, 3, 44–49.
- Trabucco, D., Wood, A., Vassart, O., & Popa, N. (2015). A whole LCA of the sustainable aspects of structural systems in tall buildings. International Journal of High-Rise Buildings, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.21022/ ijhrb.2016.5.2.71
- Treloar, G. J. (1997). Extracting embodied energy paths from input-output tables: towards an inputoutput based hybrid energy analysis method. Economic Systems Research, 9(4), 375-91.
- Treloar, G. J., Fay, R., Ilozor, B., & Love, P. E. D. (2001). An analysis of the embodied energy of office buildings by height. Facilities, 19, 204–214. https://doi. org/10.1108/02632770110387797
- United Nations Environment Programme (2022). The emission gap report 2022: The closing window. https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2022.
- Zhao, X., & Haojia, M. A. (2015). Structural system embodied carbon analysis for super tall buildings. Procedia Engineering, 118, 215–222. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.proeng.2015.08.420



Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.40336

MMGARON

Article

Rethinking national parks as a key to regional development: Beyşehir Lake National Park

Özer KARAKAYACI^{1*}, Zuhal KARAKAYACI², Ahmet Tuğrul POLAT³, Kübra KARKIN¹

¹Department of Urban and Regional Planning, Faculty of Architecture and Design, Konya Technical University, Konya, Türkiye ²Department of Agricultural Economics, Faculty of Agriculture, Selçuk University, Konya, Türkiye ³Department of Landscape Architecture, Faculty of Architecture and Design, Selçuk University, Konya, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 04 May 2022 Revised: 09 June 2023 Accepted: 06 July 2023

Key words: Beyşehir; national park; protected areas; regional development.

ABSTRACT

National parks are defined by showing a unique structure with residential areas where bring various cultural and traditional aspects and sustain local handicrafts being loca-specific. National parks are not only protected due to their natural beauty and resources but also seen as a mechanism to stimulate different economic activities locally. Therefore, it has been necessary to define a multidimensional and layered actor system in the management of national parks. National parks, where are an economic landscape based on knowledge and innovation; being more efficient, more environmentally, and more competitive in terms of resource use; facilitate social and regional integration by encouraging a high employment rate within the framework of inclusive growth principles, are considered not only ecological factors, but also an important element of the planning system. This study aims to reveal the implications of how national parks can be an element of value in terms of regional development policies. Three main topics have been discussed on this subject: evaluations of the social, economic, and governance dimensions. In this study, In-depth interviews were conducted with visitors of the national park, local people, and various institutions for revealing the conflict areas, especially between local people and economic actors. As a result of the study, proposals have been developed to overcome the existing problems in front of the national parks to have an active role in terms of regional development policies.

Cite this article as: Karakayacı Ö, Karakayacı Z, Polat AT, Karkın K. Rethinking national parks as a key to regional development: Beyşehir Lake National Park. Megaron 2023;18(3):401–413.

INTRODUCTION

Due to technological developments to meet the needs of the increasing world population, the ecological balance is disrupted by the excessive and rapid use of natural resources as raw materials in the execution of economic activities. The deterioration in nature over time negatively affects public life and the utilization of natural resources by individuals. Considering the environmental quality or quality of the environment as a welfare-enhancing factor like other needs in developed and developing countries, it complies with the rational behavior criterion, which is one of the main

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: karakayaci@gmail.com

This study, being a part of a research project titled "Environmental Valuation of Beyşehir Lake National Park" prepared by Zuhal Karakayacı as coordinator, Ahmet Tuğrul Polat and Özer Karakayacı as researchers, and Kübra Karkın as scholar, was supported by the project number 218K315 within the scope of the TUBITAK 1002 project.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/). objectives of the economy. From this perspective, the rational use of natural resources has become a necessity to ensure a welfare-enhancing quality of the environment. In addition, it is pointing out that countries that process and utilize natural resources are more developed.

It is emphasized in many studies that natural resources should be included in national income accounting, which is a measure of the growth rate (Talay et al., 2010; Mendelsohn and Olmstead, 2009; Füzyova et al., 2009; Pirikiya et al., 2016). National parks, which comprise the issue of this study, can be expressed as one of the natural resource elements. Besides, national parks make significant contributions to the economy and providing social benefits, since national parks are defined by showing a unique structure with residential areas where bring various cultural and traditional aspects and sustain local handicrafts being local-specific (Maior et al., 2016). Hence, it can be said that national parks can provide a contribution to rising national income.

The main factor that led to the emergence of the national park concept was the need to protect natural, historical, and cultural values. First, on a trip to the Dakotas in 1832 by George Catlin, an American artist, raised concerns about the effects of the westwards spread of America on nature and the need to protect it through government policies. Catlin's idea resonated widely, and Yellowstone became the starting point for the perception of a protected space (Brockington, 2003). Thus, Yellowstone National Park was declared the world's first national park in the United States in 1872. In Europe, Sarek National Park was declared the first national park (Kılıç, 2018). In Turkey, "Yozgat Pinetum National Park" was declared a national park for the 1st time in 1958. Shah (1995) offers clues on the changing meaning of national parks within the framework of the new paradigm, emphasizing the need to develop a wide range of solutions for the protection of resources. It is stated that the exploitation of national parks due to excessive use will require institutional arrangements to compensate for their externality and are extremely important for sustainability.

In this study, the activities of national parks such as agriculture, food, forests, tourism, as well as the production and marketing of local products, being attractions for people's choice of a healthy and peaceful environment, providing fresh air and water and preventing flood risk have also been discussed as the subjects of regional planning. While the main emphasis has traditionally been on conservation, it has been focused on the shift of the paradigm on national parks. Within the framework of these disputations, it was aimed to reveal the role of Beyşehir Lake National Park (BLNP) in new regional development paradigms. BLNP, which is the study area, is located between the borders of Konya and Isparta provinces, in a transition area between the Central Anatolia Region and the Toros Mountains. The National Park includes a large part of Beyşehir Lake, Turkey's largest freshwater lake. There are 33 large and small islands in the lake. The presence of Byzantine monasteries on some islands gains importance in terms of faith tourism. BLNP is an extremely convenient environment for tourism with its nature landscapes and trekking, hiking, mountain biking, safari areas, picnic areas, and camping opportunities. In addition, 588 plant samples were collected within the borders of the National Park, 153 bird species were determined, and it is seen that it is quite rich in ecological terms. Discussing the important social, economic, and institutional problems of the national park, which has an important potential in terms of ecological and natural features in the region, constitutes the main starting point of the study. The paper, which evaluates protected areas within the frame of new discourses such as governance, participation, social networks, and learning, will contribute to planning approaches for sensitive areas such as national parks.

THE ROLE AND CHANGING MEANING OF NATIONAL PARKS

National parks are seen primarily as an ecological problem. This perspective ignores the relationship between both ecological and socioeconomic location, context, and connectivity. In particular, the existence of a social context that creates demands and expectations about ecosystem management, as well as administrators and policymakers, as well as people working and visiting protected areas, has brought policies beyond the protection of ecological structure to the agenda in recent years (Allen and Giampietro, 2014; Cumming and Allen, 2017). In recent years, scientific studies have increased the discussions on protected area discourse. Several other social impacts such as the problem of development of residential areas in protected areas, conflicts, limited access to natural resources, the collapse of cultural and social institutions, and local livelihoods have revealed this perspective. In addition, the emergence of protected areas as a means of achieving better protection and socio-economic results, which adopts an inclusive management approach, including joint management, local empowerment, and the provision of culture and livelihoods, has accelerated the process (Xu and Melick, 2007; Wang, 2019).

Therefore, the protection of the natural structure, approaching economic and social development with a holistic perspective and the triggering of the local economy are among the important issues discussed in terms of the development of the relations of national parks with their social and economic environment (Borrini et al., 2013; Getzner, 2010; Mose and Weixlbaumer, 2007; Phillips, 2003). In the process, the introduction of new spatial approaches regarding protected areas by emphasizing the legal framework of the regions and revealing the local development dynamics between the users and the inhabitants by diversifying the functions of protected areas has become a current issue (Dudley, 2008). These discussions have been forcing us to have a new and different perspective on national parks.

Determining the role of national parks in the local economy stands in the way of researchers as an overly sensitive and difficult issue. Although important studies have been carried out on this subject since the Brundtland Report in 1988, no clear methodological conceptualization has been presented. Discussions on the economic aspect of protected areas are addressed from three perspectives: the economic valuation of the protected natural environment, the effects of protected areas on the local economy, and the social aspects of national park management (Costanza et al., 1997; Povazan et al., 2014).

It is known that the understanding of conservation or the perspective regarding protected areas has undergone significant changes in the past 30 years. The International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) defines a protected area as "a land and/or marine area dedicated to the conservation and maintenance of biodiversity, natural and associated cultural resources, governed by legal or other effective means." (IUCN, 1994) In another definition; areas with protected status are described as "a geographically defined area designated or arranged to achieve specific conservation objectives" (Borrini et al., 2004). It can be said that the IUCN refers more directly to the economic and cultural aspects of conservation. In 1969, at the 10th General Assembly Meeting of the lUCN, a definition of the national park was accepted: "A national park is a fairly large area: (1) where one or several ecosystems have not undergone significant change by human activities; has a special scientific, educational and recreational value in terms of plant and animal species, geomorphological areas and habitats, or that the natural landscape is of superior beauty; (2) that the necessary measures have been taken by the highest expert decision-making body of the country as soon as possible to prevent or remove the operation or occupation of the whole area and to require a careful approach to the ecological, geomorphological or aesthetic features that distinguish it as a national park; and (3) places where visitors are allowed to enter under special conditions for inspirational, educational, cultural and recreational purposes" (Gülez, 1990).

In recent years the national parks have undergone a change as an important mechanism that supports domestic economic sustainability. This approach has intensified efforts to understand the impact of functional change between national parks and areas surrounding the park. In today's discussions, efforts to explore the social and economic aspects of national parks have been accentuated

by the conservation of nature and the development of tourism and the local economy (Getzner, 2010; Mose and Weixlbaumer, 2007; Phillips 2003). It, however, should not be forgotten that there is a delicate balance between tourism and the sustainability of the resource values of protected areas. The discussions are taking place on new spatial forms that will focus on improving the social functions of national parks and establishing positive relationships between the institutions/actors responsible for the national parks and local communities (Dudley, 2008; Phillips, 2003).

National parks, where are an economic landscape based on knowledge and innovation; being more efficient, environmentally, and competitive in terms of resource use; facilitates social and regional integration by encouraging a high employment rate within inclusive growth principles, are considered not only ecological factors but also an important element of the planning system. The changing meaning of national parks can be shaped by three main ideas: viewing from the upper scale, change in ecological perspective, and location-specific differences. Upper-scale approaches are evaluated as the density of networks and connections of national parks, integration of national parks into regional and national economy and politics, and their importance in terms of a national conservation strategy. From an ecological perspective, ecosystems are exposed to diverse influences, destructions, and an adaptive process strongly linked to local biological history and context. In terms of location-specific differences, working with local communities, NGOs and the private sector is an emphasis on place-specific differences based on the fair sharing of benefits arising from the creation of a governance structure, preservation of biodiversity, sustainable use and use of genetic resources and advantages among social actors.

Within the framework of the new paradigm, national parks have been defined as an element of the national and international system, beyond being an isolated area from their surroundings. This perspective has made national parks part of non-local relationship networks through various networks and links. National parks are not only protected due to their natural beauty and resources but also seen as a mechanism to stimulate different economic activities locally. Therefore, it is necessary to define a multidimensional and layered actor management system in the management, which was handled in a complex structure. While the national parks are considered as landscape area that provides sustainability of the local in line with the socio-economic and cultural goals, it started to be seen as a structure dominated by the understanding of being governed according to the decisions taken based on the consultations of different actors. In this framework, the shifts in the meaning imposed on national parks are summarized in Table 1.

Traditional understanding of protected areas	Emerging understanding of protected areas
They are considered isolated separate spatial units.	National parks have started to be considered as a part of national, regional, and international systems.
National parks have their own way of governing.	It has come to be seen as part of spatial relationships (protected areas associated with "corridors," "steppingstones" and biodiverse areas).
There is an understanding of decision-making against the specific situation instead of using past experiences in the management of national parks.	Long-term governance and decision-making mechanisms are established using the advantage of continuous learning and experience.
There is an understanding of a strict protection of natural and landscape assets.	In addition to the protection of assets, there is an understanding of the rehabilitation of the region and the restoration of its cultural assets.
There are perspectives to sustain the functioning of the ecosystem beyond the efficient use of the national park.	It is about ensuring the sustainability of national parks from a perspective of interactive and relational use in accordance with socio-economic and cultural goals.
A technocratic and bureaucratic management approach dominates in national parks.	National parks are managed according to the decisions taken based on the consultations of different actors.
There is an understanding of management that does not consider the activities, needs, and participation of local people.	There is an understanding of negotiation-open governance that is sensitive to the concerns of local communities.
The management responsibility is centralized.	There is an actor-driven management approach, including different layers of governance, local communities, the private sector, NGOs, and others.
There is an understanding of prioritizing benefits for visitors and tourists.	The interests of local communities take precedence.
National decisions take precedence over local needs.	It is seen as a community heritage and national.

Table 1. Paradigm shift in	perspective toward 1	national parks ((Borrini et al., 200	4; Phillips, 2003
----------------------------	----------------------	------------------	----------------------	-------------------

METHODOLOGY

This study aims to reveal the effects of BLNP on the local economy. It is aimed to reveal clues about how to treat national parks as an actor in terms of local development by focusing on the possible effects on the social and economic development of the locality, especially against the literature focusing on the ecological diversity of national parks. Especially in recent years, considering the theoretical approach and social and economic dimensions of national parks within the framework of development paradigms, which forces them to think within the framework of conceptual approaches such as sectoral diversity, economic resilience, and ensuring local competitive conditions make the study unique. In this framework, a qualitative study method based on in-depth interviews was adopted in the study, and the opinions of the relevant actors regarding the effects of BLNP on the local economy were determined.

BLNP is in a transition area between the Central Anatolia Region and the Taurus Mountains within the borders of Konya and Isparta provinces and is located on an area of 86,855 hectares within the borders of Beyşehir province in Konya. The area covering a part of Beyşehir Lake was declared a National Park with the decision of the Council of Ministers numbered 93/4020 on January 11, 1993. However, the borders of the BLNP were revised by the decision dated November 27, 2018, and numbered 30608. As a result of this change, agricultural and forest areas, and settlement areas were excluded from the borders of the national park (Table 2 and Figure 1).

According to the border changes, while the settlements and agricultural areas around Beyşehir Lake were taken out of the national park border, Dedegöl Mountains, which have rare mountain ecosystems, were included in the national park borders to protect the ecosystem integrity. It can be said that the reason for the border change is the problems arising from the legal status of the national parks of the inhabitants of the settlements around the lake. The National Park includes a large part of Beyşehir Lake, Turkey's largest freshwater lake. There are 33 large and small islands in the lake. The presence of Byzantine monasteries on some islands caused the region to gain the importance of faith tourism.

BLNP is a region with an extremely important advantage for tourism with its natural areas, scenic spots, and trekking, hiking, biking, safari areas, and camping opportunities. Also, it has the potential to offer significant advantages in terms of the socio-cultural and socio-economic development of the region in terms of its ecological values and cultural depths. However, the disadvantages brought

Land Use	According to the old boundaries (ha)	%	According to the new boundaries (ha)	%	Range (ha)
Grassland and steppe areas	1.316,89	1,52	592,14	0,72	-724,75
Rocky areas	51,47	0,06	51,47	0,06	-
Forest areas	16.802,79	19,35	22.083,33	26,88	5.280,54
Reeds-swamp areas	1.600,15	1,84	1.654,11	2,01	53,96
Agriculture areas	13.270,48	15,28	2.018,60	2,46	-11.251,88
Lake areas	53.302,29	61,37	55.726,56	67,83	2.424,27
Settlement areas	510,93	0,59	30,56	0,04	-480,37
TOTAL	86.855,00	100,00	82.156,77	100,00	4.698,23

Table 2. Land use in BLNP (National Park Regional Directorate, 2019)

by the protection status in rural economic activities have caused the national park areas to be seen as regions with a problematic status for the inhabitants of the region.

Studies on national parks are generally based on quantitative analysis. However, it is known that the explanatory level of quantitative analysis is insufficient in determining the problems related to user behaviors, the realization of the economic and spatial demands of the local people, and the conflicts between the user-local people-government. In recent studies, information about the behavior, motivations, and opinions of visitors and users is considered critical for the effective planning and management of protected



Figure 1. Old and New Boundaries of BLNP.

areas (Griffin et. al., 2008; Antonio, et. al., 2013). At this point, qualitative research methods are preferred in efforts to understand the existence of a complex and layered social, personal, and relational world and how it is created (McLeod, 2001). This study conducted in-depth interviews with visitors (383 visitors), local people (a focus group discussion with the village community in 12 rural areas), and various institutions (3 citizen associations, 2 voluntary organizations, and 2 associations), for revealing the areas of conflict between the strict principles/rules for the protection of the national park and the local people and economic actors in 2019 July. It is aimed to access information such as how approaches to the protection of national parks have evolved to ensure the economic sustainability of the locality, how BLNP has led the development of various economic and social relations networks around the region, how BLNP contributes to the transformation of rural areas in in-depth interviews. Furthermore, it has been discussed how to put forward innovative approaches to national parks within the scope of both urbanization and conservation understanding and policies by questioning the effects of trends such as suburbanization or counter-urbanization, tourism, and secondary housing development on the social structure.

Finally, to reveal the effects of BLNP on the local economy are analyzed by the diversity of opportunities provided to economic sectors, and the processes producing economic value are analyzed. It has been questioned how the social relations emerging between the local people, visitors, and investors affect the adaptation of the local people to processes such as qualified agricultural production and access to foreign markets that are not easily articulated. It has been investigated whether there is a mechanism to reveal new ideas in mutual learning processes regarding the region of the relations between the local people and the visitors because of long-term stays in camping areas and secondary housing. All these analyses are discussed under three main topics: evaluations on the social dimension, economic dimension, and governance dimension.

EVALUATION OF BLNP WITHIN THE FRAMEWORK OF REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT PARADIGMS

Social Dimension Evaluations of BLNP in Regional Development

The regional development literature, which has undergone a paradigm shift in the past 30 years, has also brought important differences in the strategies for protected and sensitive areas such as national parks. Assessments of the role of national parks in the local economy are fed by approaches such as ecosystem (Wall-Reinius and Fredman, 2007), evolutionary economic geography's path dependence (Boschma, 2015; Martin and Sunley, 2015), governance theory (Borrini et al., 2013; Getzner, 2010; Laing et al., 2009), and institutionalism and social capital theories (Bathelt and Glucker, 2003; Amin and Thrift, 1995; Halfacree, 1993). From the traditional point of view, evaluations aimed solely at conservation perceive the areas where agricultural production takes place as non-production areas.

This paradigm shift has led to the social and political concerns of national parks at the local level. With the dominance of liberal economic view that emphasizes the economic importance of national parks, the declaration of the BLNP as a national park has made it necessary to evaluate it through a series of social relations networks, until it is seen as the engine of regional development.

Emphasizing that the local social and economic context in which national parks are embedded should be considered when analyzing their economic relations, this theoretical framework pioneers the consideration of protected areas in a relational whole within the framework of the new paradigm. The perspective emphasizes the whole of local dynamics and social relations of the space, and strives to address the relationship between areas with strict protection rules such as national parks, and residential areas, and development with their social dimensions. While this approach provides an important opportunity for the functionalization of areas with protected status, it creates an opportunity for the elimination of social conflict areas, especially with new dynamics emerging in rural settlements. The problems caused by using the national park in restricting the economic activities of local landowners and in the adoption of the principles of protection of the natural structure and the relevant land management have brought about the deterioration in the social structure. The negative attitude of these locals toward national parks is an indication of their limited awareness of protection.

This approach has significantly affected rural settlements and local people in BLNP, just as is the case in national parks generally. Strict principles and rules for the protection of the national park have been the main dynamics of the conflict between locals and protected areas. In this context, it can be said that approaches to the protection of national parks from a traditional point of view have evolved in recent years to be seen to ensure the economic sustainability of the local. The protective regime of BLNP pioneers the development of various economic and social relations networks not only in the region but also in its surroundings. Restrictions arising from the protection priorities of BLNP are seen by local communities in the region as an obstacle to local development and lead to various conflicts. The social and political resistance to overcome this situation has not yet developed in rural Beyşehir.

The contribution of national parks to the functional transformations of rural areas within its vast area has been the focus of economic geography discussions. Trends such as the decline in traditional agricultural employment, suburbanization or counter-urbanization, the development of tourism, and the development of secondary housing have a strong impact on the direction and speed of functional changes in the buffer zones of national parks. These changes have occurred rapidly in rural areas within BLNP, and this trend continues to increase.

Beyşehir is very close to where we live, we can come in about 1-1.5 h. Because of the natural beauty and geography of this place, we would like to have a place to stay on weekends. However, the fact that various opportunities in the region are not yet at the desired level causes some reservations. In fact, from this point of view, the demand for the region will grow with the restoration and functionalization of secondary residences, camp areas supported by various services and historical residences in rural settlements. These developments will lead to the development of ties between locals and visitors. Now, we can say that BLNP lacks these features. The only thing that attracts us here is the natural beauty and the presence of the lake. (It was compiled from interviews with 383 visitors in the BLNP).

Although the national park led to an increase in social diversity in the region and feed the learning processes through networks of relations, the inadequacy of infrastructure and the inadequacy of local organizational in BLNP prevent the development of these opportunities. As can be understood from the information obtained from the interviews in the field study, the inadequacy of physical facilities in the region and the lack of organizational activities to eliminate the inadequacy of the awareness level of the local people about the impact of the national park on social development reveal that it is an obstacle to the development of social diversity. They consist of similar social or countryfolk groups who have migrated from the region where coming from outside the region proves this situation.

The first measure for the protection of Beyşehir Lake began in 1957 when the forests south of the Lake were

given the status of "Conservation Forest." Beysehir Lake was accepted as "Drinking Water Reserve" pursuant to the Water Pollution Control Regulation, which came into force in 1988. In 1989, Beyşehir Lake and its surroundings were declared first and second-degree natural sites. Later, due to the reactions of the people in the settlements, the settlements were changed to a grade III natural site in 1991. In addition, there are archaeological sites in various locations around Beyşehir Lake, and the area where Eşrefoğlu Mosque Complex is located on the lakeshore of Beyşehir District has been declared as an urban site area. With the decision dated February 20, 1993 numbered 21502, the part of Lake Beyşehir within the provincial borders of Isparta; due to its land structure showing a different topography, the spread of plant and animal communities on it, rare natural resources and historical features have been declared "Kızıldağ National Park;" while the part remaining within the provincial borders of Konya has been declared as "BLNP" due to its historical remains, geomorphological formations, natural plant communities, rich bird communities, and hydrological features. The park boundaries have taken their current form (Figure 1).

BLNP should be considered not only as a physical environment but also as a social environment that adds meaning and value to this environment. The fact that the national park is intertwined with urban and rural settlements also contributes to the social and cultural development of the city. Urbanization and changes in legal regulations have increased the pressure of the city on the national park and there have been disputes between local governments and administrations regarding the national park. In this sense, it has been necessary to adopt innovative approaches to national park areas. In this process, in addition to the conflict of authority between institutions, the understanding of the way rural residents use natural resources and the behaviors related to agricultural production was seen as a problem area beyond evaluating the national park as a potential. It, also, has been determined that the BLNP does not make an effort to strengthen social interaction and that the national park has a point of view only to protect natural beauties and prioritize policies for daily tourism when the studies of the institutions responsible for developing policies and strategies related to the national park are examined.

Economic Impacts of BLNP

The effects of national parks on the local, regional, and national economy are often explained through the lenses of the tourism sector (Byström and Müller, 2014; Eagles and McCool, 2002; Getzner, 2003; Huhtala, 2007; Mayer et al., 2010). The multiplier effects of economic dynamism brought about by tourists visiting national parks are considered an important factor in the economic development.

In line with the principle of free access to natural values, the entry and use of facilities in most national parks in

Europe are offered free or at a relatively low cost (Mayer and Job, 2014). It is difficult to estimate the actual number of visitors required to calculate total visitor expenditures in national parks where admission is free or entrance fees are seasonal or charged (Job, 2008; Mayer and Job, 2014). The expenditures of the national park visitors, the return from the goods and services offered, and the changes in employment and wages have been the subject of quantitative research to evaluate the economic role of the national parks based on the income growth of the region. Such studies fail to make contributions in determining the local links between national parks and the way in which the park is embedded in the local economy.

The economic relations established by the BLNP should be handled within the whole body of direct and indirect relations that generate economic value. In this context, investment projects, management structure, various supports, and relations with the local are defined as the direct relations of BLNP that produce economic value. BLNP has enabled the development of fishing activities in rural settlements on the lakeshore. Secondary housing development and the presence of campsites in the region have contributed to the emergence of economic activities aimed at meeting the needs of visitors from outside the region. In some rural settlements, attempts to transform historical buildings into accommodation facilities pioneered the development of non-agricultural economic activities in the region. Touristic expeditions such as bird watching, hiking and photography to the islands within Lake Beyşehir allow the young population in the region to provide guidance, therefore contributing to the human capital development.

I live in the town of Yeşildağ, and I do farm. In addition, I offer guidance services to visitors who come to see the Storks Valley and campsite in our town. Especially between April and July, there are intense tourist visits, and we sometimes go on 5–10-day expeditions. The job of guiding visitors to the national park for nature tourism has experienced significant development in Beyşehir in recent years. We have started having a second income (Osman İltar, The Tour Guide of Yeşildağ Settlement).

BLNP has the potential for economic development due to the characteristics that enable it to integrate various types of tourism. Besides nature-based tourism, it has important attractions in terms of culture and faith tourism. However, the inadequacy of necessary facilities and maintenance problems means that BLNP is preferred at the regional level and is mostly for day-to-day use. This has resulted in an inadequate economic assessment of the potential of BLNP (Table 3).

When Table 3 is examined, it is determined that most visitors come from surrounding settlements within a 100 km distance. In addition, it has been determined that as the

Table 3. Visitor	riews o	n the tourism potentia	als of BLN	ſΡ					
Distance Travelle by Visitors	d No.	How long Have Been Coming tc National Park?	You o the (%)	Would you 1 the Nation: those aroun	recommend al Park to d you? (%)		Purpose	e of Visit ¹	
						Ease of Access	Resource Values	Quality of Service	Interest and Curiosity
0-30 km	58	First Time	3.4	Yes	8.6	2.06	2.74	0.96	1.93
		1-3 Year	13.8						
		4-6 Year	10.3	No	91.4				
		7-+ Year	72.4						
31–50 km	32	First Time	15.6	Yes	6.3	1.93	2.13	1.00	2.00
		1–3 Year	6.3						
		4-6 Year	6.3	No	93.8				
		7-+ Year	71.9						
51–100 km	175	First Time	28.0	Yes	8.6	2.06	2.12	1.15	2.21
		1-3 Year	29.1						
		4-6 Year	13.1	No	91.4				
		7-+ Year	29.7						
101–200 km	74	First Time	31.1	Yes	6.8	1.76	2.40	1.13	2.34
		1-3 Year	27.0						
		4-6 Year	14.9	No	93.2				
		7-+ Year	27.0						
201-+	44	First Time	27.3	Yes	4.5	1.69	2.16	1.56	2.14
		1-3 Year	18.2						
		4-6 Year	18.2	No	95.5				
		7-+ Year	36.4						
Total	383	First Time	23.8	Yes	7.8	1.95	2.27 1.	.15	2.17
		1–3 Year	23.2						
		4–6 Year	13.1	No	92.2				
		7-+ Year	39.9						

arrival distance increases, the desire of visitors to visit the national park increases due to their interest and curiosity. Therefore, visitors may not have the desire to visit the national park for a second time. The main reason can be cited as the lack of a variety of services. The main reason why a significant number of visitors do not recommend BLNP is again cited as inadequate services.

BLNP enables the establishment of social relations between the locals and visitors, depending on the time visitors spend in the region. It has been determined that the social relations between the locals and the visitors are because of long-term stays in the campsites and secondary residences, thus contributing to a mutual learning process. The strong relations that emerge between the tour guides in rural areas and the groups that visit the region have led to a mutual exchange of ideas on the development of economic activities in the region.

Indirect relationships include tangible and intangible resources arising from the natural value of the park and related to the social and cultural sphere. There are several potential forms of the indirect economic impact of national parks. For example, sustainable agriculture depends largely on the qualitative factor that arises directly from the value of the natural environment of the national park. The presence of a national park in the context of increasing counterurbanization movements makes neighboring rural areas an attractive place for tourism and second homes (Mika et al., 2016), this stimulates demand. In addition, owing to the proximity of a national park, local governments, and institutions can apply for and receive funding for "ecological" projects. As a result, the indirect economic function is defined by its natural values in intangible aspects, as a factor that stimulates economic activity, and an increase in the economic value of areas beyond the park.

It has been observed that the adoption of the form of agricultural production, like organic farming and good agricultural practices, has begun. After tourism activities, qualified agricultural production, which emerged because of learning processes and the demands of visitors, led to positive developments in the economic income of the region. It can be stated that agro-tourism in BLNP, which is seen as an important strategy, especially for the protection of agricultural land, will play a critical role in eliminating the spatial disadvantages of rural settlements, and low income. The successful agro-tourism systems in rural areas have the potential to reverse negative economic trends by bringing in visitors and creating new jobs and local business ventures (Topçu, 2016).

BLNP have various directional and density relations with the regional social and economic systems in which they are located. The economic relations are based on the relations between different actors, including elements of the local economic system, administration, visitors, local authorities, and the residents (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Relationships between Actors in BLNP.²

A strong relationship exists between the natural resources of the BLNP and the BLNP Branch Directorate under the 8th Regional Directorate of Nature Conservation and National Parks. While the authorities arising from the legal regulations are a determining factor in the decisions of the institution within the national park, local conflicts could also arise from rigid behavior. The physical development of the national park has been realized through investments made with the shares allocated from the central budget. Preparations for 1/25,000 scale planning work in BLNP can be seen as an initiative toward harmonization with the local.

The relations between the BLNP administration and the residents of the region are seen as the most important obstacle in the development of the local economy. The parallel understanding of strict protection by the administration, and the local people understanding of the resource use concepts constitute the main starting point of the conflict. This problem brought along a political process until the determination of new boundaries in 2018 that excluded rural settlements from the park boundary. In addition, the sales carried out by the national park administration, especially for local businesses, created more employment opportunities in the region. It causes dynamism in this region.

One of the important reasons why the BLNP cannot contribute sufficiently to the local economic development process is the existence of different institutions' authorities in the region, which has become a source of conflict. Apart from the General Directorate of National Parks in the region, the different powers, and responsibilities of institutions such as DSI, Konya Metropolitan Municipality, Beyşehir Municipality, and the Ministry of Environment and Urbanization are seen as one of the disadvantages in the development of policies and strategies. Particularly, the decisions taken by the national park administration from a centralized point of view may not reflect the demands and expectations of local. In studies conducted, the lack of various facilities in campsites, beaches, hiking routes, historical sites to be visited, and the poor maintenance of the surroundings lead to a decline in the demand for

the region. With various funds provided by national and international organizations, efforts to develop different projects related to protected areas have gained momentum in recent years. However, it can be said that even with the various actors working together and with the support of national and international funds, the deficiency of human and social capital potential in the Beyşehir region could not solve the problems of the national park. Efforts aimed at prolonging visitors' stay in the region have not reached the desired level.

The dominant position of the elements restricting the role of BLNP in regional development has caused the rural population not to gain sufficiently from the economic benefit of the national park. While protecting the resources of the national park, which is not seen as a means of economic income, has lost priority, it has become more important to create new agricultural production areas and to uncover the pastures for grazing.

Therefore, the impacts of the BLNP on regional economic development are handled in the context of the relations between the actors. Along with the economic value produced by the functioning of the national park, the realization of projects and investments with the roles assumed by various institutions will be one of the elements that will revive the economy.

A Regional Approach to BLNP

The possible impacts of national parks on the regional economy will vary based on the potential of each national park, as well as the community and social structure in the region. In this context, the most distinguishing aspect of BLNP is that it is integrated with Kızıldağ National Park located within the borders of Isparta Province. In other words, Beyşehir Lake and Kızıldağ National Parks, which have the same morphological and ecological features, are perceived as parks with different characteristics due to the administrative boundaries determined in a normative way.

It is necessary to develop a regional perspective in terms of the size and features of the BLNP. Accessibility opportunities in the region, along with significant potential in terms of accommodation facilities and tourism activities in the region, constitute the dynamic of local development. Although BLNP has significant potential for the development of different economic sectors, other industries based on tourism, agriculture, and forestry have had a low impact on local development.

High unemployment rates in rural settlements can be considered significantly eliminated through the development of local businesses in BLNP. Lack of support by the society that cannot perceive the benefits obtained from the national park is seen as one of the important problem areas of insufficient understanding of the national park and low social value level in the region. With the declaration of the national park, there has been a significant impact on the people of the region regarding the development of their understanding of nature conservation, their perception of the region, and their lives and quality of life. This demonstrates what BLNP can offer regarding both conservation and tourism infrastructure.

It should be emphasized that there are some issues that national parks must face within the framework of new paradigms. In the context of new discussions, the issues that are difficult to operate or apply in the BLNP in a regional approach lens are listed below.

- Resolution of Political Structure: The management of protected areas requires the consideration of protected areas together with their close systems (Tomaskinova and Tomaskin, 2013). Protected areas, together with their ecological structure, economic resilience, and interaction between stakeholders, must establish a sustainable management agreement by establishing strong networks with their environment. Especially in the new paradigm, perspectives aimed at reducing the impact of the centralized management system risk bringing with it the problem of faster destruction of protected status. Along with the incompatibility between local institutions, local pressures can bring a series of destruction to the BLNP. An asymmetric force can be formed against the local political climate.
- Pressure from Stakeholder Participation: Although discussions on participatory and governance-oriented decision-making processes have intensified in the new paradigm, the problem of "stakeholder fatigue" (Phillips, 2003) may arise in the decision-making process for BLNP, which has a constraining effect on local economic activities. It is not possible to claim that BLNP is made of local capabilities that can make fine political decisions about the composition of stakeholders, and how the conflicting interests would be reconciled.
- Conservation Awareness Problem: Understanding national parks evaluation as an element of the local economy, while factoring in the balance between sustainability and conservation use, can be considered a difficult process to implement due to the conservation awareness problem in the Beyşehir region. In particular, the decline of the fish population in Beyşehir Lake and the change of the national park boundary because of local pressures present the problem of local conservation awareness. Beyşehir countryside lacks responsible traditions for the use of natural resources.

On the other hand, a strict understanding of conservation continues to be the cornerstone of the national parks protection system. The new paradigm does not intend to undermine the value of such places, but to show how their management has radically changed (need to change), and to emphasize the contribution that can be made by the other protected areas of equal importance. Institutional capacities and capabilities in the region do not have the flexibility to conduct the negotiation process healthily.

- The Normative Perspective Problem: The new paradigm mandates an approach beyond the boundaries of the protected area. BLNP planning approach should be done in a way that includes interactive areas and settlements outside the normative boundaries. The bureaucratic structure and legal framework are seen as the main obstacles to the implementation of this approach.
- Regional Planning: The roles of national parks in the regional development within sustainable principles can be realized by creating alternative scenarios, not ignoring the contribution of dynamic spatial urban models, and considering the possible effects on the environment (Unverdi and Unverdi, 2016). Continuing in a balanced manner between the legal status of BLNP and the agricultural areas, which are defined as the economic income source of the rural areas, requires the implementation of long-term regional plans. It can be realized with the "inclusive area management" functions that will emerge among the actors for developing an important sustainability policy.

CONCLUSION

The economic impact of a national park is determined by the central government's policy for the conservation of nature and the attractiveness of the national park area. National parks vary due to differences in countries' legal regulations, conservation regimes, and certain local conditions. The increasing social demand on natural resources have given rise to various pressures on the areas surrounding national parks.

The impact of national parks on the local economy is not only about increasing their attractiveness as a tourism destination but also how and to what extent they are made accessible to the public. Conservation of the BLNP with a strict understanding curbs tourism development. It is inevitable to establish an innovative and viable governance system for the Beyşehir settlement to benefit from the national park socially and economically. To achieve this, it is necessary to develop a mechanism in which all stakeholders in Beyşehir will cooperate within the common goal. The initiation of various projects to mobilize local resources and the efforts to increase the potential for social-human capital may eliminate numerous obstacles to the cooperation in the process of transforming the national park into an important element for local development.

On the other hand, beyond characterizing national parks as areas where natural resources are protected with a traditionalist approach, it is necessary to consider Beyşehir urban and rural areas as a critical element in terms of economic development and competitive structure, as emphasized in economic geography discourses. BLNP has significant potential to transition from local to global, establish relations with different economic actors, attract investors, and put in place measures aimed at improving the quality of life through funds.

NOTES

¹3 very important, 2 important, 1 not important.

²The thickness and discontinuity of the links between the actors illustrate the strength of the relationship. Thick lines indicate strong relationships, while dashed lines indicate weak relationships.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Allen, T., & Giampietro. M. (2014). Holons, creaons, genons, environs, in hierarchy theory: Where we have gone. Ecological Modelling, 293, 31–41.
- Amin, A., & Thrift, N. (1995). Globalisation 'institutional thickness' and the local economy. In P. Healey, S. Cameron, S. Davoudi, S. Graham & A. Madanipour (Eds), Managing cities: The new urban context (pp. 92–108). Chichester, Wiley.
- Antonio, A., Monz, C., Newman, P., Lawson, S., & Taff, D. (2013). Enhancing the utility of visitor impact assessment in parks and protected areas: A combined social–ecological approach. Journal of Environmental Management, 124, 72–81.
- Bathelt, H., & Gluckler, J. (2003). Toward a relational economic geography. Journal of Economic Geography, 3(2), 117-144.
- Borrini, G., Dudley, N., Jaeger, T., Lassen, B., Neema, P., Phillips, A., & Sandwith, T. (2013). Governance of protected areas: From understanding to action. IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature), Gland, Switzerland.
- Borrini, G., Kothari, A., & Oviedo, G. (2004). Indigenous and local communities and protected areas: Towards equity and enhanced conservation. Guidance on policy and practice for co-managed protected areas and community conserved areas, World Commission on

Protected Areas (WCPA), Best Practice Protected Area Guidelines Series No. 11, Cambridge, UK.

- Boschma, R. (2015). Towards an evolutionary perspective on regional resilience. Regional Studies, (48), 733-751.
- Brockington, D. (2003). Injustice and conservation: Is 'local support' necessary for sustainable conservation? Policy Matters, (12), 22–30.
- Byström J., & Müller, D.K. (2014). Tourism labor market impacts of national parks: The case of Swedish Lapland. Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie, 53(1-2), 115–126.
- Costanza, R., D'arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P., & Van Der Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature, 387, 253–260.
- Cumming, G.S. & Allen, C.R. (2017). Protected areas as social-ecological systems: perspectives from resilience and social-ecological systems theory. Ecological Application, 27, 1709-1717.
- Dudley, N. (2008). Guidelines for applying protected area management categories. IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature), Gland, Switzerland.
- Eagles, P.F., & Mccool, S.F. (2002). Tourism in national parks and protected areas: planning and management. CABI Publishing, Cambridge.
- Füzyova, L., Lanikova, D., & Novorolsky, M. (2009). Economic valuation of Tatras National Park and regional environmental policy. Polish Journal of Environment Studies, 18(5), 811-818.
- Getzner, M. (2003). The economic impact of national parks: The perception of key actors in Austrian national parks. International Journal of Sustainable Development, 6(2), 183–202.
- Getzner, M. (2010). Impacts of protected areas on regional sustainable development: The case of the Hohe Tauern National Park (Austria). International Journal of Sustainable Economy, 2(4), 419-441.
- Griffin, T., Moore, S., Darcy, S. & Crilley, G. (2008). Developing a national approach to visitor data collection, management and use for protected areas: thoughts from Australian research and practice. Fourth International Conference on Monitoring and Management of Visitor Flows in Recreational and Protected Areas: Management for Protection and Sustainable Development (14/10/2008 - 19/10/2008), Tuscany, Italy.
- Gülez, S. (1990). An evaluation method for the determination of forest recreation potential. Journal of the Faculty of Forestry Istanbul University, 40(2), 141-147.
- Halfacree, K. (1993). Locality and social representation: Space, discourse and alternative definitions of the

rural. Journal of Rural Studies, 9(1), 23-37.

- Huhtala, M. (2007). Assessment of the local economic impacts of national park tourism: The case of Pallas-Ounastunturi National Park. Forest Snow and Landscape Research, 81(1/2), 223–238.
- IUCN. (1994). Guide to the convention on biological diversity, IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.
- Job, H. (2008). Estimating the regional economic impact of tourism to national parks: Two case studies from Germany. GAIA, 17(1), 134–142.
- Kılıç, M. (2018). Türkiye'de milli parkların gelişimi: Yozgat Çamlığı Milli Parkı Örneği [Unpublished master's thesis]. Süleyman Demirel University.
- Laing, J.H., Lee D., Moore, S.A., Wegner, A., & Weiler, B. (2009). Advancing conceptual understanding of partnerships between protected area agencies and the tourism industry: A post-disciplinary and multi-theoretical approach. Journal of Sustainable Tourism, 17(2), 207-229.
- Maior, M., Darau, P., Brad, M., & Boja, N. (2016). Considerations about the optimum size of the natural parks. Journal of Environmental Protection and Ecology, 17(3), 1214–1219.
- Martin, R., & Sunley, P. (2015). On the notion of regional economic resilience: Conceptualization and explanation. Journal of Economic Geography, (15), 1-42.
- Mayer, M., & Job, H. (2014). The economics of protected areas-a European perspective. Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie, 58(2/3), 73–97.
- Mayer, M., Müller, M., Woltering, M., Arnegger, J., & Job, H. (2010). The economic impact of tourism in six German national parks. Landscape and Urban Planning, 97(2), 73–82.
- McLeod, J. (2001). Qualitative research in counselling and psychotherapy. Sage Publications.
- Mendelsohn, R.O., & Olmstead, S.M. (2009). The economic valuation of environmental amenities and disamenities: Methods and applications. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, (34), 325-347.
- Mika, M., Zawilinska, B., & Pawlusinski, R. (2016). Exploring the economic impact of national parks on the local economy: Functional approach in the context of Poland's transition economy. Journal of Studies and Research in Human Geography, 10(1), 2067–2284.
- Mose, I., & Weixlbaumer N. (2007). A new paradigm for protected areas in Europe? In I. Mose (Ed), Protected Areas and Regional Development in Europe: Towards a New Model for the 21st Century (pp. 3-20). Ashgate Studies in Environmental Policy and Practice, Routledge.
- Phillips, A. (2003). Turning ideas on their head: The new paradigm for protected areas. The George Wright Forum, 20(2), 8-32.
- Pirikiya, M., Amirnejad, H., Oladi, J., & Solout, K.A. (2016). Determining the recreational value of forest park by
travel cost method and defining its effective factors. Journal of Forest Science, 62(9), 399-406.

- Povazan, R., Getzner, M., & Svajda, J. (2014). Value of ecosystem services in mountain national parks: Case study of Velka Fatra National Park (Slovakia). Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 23(5), 1699-1710.
- Shah, A. (Eds.). (1995). The economics of third world national parks, Issues of tourism and environmental management. Edward Elgar Publishing, UK.
- Talay, İ., Akpınar, N., & Belkayalı, N. (2010). Doğal kaynakların rekreasyonel ve turizm amaçlı kullanımının ekonomik değerinin tespiti: Göreme Tarihi Milli Parkı Örneği. Coğrafi Bilimler Dergisi, 8(2), 137-146.
- Tomaskinova, J., & Tomaskin, J. (2013). Environmental management integrated management of the National Park Slovak. Journal of Environmental Protection

and Ecology, 14(2), 664-674.

- Topçu, D. (2016). Agri-tourism: A rural planning instrument for sustainability of agricultural lands. Journal of Environmental Protection and Ecology, 17(2), 813–821.
- Unverdi, L., & Unverdi, N. (2016). Effect of urban planning decisions on the conservation and sustainability of agricultural lands in Urla, Izmir. Journal of Environmental Protection and Ecology, 17(2), 754-762.
- Wall-Reinius, S., & Fredman, P. (2007). Protected areas as attractions. Annals of Tourism Research, 34(4), 839-854.
- Wang, J.Z. (2019). National parks in China: Parks for people or for the nation?. Land Use Policy, 81, 825-833.
- Xu, J & Melick, D. (2007). Rethinking the effectiveness of public protected areas in Southwestern China. Conservation Biology, 21 (2), 318–328.



Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.69741

MMGARON

Article

Untapped potentials of governmentality perspective for urban planning studies that focus on the dynamics of health care in contemporary Türkiye

Mahfuz AKTAŞ^{*}, Asuman TÜRKÜN

Department of Urban and Regional Planning, Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Istanbul, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 01 February 2023 Revised: 25 August 2023 Accepted: 11 September 2023

Key words: Analytics of government; contemporary urban planning studies; governmentality perspective; urban health care.

ABSTRACT

In this article, we provide a summary of the theoretical explorations that our research has invited us into. The need for such a multi-layered literature review stems from our depiction of the theoretical limitations of contemporary urban planning studies that focus on the experiences of Türkiye in the face of complicated urban problems, among which urban health care challenges stand out. By considering urban health care as a form of social infrastructure along the lines of efficiency, accessibility, design, and sustainability of social rights, contemporary urban planning studies still make use of mainstream social scientific lenses. We suggest an alternative analytical toolkit, namely the *analytics of government drawn on the Governmentality Perspective as* one of the prospective ways to go beyond such limited analysis.

Cite this article as: Aktaş M, Türkün A. Untapped potentials of governmentality perspective for urban planning studies that focus on the dynamics of health care in contemporary Türkiye. Megaron 2023;18(3):414–424.

INTRODUCTION

Today's rapid and interconnected changes in both the natural and human realms pave the way for evercomplicated issues in cities all over the world. In fact, in 25 years, cities are expected to be hosting 70% of the world's population (World Bank, 2018). Such a rise in urban population will bring about tremendous difficulties for urban contexts. For the concerns of our research, these difficulties will revolve around the provision of health care in cities as made apparent once again by the COVID-19 pandemic. To come up with well-founded decisions in the face of this huge transformation and to adequately address these complex urban problems, studies that focus on resolving them better update or diversify their analytical lenses. In this context, as one of the fields that focus on the complex problems of contemporary cities, urban planning studies – a field that works with the design, management, and development of cities and urban regions, and that frequently entails questions of governance, power, and social control– would benefit from repurposing an alternative analytical toolkit as well. This is mainly because

We are grateful to Özge Yalta Yandaş, Murat Cemal Yalçıntan and Sırma Turgut for their contributions, without which this interdisciplinary working paper would not have been possible.



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

^{*}Corresponding author

^{*}E-mail adres: mahfuz.aktas@gmail.com

This article is based on the PhD Dissertation entitled as Governing Healthcare in Istanbul by Mahfuz Aktaş and completed under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Asuman Türkün at YTU, Department of Urban and Regional Planning in 2023.

the repertoire of urban planning studies' analytical toolkits is limited when it comes to analyzing the dynamics of health care in Türkiye. Taken-for-granted presumptions in mainstream social sciences are echoed in contemporary urban planning studies. This article attempts to suggest making use of an alternative toolkit instead: *Analytics of* government drawn on the Governmentality Perspective.

DISCUSSION I: URBAN PLANNING STUDIES FOCUSING ON THE DYNAMICS OF HEALTH CARE IN TÜRKİYE

When it comes to analyzing the dynamics of urban health care in Türkiye, contemporary urban planning studies view these dynamics as elements of social infrastructure designed for the secure flow of urban life (Berkman, 1992; Cetiner, 1972; Ciftçi, 1999; Ershova et al., 2018; Latham and Layton, 2019; and Şahin, 2018). In this respect, health care is not only taken into consideration within a hierarchy of locations (stretching from wards to districts and cities and regions) but also within frameworks of planning models. As a result, contemporary urban planning studies defining health care primarily as an ingredient of social infrastructure explore the dynamics of health care in Türkiye with respect to four main criteria: Efficiency (relations between areal efficiency and service quality), accessibility (economic, social, and spatial conditions), design (comprehensive flexibility in the sense of multifunctionality), and sustainability of social rights (Boyacı, 2021; Gökkaya and Erdem, 2021; Kemeç et al., 2019; Paköz, 2014; and Yılmaz and Kamacı Karahan, 2020). In doing so, urban planning studies largely focus on the historical, legislative, technical, and representative aspects of governing health care in single or dual scales, and mostly for a single/central actor. Such a focus provides analyses more often than not on a macro scale, leaving aside interactions among micro-meso-macro scales. This research hypothesizes that a multi-scale analysis with an eye on the interactions of multiple actors will better serve the needs of the discipline in the contemporary world. Given the epidemics of health-care reforms all around the world in parallel with the urban population anticipated to rise to 70% of the world population in just a quarter century, a theoretical revitalization is out of necessity in contemporary urban planning studies when it comes to analyzing the dynamics of urban health care in Türkiye.

CONTEXT: EPIDEMICS OF HEALTH CARE REFORMS AND DIFFERING CONCEPTUALIZATIONS OF NEOLIBERALISM

Since the 1980s, there has almost been an epidemic of health care reforms all around the world. Stretching from England to New Zealand and Australia, from the United States to Europe and East Asia, in various countries, health care reforms are initiated, and accompanying analyses since the 1990s have surfaced as well (Ashton et al., 2009; Giaimo, 2002; Marmor, 1994; and Twaddle, 2002). The prevalent perspective in these analyses associated this epidemic of health care reforms with the broader framework of neoliberal policies, which are assumed to accomplish the goal of limiting the state's involvement in society's operations on the principle that less government is better (Prince et al., 2006, p. 256). Among the critics of this association between less government and neoliberal policies, studies that have drawn upon the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies (Coveney, 1998; Işın, 2000; Larner, 2006; Marchand et al., 2020; Prince et al., 2006; and Rose and Miller, 1992) argued that health care reforms are rightly associated with neoliberalism, yet, neoliberalism "is not an ideology or policy (as mainstream perspectives suggest), but a new round and mode of restructuring the social, political, economic contexts, and subjects and their relations all at once to regulate the society as a whole" (Prince et al., 2006, p. 256). Therefore, in this view, as coined by Prince et al. (2006, p. 256), neoliberalism is not an enforced or completely pre-conceived project, but rather an emergent plan of action that develops as a result of providing programmatic coherence to certain technologies and rationalities that were already evolving in social and governmental structures.

Such an understanding of neoliberalism as a new mode of governmentality required a novel way of conceptualizing the state as well inviting other influential actors who are engaged in governing urban health care under scrutiny. In fact, Kohlwes (2014, p. 19) underlines that according to Michel Foucault, the state is a non-essentialized system of political relations, rather than a universal, stable, unchanging phenomenon that is reconstructed as government practices change. Yet, this does not mean that Foucault suggested ignoring the role of the state in government, rather warned us about the unintended consequences of solely focusing on the role of the state in government, turning a blind eye on other agents and mechanisms of power operating in actual governing. As such, when it comes to associating health care reforms around the world since the 1980s with a differing understanding of neoliberalism, the Governmentality Perspective proved to be useful in abstaining from mainstream analyses and allowing us to focus on agents other than state apparatuses that are engaged in the processes of governing health care.

BRIEF I: GOVERNMENTALITY PERSPECTIVE

In exploring *governmentality*, Foucault gives us a dense conceptual treasury and accompanying methodological trajectories (Yalta Yandaş, 2010). This strand of work

in Foucault's studies has been soundly investigated all around the world by miscellaneous studies that reside beneath the broadest umbrella of the Governmentality Perspective, which was sparked by the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies at the beginning of the 1990s, and then followed by a series of critiques (Yalta Yandaş, 2010). Following Foucault's definition of "government as the conduct of conduct" (Foucault, 2007, p. 389), at the beginning of the 1990s, the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies were distinctive as they acknowledged government to be diffused throughout all social interactions. This was an assumption that enabled social scientists to depart from the mainstream readings of neoliberalism as an ideology or policy derived from "the deep-rooted tripartite of state, economy, and civil society when analyzing society and politics" (Foucault, 2008, p. 77-78; Prince et al., 2006, p. 255). As such, these studies provided health-care scholarship with the possibility to comprehend the structure of the health-care system as deriving from a series of *political* rationalities and practices of government rather than topdown impositions of the state on civil society (Prince et al., 2006, p. 256).

Even though such a recalibration of the analytical tools of mainstream analyses brought about significant improvements in research, soon, these pioneers also faced various productive critiques. From within the Governmentality Perspective, Jacques Donzelot and Colin Gordon (Donzelot and Gordon, 2008) asserted that the Anglo-Foucauldian school of governmentality ended up rationalizing the political rationalities it examined rather than criticizing them because their studies reduced Foucault's governmentality studies to a discourse analysis of experts' goals in government, making these descriptions appear more orderly and comprehensive than they are. Moreover, O'Malley et al. (1997, p. 504) highlighted yet another flaw in the Anglo-Foucauldian school of governmentality studies that they can occasionally come out as apolitical due to their nearblindness to power relations. Bröckling et al. (2011, p. 20) also underlined their silence about power relations and social movements.

For the concerns of our research, the most striking critique came from Dean (2006), who criticized the Anglo-Foucauldian school of governmentality studies for focusing solely on the questions of "how," leaving aside the questions of "where" Dean suggested that analytics of government focused on the changing configurations of power relations better take questions of "where" alongside the questions of "how" into account. Moreover, a political geographer, Margo Huxley (2007, p. 190) also warned us that even though the conduct of governmentality in sociological and political frames barely touches on the

question of space, possibly because of these disciplines' long-standing ambivalence about the place of space in social and political relations." In this respect, critics of the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies as those of Dean (2006) and Margo Huxley (2007) called for putting the onus on the ground functioning of power relations in their *actual spatiality*.

This particular critique is the main theoretical stretching board for our doctoral research. In the light of abovementioned critics, we intend not only to focus on "how" questions by concentrating on the real functioning of power relations in their actuality/present mechanisms (an assumption that both the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies and their critiques share and that is actually why we consider both under the broadest umbrella of Governmentality Perspective) but also "where" questions, therefore, the spatiality of these present mechanisms of power relations (stressed by the critiques of governmentality studies). Thus, not to fall prey to the lack of spatiality in Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies highlighted by Dean (2006, 2009) and Huxley (2007), we also seek to carve out the spatiality of the present mechanisms of power relations when it comes to analyzing the dynamics of health care in Türkiye.

Our study, moreover, underlines the need to focus on the actual spatial interactions between multiple actors/agents on micro-meso-macro scales as the untapped potential of the Governmentality Perspective for urban planning studies that focus on the dynamics of health care in Türkiye. Indeed, to have a better grasp of these interactions, we start with the meso scale of this spatiality and focus on the dynamics of health care in an urban context. In this respect, our research focuses on the experiences of contemporary Istanbul to depict some of the meso-scale dynamics of health care in Türkiye. The actuality better said the real, on-the-ground functioning of present mechanisms of power relations is aimed to be grasped by analytics of government with regards to a mesoscale agent other than a central/macro one. Thus, this research aims to underline the untapped potential of the Governmentality Perspective, namely its multi-scale focus keeping the critiques of the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies in mind makes use of the datadriven from an examination of the activities and discourses of Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality with regards to urban health care since the beginning of the 2000s as a practical stretching board.

Even though tables oversimplify dynamics, making use of them may help us picture and clarify ideas. To this end, the following table (Table 1) compares mainstream perspectives with that of governmentality their differing conceptualizations of power, subjects/agents, city/urban context, and neoliberalism.

	Contemporary urban planning studies on urban health care		To upgrade contemporary urban planning on urban health care by governmentality per	studies rspective
	(taken-ror-granted presumptions of mainstream social sciences)	Tapped poten.	tials	Untapped potentials
		Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies	Critiques of Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies	
Power	Analysis of power in its institutional and central forms	Analysis of power positive/present me	er in it chanisms	
	Representations of power relations legislative aspects	Political Rationalities and Practices of Government	Analytics of Government Problematizations, Subjectivities, Technologies	
	Telling the story of dominant sovereign power or democratic party politics	Focusing on "how" questions	Focusing on "how" and "where" questions	
Subjects/Agent:	 State-centric Tripartite of state, economy, and civil society when analyzing society and politics 	Centrifugal/multir Unintended consequer focusing on the ro state in government ai blind eye to other a mechanisms of power in actual govern	ble actors M aces of solely Covern ale of the Govern re turning a by gents and when r operating pra	Aultiple Scales/ Interactions between Multiple Actors ning is not exclusively performed state apparatuses but occurs en on-the-ground reforms and actices come into view during ractions between micro-meso- macro scales.
City	City as merely a physical space or an administrative unit	City as a complex s diverse strategies of g are deployed to reg manage popula	ite where governance ulate and itions	City as a dynamic, terconnected, heterogeneous assemblage
Neoliberalism	As an ideology or policy, an imposed or entirely pre-conceived "project" that limits the state's involvement in society's operations on the principle that less government is better	As a new round and mode of restructuring the social, political and economic contexts, and subjects and their relations to, regulate the society	As an emergent strategy due to giving programmatic coherence to particular technologies and rationalities that were developing in social and governmental bodies	

Table 1. Mainstream perspective versus governmentality perspective

DISCUSSION II: HOW TO MAKE SENSE OF THE UPSURGE IN HEALTH CARE REFORMS IN TÜRKIYE SINCE THE 2000S IN LIGHT OF THE CRITICS OF ANGLO-FOUCAULDIAN GOVERNMENTALITY STUDIES

Near the end of the 1980s, Türkiye joined in the epidemic of health care reforms as well. Yet, after the turn of the new millennium, there has been a considerable surge in such reforms. This paved the way for various analyses from numerous disciplines, mainly from social sciences. Following the trajectory of the academic discussions around the world, the related literature in English on health-care transformation in Türkiye mainly associated it with a more comprehensive framework called neoliberalism, once again viewed as an ideology or policy that is assumed to limit the state. This mainstream approach was soon criticized.

To have a better grasp of the critique put forth by the Governmentality Perspective with an eye on the experiences of Türkiye, the main discussion points between these two approaches can be revealed by way of examining the latter's critique of the former. Indeed, Kohlwes' working paper (2014) provides us with a convenient summary to this end. By making use of the conceptual treasury and methodological toolkits of Anglo-Foucauldian Governmentality Studies, Kohlwes (2014, p. 67) presents a concise literature review of the mainstream health care scholarship on Türkiye-which is echoed in urban planning studies as well within the English social scientific literature as follows:

The body of English social scientific literature particularly dealing with the Turkish health system (Buğra and Keyder, 2006; Coşar and Yegenoğlu, 2009; Grütjen, 2008; Keyder, 2005) has been expanding with the Health Transformation Program (HTP) (such as Ağartan, 2008; Günal, 2008; Kısa and Younis, 2006; Sarp et al., 2002; Tatar and Kanavos, 2006; and Yılmaz, 2013) but remained relatively scarce. The existing sources are for the large part concerned with assessing the health or welfare system for example concerning its "maturity," "inclusiveness," "universality," or "social rights." Others focus their analysis on the deteriorating impact of neoliberalism on social policies and the welfare state at large or attempt to "integrate" the Turkish "welfare regime" into existing cross-national typologies.

Kohlwes (2014) contends that such research is still enmeshed in modernization theories, and that is why the conclusions of such research do not hold up when it comes to understanding the experiences of Türkiye in health care. According to Kohlwes (2014), Türkiye has never had a fully developed welfare system in the first place an idealized model of it as a point of reference. Underlining the unique characteristics of this country and the influences that have been exerted upon it, Kohlwes (2014, p. 34) claims that the health care transformation in Türkiye has taken a different course, mostly shaped by the influence of new international institutions such as the World Health Organization (hereinafter, WHO), policy consultancy by international experts, and the entry of Turkish experts educated abroad into the bureaucratic apparatus further promoted the transfer of knowledge and experience. In this respect, rather than telling the story of "dominant sovereign power or democratic party politics" (Kohlwes, 2014, p. 18), Kohlwes (2014, p. 18) makes use of the analytical toolkit provided by the Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies that investigate a range of discourses and practices: "...tactics, strategies, techniques, programs, dreams and aspirations' of those authorities, experts, doctors, patients,...etc. who attempt to shape beliefs and control of the population, subjects, or citizens." In this respect, the suggestion proposed turns out to be historicizing and contextualizing these processes to distance analysis from the premises of mainstream analyses, and modernization theories that require linear readings.

Apart from Kohlwes' research (2014) that remains within the framework of Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies-therefore, subject to the critiques that these studies have faced when it comes to actual spatiality, there are a few studies that focus on health care transformation in Türkiye through the lenses offered by the works of Foucault and/or the critiques of Anglo-Foucauldian governmentality studies. This strand of research historicizes and contextualizes the subjects and technologies of health care transformation in Türkiye, therefore, these studies mainly shine a light on the interactions between micro and macro scales of governing health care (Aykan and Güvenç Salgırlı, 2013, 2015; Bilge-Ülker, 2019; Günok, 2018; Uluçay, 2016). In this respect, Aykan and Güvenç Salgırlı (2013, p. 306) analyze public spots as a technique of neoliberal governmentality, which, in their words (2013, p. 306), "...works primarily by responsibilizing individuals as health entrepreneurs investing in risk-free lifestyles;" that is, "by conceptualizing health as a matter of self-conduct where personal responsibilities are emphasized" (Aykan and Güvenç Salgırlı, 2015, p. 71). Furthermore, Günok investigates "three phenomena in post-1980 Türkiye by using the concept of neoliberal governmentality that is handled about processes of securitization, economization, and subjectivation" (Günok, 2018, p. iv). Moreover, Bilge-Ülker (2019) attempted to highlight the unfoldings of neoliberalism with an eye on health-care reforms, primarily focusing on the subjects this mode of governmentality produces.

The above-mentioned studies have been quite useful as we share the broader context of the same research subject, namely the dynamics of health care in Türkiye since the 2000s. However, we intend to start out investigating multiscale interactions on a *meso level of analysis*. Moreover, the above-mentioned studies focus on the actual functioning of the government of health care in positive power mechanisms by making use of various tools provided by the Governmentality Perspective. Yet, even though they do take 'how' questions into account, they also seem to set aside "where" questions, therefore, the actual spatiality of governing health care remains unexplored if not merely studied with regards to the interactions between agents on macro or micro scales.

There is only one study along the peripheries of social and political theories that we have come across during our literature review which particularly put forth an analytics of government, and on a meso scale, in an urban context, indeed, on contemporary Istanbul. Yalta Yandaş (2015) focused on Istanbul, by making use of Foucauldian lenses, especially those of the critiques of Anglo-Foucauldian Governmentality Studies, in particular Dean (1999; 2002; 2006) and Dardot and Laval (2012). To inspire similar studies concerned with other regimes of government such as education, crime, security, health care, etc., and to emphasize the decentralized nature of power, the management of populations, and the active role of individuals in governing themselves, Yalta Yandaş examined urban regeneration processes in Istanbul in the 2000s. This study (Yalta Yandaş, 2015) intended to highlight various rationalities, technologies, and subjectivities of government that paved the way for neoliberal governmentality to reshape Istanbul by prioritizing procedural values against politico-ethical ones and limiting politics to a matter of technicality.

Following Yalta Yandaş's footsteps, our research makes use of analytics of government proposed by Dean (1999; 2006; 2009) as well. Yet, while Yalta Yandaş focused on urban regeneration processes in Istanbul in the 2000s, we intend to focus on another regime of government, namely the dynamics of health care in Istanbul in the 2000s. This is to take into account not only the "where" questions but also the meso-scale interactions of actual power relations. In this context and concerning our research subject, the unique contribution of our research derives from its stress not only on the actual functioning of the government of health care in its positive power mechanisms but also on the spatiality of such mechanisms by focusing analytical lenses on a meso, urban context, which is an avenue of research still not pursued fully to this day and with respect to health care. In this respect, we argue that we should not suffice with historicizing and contextualizing regimes of government but also spatializing them soundly on multiple scales and for multiple agents. To this end, we put the onus on the meso scale of Istanbul as a cornerstone, hoping that such recalibration will help us better grasp the interactions between multiple agents on macro-meso-micro scales all at once.

BRIEF II: TAPPED POTENTIALS OF GOVERNMENTALITY PERSPECTIVE IN URBAN STUDIES

The Governmentality Perspective has been used not only by social scientists but also by geographers and urban planners to better understand how cities are governed and how power dynamics impact urban contexts and populations. To start, governmentality studies have been useful in illuminating how decisions are made, policies are created, and urban spaces are governed via methods and technologies of power used by various governmental and non-governmental actors (McFarlane, 2011; 2021). On a parallel front, it has been used in urban planning studies to investigate problems with sanitation, public health, and the provision of health care in urban areas (McFarlane et al., 2011). Furthermore, as technology is increasingly used to manage metropolitan areas, issues about surveillance and control have also surfaced (Lyon, 2007; Monahan and Murakami Wood, 2018). Moreover, studies on governmentality have also looked at how urban planning affects the subjectivities and identities of urban residents (Peck and Tickell, 2002; Simone, 2018). What is more, governmentality research has been used to better understand the roles of developers, planners, legislators, and community members in influencing urban landscapes and resource distribution (Brenner, 2016; 2019). Overall, the notions of governmentality have provided essential tools for scholars to critically study and comprehend the power dynamics, social processes, and governance mechanisms at work in urban contexts.

Given the above-mentioned multiplicity of research avenues that the governmentality perspective has proliferated, it is hypothesized to provide contemporary urban planning studies with an alternative multi-scale analytical tool kit when it comes to analyzing the dynamics of urban health care in Türkiye as well. A possible key to unlocking such potential is to concentrate on these processes at the meso scale in *Istanbul* and the *discourses, practices*, and also the *interactions of the Istanbul Metropolitan Municipality* in the 2000s.

RECALIBRATING ANALYTICAL LENSES: RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND INITIAL FINDINGS

Kohlwes appears to be valid in stressing "the influence of new international institutions such as the World Health Organization, policy consultancy by international experts, and the entry of Turkish experts educated abroad into the bureaucratic apparatus..." (Kohlwes, 2014, p.34). Since the 1980s, there has been an increase in global interactions, as a result of which cities and health care are now more significantly impacted by global political and economic processes as well as those at the individual, municipal, and

national levels. Global conceptions and representations of bodies, health, and illnesses are having an increasing impact on local and individual discourses as well as international financial and health organizations, which in turn have an impact on national health policies. Numerous organizations that concentrate on global health challenges, such as contagious illnesses, sanitation, nutrition, housing quality, and access to health care services, flourished on the macro scale. For example, the WHO (2006, p. 1) defines health on holistic grounds: "not only as the absence of illness, disability or weakness but a state of physical, mental, and social well-being." In light of this definition, it has enforced programs such as Healthy Cities 2010 for local governments to improve the quality of life in their cities (Vlahov et al., 2004). As Navarro (2007) indicates, additionally, the World Bank and International Monetary Fund have suggested a standard model of privatization for developing countries' health sectors, and most of these countries have followed their advice.

As a result, on-the-ground reforms have soon emerged in macro-national contexts as the actual reflections of these macro-international discourse sets. In fact, one encounters a terminology similar to that of the WHO after studying the Justice and Development Party's (hereinafter, JDP) discourses and practices on urban health care, the Parliament's related discussions of urban health care, the Ministry of Health's discourse and practices in the context of Istanbul, Turkish Industrialists' and Businessmen's Association's reports (hereinafter TUSIAD) since 2003. This was indeed the result of the political and economic collaborations that had previously been started: Since the 1980s, Türkiye has implemented two WHO-sponsored health initiatives (Sur and Atlı, 2001; Yıldırım, 2001). The most comprehensive of these reforms, the Health Care Transformation Program (2003, hereinafter HTP) has been initiated with the support of the World Health Organization as well, which was designed in two phases: Program for Transformation in Health (2003-2009) and Health Transformation and Social Security Reform (2009–2014).

These reforms have had direct influences on the *micro scale* and they were mutually shaped by the conduct of various agents stretching from patients and doctors to health care management and staff, as well. On the one hand, a consumerist form of the patient, better said, *patient as user* evolved (Bilge-Ülker, 2019, p. 65-78); on the other hand, in the digital age, this *patient-consumer* started to be expected to take ever more responsibilities and be the comanager of his conditions (Crawshaw, 2012; Lupton, 2014; 2016). Doctors, nurses, and health-care staff along with the management, all had to acclimatize to the reorganization of their field as well.

In this context, we depicted that the untapped potential of the governmentality perspective when it comes to analyzing the dynamics of health care in Türkiye can be unlocked by focusing on the missing scale of analysis in the face of the above-mentioned interactions: the meso scale. Reflected on the mirror of Istanbul - an ever-expanding ecumenopolis (Ecumenopolis: City Without Limits, 2012), a product of ample forms of power investments - and the discourses and practices of its metropolitan municipality as an actor engaged in the regulation of urban health care (hereinafter IMM) and with an eye on its actual and spatial interactions with other agents on micro and macro levels, our research intends to carve out the tactics and strategies employed in governing health care in Türkiye along the lines of territory, capital, architecture, distribution, hierarchy, circulation, events, and risks as required by analytics of government¹. In this context, the following research questions emerged in guidance of Dean's related work (1999, p. 21-31):

- (Techne of governing health care) Which tools, mechanisms, procedures, and techniques that multiple agents use, for the concerns of this research, as a start, particularly the IMM, to set authority on meso-scale/ urban health care?
- (Episteme of governing health care)
- Which problematizations gave rise to the discourses and practices but also the interactions of IMM with other agents from various scales when it comes to governing health care in the meso context of Istanbul?
- o On what kind of *thought processes* (calculation and strategy) that these tools, mechanisms, procedures, and techniques are built upon?
- (Fields of visibility) How goals in urban health care are visualized in IMM's power and *authority diagrams* (for instance, in its Activity Reports and Bulletins)?
- (Spatiality of governing health care) Not only how, but also where do the elements of the health care regime in Istanbul operate? To this end, this research hypothesizes that focusing on city hospitals along the lines of *territory*, *capital*, *architecture*, *distribution*, *hierarchy*, and the health care system during pandemics along the lines of *circulation*, *events*, *and risks* provide us with convenient stretching boards.
- (Ethos of governing health care)
- What kind of *subjects* is aimed to be produced as a result of the goals set by IMM for urban health care?
- o What kind of power relations are involved in governing health care in Istanbul in the 2000s?

This mid-range analytical tool along the lines of the above-mentioned themes and research questions proved to be more than useful in capturing the swift transitions between micro-meso-macro scales stretching from self and populations to local, national, regional, and international organizations and communities clustering around the theme

of health care in Istanbul. Our initial findings which are still in the making revealed interactions between diverse agents that problematize the current system and offer a solution within a... "business" rather than "public service culture" (Prince et al., 2006, p. 258). This seems to be the emergent plan of action that gives coherence to other already present actual and spatial power mechanisms (Prince et al., 2006, p. 256). A socio-political rationality that deems the market as the best distributor of health care appeared to underlie on-the-ground reforms when we focus on the meso scale of contemporary Istanbul. Furthermore, market principles appeared to decide on "the degree and type of governmental intervention" (Dean, 1999; Foucault, 2008; and Petrakaki et al., 2018) when it comes to urban health care, which is an indication for the actual and spatial functioning of neoliberal governmentality in Türkiye through Istanbul.

CONCLUSION

Due to the epidemic of health care reforms all around the world in tandem with the urban population expected to rise to 70% of the world population in just a quarter century, a theoretical revitalization in contemporary urban planning studies is necessary to analyze the dynamics of health care in Türkiye. To adequately address ever-more complicated urban problems and to go beyond descriptions of the status quo, contemporary urban planning studies, especially those that focus on the dynamics and challenges of urban health care better rearrange and diversify their analytical tools. In this context, this article attempted to suggest making use of a practical, analytical, and hopefully critical toolkit to this end. Upgrading the major lenses used by contemporary urban planning studies efficiency, accessibility, design, and sustainability of social rights - with those of analytics of government-territory, capital, architecture, distribution, hierarchy, circulation, events, and risks - has the potential to shine a light on the government of contemporary health care in Istanbul operating on multiple scales all at once. By making use of governmentality perspectives, urban planners can gain critical insights into the actual spatiality of regimes of government in cross-cultural urban contexts.

NOTE

¹Putting the onus on the spatial dynamics of healthcare via IMM's online publications, namely it's Activity Reports and Bulletins indeed, opened up a wealth of research avenues which is the subject of the dissertation we currently work upon, therefore, also the subject of another article on methodological explorations. In this article, we suffice to lay out the theoretical groundwork.

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Ağartan, T. İ. (2008). Turkish Health System in Transition: Historical Background and Reform Experience [Doctoral, State University of New York at Binghamton]. https://www.proquest.com/openview/ a00bc003d47993ccc98902f33adfe113/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750
- Ashton, T., Bolgiani, I., Cheng, T.-M., Chinitz, D., Lim, M.-K., Meislin, R., Maarse, H., & Tenbesel, T. (2009).
 Six Countries, Six Reform Models The Healthcare Reform Experience of Israel, The Netherlands, New Zealand, Singapore, Switzerland, and Taiwan, World Scientific, Singapore. (K. G. H. Okma & L. Crivelli, Eds.). World Scientific.
- Aykan, B., & Güvenç Salgırlı, S. (2013). Public Spots as a Neoliberal Governmental Risk Strategy in Contemporary Turkey. Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 2(8), 304–310. https://doi.org/10.5901/ ajis.2013.v2n8p304
- Aykan, B., & Güvenç Salgırlı, S. (2015). Responsibilizing Individuals, Regulating Health: Debating Public Spots, Risk, and Neoliberal Governmentality in Contemporary Turkey. New Perspectives on Turkey, 53, 71–92.
- Berkman, A. G. (1992). Location of Health Facilities and Geography of Health in Ankara [Doctoral]. Middle East Technical University.
- Bilge-Ülker, D. (2019). Neoliberal Governmentality Of Health in Turkey, A Case Study Of Constitution Of 'Healthy Woman' As A Subject [Doctoral]. Middle East Technical University.
- Boyacı, İ. (2021). Türkiye Sağlık Sisteminin Dönüşümü (2003-13): Sağlık Hizmet Bölgeleri Planlaması ve Şehir Hastaneleri [Health System Transformation in Turkey (2003-13): Health Service Areas Planning and City Hospitals]. İstanbul Ticaret Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 20(40), 358–376. https:// doi.org/10.46928/iticusbe.769087
- Brenner, N. (2016). Critique of Urbanization: Selected Essays. In Critique of Urbanization. Bauwelt Fundamente - Birkhäuser Verlag. https://doi. org/10.1515/9783035607956
- Brenner, N. (2019). New Urban Spaces: Urban Theory and the Scale Question. Oxford University Press.
- Bröckling, U., Krasmann, S., & Lemke, T. (Eds.). (2011). Governmentality: Current Issues and Future Chal-

lenges. Routledge. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/234072666

- Buğra, A., & Keyder, Ç. (2006). The Turkish Welfare Regime in Transformation. Journal of European Social Policy, 16(3), 211–228. https://doi. org/10.1177/0958928706065593
- Çetiner, A. (1972). Şehircilik Çalışmalarında Donatım İlkeleri: Ticaret Eğitim Sağlık Sosyal İdare Endüstri Yeşil. ITU Mimarlık Fakültesi.
- Çiftçi, Ç. (1999). Türkiye'de Büyükşehir Statüsündeki Bazı Kentlerde Sosyal Donatım Alanlarının Durumu ve Planlama ile İlişkileri.
- Coşar, S., & Yegenoğlu, M. (2009). The Neoliberal Restructuring of Turkey's Social Security System. Monthly Review an Independent Socialist Magazine , 60(11), 36–49. https://monthlyreview.org/2009/04/01/ the-neoliberal-restructuring-of-turkeys-social-security-system/
- Coveney, J. (1998). The Government and Ethics of Health Promotion: the Importance of Michel Foucault. Health Education Research, Theory and Practice, 13(3), 459–468. http://her.oxfordjournals.org/
- Crawshaw, P. (2012). Governing at a Distance: Social Marketing and The (Bio) politics of Responsibility. Social Science and Medicine, 75(1), 200–207. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.02.040
- Dardot, P., & Laval, C. (2012). Dünyanın Yeni Aklı: Neoliberal Toplum Üzerine Deneme [The New Way of the World: On Neoliberal Society] (1st ed.). Istanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Dean, M. (1999). Governmentality: Power and Rule in Modern Society (1st ed.). Sage Publications.
- Dean, M. (2002). Liberal Government and Authoritarianism. Economy and Society, 31(1), 37–61. https://doi. org/10.1080/03085140120109240
- Dean, M. (2006). A Political Mythology of World Order: Carl Schmitt's Nomos. Theory, Culture & Society, 23(5), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276406067095
- Dean, M. (2009). Governmentality: Power and Rule in Modern Society (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Donzelot, J., & Gordon, C. (2008). Governing Liberal Societies – The Foucault Effect in the English-speaking World. In Foucault Studies (Vol. 5, pp. 48–62).
- Ecumenopolis: City Without Limits. (2012). Imre Azem. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=maEcPKBX-V0M
- Ershova, S., Orlovskaya, T., & Shishelova, S. (2018). Methodology of Planning Social Infrastructure Development to Create a Comfortable Urban Environment. MATEC Web of Conferences 170, 170, 1–6. https:// doi.org/10.1051/matecconf/201817002018
- Foucault, M. (2007). Security, Territory, Population: Lectures at the Collège de France 1977-1978 (M. Senellart, F. Ewald, & A. Fontana, Eds.). Palgrave Mac-

millan.

- Foucault, M. (2008). The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College de France 1978-1979 (M. Senellart, F. Ewald, A. Fontana, & A. J. Davidson, Eds.). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Giaimo, S. (2002). Markets and Medicine: The Politics of Healthcare Reform in Britain, Germany, and the United States. University of Michigan Press.
- Gökkaya, D., & Erdem, R. (2021). Türkiye'de Kamu Özel Ortaklığı Bağlamında Şehir Hastanelerinin Değerlendirilmesi: Nitel Bir Araştırma [Evaluation of City Hospitals in the Context of Public Private Partnership in Turkey: A Qualitative Research]. International Journal of Economic and Administrative Studies, 31, 73–96. https://doi.org/10.18092/ulikidince.771797
- Grütjen, D. (2008). The Turkish Welfare Regime: An Example Of The Southern European Model? The Role Of The State, Market and Family in Welfare Provision. Turkish Policy Quarterly, 7(1), 111–129. http:// www.spf.boun.edu.tr/docs/WP-Bugra-Keyder.pdf.
- Günal, A. (2008). Health and Citizenship in Republican Turkey: An Analysis of the Socialization of Health Services in Republican Historical Context [Doctoral]. Boğaziçi University.
- Günok, F. E. (2018). Neoliberal Governmentality in Turkey [Master of Science]. Middle East Technical University.
- Huxley, M. (2007). Geographies of Governmentality. In J. W. Crampton & S. Elden (Eds.), Space, Knowledge and Power: Foucault and Geography (pp. 185–204). Ashgate.
- Işın, E. F. (2000). Governing Cities Without Government. In E. F. Işın (Ed.), Democracy, Citizenship and the Global City (pp. 148–167). Routledge.
- Kemeç, S., Kamacı, E., & Mert, Y. (2019). Van Kenti Acil Sağlık Birimlerinin Mekansal Erişilebilirlik Durum Analizi [Physical Accessibility Analysis of Emergency Health Units of Van City]. Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Dergisi, 24(1), 22–23.
- Keyder, Ç. (2005). Health Sector Reform in the context of Turkish Political Economy. Workshop Paper on Health Reform in Comparative Perspective.
- Kısa, A., & Younis, M. Z. (2006). Financing Health Care For The Poor In Turkey: Is A Temporary Solution Becoming A Permanent Scheme? Public Health Reports, 121, 764–768. http://www.cia.gov/publications/factbook/
- Kohlwes, S. (2014). Governing Health: Transformations in the Turkish Health Care System (8; GeT MA Working Paper Series). https://edoc.hu-berlin.de/bitstream/handle/18452/3740/8.pdf?sequence=1
- Larner, W. (2006). Neoliberalism: Policy, Ideology, Governmentality. In M. de Goede (Ed.), International Po-

litical Economy and Poststructural Politics (Issue 1, pp. 199–218). Palgrave Macmillan.

- Latham, A., & Layton, J. (2019). Social Infrastructure and the Public Life of Cities: Studying Urban Sociality and Public Spaces. Geography Compass, 13(7), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12444
- Lupton, D. (2014). Apps as Artefacts: Towards a Critical Perspective on Mobile Health and Medical Apps. Societies, 4, 606–622. https://doi.org/10.3390/ soc4040606
- Lupton, D. (2016). The Diverse Domains of Quantified Selves: Self-tracking Modes and Dataveillance. Economy and Society, 45(1), 101–122. https://doi.or g/10.1080/03085147.2016.1143726
- Lyon, D. (2007). Surveillance Studies: An Overview. Polity Press.
- Marchand, J.-S., Tremblay, D., & Denis, J.-L. (2020). Governmentality as a Relevant Idea for the Study of Healthcare Networks: A Scoping Review. In P. Nugus, C. Rodriguez, J.-L. Denis, & D. Chênevert (Eds.), Transitions and Boundaries in the Coordination and Reform of Health Services Building Knowledge, Strategy and Leadership (1st ed., pp. 115–148). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Marmor, T. R. (1994). Understanding Healthcare Reform. Yale University Press.
- McFarlane, C. (2011). Learning the City: Knowledge and Translocal Assemblage. Wiley Blackwell.
- McFarlane, C. (2021). Fragments of the City: Making and Remaking Urban Worlds. University of California Press.
- McFarlane, C., Desai, R., & Graham, S. (2011). Everyday Sanitation: Informal Settlements in Mumbai. Durham University / AlphaGraphics .
- Monahan, T., & Murakami Wood, D. (Eds.). (2018). Surveillance Studies: A Reader. Oxford University Press.
- Navarro, V. (2007). Assessment of the World Health Report 2000. In V. Navarro (Ed.), Neoliberalism, Globalization and Inequalities: Consequences for Health and Quality of Life (pp. 282–297). Routledge .
- O'Malley, P., Weir, L., & Shearing, C. (1997). Governmentality, Criticism, Politics. Economy and Society, 26(4), 501–517. https://doi. org/10.1080/03085149700000026
- Paköz, M. Z. (2014). Sağlık Hizmetlerine Erişim ve Hastane Yer Seçimi: İstanbul Örneği [Access to Healthcare and Hospital Location: Case of Istanbul] [Doctoral]. Istanbul Technical University.
- Peck, J., & Tickell, A. (2002). Neoliberalizing space. Antipode, 34(3), 380–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8330.00247
- Petrakaki, D., Hilberg, E., & Waring, J. (2018). Between Empowerment and Self-discipline: Governing Patients' Conduct Through Technological Self-care. Social

Science and Medicine, 213, 146–153. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.07.043

- Prince, R., Kearns, R., & Craig, D. (2006). Governmentality, Discourse and Space in the New Zealand Health Care System, 1991-2003. Health and Place, 12, 253–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2004.09.003
- Rose, N., & Miller, P. (1992). Political Power Beyond the State: Problematics of Government. The British Journal of Sociology, 43(2), 173–205. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01247.x
- Şahin, S. Z. (2018). Evolution of the Relationship Between Urban Planning and Urban Infrastructure. Planlama, 28(1), 6-11. https://doi.org/10.14744/planlama.2018.75547
- Sarp, N., Esatoğlu, A. E., & Akbulut, Y. (2002). An Example of Health Sector Reform in Turkey: Hospital Decentralization (Health Enterprises). Journal of Ankara Medical School, 55(1), 9–18.
- Simone, A. (2018). Improvised lives: Rhythms of Endurance in an Urban South. John Wiley & Sons.
- Sur, H., & Atlı, H. (2001). Türkiye'de Sağlık Reformu Çalışmalarına Bir Bakış. Yeni Türkiye Dergisi, 40, 1163–1167.
- Tatar, M., & Kanavos, P. (2006). Health Care Reform in Turkey. Eurohealth, 12(1), 20–22. www.lse.ac.uk/collections/LSEHealth/documents/
- Twaddle, A. C. (Ed.). (2002). Healthcare Reform Around the World (1st ed.). Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Uluçay, H. (2016). Türkiye'de 1980-2009 Dönemi Nüfus Hareketi Pratiğine Foucault'cu Bir Bakış: Bilgi-İktidar-Kendilik Teknolojileri Çözümlemesi [A Foucauldian Perspective on the Practice of Population Movement in Turkey between 1980-2009: Analyzing Technologies of Knowledge-Power-Self] [Doctoral]. Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University.
- Vlahov, D., Gibble, E., Freudenberg, N., & Galea, S. (2004). Cities and Health: History, Approaches, and Key Questions. Academic Medicine, 79(12), 1133–1138.
- World Bank. (2018). Urban Population (% of Total Population). https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB. TOTL.IN.ZS
- World Health Organization. (2006). Constitution of the World Health Organization. Basic Documents . https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/ documents/publications/basic-documents-constitution-of-who179f0d3d-a613-4760-8801-811dfce250af.pdf?sfvrsn=e8fb384f_1&download=true
- Yalta Yandaş, Ö. (2010). Michel Foucault'nun Yönetimsellik Serüveni [Michel Foucault's Adventure of Governmentality] [Doctoral]. Ankara University.
- Yalta Yandaş, Ö. (2015). 2000'li Yıllarda İstanbul'un Kentsel Dönüşüm Süreçlerinin Yönetim Analitiği. Ayrıntı Dergi. https://ayrintidergi.com.tr/2000li-yillarda-istanbulun-kentsel-donusum-sureclerinin-yone-

tim-analitigi/

- Yıldırım, S. (2001). Değişimin Getirdiği Reform İhtiyacı. Yeni Türkiye Dergisi, 40, 1140–1144.
- Yılmaz, E., & Kamacı Karahan, E. (2020). Stratejik Planlama Ekseninde Erişilebilirlik: Tampon ve Ağ Analizlerinin Karşılaştırılmalı Değerlendirilmesi [Accessibility in the Context of Strategic Planning: Buffer Vs. Network Analysis]. Nigde Omer Halis-

demir University Journal of Engineering Sciences, 9(1), 335-349. https://doi.org/10.28948/ngu-muh.620361

Yılmaz, V. (2013). Changing Origins of Inequalities in Access to Health Care Services in Turkey: From Occupational Status to Income. New Perspectives on Turkey, 48, 55–77. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s0896634600001886



Article

Megaron https://megaron.yildiz.edu.tr - https://megaronjournal.com DOI: https://doi.org/10.14744/megaron.2023.30776

MMGARON

Urban transformation in the context of the right to the city and citizens' rights: The case of Trabzon Beşikdüzü

Nisa ERDEM^{*}, Suna ERSAVAŞ KAVANOZ

Department of Public Administration, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon, Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received: 20 December 2022 Revised: 16 September 2023 Accepted: 17 September 2023

Key words: Beşikdüzü; production of space; right to the city; urban rights; urban transformation.

ABSTRACT

While cities make decisions regarding urban space, citizens who experience effects of decisions are excluded from decision-making processes. Urban plans are generally designed regardless of residents. The pursuit of searching for answer to the question: "Who are managing cities?" by urban politics, necessitates both neo-liberal urbanism and answer to the question "to whom cities belong." Since the 2000s, the concept of "right to the city" has been frequently brought to the agenda in the search for an answer. The problem of the study is "What are the results of urban transformation practices in the context of the right to the city and the rights of the citizens? In this context, the aim of the study is to discuss the results of urban transformation practices to produce urban space in relation to the violations of the right to the city and the right of the citizens, through the example of Beşikdüzü. The study was prepared with knowledge that urban transformation and spatial changes in Beşikdüzü led to the desire of citizens to own the in 2014-2019. Study reveals that the participation of city residents in the decisions taken regarding the production of urban space hasn't been enabled, there have been implementations that violate the rights of city residents, and the decisions have resulted in the destruction of the spaces which represent the identity of city, have led to the demand for conservation of city-by-city residents.

Cite this article as: Erdem N, Ersavaş Kavanoz S. Urban transformation in the context of the right to the city and citizens' rights: The case of Trabzon Beşikdüzü. Megaron 2023;18(3):425–437.

INTRODUCTION

The urban built environments of cities are subject to a constant change. Rent potentials of aged living spaces in city centers have emerged concurrently with the neoliberal transition. Space has evolved into a marketable commodity. As a result, urban areas have become the primary focus of headquarters (Kuran, 2021: 177). On the other hand, for each political government to express itself corporally is

possible by leaving a mark on an urban built environment. Thus, capital accumulation is achieved via the production of an urban space. Along with this, the channels, in which the changes within the urban built environment of cities could take place with the consent of the residents of a city, are restrained. This restraint leads the administrators, who hold a permeable force against the demands of capital accumulation and current conditions, to make decisions regarding changing the urban built environment despite

*Corresponding author

*E-mail adres: asenhu5@gmail.com



Published by Yıldız Technical University, İstanbul, Türkiye This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

the sensitiveness of residents. As neoliberalism, market and change-oriented intervention, spatial inequalities, and displacement processes, urban administrators change and the understanding of urban entrepreneurship, which tends to draw the investment onto itself during an intercity competition, evolves; the suppression for a change upon the urban built environment increases, therefore, resulting in changes that would destruct the memory of a city. These changes, in turn, lead to urban social movements by bringing about violations of rights. "Right to the city," which suggest residents having a voice on the changes occurring in cities, and "urban rights," which is expressed in detail in various international documents, are used together with the understanding of participation, when we examine today's practices. The right to the city is a struggle of individuals and communities (Balzarini and Shlay, 2015: 505). However, right to the city prescriptions lack any political component that ensures that the outcomes of such battles will either challenge neoliberalism or be redistributive. Without any political content, the right to the city generates competing claims on the community (Kartal and Gençtürk, 2022: 75).

This study touches on the right to the city and urban rights, and therefore provides information on city councils, which are considered to be one of the limited methods of participation in urban policy in Turkey. The fact that "right to the city" in the recent years have been used often in international agreements, academic literature, alternative policy pursuits and for public opposition, have led this concept to expand as to embody many distinct references. Purcell (2014: 142), stresses that despite the expansion of the content of this concept, Lefebvre considers right to the city a fundamental component of a wider political conflict for revolution, rather than an addition to current liberal democratic rights. This emphasis also constitutes the main reason for the need to consider the concepts of "the right to the city" and "the urban rights" apart from each other. The reason why the history of Beşikdüzü County's Village Institute is included in the study is to reveal the emergence of objections toward urban transformation practices in Beşikdüzü, in relation to the spatial changes in the city, as well as social and political reasons and the existence of citizens with urban ethics. Based on environmental ethics, Akkoyunlu Ertan (2008a) analyzes urban ethics under two headings: the practical level, where decisions are made on how we should live in the city, and the abstract and academic level, which involves thinking about how we make decisions regarding the future of the city, what we value, and how we carry urban values into the future. In the same study, he also states the necessity of urban ethics being at the basis of the cooperation efforts of managers and individuals who produce spatial and urban structures for the benefit of society. Through this, individuals who are raised with urban awareness will realize the problems in their urban environment and make cooperative efforts to

produce solutions to these problems for present and future generations (Akkoyunlu Ertan, 2008a).

NEOLIBERAL URBANIZATION: THE RIGHT TO HAVE A SAY IN THE PRODUCTION OF URBAN SPACE AND URBAN TRANSFORMATION IN THE CONTEXT OF "THE RIGHT TO THE CITY" AND "URBAN RIGHTS"

Each type of society and each form of design has its own specific type of a city (Lefebvre, 1996). We are in a phase, which has been called "neoliberal" since 1980s, in which corporatization, liberalization, implementing private sector approaches in public sector as well, have been related to efficiency, and localization and globalization have been focused on. In this phase in question, the growth in building trade due to production of space, establishment of cities, and even establishment of new cities, and large-scale megaprojects have been carried into effect. Neoliberal urban policies are performed through a constant building and destruction and reconstruction of urban built environment, for accumulation of capital, and the most prominent one of these implementation tools is called "urban transformation."

Secondary circuit of capital is based on the investments made on urban built environment. For capitalism to expand and for capital accumulation to disentangle the crises/conflicts which it involves in, there has been changes experienced in urban built environments of cities from past to present, hence, urban housing and infrastructure investments play a determinant role in capital accumulation (Harvey, 1982). In this aspect, the roles of state and finance are of remarkable importance as well. Within this dominant urbanization model, urban managements that are in a competition with one another attempt to implement urban plans that are to draw the investments to themselves through an entrepreneurship suppression. Cities are renovated by change values rather than value of use. One of the most important urban policy tools in this renovation process is urban transformation applications. At the same time, one of the most commonly utilized conceptualizations of the capital-space interaction under neoliberalism is the concept of urban transformation (Kuran, 2021: 175). Urban renovation practices date back to the process that started with the industrial revolution, and today's practices are based on an economic-centered approach that includes urban revitalization (Özden, 2016: 49-50). In this context, in today's world, urban transformation policies are attributed an important role with the reasoning that the transformation of the urban built environment will attract international capital and revitalize many sectors and consequently create social welfare. In addition, the preservation and maintenance of historical areas through the urban transformation policies are aimed (Türkün, 2014: 5-8; Öktem Ünsal and Türkün, 2014). While old city

centers undergo urban transformation under the name of urban renovation, the necessity of preserving their original identity requires "renovation by preserving," that is taking urban conservation principles into account (Özden, 2016: 47). However, when we look at the urban transformation practices, it is seen that these principles have not been carried out. At the same time, all segments of the society cannot benefit equally from the urban rent generated by urban transformation practices. In addition to this unequal distribution, the fact that urban transformation decisions are carried out together with free market actors in practice and that urban residents are excluded from decision-making mechanisms also deepens the unequal power relations. Although any change to be made in the urban built environment determines the future of the people living in the city, these decisions are determined by a group of central and local administrators and potential investors, and the people living in the city may be left out of the decision-making processes (Türkün, 2014: 5-8; Öktem Ünsal and Türkün, 2014).

Urban built environment holds the fundamental role in disentangling-although temporarily-the over-accumulation crisis of capital through spatial expansion and temporal shift (Harvey, 1989). Urban transformation practices function as production inputs for capital accumulation in the commodification of cities in global capitalism (Şahin, 2015: 85). Although the city governments which aim to draw the investment into their side, make decisions regarding urban spaces, the citizens, who are to experience all the outputs and impacts of the decisions in question, are excluded of these decision-making processes. In addition, urban plans are designed and implemented without the participation of the people of the city and without being fully discussed. The pursuits of searching for an answer for the question: "Who run cities?" by urban politics, necessitate both neoliberal urbanism practices and an answer for the question "to whom cities belong" through putting it on the agenda. Within this context, the recent practices in 30-40 years have put the concept "right to the city" on the agenda of the search for answer in question, since 2000s.

The concept "right to the city" is theocratized by Lefebvre. Lefebvre (1996) who considers city as a work close to a work of art rather than a material product, regards production of city as a human production and reproduction. According to Lefebvre, production of urban space necessarily includes the reproduction of social relations related to the space to be produced. Production of urban space, therefore, requires much more than planning material space of a city, hence, includes production and reproduction of entire aspects of urban life. According to Lefebvre (1996) *the right to the city is like a cry and a demand*... Through right to the city, individuals will therefore transform their own daily lives by having a voice on the decisions to be made in regard to city.

Harvey (2012), suggests that right to the city is one of the most neglected fundamental human rights and defines the rights in question as a set of rights that is beyond an individual freedom of accessing resources, and rights for changing the city, thus, changing one's own self reinvention of city. In this sense, since the demands of dissentient movements, which are to congregate under right to the city slogan, are one of the primary channels of urban process plus production and use of product, there needs to be more inspections with respect to maintaining democratic control on plus value via urbanization. Harvey, (2012), stresses that right to the city needs to target the capital accumulation that exploits collective spaces, and, that it needs to be understood as a set of rights purposes of which is reproduction through a completely different model, which is to eliminate poverty and inequality, to repair the destruction imposed on the environment, rather than being a set of rights on something that currently exists.

The "right to the city" cannot be put into reality in concrete terms in the capitalist system, which is nourished by unequal relations and can only survive because of these unequal ties. In other words, due to the unequal nature of capitalism, it is impossible to realize a "urban administration" in which everyone is at an equal distance, individuals have a say in all city decisions, and all urban resources and opportunities are distributed equally and fairly to the people of the city (Şahin, 2015: 76). Accordingly, Purcell (2002), who regards right to the city not as a completed resolution, but as a movement towards a new urban policy, hence, describes as urban politics of citizens, suggests that global reconstruction processes after the year 1970 led to changes on urban management models, and, in addition to this, residents are excluded from the decisions that shape cities. Local administrations that move from demand-oriented redistribution to supply-oriented competition perform the practices, which are to draw the capital accumulation onto themselves, together with non-governmental organizations via efficiency pursuits. Therefore, this leads to the decisions of actors other than local governments, who are not elected, thus, are not subject to democratic control, shaping cities. Purcell, (2002: 101-103) positions right to the city towards production of urban space, by moving decision-making away from the state. Purcell highlights the necessity of shifting the control on all the decisions that contribute to production of urban space from capital accumulation and the state to city residents, with reference to Lefebvre. Right to the city contains the voices of residents of cities in areas related to nonstate decisions that produces urban space, as well. Right to the city which includes the right for participation and residence, embodies the direct contributions of residents to entire decisions that produce urban space in their cities. In addition to this, Purcell (2002: 104), expresses that citizen live in intertwined concrete scales that restrains their participation and these

scales are formed in a hierarchical relation. Therefore, it is possible to come into question that decisions made through participation in lower scales could deteriorate on higher scales.

Marcuse (2014), in evaluating different readings of the right to the city in the context of its relationship with the struggles for the right to the city, states that the strategic reading of the right to the city is seen as an umbrella concept by many different social segments that are dissatisfied with their living conditions and disadvantaged in today's urban society and that alliances are formed accordingly. Marcuse interprets the content of this use of the concept in the direction of the demand for inclusion in the city as a step with more limited claims rather than contradicting the content used by Lefebvre. The discontented reading of the concept, on the other hand, involves the demand for rights by people who think that it is not enough to just be included in the current city, and that they feel incompatible in a society over which they have no control. The spatial reading of the concept, while having a narrower scope in practice, includes the efforts to design and manage a better city. Marcuse argues that a spatial reading of the right to the city-because it is likely to show alternatives for the disaffected rather than changing power relations that lead to further exploitation and exclusion-distracts from the broader goals of struggles for the right to the city, and that in this context it can only be seen as an addition to the right to the city movements. The collaborationist reading of the concept has a content in which radical content is warped in the context of its support for moderate reform efforts. When the concept is included in a condition that is recognised officially, it takes on a content that supports the search for rationality and consensus, where the inevitability of conflict and the necessity of struggle are explicitly rejected. The subversive reading of the concept, on the other hand, refers to demands and actions that can produce transformative results. This reading points to the radical goals of Lefebvre's original work and the related aims of social movements and economic struggles that have inspired and continue to inspire political protest movements throughout history (Marcuse, 2014).

Policies and practices for participation in urban decisions have been developed along with the governance approach after 1990. In relation to this context, we see that the right to the city has been removed from its revolutionary content and included in international documents as "urban rights" in a way that includes a collaborative and spatial reading of the right in question. In various international documents such as European Urban Charter and European Urban Charter II, the "right to participate" as a citizen, is regulated among the fundamental rights, grounding on consulting with citizens in all the decisions that are to affect the future of a society (Pektaş and Akın, 2010; Akkoyunlu Ertan, 2008b: 9; Çelik, 2013: 220). The right to the city as an urban right is considered within the third generation of human rights and at the same time makes it possible to achieve urban social sustainability (Akkoyunlu Ertan, 2008b: 126, 135). However, city rights are linked to firstand second-generation rights. "Right to settle" is one of the first generation rights that can be considered basic human rights. The "right to settle" in first generation rights evolved into "The right to housing" in second generation rights. Urban rights are one of the most significant aspects of this stage, which encompasses rights such as the right to the environment, the right to peace, and the right to profit from humanity's collective heritage. As previously indicated, "right to settle" in the first generation rights becomes "right to housing" in the second generation rights, and "quality of life" in the third generation rights (Arslan, 2014: 34). Urban rights include, in relation to human rights, because a citizen is a member of the city they reside in as well as all the rights they have as a human being, a citizen's having voice on all urban and environmental values and decisions in the city (Karasu, 2008: 38).

And right of participation includes right to the city context, which includes not only an individual's participation in decision-making processes of managements, but also participation in processes of production of urban space. Enabling participation of public in decision-making processes, which is one of the steps to carry right to the city into effect, will decrease the crimes committed against cities as well (Karasu, 2012: 524). The right to the city entails the creation of an urban environment for everyone, taking into account the requirements and expectations of all city segments. However, in such an urban area, there can be civic freedom, an environment of involvement and negotiation, the preservation of personal distinctions, and the reduction of poverty, social isolation, and urban crime (Bahçeci Başparmak, 2020: 228-229). The process of designing urban space is accomplished by technical and political personals due to the consensus on that the balances between two parties could change. On the other hand, results of spatial changes have the potential to affect all residents of cities.

Interventions against urban built environments in many different cities are performed through urban transformation projects and gentrifications. Nonetheless, residents of cities, conserving their living environments, intending upon having a voice on spaces being shaped in different forms is related to that citizen may have adequate physical, economic, social and cultural conditions (Akkoyunlu Ertan, 2008b: 2). In order for right to the city to be performed within the frame of conserving and improving urban environment, it requires to accord the right for citizens to be informed of plans, projects and implementations which can deteriorate urban environment, the right for participation which enables individuals and communities to participate in decisions regarding their cities, the right for resort which enables individuals and communities to resort to the jurisdiction in case of deterioration of urban environment. Akkoyunlu Ertan (2008a), who regards citizen ethics a significant support in accomplishing right to the city, regards citizen ethics as a moral responsibility for production of an urban environment, in the way of conscious and responsible individuals who are aware of the problems occurring in their cities, conserving the rights of future generations, befitting to human dignity (Akkoyunlu Ertan, 2008b: 3-4, as cited in Kaboğlu, 1994).

The concept of the right to the city, which Lefebvre views as the fundamental component of a political struggle, is expanded by Harvey (2012) who adds the content of "social justice" to it, emphasizes its use value and radical revolutionary content, and then uses it to describe a variety of struggles. They have their reading. With more people residing there, cities have transformed into fundamental living areas and have emerged as structures where rights will be upheld. Therefore, the right to the city has been used in multiple contexts to fight for rights and end inequalities rather than just in the context of actions in the urban environment.

RESEARCH

In the research chapter of the study, firstly, the information which are remarkable in the sense of being illustrative with the research findings regarding county of Beşikdüzü, following that, the research method and the findings obtained with respect to field survey specific to Beşikdüzü will be presented afterwards.

Table 1. Profile of interviewee council members

Methodology

In the study, qualitative research methodology was employed. The qualitative research process is divided into seven steps: Topic selection, focus question, study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, and informing others (Neuman, 2010a: 22). These steps were carried out within the parameters of the study. Furthermore, many methods have been used during the data collection step (Neuman, 2010b: 548). Field study is one of them. The study included field study as well.

Beşikdüzü Municipal Council consists of 16 members including the mayor. Within the scope of the study, semistructured interviews were conducted with the mayor of Beşikdüzü County and 9 municipal council members: 5 from CHP (Cumhuriyet Halk Partisi, Republican People's Party), 2 from AK Party (Adalet ve Kalkınma Parti, Justice and Development Party), 1 from MHP (Milliyetçi Hareket Partisi, Nationalist Movement Party), and 1 from İYİ Party, about the problems of the county.

Standard questionnaires were sent to the members of BDK (Beşikdüzü Düşünce Kulübü – Beşikdüzü Think-Tank)¹ in order to understand the reasons for their gathering, their demands, and the main reasons for these demands. The answers given by 38 members were evaluated through content analysis.

Moreover, an in-depth interview was conducted with the member (Interviewee 3; Table 1) who provides the communication and coordination that brings together the members of the BDK.

This study has been prepared in accordance with the Ethics

Interviewees	Duty	Term	Party	Place of Birth	Age	Education			
Interviewee 1	Mayor	2. Term 2009- 2014/ 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Beşikdüzü	65	University-Agric. Eng.			
Interviewee 2	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Vakfikebir	65	University-Teacher			
Interviewee 3	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Tonya	65	University-Teacher			
Interviewee 4	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Beşikdüzü	57	High School-Businessperson- Building Trade			
Interviewee 5	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Iyi Party	Trabzon Merkez- Ortahisar	40	University-Businessperson- Building Trade			
Interviewee 6	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Beşikdüzü	65	University-Teacher			
Interviewee 7	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Republican People's Party (Chp)	Akçaabat	64	University-Teacher			
Interviewee 8	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Nationalist Movement Party (Mhp)	Beşikdüzü	52	High School-Business Owner (Bakery)			
Interviewee 9	Member of Assembly	-	Ak Party	Trabzon Merkez- Ortahisar	55	-			
Interviewee 10	Member of Assembly	1. Term 2019-	Ak Party	Tonya	44	-			

Committee Approval Certificate dated August 13, 2021 and numbered E-82554930-050.01.04-158895-300-1358 and the rules of scientific research and publication ethics. The questions of the study are detailed below:

Table 2. Profile of interviewees - members of BeşikdüzüThink Tank

12
26
24
14
1
7
21
8
1
-
4
3
-
22
8
1
1
2
1
1
1
12
1
1
1
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

Questions for the mayor and council members of Beşikdüzü district

Questions to learn about the interviewer's age, style of council participation, political affiliation, and occupation (Table 2).

What are your thoughts on city councils?

Do you believe that Beşikdüzü requires a city council?

What do you expect from the Beşikdüzü city council?

What are the potential issues for Beşikdüzü?

Because this was a semi-structured interview, it was allowed to address other sub-topics in addition to the primary questions.

Questions for Beşikdüzü think tank members

Questions to learn about the interviewer's profile, such as e-mail, gender, educational background, high school graduation, age, occupation, and domicile.

- What do you think about the Beşikdüzü Thought Club's (BDK) founding mission?
- What motivated you to join BDK?
- How did you become a member of the Beşikdüzü Thinking Club (BDK)?
- What do you hope to get from BDK?
- What are your thoughts on city councils?
- When and where did you first become aware of City Councils?

What do you expect from the Beşikdüzü city council?

Do you believe Beşikdüzü requires a city council?

Aside from City Councils, do you have any alternative alternatives for Beşikdüzü's spatial growth, and if yes, what are they?

About County of Beşikdüzü

Trabzon is the Eastern Black Sea Region's oldest and most important port city, as well as the province with the largest population density. During the Russian occupation, Trabzon witnessed its most intensive spatial alteration on a city-wide scale. Along with the Republican era's modernisation efforts, city planning studies gained traction throughout Turkey. In 1937, J.H. Lambert, the French urban planning specialist, received the most important development in Trabzon's urban planning. The authorities linked to plan making were passed from the central government to the local government with the passage of Zoning Law No. 3194 in 1984. As a result, the Trabzon Municipality began work on the development of an additional revision zoning plan in 1987 (Akkaya, 2018: 49-54). Trabzon has undergone a new structuring process in recent years, with urban transformation works, relocation

of public institutions, large-scale investments, and the development of high-density residential areas that create attraction in the city's east-west-south direction. Under urban transformation, the geographical consequences of globalization and neoliberalization on the city, as well as the projects that promote change, are investigated. Along with the globalization process and the consequences of neoliberalization, urban transformation projects, which are one of the most effective studies in city restructuring processes, began to exhibit major effects in Trabzon around 2000 (Özlü et al, 2018: 198). Trabzon's historical texture has been altered throughout time, as it has in many cities, as a result of rapid and unregulated construction (Akkaya, 2018: 49-54). Trabzon's first urban transformation case was opened in 2007. There were 24 cases under the subject up until 2015. The cases are titled as follows: appeal action (14) and annulment action (10). The lengths of the aforementioned cases are as follows: <1 year (7), 1 year (1), and 2 years (16). Acceptance (2) and rejection (22) are the outcomes of these cases (Aghabalaei Fanid and Kavacik, 2019: 805).

Within the frame of this study, in the context of the reason for preferring county of Beşikdüzü which constitutes the research subject and that the obtained findings give explanatory results, topography of the place in question, population, political identity and the urban transformation project launched in 2015 are mentioned below about county of Beşikdüzü.

County of Beşikdüzü is an Eastern Black Sea coastal residential area and the border of west coast of Trabzon. On the north Black Sea, on the east and south Vakfikebir, Şalpazarı and Tonya counties of Trabzon, and on the west Eynesil county of Giresun are located. The total population of Beşikdüzü as of 2021 is 23,594. 50.28% (11,862 people) of the population is male and 49.72% (11,732 people) is female (Nufusu).

The instructor course, which was established in 1939 in Beşikdüzü via the process of revitalizing the villages through educational institutions in the Republican period and was transformed into a village institute a year later, made significant contributions to the development process of Beşikdüzü (Zaman and Birinci, 2009: 150). In the 1940s and 45s, despite the low male population after the Second World War, Beşikdüzü did not experience the expected decrease in the male population due to the effective establishment of the village institute in these years. The name of Şarlı, the center of settlement of Beşikdüzü, was changed to Beşikdüzü in 1939 and it was accepted not as a village but as a neighbourhood of Beşikdüzü County, within the municipal organization established in 1949, which was one of the reasons for the significant increase in the population graph of Beşikdüzü in this period. One of the important reasons for the population increase until 1975s is that Beşikdüzü,

which wanted to become a center of the county, has given an effort to include some villages in the population of the sub-district centers. As a matter of fact, the population of Beşikdüzü decreased in 1980 when the population of these settlements was excluded from the center. After Beşikdüzü became the center of the county, Adacık, Çeşmeönü, and Vardallı neighbourhoods were connected to Beşikdüzü in 1992 and the horizontal development of the settlement, which was developing toward East and West, accelerated even more after the establishment of the municipality. It is also observed that population growth accelerated in these years. The population decrease in 2007 is due to the fact that before the address-based population registration system, people who did not live in Beşikdüzü were shown as if they lived here (Zaman and Birinci, 2009: 151, 153-154). In 2012, due to the legal regulation numbered 6360, Beşikdüzü experienced another significant population increase in the following years when the Law was put into practice (T. C. Resmi Gazete (2012). Thus, while Beşikdüzü county was a settlement area with 11 neighbourhoods, seven of which were central neighbourhoods and four of which were neighbourhoods under the municipalities of the towns affiliated to Beşikdüzü county before the relevant regulation, it became a settlement area with 34 neighbourhoods after the regulation.

Considering the historical and sociological developments, it is possible to evaluate Beşikdüzü politically as the "leftmost" district of Trabzon. The results of the local elections held since 1987, when the county was separated from Vakfikebir and became an independent county, justify this assessment. Especially after 2007, Beşikdüzü became one of the rare settlements in Trabzon politics where social democratic parties and candidates were able to make a political presence against the conservative Justice and Development Party (AK Party) (Düzenli, 2021).

Urban Transformation in Beşiküdüzü District and its Social and Spatial Consequences

In 2015, county of Beşikdüzü was announced as area of urban transformation and development projects, within the borders of Fatih and Cumhuriyet districts (T. C. Resmi Gazete (2015). Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation Project, which was launched in 2015, designed as 4 stages and is to be conducted in the county town has brought along many disputes: The matter caused heated debate in the Trabzon Metropolitan Municipality Council. One of the criticisms is that the difficulties raised in the expert reports or in the stay of execution have not been properly resolved. The decision "to sell the parks" was rejected. Another criticism leveled at the council members who opposed the decision was based on ethical and legal grounds. Another of the criticisms made was related to the extortion of the area belonging to the city council member due to the zoning arrangement (61saat, 2018a, 61saat, 2018b). 11 complaints were filed for



Figure 1. Beşikdüzü urban transformation and development area.

the first phase of the Beşikdüzü urban transformation and development project. The complaints to the commission were put to the vote of the council members. However, the majority of council members disregarded the complaints (61medya, 2016).

In Figure 1, the locations where Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation and Development Area has taken place are shown in red and yellow colours. In the picture in Figure 1, the area numbered with 1 shows the area where Şehit Erdal Kurtoğlu Park is located and the area numbered with 2 shows the area where the village institute building is located.

In 2016, 1/5000 scaled Master Zoning Plan and 1/1000 scaled Implementation Zoning Plan amendments for the 1st Implementation Phase of the Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation and Development Project were the subject of a lawsuit for the cancellation of the amendments in question and various grievances were reported to arise. Some of the grievances experienced are as follows: With the zoning plan amendments subject to the lawsuit, the functions of the real estate owned by the person (the plaintiff), where the independent sections with the function of housing and shops are located, are transformed into park and square areas, by the consequence of which, housing and the right to housing are harmed. The public area where the Village Institute Park is located, which has been used by the citizens for many years as a park area, is transformed into housing and commercial area; the function of the real estate where Şehit Erdal Kurtoğlu Park is located is transformed into tourism and commercial area, violating the environmental rights of the people. On the other hand, residents' rights to use these areas socially and physically are also restricted. In accordance with Article 8 of the Spatial Plan Construction Regulation, necessary analyses, surveys, research, and studies should be carried out by obtaining data, opinions, and suggestions from relevant institutions and organizations on the issues mentioned in general headings. However, the research, analysis, and consultation processes in question were not carried out, and zoning

plan amendments were prepared without ensuring the participation of institutions and organizations, especially citizens. In addition, the fact that the zoning plan was not announced to the public within the legal procedures violated the citizens' right to information.

As can be understood from the content of the aforementioned grievances, Beşikdüzü urban transformation practice includes interventions aimed at the exploitation of common spaces in the context of the right to the city and the elimination of the memory spaces of the city. The citizens of the province, who are the real owners of the city, have not been able to have a say in the use of urban space and changes in the city. In the context of urban rights, this practice has a content that limits participation and the use of judicial remedies during the planning process due to the failure of timely and accurate processes regarding information. Therefore, it can be said that the urban transformation practice creates both a violation of the right to the city and a violation of urban rights. During the implementation period, the lack of consultation and agreement with the people living in the city during the preparation of the project and the emergence of grievances caused the project to be reacted by the public. The residents of Beşikdüzü, who came together around the Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation Platform, have shown their efforts to own the urban space with frequent public informative activities and meetings. According to the Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation Platform, "a socialist and populist local government approach has been moved away from Beşikdüzü with the help of municipal council decisions that do not include democratic participation and a modern management approach. As a result of these judgements, the inhabitants lost their right to be considered city owners and became merely residents of the city" (Gündoğdu, Ö., 2017).

Despite the motion for stay of execution, the changes of city development plans were put on the agenda of municipal council again in 2018. Inefficiency of the changes made in the project which included transforming park zones into housing zones as well, the objections from residents (781 objections), 45 files claimed against the plans led to a polemical process of voting among the members of the Council of Trabzon Metropolitan Municipality, hence, the project was approved along with its plan changes, despite the dissenting votes from some council members from AK Party (61saat, 2018).

Due to the fact that municipality mayor ship relayed with 2019 elections and that Beşikdüzü municipal administration progressed in the 1st stage to a certain extent and hence this etape was completed, the claim of cancellation of 2nd, 3rd and 4th stages was put on the agenda of Trabzon Metropolitan Municipality Council in the year 2019. Beşikdüzü Mayor Ramis Uzun expresses that with its status quo, urban transformation projects lead to numerous aggrievements, therefore, is not conducive to implement (Altıntaş, Ö., 2019).

A 15.3-hectare section, falling into the 2nd, 3rd and 4th stages of the Urban Transformation and Development area-located within the borders of Cumhuriyet and Fatih neighbourhoods of Beşikdüzü County-was removed from the Urban Transformation and Development area in 2019. The annotations on the deeds of the citizens within this area have been removed (T. C. Beşikdüzü Belediyesi). The amendment of the 1/5000 scale Master Development Plan and the 1/1000 scale Implementation Development Plan for "Commercial and Housing Area" for the 1st Implementation Phase of the Urban Transformation and Development Project in Beşikdüzü county of Trabzon province was approved by the Ministry of Environment and Urbanisation on August 14, 2020 (T. C. Çevre ve Şehircilik Bakanlığı, 2020).

One of the main problem areas related to Beşikdüzü county is that the county is experiencing financial problems from debt. In addition, it has been observed that the decisions taken in the previous period regarding the transformation of the urban built environment and the attempts to carry out the implementations despite the objections of the city people constitute the definition of a problem for the current administration. The mayor of Beşikdüzü makes the following statements about the problems faced by the current administration:

"Since the moment we took office, we have been facing an intensive process regarding the application of urban transformation. There were problems with zoning, we are currently dealing with zoning. Decisions on zoning and urban transformation have been taken far beyond the expectations of our citizens, and we are trying to change these decisions in favour of the citizens" (Personal interview with Interviewee 1).

The city council is regarded as an important formation for the Mayor of Beşikdüzü in terms of knowing what the citizens think and taking into account the citizen's suggestions and warnings, and the Mayor's positive attitude toward the establishment of the city council draws attention:

"Beşikdüzü is inhabited to people from various walks of life. Their suggestions will be valuable and helpful to us. It will serve as a roadmap for our future efforts. I am concerned about the light" (Personal interview with Interviewee 1). Indeed, Municipal Law No. 5393 specifies that "everyone is a citizen of the town in which they reside." As a result of this, "*citizens* have the right to participate in municipal decisions and services, to be informed about municipal activities, and to benefit from municipal administration assistance." Again, this Law informs towns recognize that establishing a city council is required under Article 76 of the same Law and the City Council Regulation. The law does not mandate the creation of city councils in district municipalities other than metropolitan municipalities, notwithstanding the instructions in the law and regulation. Due to this, the election of the mayor and the council of the time determines the composition of the city council in the district municipalities. In Turkey, the city council has actually been established on a very limited scale at the district level.

In Beşikdüzü, 3 stages of the urban transformation, which was planned to be carried out in 4 stages, have been cancelled by the current administration and one stage is still ongoing. However, the powers of the existing county municipality being limited, budget insufficiencies, and the reluctance of Trabzon Metropolitan Municipality and TOKİ cause the urban transformation to be incomplete.

In the interviews with the municipal council members, it is noteworthy that the mistakes made by the municipality in the previous term and the damage caused to the county come to the fore among the council members' wishes to be involved in the field of urban politics (Figure 2). The interviewed CHP municipal council members emphasized this point in particular. It is seen that the belief that the changes in the built environment of the county in 2014-2019 destroyed the history and memory of the city, thus changing the social structure, motivated the members to take responsibility for protecting the city. When viewed in the perspective of the right to the city, it becomes clear that multidimensional and multi-stakeholder decision-making is required due to the fact that decisions regarding the production of urban space produce and reproduce all facets of urban life as well as modify daily life (Lefebvre, 1996). There is a prevailing view among the members that the changes in the city are not only limited to the built environment, but they also have



Figure 2. Common perspectives of municipal council members on Beşikdüzü.

an impact on the local development of the city. One of the comments on this is as follows:

"Our county is the most educated and enlightened county of Trabzon. It is famous for its teachers. We are now disconnected from education, but unfortunately, we are on the agenda with strange projects, zoning plans, and prisons, unfortunately. We have become an ordinary county, people from different counties used to come here and want to move here, but now everything has changed" (Personal interview with Interviewee 2).

Beşikdüzü Municipality Council members state that the fact that the local administration of Beşikdüzü district belongs to a different political party than the central administration and Trabzon Metropolitan Municipality leads to the investments made in the county to be insufficient nowadays and that the area to be served by the county municipality has expanded as the province of Trabzon became a metropolitan city, however the resource problem causes disruption in services. It is stated in the interviews that the practices carried out by the municipality in the previous period (2014-2019) have also made the municipality unable to perform today.

It is clear that the members of the municipal council have an opinion on whether a city council is necessary. Members of the city council have a favourable attitude about the city council. However, there are disagreements about the efficacy of the city council (Figure 3).

The spatial changes experienced in Beşikdüzü district also paved the way for the establishment of BDK, which was founded as an informal group in the form of a flexible organization with different profiles that has not yet gained legal personality. Interviews were held with 38 members of the BDK, which has 115 members as of May 2021, defines itself as a flexible, informal group and that has brought up the demand for the establishment of a city council in the district.

When we look at the answers given by the members to the question asked about the purpose of establishment of BDK; the belief that the problems experienced in the district will be overcome with cooperation and by acting mutually with BDK, the belief in the importance of the existence of a civil society that will act together for participation in the local decision-making process, and the idea of contributing to the economic, cultural, and social development of Besikdüzü



Figure 3. The members' perspectives on the city council.

come to the fore from these answers. In this context, BDK members explain the purpose behind the establishment of their foundation with the necessity of the existence of a supra-political, all-encompassing, and representative civil society that will protect the values of the county by creating a common mind, support local governments in producing new values, be active in decision-making processes, participate, contribute to the creation of social awareness about the future of the city and issues related to the district.

When we look at the answers to the question asked to the members about their reasons for joining BDK, it is observed that producing benefits for the county, supporting a civil formation, the belief in achieving together, and the desire to influence the city administration are prominent. Again, the members frequently emphasise the importance of protecting the district and leaving a liveable, developed, and at the same time, historical Beşikdüzü for future generations. The expectations of the members from BDK are concentrated on working for Beşikdüzü, building a common mind, and contributing to the raising of public awareness on local problems. It is seen that individual reactions to the idea that the changes experienced in Beşikdüzü cause the loss of the identity of the county have turned into the expectation of taking measures, contributing to the future of the city, protecting common living spaces, and sharing ideas with the administrators on all issues concerning the county.

Therefore, it would not be wrong to say that the demand for not to experience the destructions occurred between the years 2014-2019 in county of Beşikdüzü once again, constitutes the basis of BDK's congregation. Inasmuch as that the interviewer who is in charge of communication and coordination of congregation of members of the club suggests that people are responsible of what they do not manage to do as much as what they do manage to, and that despite belonging to different political approaches, it could have been effective to prevent the destructions in question if they had congregated before, and emphasizes that they structured BDK in order to at least avert the possible future incidents through co-operation and if a city council is established, they may use this as a tool to express themselves (personal interview with Interviewee 3).

We can consider the public reaction to the urban transformation in Beşikdüzü in relation to the spatial and collaborationist readings of the right to the city. In particular, the fact that the Beşikdüzü Urban Transformation Project and its implementation has revealed the demand for participation in the governance process in terms of of the ability to influence the spatial changes and the decisions taken regarding the city can be understood through a spatial reading of the right to the city, moreover, as Marcuse (2014) states and like we see in the Beşikdüzü example, we observe that the reactions are not aimed at transforming the underlying power relations. The lawsuit processes of people who are dissatisfied with the current transformation, especially in terms of violations of rights to private property and interventions in common spaces, can be evaluated in this context.

The collaborationist reading of the concept is seen in the Beşikdüzü example in the reaction toward the urban transformation by the demand to come together under a club (BDK) in search of consensus and to be involved in the governance and decision-making process with the demand for a city council, rather than the reaction turning into an urban social movement. However, it should be especially noted here that the criticisms that the urban rights have a content distancing from the context of the right to the city are valid for both the collaborationist and spatial reading of the right to the city. As stated in the content of the study, the search for rationality and consensus of the collaborative reading distances the right to the city from its radical content; the spatial reading causes the right to the city to distance from its broader objectives; and the urban rights cause the right to the city to be absorbed by the liberal discourse and included in the third generation of human rights, thus distancing it from the context of struggle. The two different readings of the right to the city and the content expressed in international conventions as urban rights cause the struggles of urban residents against capital and the governance process, especially urban transformation, to be limited to the context of participation in urban decisions. In this study, it was observed that urban residents evaluated the struggle for the ownership of the city in the context of participation in urban decisions and that in this context, they have brought up the demand for a city council.

CONCLUSION

Urban spatial structure is exposed to transformation by different actors. Urban investments that have increased in recent years change the spatial structure, including small settlements. These spaces which represent the city's identity, memory and history are subject to destruction through these transformations, from time to time. In such schema, a system in which the city residents are the most affected ones by the destructions and transformation in question have the least voice maintains continuity.

The concept of right to the city which was conceptualized by Lefebvre has found itself an area of use to make sense of many different struggles, together with Harvey's principle of social justice and its contribution in regard to that it is a common right for the struggles maintained for shared spaces. Right to the city, which we elaborate on within the context of city residents having a voice on the decisions made in relation to their cities, has been clarified in international agreements through "right to participate" in relation with human rights.

The urban transformation projects in Beşikdüzü county

and the spatial changes in the city, including the demolition of the Village Institute building, which is one of the places representing the identity of the city, the demolition of the parks, which are the gathering places of the people, and the execution of the urban transformation projects without the consent of the residents and in a way that causes grievances regarding the private properties of the urban residents have sparked reactions from the people of the city. Objections to urban transformation projects, the filed lawsuits, and the stay of execution decisions can be shown as concrete evidence of this.

For Beşikdüzü district, it has been observed within the scope of the research that the fact that the practices of the municipality during the previous administration period resulting in the dissatisfaction of the people is reflected on the political preferences of the citizens and the efforts of the people to own the space influence the new administration period's municipality to take this dissatisfaction into consideration. When we look at the urban transformation practices, it can be said that there are many violations of the basic principles of urban rights. In 2019, one of the first actions of the new municipal administration that took office was to attempt to cancel the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th stages of the previous urban transformation project.

In conclusion, the fact that the changes occurring through the decisions made in regard to urban transformation projects and urban space, have taken place in a way that they violate the urban rights in the city, eliminate the city's identity, and destruct the spaces in the city, has led the demand for conserving the city to become prominent. Nevertheless, the formal ways of being able to have a voice on the decisions made in relation to the city, the most effective construct in this restraint is city councils (along with the disputes on their effectiveness), are limited. Therefore, discontent, one of the results which are driven by the fact that citizens of Beşikdüzü, Trabzon do not have a voice on the decisions made in the city, has put the efforts for congregation of civil society and the demand for establishment of a city council on the agenda. Decisions made by city administrations regardless of residents of cities, have made the demands of residents for participation and conserving their cities become prominent, hence, efforts to pass on the city's identity and memory to future generations have been set forth.

NOTES

¹BDK does not have a website or a social media presence. It is widely recognized due to information obtained from BDK members. BDK defines itself as a flexible and informal group with 115 members as of May 2021. BDK is a group that does not take any interest, does not expose its political side, and where people gather together. It is a supportive and exciting working group that effectively produces ideas for besikdüzü local governments and decision makers. As a result, the members' involvement with the BTK was primarily informal (through acquaintances).

ETHICS: There are no ethical issues with the publication of this manuscript.

PEER-REVIEW: Externally peer-reviewed.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 61medya. (2016). Kentsel Dönüşüme İtirazlar Reddedildi. https://www.61medya.com/haber/13293068/kentsel-donusume-itirazlar-reddedildi
- 61saat. (2018a). Beşikdüzü'nde arsa bilmecesi. https://www.61saat.com/besikduzunde-arsa-bilmecesi
- 61saat. (2018b). Trabzon Beşikdüzü'nü karıştıran proje https://www.61saat.com/trabzon-besikduzunu-karistiran-proje
- Aghabalaei, F. N. & Kavacik, D. (2019). Danıştay kararları ışığında kentsel dönüşümün hukuki boyutu. Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 11(30), 793–810.
- Akkaya, M. (2018). Dönüşüm Projelerinin Kente Etkilerinin Değerlendirilmesi: Trabzon ili örneği [Term Project, Ankara University Institute of Sciences]
- Akkoyunlu, E. K. (2008). Kent hakkı üzerine düşünceler. Amme İdaresi Dergisi, 41(4), 125–141.
- Akkoyunlu, E. K. (2008). Kentli hakları ve kente karşı suç bağlamında kentli etiği. Muğla Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 20(1), 1–22.
- Altıntaş, Ö. (2019). Başkan Ramis Uzun Beşikdüzü'nde Kentsel Dönüşüm Sil Baştan. http://www.trabzonhaber24.com/gundem/baskan-ra-mis-uzun-besikduzu-nde-kentsel-donusum-sil-bashtml.
- Arslan, H. (2014). Kentsel dönüşüm süreçlerinin kentsel haklar temelinde değerlendirilmesi gerekliliği. KMÜ Sosyal ve Ekonomik Araştırmalar Dergisi, 16(1), 33-41.
- Bahçeci, B. H. (2020). Bağımlı kentleşme, kent hakkı ve kentsel dönüşüm. Memleket Siyaset Yönetim, 15(34), 217–242.
- Balzarini, E. & Shlay, B. (2015). Gentrification and the right to the city: community conflict and casinos. Journal Of Urban Affairs, 38(4): 503–517.
- Çelik, A. (2013). Kent yönetimi bağlamında kent konseyinin işlevleri üzerine bir değerlendirme. Cumhuriyet Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi,

14(2), 215-229.

- Düzenli, K. (2021). Trabzon siyasal yaşamında bir farklılık noktası olarak Beşikdüzü. Trabzon Çalışmaları Dergisi, 1(1), 6–22.
- Gündoğdu, Ö. (2017). Beşikdüzü sahipsiz değildir. https://www.facebook.com/media/set/?set =a.10208422245650072.1073741935.1124055034&type=3
- Harvey, D. (1982). The Limits to Capital. Blackwell.
- Harvey, D. (1989). The Condition of Postmodernity: An Enquiry into the Origins of Cultural Change. Blackwell.
- Harvey, D. (2012). Rebel Cities: From the Right to the City to the Urban Revolution. Verso.
- Kaboğlu, G. Ö. (1994). Özgürlükler hukuku. Afa Yayınları.
- Karasu, M. A. (2008). Kentli haklarının gelişimi ve hukuki boyutu. TBB Dergisi, 78(1), 37–52.
- Karasu, M. A. (2012). Kente karşı suç, kent hakkı ve adalet. Dünya Şehircilik Günü 7. Türkiye Şehircilik Kongresi, Herkes İçin Kent, Herkes İçin Planlama, Akıllıca, Adaletle Yeniden (pp. 519–533). TMMOB.
- Kartal, M. & Gençtürk, D. C. (2022). Henri Lefebvre kazısı: Neoliberal kentsel politikalar ve kent hakkı Turkish studies. Economy, 17(1), 63–91.
- Kuran, H. (2021). Şehir hakkı neoliberal kentleşme ve sınıf mücadelesi. Nika Yayınevi.
- Lefebvre, H. (1996). The right to the city. In: Kofman, E. & Lebas, E. (Eds.). Writings on Cities. Blackwell.
- Marcuse, P. (2014). Reading the right to the city. City, 18(1), 4–9. doi.org/10.1080/13604813.2014.878110
- Neuman, W. L. (2010). Toplumsal araştırma yöntemleri nitel ve nicel yaklaşımlar 1 & 2. Yayın Odası.
- Neuman, W. L. (2010). Toplumsal araştırma yöntemleri. Yayın Odası.
- Nufusu. Beşikdüzü nüfusu Trabzon. https://www.nufusu.com/ilce/besikduzu_trabzon-nufusu#:~:text=Be%C5%9Fikd%C3%B-Cz%C3%BC%20 n%C3%BCfusu%202021%20y%C4%B1l%C4%B-1na%20g%C3%B6re,%2C%20%49%2C72%20 kad%C4%B1nd%C4%B1r
- Öktem Ü. B. & Türkün, A. (2014). Neoliberal kentsel dönüşüm: Kentsel alanlarda sınıfsal tahliye, yoksullaşma ve mülksüzleşme. In. Mülk, mahal, insan: İstanbul'da kentsel dönüşüm (17–42). İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Özden, P. P. (2016). Kentsel Yenileme: Yasal-Yönetsel Boyut Planlama ve Uygulama. İmge Kitabevi.
- Özlü, S., Özkan, S. D. & Akyol, D. (2018, July 9–11). Neoliberalizm anlayışının kentsel mekâna yansıması: Kentsel dönüşümün Trabzon kent örneğinde incelenmesi. IBAD 2018 – 3rd International Scientific Research Congress on Humanities and Social Sciences, Skopje, Macedonia.
- Pektaş, E. K & Akın, F. (2010). Avrupa kentsel şartları per-

spektifinde bir kentli hakkı olarak katılım hakkı ve Türkiye. Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi İİBF Dergisi, 12(2), 23–49.

- Purcell, M. (2002). Excavating Lefebvre: The right to the city and its urban politics of the inhabitant. Geo-Journal, 58(1), 99–108.
- Purcell, M. (2014). Possible worlds: Henri Lefebvre and the right to the city. Journal of Urban Affairs, 36(1), 141–154.
- Şahin, Ç. (2015). Türkiye'de kentsel dönüşüme dayalı inşaat odaklı ekonomi modeli ve toplumsal maliyeti: En temel insan hakları, sosyal haklar, çevre hakkı ve kent hakkı açısından eleştirel bir değerlendirme. Sosyoloji Konferansları, 51(1), 51–81.
- T. C. Beşikdüzü Belediyesi. https://www.besikduzu.bel.tr/ besikduzu
- T. C. Çevre ve Şehircilik Bakanlığı (2020). https://trabzon. csb.gov.tr/besikduzu-ilcesi-kentsel-donusum-ve-ge-

lisim-projesi-duyuru-410270

- T. C. Resmi Gazete (2012). 6360 Sayılı on dört ilde büyükşehir belediyesi ve yirmi yedi ilçe kurulması ile bazı kanun ve kanun hükmünde kararnamelerde. https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/mevzuat?Mevzuat-No=6360&MevzuatTur=1&MevzuatTertip=5
- T. C. Resmi Gazete (2015). 7379 Sayılı kararname eki. https:// www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2015/04/20150405-3-1. pdf
- Türkün, A. (2014). Kentsel ayrışmanın son aşaması olarak kentsel dönüşüm. In: Mülk, mahal, insan: İstanbul'da kentsel dönüşüm (pp. 3–15). İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları.
- Zaman, M. & Birinci, S. (2009). İlçe merkezi statüsü kazandıktan sonra şehirleşme sürecine giren yerleşmelere bir örnek: Beşikdüzü. Ankara Üniversitesi Edebiyat Fakültesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 9(43), 147–166.